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Chairman’s Statement

ERERE

Huang Juncan Chairman

WER IE

| am pleased to present to you the annual report of Gemdale
Properties and Investment Corporation Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2017.

MARKET OVERVIEW

In 2017, a steady growth in the overall property market in the PRC
was recorded, though the real estate control policies were further
tightened. Various city-specific measures aimed at restraining
unreasonable housing demand were adopted in popular cities.
Property prices in first and second tier cities were flat during the
year due to the tightening policies. On the contrary, the property
market in third- and fourth-tier cities recorded a robust growth due
to government’s supportive policies. The supply of various types of
land, especially the residential land, began to increase after years
of shrinking supply. It bolstered the land transactions volume and
effectively relieved the pressure of land shortage.

BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND OUTLOOK

Riding on the boost in PRC property market, the Group managed
to record historical high contracted sales of RMB45.2 billion,
representing an increase of approximately 120% over last year. The
profits attributable to shareholders also recorded historical high of
approximately RMB1,644 million, representing a year-on-year growth
rate of 20%. And we expect this growth in terms of contracted sales
and net profits would continue in the forthcoming years.

In 2017, the gross profit margin of the Group was 36.6%, a number
that out beat most of the peer groups in PRC real estate business.

RAZBNRRESHHEEEBRAR ([R27]) &
HEWBAR (51 [AEHE]) #8%2017F12831H
HFEZFERE -

miSHE

20175 - BEFMEETERRSERAE  TEER
MEMSNBEREEE - AFIRHERAZER
RERIWHHENERE  EERHTEENEST
Ko R —BREZGHTHYEERRERBEK
BT - R2Z - R RIRRT Y ET S E BT
RHMBRBEREER EZFHERRK &
BB HEE (FRIRETAM) MR -
BEPRRA LR HEL GHETE LR RERE -

FEADERRE

ERNTEEHMEMSEYER  ARENANHKEE
HAESLHR  BEEARBI2MET  BREFIE
M#I120% - RREEEN TRIELFREARE
16.44187C » RILLIEIR/R20% » AR - HATFEFF AR
BENSHHERFN B SRHEER -

R2017F » REBREF KIE36.6%  EENAZ
HFHhREMERTT o
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In appreciation of the support of our shareholders, the Board
resolved to declare the payment of a final dividend of RMB2.5
cents per ordinary share for the year ended 31 December 2017 to
shareholders, which is subject to the approval by the shareholders
in the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

During the year, the Group has expanded aggressively in the
investment and development of business parks. Leveraged on the
success of the rental and management of Vision Shenzhen Business
Park Phases 1 and 2 which attracts world-class tenants such as
Alibaba, DJI, Amazon and Intel, the Group managed to acquire more
than 500,000 square meters of land in Shanghai for development
of business parks. The business park development business would
expand exponentially following the accumulation of management
expertise and brand-establishment.

In 2017, China’s real estate market was a robust year and the Group
has adopted investment strategies with primary focus on first and
popular second-tier cities. During the year, the Group has acquired
25 pieces of new lands for development in Beijing, Kunming,
Kunshan, Jinan, Nanjing, Qingdao, Shanghai, Suzhou, Wuhan, Xi’an
and Xuzhou, with an aggregate GFA of approximately 4.06 million
square meters, among which 14% or 572,000 square meters were
located in Beijing and Shanghai. Such projects are expected to
bring considerable profits and cashflow to the Group. We believe
the Group will continue to record mild growth in contracted sales
and net profits, which further strengthen our market position in the
real estate industry.

OUTLOOK

Looking forward to 2018, the Group would remain focus in expanding
scale in terms of contracted sales and landbank accumulation in
the first-tier and certain second-tier cities with fast economic growth
and large population inflow. The Group would also seek potential
equity merger and acquisition and cooperation opportunities at
the same time. While for commercial properties, the Group would
aggressively expand our business in the development of high-end
business parks and construction management commercial projects
which are light-asset and could enhance investment returns.

CONCLUSION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere appreciation
to our shareholders, business partners and customers for their
care and support over the past year. | would also like to take this
opportunity to express my gratitude to our directors, management
and staffs for their valuable contributions. We will continue to forge
ahead and accelerate our growth and development, enhance our
competitive edge and profitability and devote our best efforts to
become one of the most successful property developers in China.

Chairman’s Statement

ERERE
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Financial Highlights
BB HE

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2017 2016

BZE2017F EHZE2016%F

12A318 L 12A31H 1k

(In RMB’000) (AARBFTREM) FE FE
Revenue A 4,381,068 8,706,669
Profit attributable to owners of the Company RAREFE ARG R 1,643,529 1,366,512
Earnings per share (Basic: RMB) BREN (AR ARBT) 0.1039 0.0865
As at As at

31 December 31 December

2017 2016

H20174F R20164F

(In RMB’000) (AAREFTTHEMN) 12H31H 12H31H
Total assets BEHER 43,668,752 32,167,328
Total liabilities BERTE 30,621,124 20,529,931
Total equity (including non-controlling interests) 154858 (B4R IFIEARAL ML) 13,047,628 11,637,397
Total borrowings B 9,544,591 10,224,058
Net borrowings BRFE 4,148,826 7,331,090
Net asset value per share (RMB) SREEFE (ARKET) 0.688 0.611
Current ratio mEh L= 1.1 1.0

n Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited €t E BEE AR A 7



FINANCIAL REVIEW

The accounting policies and methods of computation used in
the preparation of the financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2017 were consistent with those used in the last
financial year ended 31 December 2016, except that the Group
has applied, for the first time, the revised Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (*HKFRSs”, which included all HKFRSs, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards and Interpretations) issued by Hong
Kong Institute Certified Public Accountants which are effective for
the Group’s financial year beginning on or after 1 January 2017.

RESULTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017
decreased to RMB4,381.1 million from RMB8,706.7 million for the
year ended 31 December 2016. The decrease was primarily due to
lower revenue recognised from sales of properties.

Other income and gains increased to RMB755.9 million for the year
ended 31 December 2017 from RMB531.1 million for the year ended
31 December 2016. The increase was mainly due to higher interest
income of RMB155.0 million from loans receivable and RMB17.7
million from available-for-sale financial investments during the year.
In addition, the Group disposed of certain subsidiaries during the
current year with a gain of RMB53.5 million.

The fair value gains of investment properties of RMB545.8 million
was reported for the year ended in 31 December 2017, against
RMB259.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2016.

The Group’s direct operating expenses for the year ended 31
December 2017 increased to RMB948.1 million from RMB634.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2016. During the second
half of 2016 and the current year, more PRC property development
projects launched the pre-sales, and a number of property
development and property management subsidiaries were set up/
acquired leading to higher operating expenses incurred.

The Group’s administrative expenses for the year ended 31
December 2017 decreased to RMB82.4 million from RMB90.6 million
for the year ended 31 December 2016, mainly due to the decrease
in share-based compensation expenses.

Financial Review

B %5 B R

Bt %5 1o R

HBEZE2017F 12 A31H L FE 2 B ISR & AR A
ZEETBER RETE A - MEE2016F 128310 1
F-UBREEMEAE B EAEEB201741
B1B8 2 BB AEERBEEERZEIBETERH
SRS ER ([BEMBEHREELED ] (REMEBSR
B RS R - BB EARBRE) BN o

BZE2017F12831HILFEEE

AEEHZE2017F12A31BLFEZRABES
2016F 1273318 IEFE 2 AR #8,706,700,0007T
B E ANR#4,381,100,0007T © AFEF W AR D E
ZHAREEE 2 ERBA TR -

HZE2017F12A31 8 IEFE 2 MU A Rz A
£2016F12A31H IEFE 2 AR %¥531,100,0007T
#nzE AR#755900,0007C ° T B FARREIIA
FERAEUEFREIHEESHBEENSKA S
A - F+ AR #155,000,0007T & A K #17,700,000
Too WM AEERAFELES THEBEQ IS
I 25 AR #53,500,0007T °

HZE2017F12A31AEFEAZIREMELAREY
% A AR #545,800,0007T » M & £20164F12 A 31
BIEFERIAARK259,800,0007T °

AEBHZ2017F12A3MHIEFEHB 2 HEEL
B BEZE2016F12A31BIEEEZ AR
634,500,0007T 3% 1N = A K #948,100,0007T ° R
016F T ¥ FERRAFEELHEANYMELERIEE
FEHEE  URRY WEZRAEVERREY
¥ETRCMB AR SIREELERAI LT -

AEEHE2017F12A31B L FEHB Z1THK
FIs7 - B A £20165F12B831H EFE 2 AR
90,600,0007T T % = A R#82,400,0007T + £ EH
RS -
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Financial Review

Bt %5 B R

The finance costs went up to RMB316.3 million for the current
year from 267.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2016, an
increase of RMB48.4 million, including interest on bank and other
borrowings increased by RMB22.6 million due to several borrowings
arranged for property acquisition and general working capital of
the Group during the current year, and higher interest expenses
(net of capitalised interest) of RMB15.6 million paid to the group
companies.

Share of results of joint ventures and associates of the Group
reported an aggregate profit of RMB1,192.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2017, against RMB184.7 million for the
last year. The increase was mainly due to increase in revenue
recognition from sales of properties of joint ventures in Beijing and
Shenzhen, the PRC.

Overall, the Group’s profit attributable to owners of the Company
increased from RMB1,366.5 million for the year ended 31 December
2016 to RMB1,643.5 million for the year ended 31 December
2017. It was mainly due to the increase in share of profits of joint
ventures during the current year. The increase in the profits from
joint ventures was partially offset by the increase in direct operating
expenses and finance costs.

The Group recorded basic earnings per share of RMB0.1039 for the
year ended 31 December 2017, against basic earnings per share of
RMBO0.0865 for the year ended 31 December 2016, representing an
increase of 20%. The diluted earnings per share for the current year
and the prior year were RMB0.1029 and RMBO0.0864 respectively.

PROPOSED FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend
of RMBO0.025 per share (2016: RMBO0.02 per share) for the year
ended 31 December 2017, subject to shareholders’ approval at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. The proposed
final dividend, if approved, will be paid on or about 15 June 2018 to
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of
the Company on 1 June 2018. The proposed final dividend shall be
declared in RMB and paid in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”). The final
dividend payable in HK$ will be converted from RMB at the average
middle rate of RMB to HK$ as announced by the People’s Bank of
China for the period from 10 May 2018 to 16 May 2018.

REEZEBBBAMBE E2016F12A31HLFE
A R #267,900,0007T £ Ft = A K #316,300,000
7T 0 A R 48,400,000 0 ER BIEARA
FEAEERKEVERBREEESMBLHT
HEEZ BRERTAEMERIE EAARE
22,600,0007C * A RZHEBEARFE (EHKRE
AEFE) # 1 AR 15,600,0007T °

REFEFHZE2017F 12 31 HERGENE S LA a) M
BNBNEF EEE AR 192,800,0007T © &4
AL A R#184,700,0007T ° EFRATIHK B EH
IEREFRIEGE AT 2 WEHEWARER LFFTE -

BeEms o AEBE E2017F12A318 I F E 8%
BZARRAFE AEEEF B E ZE20165F12H31
B IFFE AR #1.366,500,000T NE AR
1,643,500,0007T @ APEMEZRE TR FEASE
EESELMEENFIAMN AN - EELERXT
MO ER ZIENESE T 0 LA ZEERERF

ANEBHESEHET2017F12A31B L FEFRER
B F A ARBE01039T - # =2016F12H31H IE
FEAAARK0.08657T * #E120% « AFE K £
FEZEREERN SR ABARKE01029k AR
0.08647T ©

2REAHKRE

EEEF FARRBRENRBEITZRRAESF
A& HHER - RNEZE2017F12A31B IEFE 2
KEARE BB I A R#0.0257T (20164F : BEIRARE
0.0270) ° sZEF AR E (IR E) B4R 2018
F6 158 RN FR20185F6 A1H & FIA R ALK
ZMZIEE - ERAHREBUAARESTIRILIAE
B (B ]) S - B REREBIEPREARRT
2018554108 £2018F5 A 16 8 HAR AT A4 A
REHBEEPREREHEE LB -
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BUSINESS SEGMENTS
Property development

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the revenue of property
development segment substantially decreased to RMB3,995.9
million, representing 91% of the total revenue, compared with
RMB8,447.4 million, representing 97% of the total revenue for
the year ended 31 December 2016. Revenue for the current
year was mainly come from the sales of properties of Shanghai
Shanshui Four Seasons, Hangzhou Jindu North Road, Shenyang
Yijing and Shenyang Yuefang. The decrease in revenue mainly
due to reduction in sales recognition of Shanghai Four Seasons.
The profit in the property development segment during the current
year decreased to RMB2,270.7 million, against RMB3,815.2 million
for the previous year. The decrease in segment results was mainly
due to profit reduced from Shanghai Shanshui Four Seasons project
which partially offset by higher profit shared from joint ventures in
the current year.

Property investment and management

The revenue earned by the property investment and management
segment for the year ended 31 December 2017 increased from
RMB259.3 million, representing 3% of the total revenue for the year
ended 31 December 2016, to RMB385.2 million representing 9% of
the total revenue. The increase in the revenue for the current year
was mainly contributed by higher property management fee income
of RMB70.7 million from the new acquired property management
subsidiaries. During the year under review, the property investment
and management segment recorded a profit of RMB806.5 million,
including fair value gains of investment properties of RMB545.8
million and share of profits from joint ventures of RMB193.6 million
which mainly resulted from fair value gains of investment properties,
compared with the segment profit of RMB325.5 million for the
corresponding period, including fair value gains of investment
properties of RMB259.8 million.

Financial Review

B %5 B R

E3 i
MRBR

HZE2017F12A31ALEFE  WEEHESBZBA
Kig T ZE A R¥3,995,900,0007T @ {REWA Z
91% - Y EE2016F 12831 ILFE 2 WARA
AR ¥8,447,400,0007T * (KA Z97% o KAF[E
WAEBRE EBILKEER - M EILE - &
IGEEREGIHEZ MEHEERA - RATHREZ
AR EFLKEEREERRAND c NEEMER
B a2 HF i 2 A R%3,815,200,0007T 5% 4
Z AR®2,270,700,0007T - DEBELE TR ZEER
H3LKmZERIEE FEBR DB MELEER

AR AIE NS T E M= ER D EN D °
MERERER
MEREREE D EES 2 WA BB E20165F12

A318 It F & 2 AR #259,300,0007T * 154U A
3% EINEFHZE2017F12A31BIEFEZ AR
385,200,0007T * {54BKRAZ9% » EAZBMAEE
RENBBZVETEMNBARZMEETEELRKA
iﬂ}\E%ﬁﬁo 700,0007C c AFEAZMERE R

1 5 S8R 15 % I A R #806,500,0007T © BIFEH
ﬁ%%@ﬁ@% 5 AR #545,800,0007T & fE(H &
LNaEEF ARE193,600,0000 EFXBAKRE
MERA BN BHEFESEESIDEFMARE
325,500,0007T - BEKEVEARBEREARE
259,800,0007T °
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Financial Review

Bt %5 B R

SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS

The Group’s total shareholders’ funds increased from RMB9,651.6
million as at 31 December 2016 to RMB10,914.8 million as at 31
December 2017. The increase was contributed by profit attributable
to owners of the Company for the current year of RMB1,643.5 million
which was partially offset by the final dividend declared for the year
ended 31 December 2016 of RMB315.9 million. On a per-share
basis, the consolidated net asset value attributable to owners of
the Company as at 31 December 2017 increased by RMB0.077 or
13% to RMBO0.688, against RMB0.611 as at 31 December 2016.
The total shareholders’ funds constituted approximately 25% of
the total assets of RMB43,668.8 million as at 31 December 2017,
against 30% of the total assets of RMB32,167.3 million as at 31
December 2016.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES, LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

Liquidity and capital resources

The Group’s deposits, bank and cash balances increased by 87%
to RMB5,395.8 million as at 31 December 2017 from RMB2,893.0
million as at 31 December 2016. The increase was mainly from the
proceeds from properties sales and new bank borrowings, netting
off with cash applied to land acquisitions, payment of development
costs of PRC property projects, repayments of loans from the
ultimate holding company, payment of final dividend as well as
acquisition/set up of joint ventures and associates.

Borrowings

As at 31 December 2017, total bank and other borrowings of the
Group was RMB1,556.8 million with interest rates ranging from
3.1% to 4.3% per annum. The Group arranged two short-term bank
loan facilities, one long-term bank loan facility and one long-term
other borrowing totally amounting to RMB1,015.6 million during the
current year for property acquisition and general working purpose.
Meanwhile, the Group fully repaid two 1-year term loan facilities,
totally approximately RMB140.7 million.

RRES

AEBEZBRESE S LEA2016F12A31H AR
#9,651,600,0007t & £2017F12A31H A & #
10,914,800,0007T ° & B 11 o2k § A FE AR A
A ARG SR AR #1,643,500,0007T @ #1755
FAZREZ2016F12A31A L FERHBKRE A
R #315,900,000 T i # K 8 - IR G R EEFTH -
AARfFEAELGE EEFEHR20165F12H31
B2 AR¥0.6117C EAE2017F12A31HZ AR
#0.6887C ¢ 1IN A R #0.0777C 513% ° 72017
F12A31H  REECHBBEHNLEEBLBEARE
43,668,800,0007C225% * M2016F 12831 HAIME
B EmFEANR32167,300,0007T230% ©

BHER RBEERELFRE

RBETREFER

REEZIFHR - RITRIRESEH20165F12H31H
A K #2,893,000,0007T # H187%Z2017412 431
H AR¥5,395,800,0007T ° 302 R EE 2 JHUKE
REMEHEMSRARIERTRER - KA
REBE L INBEAMESRREE Z2AERE
BESKRERARER  IARERE - URIK
= G VA /N PN /NI

LEN

R2017F12A31H - AEBEZRITREMERE
%8 A A R ¥1,556,800,0007C @ F M E N F3A%E
43% - AEBRAFEANLHE T MELHRTER
BE - —ERARTEFBEUR—ERAELME
;o A ARY1,015,600,0007T @ AU DE N
HELESSHE R AEE2HEERE—
FEHERRE - A58 ARM140,700,0007T ©
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Financial Review

B %5 B R

The net debt (measured by total borrowings minus cash and bank EHFHE(UERABRA S LETERCEE
deposits excluding restricted cash) decreased by RM3,182.3 million  #E R #IIR &) 5 #) M20174128318 B AR
to RMB4,148.8 million as at 31 December 2017 from RMB7,331.1  #4,148,800,0007t © #2016F12A31H A R #
million as at 31 December 2016. The decrease in net debt was  7,331,100,0007T * /& 2> A R #3,182,300,0007T °
mainly due to more cash received from sale of properties during EHFREBRITERAAFERMAEHEWER
the year. The Group’s net debt ratio (defined as net debt over total T8 AEE 2 EH B R (TE ABEFEBR A
equity, including non-controlling interests) decreased to 32% as at 1z 4A%E © BIEIFIERAEELS) H20164F12 A 31
31 December 2017, from 63% as at 31 December 2016. H263% Nf&E2017F12H8318,232%

The maturity profiles of the Group’s outstanding borrowings as at A& B /220176124318 K2016F12A31H 2 14
31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 are summarised below:  KEEERZERPBE MM T ¢

As at
»
31 December 31 December
2017 2016
20176 20164
12831H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBTTT

Short-term and long-term bank and EHERRTRAMERR
other borrowings:

Within the first year or on demand ME—FRRIREREER 1,087,557 615,363

In the second year REZFR 163,434 2,078

In the third to fifth years, inclusive REZZFRFAN  BIEEEEMTF 115,632 112,911

Over five years AFENUE 190,133 -
1,556,756 730,352

Loans from related parties: BEFEN:

Within the first year or on demand ME—FANIRERFER 5,394,113 9,493,706

In second year REZFNRN 2,593,722 -
7,987,835 9,493,706

Total borrowings BERAFABREERE 2 EREE 9,544,591 10,224,058
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Financial Review
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FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT
Foreign currency risk

As at 31 December 2017, borrowings were denominated in United
States dollars (“US$”), RMB and HK$. The Group mainly operates
in the Mainland China and most of the transactions, assets and
liabilities are denominated in RMB. The Group is exposed to foreign
currency risk due to the exchange rate fluctuation of RMB against
HK$ and US$. Moderate depreciation of RMB against HK$ and

MsERE
SMEE LB

M2017F12A318 * BEREET - ARBRBERL
R AEEFERTRAERNLEER - KEH R
2 BERBERARBZIER AEEFARER
BILRETZIEREEAZIINERE - AR
HEBRETCZIEEXSREEZRME - 152&%@?&7‘%
ﬁ%@&l\ﬁﬁw 1)37%%& NEBE TS K E

US$ was expected, the Group considered the foreign currency S HE R R EEEERE
risk exposure is acceptable. The Group will review and monitor its
currency exposure from time to time and when appropriate hedge
its currency risk.
The currency denominations of the Group’s outstanding borrowings 2~ & B 720176128318 %2016 12311 & &
as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 are summarised {8E 2 EFIRLEEE S BBMnT
below:
As at
S
31 December 31 December
2017 2016
20175 20164
12A831H 12HA31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBFT
HK$ i 3,352,612 2,573,201
RMB AR 5,394,113 7,395,133
Us$ ET 797,866 255,724
Total s 9,544,591 10,224,058
Interest rate risk F = EL B

As at 31 December 2017, 72% of borrowings of the Group were
on a floating rate basis (2016: 67%). However, the interest rate
risk exposure was considered acceptable and no hedging was
considered necessary. The Group will continue to monitor the
suitability and cost efficiency of hedging instrument (including
interest rates swaps) and consider a mix of fixed and floating rate
borrowings in order to manage interest rate risk.

M2017F12A31H + &N & E72% (2016%F : 67%)
BRUIRZ B R B o A - FIRERRWE AR
Zo MEAEEY R  REBBEEE LY ITA

(RAERI ) 2@ R AN - AR E B
ERIDFEAAERIEE  WETEEAEME
% -
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At 31 December 2017, an investment property and a property held
for sale of the Group with a carrying value of RMB196,745,000 (2016:
RMB183,969,000) and RMB303,918,000 (2016: Nil) respectively
were pledged to secure other borrowings granted to the Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a)

As at 31 December 2017, the Group provided guarantees
to certain banks in respect of mortgage granted by banks
relating to the mortgage loans arranged for purchasers of the
Group’s properties. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees,
upon default in mortgage payments by these purchasers, the
Group is responsible for repaying the outstanding mortgage
principals together with the accrued interest and penalty
owed by the defaulting purchasers to the banks and the
Group is entitled but not limited to take over the legal titles
and possession of the related properties. The Group’s
guarantee period starts from the dates of grant of the relevant
mortgage loans and ends upon issuance of the real estate
ownership certificates. As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s
outstanding guarantees amounted to RMB3,148,594,000
(2016: RMB639,580,000).

The Directors consider that the fair value of the guarantees
is not significant and in case of defaulting payments, the net
realisable value of the related properties will be sufficient
to cover the outstanding mortgage principals, the accrued
interest and penalty. Therefore, no provision has been made
in the financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2017 (2016: Nil) for these guarantees.

At the end of the reporting period, a maximum guarantee
of US$70,950,000 (equivalent to RMB463,601,000)
(31 December 2016: US$70,950,000 (equivalent to
RMB492,180,000)) was borne by the Group to a group
of financial institutions for a facility granted to a joint
venture of the Group in the United States of America. As
at 31 December 2017, the facility of RMB463,601,000 (31
December 2016: RMB414,641,000) guaranteed by the Group
to a joint venture was utilised.

Financial Review

B %5 B R

BEERH

M2017512A318 » AEEEFREMERFLEEME
BREED R A AREA196,745,0007T (20164 « AR
#183,969,0007T) & A R #303,918,0007T (2016
Fom)EFEF UNERAASERHZEME

(a) H20179F12A31H © BHRTIREZREBEER
FTAEEYEZER  AEERAE THER
TTHREER - BREBEERIER  52FERE
RIBIBHRIE - AEEFETRRITEEZS
BRERZAEERBASERBEMNFER
SF MAEBEEETREREEEH@YE
ZETMBREREERE - NEB ZERA
REREIEMARBEREARBEL AYE
EEHAILL - B2017F12831H » A& H
AR E 2 ERABARES,148,594,0007T
(20164 = AR ¥639,580,0007T) °

EEEEERZAABELITELR S LAMH
RERMERFER  BEENEZAEEFE
BRUBAEAEERBAS BHAERE
;o A B E2017F12A31B IEFE T
B Z SRRV EHRERAFIREE (2016
F ) e

(b) MAREHER R AcHEBRERET
AEE-—REREGEQR AEEMZA
& BB R R & om PR IR %8 25 7£70,950,000
(W= W A R %463,601,0007T) (2016412
A31H @ 2% 7£70,950,000 (18 % % A B #
492,180,0007T)) » FA2017F12A31H * A
AEBERMBERTFEAERRZAEEHA
A R #463,601,0007T (2016512 A31H
AR#414,641,0007T) ©
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Five-year Financial Summary

A FMBHME

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended  Period ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 30 September
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
HZ2017F  HZE2016F  HE2015F  HE2014F  HE2013F
12A31H1E 12A318 1 12A318 1 12A318 1 12A318 1

FE FE FE FE HAR
(Restated)
(In RMB’000) (AARETFTREMN) (2751)
Results E3
Revenue WA 4,381,068 8,706,669 4,240,759 2,168,450 232,906
Profit before tax BR A A A 2,751,774 3,832,765 2,255,892 944,868 1,306,735
Tax iR (944,526)  (1,828,396) (880,741) (298,943) (274,248)
Profit for the year/period F /EREF 1,807,248 2,004,369 1,375,151 645,925 1,032,487
Attributable to: AT A& -
Owners of the Company PN/NGIES =N 1,643,529 1,366,512 1,056,202 360,884 1,042,321
Non-controlling interests FEPE R AR i = 163,719 637,857 318,949 285,041 (9,834)
1,807,248 2,004,369 1,375,151 645,925 1,032,487
As at As at As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
20174 20164 20154 20144 20134
12A31H 12H31H 12H31H 12H31H 12H31H
(Restated)
(In RMB’000) (MARETTAEN) (E7)
Assets and liabilities BEEHEE
Total assets BEBE 43,668,752 32,167,328 25,100,925 14,899,651 12,306,363
Total liabilities AERE (30,621,124)  (20,529,931)  (15,250,899)  (8,773,621)  (6,726,188)
Total equity (including RngE (B8R
non-controlling interests)  FEIRARARERME ) 13,047,628 11,637,397 9,850,026 6,126,030 5,580,175
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LAND BANK

The management of the Group believes that owning a sizable and
quality land bank is one of the most important factors for a property
developer to be successful. Timing for acquisition of land bank at
competitive pricing is the core successful factor of the Group.

The Group has significantly increased its land bank with a projected
gross floor area (“GFA”) of approximately 13.71 million square
meters, under which approximately 21% were located in first
tier cities — Beijing, Guangzhou, Shanghai and Shenzhen, and
approximately 71% were located in second tier cities which includes
Changsha, Hangzhou, Kunming, Kunshan, Nanjing, Qingdao,
Tianjin, Wuhan etc, as well as 8% being located in third tier cities
including Huaian, Taicang and Taiyuan.

The Group’s land bank distribution in the PRC are summarised
below:

Review of Operations

E 3 4EI)

TR

AEEEEERRE BREARERBEN T BREE
HYEERBRFEREENKNEERZ — > M#E
RARBF IOEBRKE L REEE RSB K
ik -

NEE W T B ARENEL1,3718FHKNE
sfgmmE ((EEEEE]  EPh21%nit
BN EERFI—EET - A7T1% LR R
ED MM BB -BL -BER 55 K2R
EETEWT  8RANRBIEALZ KB ARSE
=g .

AEBZBEALFESHRENT -

Total GFA of remaining
unrecognized for sale/
under development/held

for future development Interest
BTHARIHE attributable
BEsBERR to the
Primary intended HENEEEER Group
Project City use of the Project (square meter) KEE
ER W BERFEREAE (FEFK) bR
South China (including Guangdong,
Guangxi, Hainan)
ERHE (BEER  BER - 5%)
Guangzhou World Style Guangzhou Residential 284,446 33%
BNE=HE = F=E
Guangzhou Tiandou Square Guangzhou Commercial 13,037 74%
BMNKEES BEM EES
Vision Shenzhen Business Park Shenzhen Investment properties 335,707 100%
for rental
A EFT A R R E sl REMERELR
Shenzhen Longgang Project Shenzhen Residential/Office/ 183,134 33%
Commercial
#YIBEEIEE sl [ERVE YN -4
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Total GFA of remaining
unrecognized for sale/
under development/held

for future development Interest
BTHABRLE/ attributable
BT FERR to the
Primary intended HENAREES Group
Project City use of the Project (square meter) r&EH
HH B HETEREAR (FHXK) iR
North China (including Beijing, Tianjin,
Hebei, Shanxi, Inner Mongolia)
EL#HE (BFLR - XE Tk LE-
REL)
Beijing Daxing District Huangcun Project Beijing Residential/Commercial 220,105 100%
IERAERENER 1A FE/ B
Beijing Xishan Yijing Beijing Residential/Commercial 143,914 50%
ERAELER IR FE/ B
Beijing Huachen Jiayuan Beijing Residential 101,284 45%
ITREREE Bl F=E
Beijing Gemdale Mingcheng Changping Beijing Residential 67,960 33%
North Qijia 011 Project
b Re e E Tt R011EE IR =
Beijing Weilaihui Center Beijing Residential 29,870 13%
b R AR AR 1R %
Beijing Sohu.com Internet Plaza Beijing Commercial for rental 14,853 60%
I RE MR KE Sl AEDERELE
Beijing Mentougou District Yongding Beijing Residential 99,309 30%
Town Keluotuo Project
It RPIEERKE R ER bR =
Tianjin Beirun Huating Tianjin Residential/Commercial 285,287 20%
R HERE RE TE/ %
Tianjin Haihe Education Park Project Tianjin Residential 201,078 23%
KEGAHEEER RE =
Tianjin Xingtai Jucheng Tianjin Residential/Commercial 137,697 20%
REFREA RE FE/BE
Taiyuan Western District of Royall Lake Taiyuan Residential 238,899 74%
ARB=HRAR KR F=x
Taiyuan Eastern District of Royall Lake Taiyuan Residential 138,181 74%
ARHEHNREE AR fFE
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Total GFA of remaining
unrecognized for sale/
under development/held

for future development Interest
BT HRBRLE attributable
BEH/BERR to the
Primary intended HENAREES Group
Project City use of the Project (square meter) r&EH
HE bl BERTEREARE (FAXK) iR
East China (including Shanghai, Jiangsu,
Zhejiang, Anhui, Fujian, Jiangxi,
Shangdong)
ERHE (BFLE - IHF I 2%
BE IH LX)
Shanghai Jindi Zizaicheng Shanghai Residential/Commercial 261,941 55%
EEemaER tB =/ m%
Shanghai Jiuting Shidai Center Shanghai Office/Commercial 226,279 30%
LEAFRRHL b} /N YA E
Shanghai Jiading Hengdong Industrial Shanghai Investment property 151,844 85%
Park Project
LEErEYEXRER s REME
Shanghai Songjiang Zhitao Industrial Shanghai Investment property 115,808 100%
Park Project
EERNIEREERER i REME
Shanghai Minhang Huanxin Industrial Shanghai Investment property 96,341 50%
Park Project
LERTABEXRIER g REME
Shanghai Qibao Project Shanghai Office for rental/ 87,939 50%
Commercial
LB+EEE i MARRELR B
Shanghai Xihonggiao Project Shanghai Office for rental/ 84,518 13%
Commercial
EBEIEEE s WAERELRE BE
Shanghai Jindi Shiguang Yayuan Shanghai Residential 84,415 55%
EBE T ! F=E
Shanghai Baoshan Yuxin Industrial Shanghai Investment property 56,115 100%
Park Project
FRBELMTEXRER s REME
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Total GFA of remaining
unrecognized for sale/
under development/held

for future development Interest
EANCER - attributable
R EERR to the
Primary intended HENAREES Group
Project City use of the Project (square meter) r&EH
HE B HETEREAR (FHXK) iR
Shanghai Baoshan Lier Industrial Shanghai Investment property 55,378 100%
Park Project
HEBLNBEXERER & REME
Shanghai Changshou Road Project Shanghai Office for rental/ 45,427 50%
Commercial
ERERIER 8 PREBEDE HE
Shanghai Anyang Project Shanghai Investment property 65,800 100%
PBZFEE i REME
Nanjing Fenghua Yaju Nanjing Residential/Commercial 336,793 96%
HREERE BR FE/ %
Nanjing Yaohuamen Project Nanjing Commercial Complex/ 268,427 50%
Office for sale
BRE(LFIRR BR HEGRAR/BAER
fEHE
Nanjing Pukou Consolidation Project Nanjing Residential 142,126 51%
MRRAZEER BR =
Xuzhou Xinxin Road Project Xuzhou Residential 58,620 100%
BIMARREE R B frs
Suzhou Heshan Road Mingyue Yayuan Suzhou Residential 145,765 51%
FRN ] 1L B8 B I RS EM £
Suzhou Gusucheng Suzhou Commerecial 45,716 100%
FM AR N [GES
Suzhou Qingjian Lake Plot Suzhou Residential 56,012 19%
HM SRR #M =
Suzhou Suzhan Road Project Suzhou Residential/Commercial 30,805 45%
HMERutRIER EM FE/ B
Huai’an Vision Huai’an Residential/Office/ 191,242 100%
Commercial
ER B ER /WA mE
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Total GFA of remaining
unrecognized for sale/
under development/held

for future development Interest
EANCER - attributable
BEH/BERR to the
Primary intended HENAREES Group
Project City use of the Project (square meter) r&EH
HE bl BERTEREARE (FAXK) bR
Taicang Gaoxin District Taicang Residential 130,000 17%
KEBHE KB F=x
Taicang Yinhewan Project Taicang Residential 97,747 13%
REHTEER KE T=E
Taicang Shaxi Project Taicang Residential 44,667 13%
KBV ZIEE K& F=E
Wujiang Liwan District Wujiang Residential 74,289 13%
RIBES RL F=E
Kunshan Lanting Yuyuan Kunshan Residential 369,895 74%
ELH=HE £l T=E
Kunshan Sea Legend Kunshan Residential 314,188 30%
BLELES El T=E
Kunshan 12-3 Plot Kunshan Residential 198,168 25%
21l12-311% El F=E
Kunshan Zhongyu Project Kunshan Residential 148,778 15%
EILHFIER Al (E
Kunshan Jiangpu Road Kunshan Residential 139,072 74%
2T El F=x
Kunshan 12-2 Plot Kunshan Residential 85,517 13%
BIL12-248% Bl e
Ningbo Wetland Park Project Ningbo Residential/Commercial 81,072 62%
B R A EBEE ) T2/ H%
Hangzhou Weilaicheng Phase 3 Hangzhou Residential 179,755 23%
AN R SR = HA Al T=E
Hangzhou Jinhu Xiaoshancheng Xiaxiang Hangzhou Residential/Commercial 135,214 25%
Lake Project
& BE LR E TRRER WAl FE/HE
Hangzhou Zhongxu Xiaoshan Food Hangzhou Residential 114,788 21%
Warehouse Project
mNRBELEREEEE N Fx
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Total GFA of remaining
unrecognized for sale/
under development/held

for future development Interest
EANCER - attributable
BEH/BERR to the
Primary intended HENAREES Group
Project City use of the Project (square meter) r&EH
HE bl BERTEREARE (FAXK) bR
Hangzhou Weilaicheng Hangzhou Residential 103,157 30%
TN AR SR A F=x
Hangzhou Dayunchenfu Hangzhou Residential 75,187 92%
MMNKERR Al Fx
Hanzhou Dalehui Center Hangzhou Apartment/Commercial 62,334 100%
AN AR EEFE A0y N NYE-ES
Hangzhou Jinjiang Project Hangzhou Apartment/Office for sale 33,468 91%
NI IEE TN DB/ WAERELE
Jiashan Weitang Jiaxing Residential 97,989 22%
RENRE A Fx
Qingdao Qingyin High-speed Project Qingdao Residential 501,950 23%
EEERREEEA = F=E
Qingdao Shenggang Project Qingdao Residential 72,772 35%
SERAIEE 58 F=E
Qingdao Happy Marina City Project Qingdao Residential 56,958 35%
SEEBSEGHIEE 58 Fx
Jinan Tangye Plot Jinan Residential/Commercial/ 380,340 20%
Office for rental
BEEEAEE B T/ BE/HERE
Ragic}
Zhuji Guangyuehui Zhuji Commercial 51,504 74%
HEEEE #E EES
Central China (including Henan,
Hubei, Hunan)
EqiE (BT - Ht  HmE)
Wuhan Huangshihai Project Wuhan Residential/Commercial 167,846 28%
REEMEEE HE FE/HE
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Total GFA of remaining
unrecognized for sale/
under development/held

for future development Interest
BT HRBRLE attributable
BEH/BERR to the
Primary intended HENAREES Group
Project City use of the Project (square meter) r&EH
HE bl BERTEREARE (FAXK) iR
Wuhan Laoguan Village Wuhan Residential 718,373 74%
HEEEN HEZ F=x
Wuhan Xinjucheng Wuhan Residential 610,325 55%
REFEM HE Fx
Wuhan Guobo A Wuhan Residential 302,990 74%
HEREA HE FE
Wuhan Guobo B Wuhan Residential 218,722 74%
HEEEB HEZ F=E
Wuhan Hannan Project Wuhan Residential 186,499 38%
HEZmEE HE T=E
Wuhan Jiangxia Yilong Court Wuhan Residential 164,291 28%
RETIERER g T=E
Wuhan Jiangwan Xincheng Wuhan Residential 154,542 52%
RETETH HEZ F=E
Wuhan Lanting Shidai Wuhan Residential 109,283 74%
REH=ER HE F=E
Changsha River City Phase 1 Changsha Residential 218,732 74%
ROH T2 —H 9/ T=E
Changsha Colourful Garden (Huayun) Changsha Residential 41,702 1%
ROBYH=T (EE) =3/ F=x
Changsha No. 1 Project Changsha Office for rental 33,320 74%
EDERER =9/ WAERELR
Changsha Orchid Pavilion City Zhuzhou Residential 118,962 74%
Garden (Zhuzhou)
RAOBmEE (M) M Fx
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Total GFA of remaining
unrecognized for sale/
under development/held

for future development Interest
EANCER - attributable
R EERR to the
Primary intended HENAREES Group
Project City use of the Project (square meter) r&EH
HE W HEFEREAAR (EHK) bR
Northwest District (including Shaanxi,
Gansu, Qinghai, Ningxia, Xinjiang)
AlLHE (BERAE HH - 58 25 H8)
Xi'an Qujiang Heshi Town Project Xi'an Residential 359,928 100%
AR HIEA/EEE AL FE
Xi'an Qujiang Peijiakong Project Xi'an Residential 290,495 100%
AT ERIEER itk F=E
Xi'an Qujiang Tanghua Garden Xi'an Residential 86,773 100%
AR IEELR AR F=x
Northeast District (including Liaoning,
Jilin, Heilongjiang)
RIHE (BERE - & BET)
Dalian Tanxi Dalian Residential 23,600 100%
REBE Rig £
Shenyang Yijing Shenyang Residential/Commercial 253,050 100%
BIHES e FxE/HmE
Shenyang, South of Polytechnic Institute Shenyang Residential/Commercial 196,480 50%
Project
BEBERMSREIER e T/ A%
Shenyang Yuefeng Shenyang Residential/Commercial 41,570 100%
B e FxE/Bm%
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Total GFA of remaining
unrecognized for sale/
under development/held

for future development Interest
BT HRBRLE attributable
BEH/BERR to the
Primary intended MBNAREER Group
Project City use of the Project (square meter) rEE
HE bl BERTEREME (FEFHK) bR
Southwest (including Chonggqing,
Sichuan, Guizhou, Yunnan, Tibet)
AEE (BEEE M &M 2F - B&#H)
Kunming 52D Project Kunming Residential 382,172 74%
FRFA52DIEH BN F=
Kunming Xusheng Kunming Residential 238,441 74%
BHEA 2% F=E
Kunming Landouhui Kunming Residential 99,104 74%
EHmaE =] F=
Others Residential 40,372
Hit T=E
@gr 13,708,452
Land acquisition in 2017 2017 19 L+ Hh U B8

In 2017, the Group acquired interests in a total of 25 new projects in ~ R20174F + A £ B 5 R B U B HLos(@E 2718 8 1 1
the PRC, with total planned GFA of approximately 4,061,000 square %5 @ #2 3 2| #2 [ [ 18 494,061,000 ;5 X » E
meters, out of which 1,878,000 square meters were attributable 1,878,000 75 2K /& 7~ & & fE 5 IR AN #E 25 © 20174
to the Group’s equity interests. Total consideration for the land T UEEERELH ARE300.93BT  ERARER
acquisition in 2017 amounted to approximately RMB30,993 million, #HREENHEBERNRAERENARBHOARE
out of which RMB12,411 million were payable by the Group 124117 o RIEANE B M E(G KB LEEREE R
according to its equity interests in relevant projects. Based on the — HE(GUEER(E - RNEBER2017EH F19 + 1 UL iE
Group’s attributable GFA acquired and its attributable acquisition — B{ANEF K4 AR E6,6007T °

considerations, the Group’s average land acquisition cost in 2017

was approximately RMB6,600 per square meter.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION
Properties sales and development

With more available properties for sale and the Group’s high quality
residential/commercial projects continued to attract medium to
high income level end-users as well as various property projects
of the Group located in developed cities, such as Beijing, Ningbo,
Shanghai and Tianjin, achieved outstanding sales performance,
the sales performance was remarkable in 2017. For the year ended
31 December 2017, the aggregated contracted sales of the Group
reached RMB45.28 billion with an aggregated contracted sales
area of approximately 2,478,000 square meters, representing a
remarkable growth of about 120% in both contracted sales amount
and sales area. The average selling price during the year was
approximately RMB18,300 per square meter.

Property leasing

As at 31 December 2017, Vision Shenzhen Business Park Phases
1 and 2, located in Nanshan District, Shenzhen and provides rental
area of about 127,000 square meters, was 100% occupied and their
rental yield and management quality were a representative project
in the core area of Nanshan District. Besides, both of the Beijing
Sohu.com Internet Plaza (a project 60% owned by the Group),
located at Tsinghua Science Park in Zhongguancun, Haidian
District, Beijing and the Bridge 8 project in Shanghai (a project
85% owned by the Group) were also 100% occupied. In addition,
the Hangzhou commercial project commenced operations in the
second half of the year. As at 31 December 2017, this project was
also nearly 100% occupied.

During the year, benefiting from the significant increase in the
number of the commercial property commencing operation, the
Group achieved a growth of rental/management fees revenue of
more than 50% to RMB356 million for the year ended 31 December
2017.

Currently, the commercial projects under development includes
Suzhou, Nanjing and Huai’an commercial complex projects, the
Shanghai commercial project, Vision Shenzhen Business Park Phase
3 in Shenzhen Nanshan district as well as the five new business
parks in Shanghai. Upon completion, our commercial property
portfolio would generate more than RMB1 billion annual rental
income/management fees to the Group.

75 E R

MEHEREZRE
HRARASEBEHREEMERELN  MAKEENE
HEE/ BEEAEEESTRRAKERELAR
WEBW MEAEEELR B - BE - RES
BEWTHSYEBEYDMSEENHEEE  #
FAREER2017F S E M ERR - #E2017
F12A31ALLFE AEERFTAHHEERTEA
R#s452 8870 - Rt A EMEIEL247.88F A
Ko MEAB LFEBRAB12E  FREEHES
FF KLY AREE18,3007T °

YMHEHEE
R2017F 128318 » L A RIIE WL [& B9 R I 5
REREE— - —8 REEE®mEL127,000F 5

Ko HARIZEI00%  EmEHe kS EREER
BHMRELUZORBEARKRENIER o i AE
B B60%E =M AL R E R AN FERKE
R INAB RS KB M 35 B 85% iz R L/58sRIBTE B &
LA EIREI00% © L5 - MM EEBE R T F&
ANEE - R20178F12A3818 » BB A RIETF
100% ©

FR RERMBLENEEDELE NREM
HE2017F 128318 FE > "EEEEHEE
ERBERAERBIB0%E ARKE3.5615T -

BRI ERZEMNEEERR BELREHMN  BRIER
WEEFARER  LERERER  FIFLERER
BRI EE =R DE5EMEEE - %
T# AEENHEMEXBHEFREAEETRK
HBARKI0ETNES ERELA -
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Profiles of Directors and Company Secretary

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ling Ke (“Mr. Ling”), aged 58, has been an Executive Director
of the Company since November 2012. Mr. Ling joined Gemdale
Corporation in 1992. He is also the Chairman and a director of
Gemdale Corporation and is overall responsible for the Gemdale
Corporation, particularly in charge of strategic planning. Mr.
Ling has extensive experience in strategic planning, property
development and corporate management. He holds a master’s
degree in Engineering Management from Zhejiang University, the
PRC. He is granted the professional title of Senior Economist.

Mr. Huang Juncan (“Mr. Huang”), aged 47, has been an Executive
Director of the Company and the Chairman of the Group since
November 2012. He is also the chairman of the Nomination
Committee of the Board. Mr. Huang joined Gemdale Corporation in
1992. He is also a director and the President of Gemdale Corporation
and is in charge of the whole operation of Gemdale Corporation.
Mr. Huang has extensive experience in property investment, design,
construction, marketing and corporate management. He holds a
bachelor's degree in Civil Engineering from Tongji University, the
PRC, a MBA from University of Wales, Newport (Shenzhen), the PRC
and a MBA from Tsinghua University.

Mr. Xu Jiajun (“Mr. Xu”), aged 39, has been an Executive Director
and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company since October
2012 and January 2013, respectively. He is also a member of the
Remuneration Committee of the Board. Mr. Xu is a director, Senior
Vice President and the Board Secretary of Gemdale Corporation
and is responsible for capital management and strategic planning of
Gemdale Corporation. Mr. Xu has extensive experience in property
development, corporate management and strategic planning. He
was awarded the “Gold medal prize of Board Secretary” by New
Fortune Magazine from 2010 to 2016 and was inducted into the
“Gold medal prize of Board Secretary” Hall of Fame by New Fortune
Magazine in 2017, and was awarded the “Best Board Secretary”
by Money Week in 2011 and 2012. He holds a master’s degree in
management from Shanghai University of Finance and Economics,
the PRC.

Mr. Wei Chuanjun (“Mr. Wei”), aged 49, has been an Executive
Director and the Chief Financial Officer of the Company since
October 2012. Mr. Wei joined Gemdale Corporation in 2003. He is
also a director, Senior Vice President and the Chief Financial Officer
of Gemdale Corporation and is responsible for overall financing
and accounting of Gemdale Corporation. Mr. Wei has extensive
experience in property development and financial management.
He is a fellow member of Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and a member of The Chinese Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He holds an EMBA from Shanghai University
of Finance and Economics, the PRC.
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Profiles of Directors and Company Secretary

ESERDVAMEBH N

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Loh Lian Huat (“Mr. Loh”), aged 54, has been a Non-executive
Director of the Company since May 2015. Mr. Loh is the Founder
of Silkrouteasia Capital Partners Pte. Ltd., an investment advisory,
asset management and direct real estate investments firm. He
has over 17 years of experience in the corporate real estate asset
management industry. Prior to setting-up Silkrouteasia Capital
Partners Pte. Ltd. in 2011, Mr. Loh worked at MEAG Pacific Star
Asset Management Pte. Ltd. from May 2005 to July 2008. From
2000 to 2005, Mr. Loh worked at GIC Real Estate Pte. Ltd. Mr. Loh
holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Mechanical Engineering from
the National Defense Academy, Japan, and a Master of Science
degree in defence technology from the Royal Military College of
Science, United Kingdom. Mr. Loh is an independent director, the
chairman of audit and risk committee and a member of nomination
and remuneration committee of OUE Commercial REIT Management
Pte. Ltd., the manager of OUE Commercial REIT, which is listed
on the Singapore Stock Exchange. He is also a non-independent
non-executive director of EFA Real Economy Income Trust, a
Singapore-based fund management entity with a Capital Market
Licence (“CMS”) issued by the Monetary Authority of Singapore
(*MAS”). He is also a patron of the Bukit Timah Citizen Consultative
Management Committee, Singapore, a non-profit organization.

Ms. Zhang Feiyun (“Ms. Zhang”), aged 32, has been a
Non-executive Director of the Company since May 2015. Ms.
Zhang is presently a director of OUE Lippo Limited, a substantial
Shareholder of the Company. Prior to joining OUE Lippo Limited
in 2015, Ms. Zhang worked as the chief executive officer of
Supernova Capital Ltd. (EERREEZEAMRAF]) from 2012 to
2015, where she was responsible for real estate investment and
management projects. From 2010 to 2012, Ms. Zhang worked
at the investment securities division of Daiwa Bank and oversaw
investments in the real estate industry. Ms. Zhang holds a Bachelor
degree of Journalism from Fudan University, the PRC, and a Master
of Management Degree from the University of Edinburgh, United
Kingdom.
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Profiles of Directors and Company Secretary

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Hui Chiu Chung (“Mr. Hui”), aged 70, has been an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company since December 2004. He
is also the chairman of the Remuneration Committee as well as a
member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee of
the Board. Mr. Hui is currently the chairman and chief executive
officer of Luk Fook Financial Services Limited. He also serves as a
non-executive Director of Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited,
an independent non-executive director of Agile Property Holdings
Limited, China South City Holdings Limited, FSE Engineering
Holdings Limited, Lifestyle International Holdings Limited, SINOPEC
Engineering (Group) Co., Ltd. and Zhuhai Holdings Investment
Group Limited, and whose shares are listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange. Mr. Hui has over 46 years of experience in the
securities and investment industry. He had for years been serving
as an independent non-executive director of Hong Kong Exchanges
and Clearing Limited, a council member and vice chairman of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, a member of the Advisory
Committee and the Committee on Real Estate Investment Trusts of
the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission, a director of
the Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited, a member of
the Listing Committee of the Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing
Limited, an appointed member of the Securities and Futures Appeal
Tribunal, a member of the Standing Committee on Company Law
Reform, and an appointed member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants Investigation Panel. Mr. Hui was
appointed by the Government of the HKSAR a Justice of the Peace
in 2004 and was also appointed a member of the Zhuhai Municipal
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
in 2006 to 2017.

Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee, Anthony (“Mr. Chiang”), aged 60, has
been an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since
November 2012. He is also a member of the Audit Committee and
the Nomination Committee of the Board. Mr. Chiang is a practicing
solicitor in Hong Kong. He obtained a Bachelor of Laws degree at
the University of Hong Kong in 1980 and was admitted as a solicitor
of Hong Kong in 1983. He was appointed by the Ministry of Justice
in the PRC as an attesting officer in 1995. He is a trustee of Chong
Hing Bank Limited — Staff Welfare and Retirement Benefits Scheme.
Mr. Chiang has substantial experience in foreign investment and
property transactions in the PRC.
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ESERDVAMEBH N

Mr. Hu Chunyuan (“Mr. Hu”), aged 48, has been an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company since November 2012.
He is also the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of
the Remuneration Committee of the Board. Mr. Hu is currently the
vice-president and executive partner of BDO China Shu Lun Pan
Certified Public Accountants LLP, a director of BDO Limited and
a fellow certified public accountant (as approved by the Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountants). He concurrently serves as
an executive of The Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and a member of its Technical Advisory Committee, an executive
council member of Shenzhen Nonpartisan Intellectual Association,
an executive of Guangdong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
a visiting Professor at Sun Yatsen University, and a consultant to
the Internal Control Standard Committee of the Ministry of Finance.
He obtained his bachelor’'s degree in Economics (Accounting) from
Xi'an Jiaotong University in 1991, his master’s degree in Economics
(Accounting) from Xiamen University in 1994, and his doctor’s
degree in Economics (Accounting) from Shanghai University of
Finance and Economics in 1998 where he was a student of
Professor Xu Zhengdan, a famous accounting expert. Since 1991,
he has been successively engaged in auditing and management
consultancy in the Accounting Firm of Xiamen University, the
Xiamen Certified Public Accountants, Shenzhen Dahua Tiancheng
Certified Public Accountants, BDO China Li Xin Da Hua Certified
Public Accountants Co., Ltd. and BDO China Shu Lun Pan Certified
Public Accountants LLP. In 1993, he passed the national CPA
qualification exam. He was approved as a Chinese certified public
accountant in 1996, and a certified public accountant qualified for
engaging in securities and futures activities in 1999. Mr. Hu was a
member of the Listing Committee of Shenzhen Stock Exchange, and
was an independent director of FR{EHERDBER AR (Citic Real
Estate Company Limited), & i E B 9 A R A & (Changcheng Real
Estate Company Limited), Shenzhen Expressway Company Limited
and FYITEHBRERRMD AR AE (Shenzhen Teerjia Technology
Company Limited). Mr. Hu has extensive experiences in group
reorganisation, IPO, assets restructuring and debts restructuring
of companies, the auditing of listed companies and securities
companies, and the design of corporate governance structure and
management structure.
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Profiles of Directors and Company Secretary

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Wong Ho Yin (“Mr. Wong”), aged 42, has been the Company
Secretary of the Company since October 2012. Mr. Wong was
graduated from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
with a master’s degree in business administration. Mr. Wong is a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and a CFA charterholder. Before joining the Group, Mr. Wong
worked in several Hong Kong listed/private companies as chief
financial officer. Mr. Wong has more than 20 years of experience in
accounting, treasury, finance and merger and acquisition.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company (together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is
committed to maintain a high standard of corporate governance with
an emphasis on a quality board of directors, sound internal control,
principles and practices, and transparency and accountability to
all shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) in order to
optimise return for its shareholders and enhance the performance
of the Group.

The Company has taken steps to adopt the principles and comply
with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code”) set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”). The Board has reviewed periodically the
compliance of the CG Code and is of the view that throughout
the year ended 31 December 2017 (“FY2017"), the Company has
complied with the applicable code provisions of the CG Code,
except for the following deviations:

1. Under CG Code A.6.7, independent non-executive directors
and other non-executive directors should attend general
meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the
view of shareholders. Due to other pre-arranged business
commitments which must be attended by the Directors, Mr.
Loh Lian Huat, Ms. Zhang Feiyun and Mr. Hu Chunyuan were
not able to attend the general meeting of the Company held
on 29 May 2017.

2. Under CG Code E.1.2, the chairman of the board should
attend the annual general meeting of the company. Due to
other pre-arranged business commitments which must be
attended by Mr. Huang Juncan, he was not able to attend
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 29 May
2017.

3. Under CG Code A.1.1, board meeting should be held at
least four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals.
During the year, only two regular board meetings were held
to review and approve the annual and interim results of the
Company. The Company does not announce its quarterly
results and hence does not consider the holding of quarterly
meetings as necessary. Management supplied adequate and
timely information to the board and the Directors can make
further enquiries to the senior management from time to time
to ensure that they are provided with sufficient information to
fulfil their directors’ duties.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, as amended from time
to time, (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by the Directors. Following specific enquiries made by the Company,
all Directors had complied with the required standards set out in the
Model Code throughout the year. The Model Code also applies to
other specified senior management of the Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this report, the Board of Directors of the Company
(the “Board”) currently comprises four executive Directors,
two non-executive Directors (“NEDs”) and three independent
non-executive Directors (“INEDs”). The Directors during the year
and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Ling Ke

Mr. Huang Juncan (Chairman)

Mr. Xu Jiajun (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Wei Chuanjun (Chief Financial Officer)

NEDs

Mr. Loh Lian Huat
Ms. Zhang Feiyun

INEDs

Mr. Hui Chiu Chung
Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee, Anthony
Mr. Hu Chunyuan

The Directors’ profile is set out on pages 25 to 29 of this annual
report.

The NEDs were participating in board meetings to bring an
independent judgement to bear on issues of strategy, policy,
performance, accountability, resources, key appointments and
standards of conduct; taking the lead where potential conflicts
of interests arise; and scrutinising the Company’s performance in
achieving agreed corporate goals and objectives, and monitoring
performance reporting.
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The three INEDs represent one-third of the Board. The Board
possesses a mix and balance of skills and experience which are
appropriate for the requirements of the business of the Company.
The opinions raised by the INEDs in Board meetings facilitate the
maintenance of good corporate governance practices. One of the
INEDs has the appropriate professional qualification and accounting
and audit experience and expertise as required by Rules 3.10(2) of
the Listing Rules. A balanced composition of executive Directors,
NEDs and INEDs also generates a strong independent element
on the Board, which allows for an independent and objective
decision making process for the best interests of the Company and
its shareholders. The Company will review the composition of the
Board from time to time to ensure that the Board possesses the
appropriate and necessary expertise, skills, diversity of perspective
and experience to meet the needs of the Group’s business and to
enhance the shareholders’ value.

All NEDs (including INEDs) are appointed with specific term of not
more than three years and all Directors are appointed with letters
of appointment and subject to retirement by rotation and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the annual general
meetings in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company. Bye-law
109(A) and 189(vii) of the Company’s Bye-laws provides that at
each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the
time being (or if their number is not a multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation, provided that every Director (including those appointed
for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years. Also, pursuant to Bye-law 100 of the
Company’s Bye-laws, any Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy
or as an addition to the Board is subject to re-election at the next
following general meeting.

The Company has received from each INED an annual confirmation
of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and
the Company considers that all the three INEDs are independent.

Directors and officers’ policy

The Company has arranged appropriate Directors and officers
liability insurance to indemnify its Directors and officers against
liabilities arising out of legal action on corporate activities. Such
insurance coverage is reviewed and renewed on an annual basis.
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Meetings

During the year, the Board met regularly and held 2 meetings. The
attendance record of members of the Board, on a named basis, at
the board meetings and general meetings is set out below:

TEERHRE

L

FRN EFSTHERE  GRT2AER -EFEE
FRBRARG 2 HERREE ARTER) #50mT

Number of meetings attend/held

HEBITEBRH
Board Meetings Annual General Meeting
EEEER REAFERE

Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Ling Ke &R 2/2 0/1
Mr. Huang Juncan HIEEEE 2/2 0/1
Mr. Xu Jiajun BRRERE 2/2 0/
Mr. Wei Chuanjun EEELLE 2/2 0/1
NEDs FHITES
Mr. Loh Lian Huat Loh Lian Huat’t 4 1/2 0/1
Ms. Zhang Feiyun REEZ L 2/2 0/1
INEDs BIYFHITES
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung AR S 2/2 1/1
Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee, Anthony  BEH&E L4 2/2 1/1
Mr. Hu Chunyuan tAETTAE 2/2 0/1
Sufficient notices of not less than 14 days for regular board meetings ZREZCHRTHEETESRZETION 4B ZE

and reasonable notice for non-regular board meetings were given to
all Directors so as to ensure that each of them had an opportunity to
attend the meetings. Board papers will be given to the Board before
the date of the Board meeting by the company secretary of the
Company (the “Company Secretary”). If potential conflict of interest
involving a substantial shareholder or a Director arises which the
Board has determined to be material, the matter will be dealt with
by a physical board meeting rather than a written resolution, and the
interested parties are required to abstain from voting. The Directors
attend meetings in persons or through other means of electronic
communication in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company.
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The Company Secretary shall attend all regular board meetings to
advise on corporate governance and statutory compliance, when
necessary. Directors shall have full access to information on the
Group and are able to obtain independent professional advice
whenever deemed necessary by the Directors. The Company
Secretary shall prepare minutes and keep records of matters
discussed and decisions resolved at all board meetings.

Relationships and associations among the Directors

Each of the executive Directors is also a director and/or top
management of Gemdale Corporation (&t (5£8) R ER A7),
which is the holding company of Glassy An Limited. Glassy An
Limited is the controlling shareholder of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, there was no relationship between
members of the Board (including financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship(s)).

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Chairman of the Board is Mr. Huang Juncan and the Chief
Executive Officer is Mr. Xu Jiajun. The positions of the Chairman and
the Chief Executive Officer are held by separate individuals with a
view to maintaining an effective segregation of duties between the
management of the Board and the day-to-day management of the
Group’s business and operations.

One of the important roles of the Chairman is to provide leadership
for the Board to ensure that the Board always acts in the best interest
of the Group. The Chairman shall ensure that the Board works
effectively and fully discharges its responsibilities, and provides
leadership for the Board in setting objectives and strategies, and
ensure good corporate governance practices are enforced as well
as all key issues are discussed by the Board in a timely manner. The
Chairman has taken into account, where appropriate, any matters
proposed by the Directors for inclusion in the agenda. The Chairman
has delegated the responsibility of drawing up the agenda for each
board meeting to the Chief Executive Officer and the Company
Secretary. With the support of the Chief Executive Officer and the
Company Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure that all Directors
are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings and have
received adequate and reliable information in a timely manner. The
Chief Executive Officer is responsible for leading the management of
the Company in conducting its business affairs in accordance with
the Company’s objectives, and implementing the Group’s strategies
and policies.
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DIRECTORS’ |INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

On appointment to the Board, each newly appointed Director
receives a comprehensive induction package covering business
operations, policy and procedures of the Company as well as the
general, statutory and regulatory obligations of being a Director to
ensure that he/she is sufficiently aware of his/her responsibilities
under the Listing Rules and other relevant regulatory requirements.

The Directors are regularly briefed on the amendments to or
updates on the relevant laws, rules and regulations. In addition, the
Company has been encouraging the Directors and senior executives
to enroll in a wide range of professional development courses and
seminars relating to the Listing Rules, companies ordinance/act and
corporate governance practices organized by professional bodies,
independent auditors and/or chambers in Hong Kong so that they
can continuously update and further improve their knowledge and
skills.

From time to time, Directors are provided with written materials
to develop and refresh their professional skills. The Company
Secretary also organises and arranges seminars on the latest
development of applicable laws, rules and regulations for the
Directors to assist them in discharging their duties. During the
year, all Directors, namely, Mr. Ling Ke, Mr. Huang Juncan, Mr. Xu
Jiajun, Mr. Wei Chuanjun, Mr. Loh Lian Huat, Ms. Zhang Feiyun,
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung, Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee, Anthony and Mr. Hu
Chunyuan have received the requisite directors’ training/materials
in compliance with the requirement of the CG Code on continuous
professional development.

In addition, all Directors are provided with monthly updates on the
Company’s performance, position and prospects to enable the
Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.
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RESPONSIBILITY OF DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for ensuring continuity of leadership,
development of sound business strategies, availability of adequate
capital and managerial resources to implement the business
strategies adopted, adequacy of systems of financial and internal
control and conduct of business in conformity with applicable laws
and regulations. All Directors have made full and active contribution
to the affairs of the Board and the Board has always acted in the
best interest of the Group.

The executive Directors and senior management are delegated
with respective levels of authorities with regard to key corporate
strategy and policy and contractual commitments. Management
is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the Group with
divisional heads responsible for different aspects of the business.

The Board considers that in preparing the financial statements,
the Group has applied the appropriate accounting policies that
are consistently adopted and made judgements/estimates that are
reasonable and prudent in accordance with the applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, as issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The publication of the
financial statements of the Group is also in a timely manner.

The Board, having made appropriate enquiries, is of the view
that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is
appropriate for the Group to adopt the going concern basis in the
preparation of the financial statements.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three board committees, namely, the
audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee,
each of which has the specific written terms of reference that will
be reviewed and updated periodically where necessary. Copies of
minutes of all meetings and resolutions of the board committees
are kept by the Company Secretary and are open for inspection at
reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director. Each board
committee is required to report to the Board on its decisions and
recommendations, where appropriate. Each board committee is
also provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties and
has access to independent professional advice at the Company’s
expense according to the Company’s policy, if necessary.

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Board (the “Audit Committee”) has
been established with specific written terms of reference stipulating
its authorities and duties in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the
Listing Rules, which are available on the websites of the Company
(www.gemdalepi.com) and HKExnews (www.hkexnews.hk). The
Audit Committee currently comprises Mr. Hu Chunyuan (Chairman
of the committee), Mr. Hui Chiu Chung and Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee,
Anthony. All Audit Committee members are INEDs.

The functions of the Audit Committee are, among other things,
responsible for assisting the Board to ensure objectivity and
credibility of financial reporting, including interim and final results,
and that the Directors have exercised the care, diligence and
skills prescribed by law when presenting the Group’s results to the
shareholders. The Audit Committee is also responsible for assisting
the Board to ensure effective risk management and internal control
systems of the Group are in place and good corporate governance
standards and practices are maintained within the Group and
to monitor the internal and external audit functions and to make
relevant recommendations to the Board to ensure effective and
efficient operations and reliable reporting. The functions of the Audit
Committee will be reviewed regularly by the Board and amended
from time to time, as and when appropriate, in order to ensure
compliance with the applicable code provisions of the CG Code
(as amended from time to time). The Company has internal control
procedures to ensure that the continuing connected transactions
will be conducted in compliance with the Listing Rules.
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During the year, the Audit Committee held 2 meetings with the senior
management, of which were joined by the external auditors. The
attendance record of the committee members, on a named basis,
at these meetings is set out below:

FR - BERREECER

BRERIT2R

e, &
A INEZEENHE i/\ EREHFEREERL
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Number of meetings attend/held

Members of Audit Committee ERZEERE HEBITEBERE
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung PR S 2/2
Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee, Anthony P ADES 2/2
Mr. Hu Chunyuan HHETEE 2/2

The following is a summary of the work performed by the Audit
Committee and its recommendations made to the Board during the
year:

(a) reviewing (i) the annual results of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2016 (“FY2016”) and (ii) the interim
results of the Company for the 6 months ended 30 June 2017
and ensuring the full, complete and accurate disclosure in
the aforesaid financial statements pursuant to the accounting
standards and other legal requirements for presenting the
same to the Board for approval;

(b) proposing the re-appointment of external auditors for FY2017;

(c) reviewing the audit fee proposal for FY2017 for auditors of
the Company to perform audit services and other special
corporate projects;

(d) reviewing the audit plan for FY2017;

(e) reviewing the report on monitoring of risk management
and internal control systems of the Group during the year,
including the resources of the Group’s finance team and the
accounting and financial reporting matters, and the overall
effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit function; and
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(f) reviewing the connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions of the Group for FY2016.

All issues raised by the Audit Committee have been addressed by
the management. The work and findings of the Audit Committee
have been reported to the Board. During the year, there were no
issues brought to the attention of the management and the Board
that required disclosure in this annual report.

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Board (the “Remuneration
Committee”) has been established with specific written terms
of reference stipulating its authorities and duties, which are
available on the websites of the Company (www.gemdalepi.com)
and HKExnews (www.hkexnews.hk). The Remuneration Committee
currently comprises Mr. Hui Chiu Chung (INED and Chairman of the
committee), Mr. Hu Chunyuan (INED) and Mr. Xu Jiajun (executive
Director).

The roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee are as
follows:

(a) to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior
management’s remuneration and on the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy;

(b) to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives;

(c) to determine, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment;
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(d) to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of non-executive Directors;

(e) to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the group;

(f) to review and approve compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination
of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

(9) to review and approve compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that they are consistent with contractual terms and are
otherwise reasonable and appropriate; and

(h) to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates is
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting. The
attendance record of the committee members, on a named basis,
at the meeting is set out below:
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Number of meetings attend/held

Members of Remuneration Committee FHMEEERE HiE BITERRE
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung TR S 1/1
Mr. Hu Chunyuan HETEE 11
Mr. Xu Jiajun BREFLE 11

The following is a summary of the work performed by the
Remuneration Committee and its recommendations made to the
Board during the year:

(a) reviewing and determining the bonus payment of the senior
management for FY2016 and their annual salary for FY2017;

(b) reviewing and determining the bonus payment of the
executive Director(s) for FY2016; and

(c) proposing the Directors’ fee for FY2017.
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The Board defined that the senior management of the Company
comprises the Executive Directors, the Chief Executive Officer and
the Chief Financial Officer. Details of the Directors’ remuneration
for the year are set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements contained in this annual report.

Nomination Committee

The nomination committee of the Board (the “Nomination
Committee”) has been established with specific written terms
of reference stipulating its authorities and duties, which are
available on the websites of the Company (www.gemdalepi.com)
and HKExnews (www.hkexnews.hk). The Nomination Committee
currently comprises Mr. Huang Juncan (Chairman of the Board and
the committee), Mr. Hui Chiu Chung (INED) and Mr. Chiang Sheung

Yee, Anthony (INED).

The roles and functions of the Nomination Committee are as follows:

(a) to review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of perspectives)
of the Board at least annually and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company'’s corporate strategy;

(b) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board
on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

(c) to review the Board diversity policy and any measurable
objectives for implementing such Board diversity policy
as may be adopted by the Board from time to time and to
review the progress on achieving the objectives; and to make
disclosure of its review results in the annual report of the
Company annually;

(d) to assess the independence of INEDs; and
(e) to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment

or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive.
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During the year, no Nomination Committee meeting was held.
The Nomination Committee would review the structure, size and
composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of
the board from time to time and would make recommendations on
any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy.

As the Company recognises that having a board diversity policy
can enhance the quality of its performance, the Board has adopted
a board diversity policy in compliance with the CG Code A.5.6.
Pursuant to the board diversity policy of the Company, in designing
the Board’s composition so as to achieve board diversity, a number
of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service of the candidates will be taken into
account. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board has undertaken and adopted the responsibility for
performing the corporate governance duties pursuant to the CG
Code and is committed to ensuring that an effective governance
structure is in place to continuously review, monitor and improve
the corporate governance practices within the Group with regard
to the prevailing legal and regulatory requirements.

During the year, the Board has reviewed the policies and practices
on the Group’s corporate governance, developing a code of
conduct applicable to the Directors and employees, monitoring
the Company’s legal and regulatory compliance and training
and continuing professional development of Directors and senior
management and reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and the disclosure in this annual report.

This corporate governance report has been reviewed by the Board
in discharge of its corporate governance function.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is responsible to the Board for ensuring
that board procedures are followed and that the Board is fully
briefed on all legislative, regulatory and corporate governance
developments and that it has regard to them when making decisions
and would also facilitate induction and professional development of
directors. The Company Secretary is also directly responsible for the
Group’s compliance with the continuing obligations of the Listing
Rules, Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Repurchases,
Companies Ordinance, Securities and Futures Ordinance and other
applicable laws, rules and regulations.

Mr. Wong Ho Yin, who was appointed as a full-time company
secretary of the Company, reports to the Board and is responsible
for, inter alia, providing updated information on the Listing Rules and
regulatory and corporate governance developments to all Directors
from time to time. During the year, Mr. Wong has complied with Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules and taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year, the fees paid/payable to the Company’s external
auditors in respect of audit and non-audit services provided to the
Group are set out below:
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements which give a true and fair view and are in
compliance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, statutory
requirements and other regulatory requirements. As at 31 December
2017, the Board was not aware of any material misstatement or
uncertainties that might put doubt on the Group’s financial position
or continue as a going concern. The Board endeavours to ensure
a balanced, clear and understandable assessment of the Group’s
performance, position and prospects in financial reporting.

A statement by the external auditors of the Company relating to its
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the Company
is set out on pages 103 to 109 of this annual report. There are no
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board
management and internal control systems to safeguard the
Company’s assets and shareholders’ interests, and reviewing their
effectiveness annually through the Audit Committee. The Audit
Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight and corporate
governance roles in the Group’s financial, operational, compliance,
risk management and internal control, and the resourcing of the
finance and internal audit functions. The internal audit department
of the holding company of the Company together with the legal
department of the Group (“Internal Audit Departments”) assist the
Board and/or the Audit Committee in the review of the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems on an
ongoing basis. The Directors through the Internal Audit Departments
are kept regularly apprised of significant risks that may impact on
the Group’s performance. The internal audit function is independent
of the operating businesses of the Group.

is responsible for overseeing the Group’s risk

The Internal Audit Departments would review the effectiveness and
adequacy of the risk management and internal control procedures,
and the findings will be provided to the Audit Committee to assist
them in performing their annual reviews. The Audit Committee can
make enquiries with the management from time to time to ensure
that they are provided sufficient information to review the internal
control procedures.

BEREX

EERAGSAREAEATNUBREZEMT
MR RAFEEBVBRELER EEHERE
IR EHRTE - N2017FE128318 - EEE W T H
BAA AT AEEMBEAR R REECEEERE
ZERKEERSITHPEER - EFLHNRER
M BREREAER KRR - KR RFI=ELF
- EM R SRR 2 S o

ARBNEZBENE AR B M ERREH 2 ERE
EERAHNAFRF103E109E » W HMEREXRTDT
AEAEHRBERATREARRFERLEZRNESE
BERER -

R B B TR R R BREE

EXEeREEEAEENEREERAREZER
B AREARBZEERBRRNE  UAREBE
REREEBFRIEKN ELZEEHHESS
BOTERAKEGRE Z2&E 68 AREERA
AREEEA R M B R AR BT BT HERNEE K
TEERAG -  ARAREZEERARESFERBMIER
AEBZEBESS ((ABELBMH)) HHE=S
E/SERRZEERERNASERRER kA
WT? AR - R EBZ AR EZ AP E

AREFEARERROERNRER - ABEZEM
%J%$%@M%%W

AR ZEFgtETEaRRER RN EZERET
E’Jﬁxﬁ(\ﬁ&ﬁ“’fﬁ VHBUEEZESRHEAS

HER UGB EEBTFEEENBE - BUE
$§/\E—WEH%F'JAEEQ‘EUF3 HEREEER -
WEBBEENIEEER -

m Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited €t E BEE AR A 7



Corporate Governance Report

The Group has in place an organisational structure with defined lines
of responsibility and delegation of authority. There are established
policies and procedures for financial planning and budgeting;
for information and reporting systems; for assessment of risk;
and for monitoring the Group’s operations and performance. The
information systems in place are designed to ensure that the
financial information reported is up to date and reliable. In addition,
the Company will engage independent consultants to conduct
review of the risk management and internal control system of
the Group as and when necessary. The Board is responsible for
approving and overall reviewing internal control policy while the
responsibility of day-to-day management of operational risks lies
with the management.

The systems and internal control are designed to manage, rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives so
as to help safeguard the Group’s assets against fraud and other
irregularities and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss. In addition, it
should provide a basis for the maintenance of proper and fair
accounting records and assist in the compliance with relevant rules
and regulations.

During the year, the Board conducted an annual review on all
material measures on risk management and internal control,
including financial, operational and compliance control and risk
management function. It also reviewed with Audit Committee and
the information from the Internal Audit Departments in respect of
the effectiveness and adequacy of the Group’s risk management
and internal control system, adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting function and satisfied that they were effective and
adequate as well as in compliance with our policies.

The Group considered that internal control should be adapted to
the size, scope of business, competitive and risk level of the Group
and adjusted in a timely manner followed by circumstances change.
The Group will continue to improve the risk management and
internal control system, standardise its implementation, strengthen
internal supervision and inspection so as to promote the sustainable
development of the Group.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Company aims at promoting and maintaining effective
communications with shareholders and investors (both individuals
and institutions) (collectively the “Stakeholders”) to ensure that
the Group’s information is disseminated to Stakeholders in a
timely manner and enable them to have a clear assessment of the
enterprise performance. A shareholder’s communication policy has
been adopted by the Company and will be reviewed on a regular
basis to ensure its effectiveness.

Constitutional documents

During the year, there had been no significant change to the
Company’s constitutional documents.

A consolidated version of the Company’s constitutional documents
is available on the websites of HKExnews (www.hkexnews.hk) and
the Company (www.gemdalepi.com).

Disclosures in corporate website

Extensive information on the Group’s activities and financial
position will be disclosed in the annual reports, interim reports,
announcements, circulars and other corporate communications
which will be sent to shareholders and/or published on the
websites of HKExnews (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(www.gemdalepi.com). Other inside information is released by way
of formal public announcements as required by the Listing Rules
and the provisions in relation to disclosure of Inside Information
under Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

General meeting with Shareholders

The Company also acknowledges that annual general meetings
and various general meetings are valuable forums for the Board to
communicate directly with the shareholders and members of the
Board and the members of various committees are encouraged to
attend and answer questions at general meetings.
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Procedures for Shareholders to convene a special general
meeting (“SGM”)

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws and the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda (“Companies Act”), registered Shareholders holding
not less than one-tenth (10%) of the paid-up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
(“SGM Requisitionists”) can deposit a written request to convene a
SGM at the registered office of the Company (“Registered Office”),
which is presently situated at Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street,
Hamilton HM12, Bermuda. The SGM Requisitionists must state in
their request(s) the objects of the SGM and such request(s) must
be signed by all the SGM Requisitionists and may consist of several
documents in like form, each signed by one or more of the SGM
Requisitionists.

The share registrars of the Company (the “Share Registrars”) will
verify the SGM Requisitionists’ particulars in the SGM Requisitionists’
request. Promptly after confirmation from the Share Registrars that
the SGM Requisitionists’ request is in order, the Company Secretary
will arrange with the Board to convene a SGM by serving sufficient
notice to all the registered Shareholders in accordance with all the
relevant statutory and regulatory requirements. On the contrary, if
the SGM Requisitionists’ request is verified not in order, the SGM
Requisitionists will be advised of the outcome and accordingly, a
SGM will not be convened as requested.

The SGM Requisitionists, or any of them representing more than
one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves
convene a SGM if within 21 days of the deposit of the SGM
Requisitionists’ request, the Board does not proceed duly to convene
a SGM provided that any SGM so convened is held within three (3)
months from the date of the original SGM Requisitionists’ request. A
SGM so convened by the SGM Requisitionists shall be convened in
the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings
are to be convened by the Company.
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Procedures for Shareholders to put forward proposals at a
general meeting

Pursuant to the Companies Act, either any number of the registered
Shareholders holding not less than one-twentieth (5%) of the paid-up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company (“Requisitionists”),
100 of such registered Shareholders, can request the Company in
writing to (a) give to Shareholders entitled to receive notice of the
next general meeting notice of any resolution which may properly
be moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting; and (b)
circulate to Shareholders entitled to have notice of any general
meeting any statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect
to the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the business
to be dealt with at that meeting.

or not less than

The requisition signed by all the Requisitionists may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of the
Requisitionists; and it must be deposited at the Registered Office
with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s relevant
expenses, not less than six weeks before the meeting in case of a
requisition requiring notice of a resolution or not less than one week
before the meeting in the case of any other requisition, provided that
if an annual general meeting is called for a date six weeks or less
after the requisition has been deposited, the requisition though not
deposited within the time required shall be deemed to have been
properly deposited for the purposes thereof.

Procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director

As regards the procedures for proposing a person for election as
a Director, please refer to the procedures made available under
the Corporate Governance section of the Company’s website at
www.gemdalepi.com.
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Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the
Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to
the Board in writing through the Company Secretary whose contact
details are as follows:

Suites 3602-3608, 36th Floor
Two International Finance Centre
No. 8 Finance Street

Central

Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 2826 2888

Email: hhx@gemdalepi.com

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general
meetings of the Company.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIS - HERERHE

This Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Report has been
prepared in compliance with the ESG Reporting Guide set out in
Appendix 27 of the Main Board Listing Rules on The Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited. Major stakeholders within the
Group, including the management and relevant employees, have
jointly participated in preparing this ESG Report, which evaluates
the importance of relevant ESG issues on the reporting principle of
importance, equilibrium and consistency.

This ESG Report (the “Report’) covers ESG issues related to
property development, property investment and management
business of Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited
(the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) from
1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017 (the “Reporting Period” or
“FY2017"). Unless otherwise specified, the information disclosed
in this Report includes five major real estate subsidiaries, namely
Shanghai Zhong Jun Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.* (_L/&H 8
EHERMZ AR A F]), Vision (Shenzhen) Software Technology Co.,
Ltd.* CEINEFERIFBBR A R]), Hangzhou Vision Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd.* (fiMEFTFEERZEAFRR A F]), Shenyang
Gemdale Huacheng Property Co., Ltd* (BiS&HERE EGRAR)
and Shenyang Gemdale Yuefeng Real Estate Development Co.,
Ltd* (Bi5 el e E b ERRZE AR A )). These projects are the core
of the Group’s business, contributing to over 70% of the Group’s
revenue in total in 2017.

The Group determines the following ESG reporting scope according
to the importance of the environmental, social and governance
subject areas to the Group’s business:

Aspects of ESG Guide

RIE - HERERIECIRE Material ESG Issues
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Aspects of ESG Guide

RIE - HERERIBCIRE Material ESG Issues

B. Social

tE

B1.

Employment

&R

Compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours and rest
periods

Equal opportunity, diversity and anti-
discrimination

Human resources policy of outsourced
contractors

HMRARIE  BEREF -
TeEE - BH
TERE Sl RER

SNAIR A B TRER

B2. Health and Safety Occupational health and safety o FERFEHMLE
BEEZD
B3. Development and Employee development and training o EEERERRIEI
Training
BRRIEZI
B4. Labour Standards Prevention of child labour or forced o [BIIEET ko458
# IR labour
B5. Supply Chain Supply chain quality and environmental —© /s mE LIRFE IR
Management management
TR
B6. Product Responsibility Real estate advertising and labelling o FEHMERREBESNEH
EREMR Health and safety quality of property s FMEBBRREZEME
projects
Customer service o EPAR
Customer privacy o EFFLE
B7.  Anti-corruption Corporate principle of honesty and o HMEHERZNTERA
RES integrity
B8. Community Investment Community involvement o MEmBH

Community activities during the
Reporting Period

BEHREM2EZHRES
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Al.

ENVIRONMENTAL
Emissions

The Group is a real estate company specialised in property
development, property investment and management. The
Group understands that the Group’s business development
will exert certain impact on the surrounding environment,
therefore the Group has always regarded environmental
protection as a significant commercial consideration,
and thus to provide customers of our projects and other
stakeholders with a natural and unspoiled environment.

Environmental assessment on property development projects

All property development projects of the Group are outsourced
to professional third-party contractors, so the Group does
not directly produce any major emissions (such as exhaust
fumes, sewage) as a result of its project developments.
Nevertheless, the Group still bears the responsibility
for supervising outsourced contractors. During the field
construction process of the projects, the Group entrusts
third-party engineering consulting companies to conduct
on-site inspections on the environmental protection situation,
working environment and safety conditions periodically,
ensuring environmental protection measures for the projects
are continuously monitored and all non-compliance with
standards are improved in time. In addition, the Group
has integrated the green design concepts into its projects,
and put in our best efforts to adhere to the one-star design
standards of China’s Assessment Standards for Green
Building. The Group has even obtained one-star certifications
for green building designs for several of our projects.

Al.
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Environmental protection measures for property management

In terms of property management, the Group has
implemented many environmental protection policies and
encouraged outsourced property management personnel,
renters and owners to carry out energy conservation and
emission reduction measures. The Group entrusts Shenzhen
Gemdale Property Management Co., Ltd. (“Gemdale
PM") to take responsibility for property management of
property development and commercial projects. Gemdale
PM has passed the certifications of 1SO9001/ISO14001/
OHSAS18001, while its environmental protection work
has been certified by international standards. Besides,
Gemdale PM has cooperated for many years with Dongjiang
Environmental Company Limited, which is recognised by
Shenzhen Government. Dongjiang Environmental Company
Limited is responsible for disposing of wastes produced
from repair and maintenance of equipment and facilities
during the property management process, and ensures the
wastes from property management are disposed of properly.
Property wastes warehouses are required to be established
by each project’'s property management personnel, where
waste oil, waste liquid, waste lighting and other wastes are
to be collected and disposed of properly by a qualified
environmental property company on a regular basis.

Waste disposal for renters and owners

In terms of waste disposal for offices, shopping malls and
other projects, the Group requires the waste collector to
first sort general wastes, collect recyclable and reclaimable
wastes for recycling and clear-up other wastes for disposal.
For certain wastes that require special treatment, such
as food residues, the Group has also arranged separate
spaces for special collection and temporary storage, and
has set up various equipment to reduce the impact on
the surrounding environment. The Group also requires
the property management companies to engage qualified
garbage disposal companies to clear-up and dispose of the
wastes they produce.
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In terms of waste reduction, the Group requires property
management companies to set up a used battery collection
box at the waste collection site of the projects, where used
batteries from employees and customers will be collected to
reduce land pollution. The Group also requires wastes sorting
and has put up posters in conspicuous places of the projects
to encourage merchants, employees and customers to sort
wastes and facilitate recycling.

On the other hand, the Group has also established
corresponding control measures for oil fume emission and
sewage treatment for catering renters in shopping malls.
Whenever any renter applies for renovation, the Group will
require the renter to install a two-stage oil fume filter system
and three-stage oil and residue separator inside their store
for oil fume and sewage treatment. The Group further requires
the renters to clean up their kitchen exhaust hoods and oil
separator every day as well as the smoke vents and kitchen
ventilators regularly during their routine operation. Besides,
the Group requires property management companies of
the projects to engage an eligible environmental protection
company to clean up and drain the public oil separation tank
to ensure effective operation of these equipment.

Waste reduction measures within the Group

The Group also requires property management companies
to use electronic records for their routine inspection work,
and reduce the use of paper-based record forms. When it
is necessary to use paper-based record forms, the quantity
used must be checked carefully and printed in bulk to reduce
the use of paper.
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In addition, the offices of the Group have implemented
eco-office measures, including set up single-sided paper/
waste paper recycling bin by the printer to strengthen the
centralised collection and disposal of waste papers, old
newspapers and magazines. Employees are also encouraged
to communicate with each other via email and reduce the
use of paper as much as possible. Paperless office are
implemented by handling paperwork electronically, and
reducing paper waste from to administrative work. The Group
also raises individual environmental protection awareness
for employees by posting labels such as “Save Disposable
Tableware” and “Do Not Waste Paper” in the office’s pantries
and restrooms to constantly remind employees of energy
conservation and emission reduction.

The majority of waste' generated by the Group during the
Reporting Period are one-time use paper products, such
as used paper from administrative work and paper cups for
guest reception which amounted up to 12 tonnes. The Group
does not directly generate any hazardous waste.

The Group has compiled a range of environmental protection
measures related to the property management process as
well as environmental protection regulations related to the
work of employees, enabling the Group’s employees and
property management companies to comply with and promote
such environmental protection measures among clients and
customers, enhancing their awareness of environmental
protection and encouraging its implementation.

The above measures have been duly implemented during
the year and have led to successful results.

Only includes waste directly controlled and generated by the Group
and excludes waste generated by other third parties (i.e. renters,
owners and third-party service providers).
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A2.

Carbon emissions

Greenhouse gas emissions of the Group mainly comes
from the use of energy in daily office work and property
management. During the Reporting Period, CO2e generated
by the Group was 1,224 tonnes in total (intensity: 5 tonnes
of CO2e per employee)?. The Group implemented various
energy conservation plans to reduce carbon footprint of the
Group. Please refer to the below section headed “A2. Use
of Resources”.

During the Reporting Period, the Group is not aware of any
violation of the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s
Republic of China or other applicable laws and regulations
related to pollution.

Use of Resources

The Group is committed to implementing an
environment-friendly resources utilisation system, which
targets at sustainable development and aims to realise
green business. In order to protect the natural environment
and prevent waste of resources, the Group has formulated
different energy-saving and water utilisation reduction
policies covering the subject areas of business operation and
property management. The Group did not use any packaging
materials during the Reporting Period.

Carbon footprint data covers scope 1 and scope 2 emissions of
the Group, calculations of which are based on the Reporting Guide
on Environmental KPIs issued by The Hong Kong Exchanges and
Clearing Limited and the Baseline Emission Factors for Regional
Power Grids in China issued by the PRC’s National Development and
Reform Commission.

A2.
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Energy utilisation

Main forms of energy utilised by the Group are urban
electricity and petroleum?. Electricity utilised by the Group
during the Reporting Period amounted to a total of 1,473,952
kWh (intensity: 5,919 kWh per employee); petroleum utilised
amounted to a total of 82,126 litres (intensity: 330 litres per
employee). The Group understands that reducing energy
consumption not only cuts greenhouse gas emissions but
also reduces unnecessary expense for the Group. Therefore,
the Group has implemented a number of energy conservation
plans in order to enhance energy efficiency during the
Reporting Period.

First, the Group has formulated the energy utilisation
plan for property projects. Based on an intact system,
this plan covers the aspects from equipment design to
user awareness, and aims to improve the energy utilisation
efficiency comprehensively. This plan requires working
out the central air conditioner operating scheme and
public utilities energy-saving solution for each operational
project, which shall be adopted strictly upon approval by
the Headquarters. The employees shall utilise electricity
according to the energy-saving solution, so as to enhance the
efficiency. The Headquarters will check regularly to ensure
effective implementation of the energy-saving solution.

Only includes energy consumption directly controlled and generated
by the Group and excludes energy consumption generated by other
third parties (i.e. renters, owners and outsourced contractors).
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The Group requires keeping the public energy
consumption records for each operational project and
conducting statistics, analysis and improvement on public
energy consumption every month. Such records will be
submitted to the Headquarters for review, thus ensuring
the management’'s regular supervision and inspection of
energy consumption of each project. The Headquarters
will establish energy consumption indices according to
industry standards, compare with actual consumption of
the projects, then improve and strengthen management of
non-compliance projects. Furthermore, the Group will carry
out maintenance and even energy-saving transformation on
high energy-consuming equipment, such as air conditioner
and lighting system on a regular basis according to energy
consumption records, so as to enhance the efficiency of
routine high energy-consuming equipment. The Group
also has the air conditioning equipment in public areas
of certain projects changed from dispersed control to
concentrated control in order to reduce operation time and
power consumption. The Group also prefers repairs over
purchasing new equipment to reduce the amount of waste
and save cost.

LED lighting and identification systems are installed in the
underground parking lots of operational projects of the
Group. Intelligent lighting systems are applied for public
stairs of the projects with an aim to provide sufficient lighting
with minimum power consumption. Air-conditioning systems
of the projects use the building automated energy saving
control systems, while water pumps of the air-conditioning
system and water supply system use frequency conversion
energy saving control systems to reduce any unnecessary
energy consumption. After the aforesaid energy-saving
measures had been adopted for the projects, approximately
11% public energy consumption has been saved, which has
greatly reduced the impact on environment.

Green management is implemented within the Group,
including controlling the use of energy-consuming office
equipment, improving energy utilisation and operation
efficiency and promoting energy-saving concepts among
employees. These measures allow the Group to utilise energy
and other resources efficiently, thus enhancing energy
saving and emission reduction awareness of employees.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Apart from the energy-saving plan implemented during daily
operations, the Group also focuses on reducing energy
consumption from the source. The Group requires the
outsourced contractors to adopt green construction solutions
in order to reduce energy and raw materials consumption.
In terms of raw materials, the Group endeavours to select
renewable materials so as to reduce consumption of natural
resources. In terms of project design, the Group also takes
energy saving into consideration, for example, increasing
the use of natural lighting, improving building ventilation to
reduce the use of air-conditioning system.

Water resources utilisation

In terms of water resources, during the Reporting Period,
the total water consumption of the Group was 39,295 cubic
metres? (intensity: 158 cubic metres per employee), which
primarily consisted of water used for property management
and daily living of employees.

The Group fully understands how valuable water resources is
and therefore implements water saving plans to reduce water
consumption through promoting water saving awareness
among employees. The Group posts labels of “Please Save
Water” in offices, work places, pantries and restrooms to
advocate resources saving and promoting an eco-friendly
working environment. Considering the substantial amount
of water consumption for property management (including
cleaning and landscaping), the Group has also taken
relevant measures to supervise the water consumption of
outsourced contractors. Referring to the actual work and
previous records, the Group has established the water
consumption index for outsourced contractors to follow
and report monthly. Through this water consumption index,
the Group can analyse the water consumption for property
management work in order to timely supervise the outsourced
contractors. The Group has also changed the landscape
watering systems of certain projects into automatic sprinkling,
reducing a significant amount on water consumption.

Only includes water consumption directly controlled and generated
by the Group and excludes water consumption generated by other
third parties (i.e. renters, owners and outsourced contractors).
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RHL - HBREA

A3.

HRE

Environmental and Natural Resources

The Group has a strong sense of social responsibility and
corporate knowledge. During the project development period,
the Group strictly abides by applicable environmental laws
and regulations and national standards, and tries to minimise
the impact on the environment and natural resources.

Noise and dust from project construction

Before the construction of the projects, the Group employs
qualified third-party environmental impact assessment
experts to conduct a detailed assessment of the
environmental impacts arising from the project development,
establishes a written environmental impact assessment
report and formulates a compensation plan. During the
project implementation period, the Group allocates special
funds and implements all measures to control the impact of
the construction process on the surrounding environment,
including dust and noise. After the commencement of the
project business, the Group also makes great efforts to
control the environmental risk of property operation, for
example, it will introduce the advanced equipment such as
imported fume extractors, professional rainwater-sewage
separators and grease traps for high-emission businesses,
which will provide powerful support for subsequent overall
environmental protection of the projects.

In order to control the impact of project construction on the
environmental and natural resources, the Group requires the
project contractors to reduce the environmental impact of the
project sites by using the outer frame, tower crane and road
spraying equipment. In addition, the construction contractor
shall be equipped with professional environmental tester for
real-time monitoring of the site noise, PM2.5 and other data,
so as to timely control and handle any abnormal conditions.

A3.
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Project renovation works

In order to mitigate the impact caused by the decoration
construction conducted by renters and owners or other
property users and the environment, regulations related to
property renovation have been put into place for certain
projects, which require customers to apply to property
management first before carrying out any type of construction.
Customers must submit supporting documents to the
property management for construction and management to
prove that aspects such as construction quality, construction
operation, environmental protection and safety are all in
compliance with standards of the project and relevant
regulatory authorities of the government. Additionally,
renovation materials used by the Group and its operations are
all in compliance with relevant national green environmental
protection regulatory requirements, such as the regulations
stipulated in the Code for Indoor Environmental Pollution
Control of Civil Building Engineering (GB-50325-2001D)
and other relevant international regulations, and must satisfy
inspection standards.

Indoor air quality of projects

As for the operation of the projects, the office buildings and
shopping malls of the Group require a total ban on smoking.
Air purifiers or air conditioning are also installed by property
management to ensure the quality of indoor air. For catering
merchants, the decomposition of kitchen waste will produce
peculiar smell, so the Group has arranged a separate
garbage room for collection of food waste. The Group
has also installed the ventilating, venting and refrigeration
equipment for food garbage room to eliminate odour in the
daily operation. In addition, the renovation materials and
furniture used in the projects are also in compliance with
formaldehyde safety emission standards.

The Group is committed to environmental protection, thereby
realising the sustainable development of the Group and
contributing to the environmental protection of the society.
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B1.

SOCIAL
Employment

Human resources are important assets of the Group. The
Group attaches importance to improving the quality of our
employees, increasing productivity and quality of service,
and attracting and retaining talents through our human
resources policies.

Compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours and rest periods

The remuneration of employees of the Group is determined
by reference to market levels and industry practice.
Employee promotion and performance awards are based on
the Group’s financial performance and objective performance
appraisal of individual employees. The Group’s employee
benefit plans cover mandatory provident fund, insurance
and medical cover, subsidised educational and training
programmes as well as share option schemes. The Group’s
recruitment, dismissal, working hours, rest periods and other
polices comply with the Labour Law of the People’s Republic
of China and other applicable relevant laws and regulations
to ensure that each process is legal and reasonable.

The Group also provides a wide range of activities for
employees of each project in order to encourage exchange
between colleagues, enhance team cohesion and cultivate
a good working atmosphere in the office, such activities
include annual gatherings, festival celebrations and activities,
company trips, sports events and competitions, staff birthday
parties, group companies festival walking events, company
food festivals, etc.

Equal opportunity, diversity and anti-discrimination

As an equal opportunity employer, the Group is committed
to providing a working environment free from discrimination.
This includes all arrangements relating to the employment of
the Group, such as recruitment, transfer, resignation, training,
promotion, remuneration and welfare, which are all conducted
in accordance to an established procedure of fairness and
objective standards to ensure equal opportunities and fair
treatment for all employees and job applicants. The Group
is firmly opposed to all forms of discrimination.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

During the Reporting Period, the Group is not aware of any
violation of the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection
of Women'’s Rights and Interests, the Trade Union Law of
the People’s Republic of China, or other applicable laws and
regulations on human resources.

Human resources policy for outsourced contractors

Some of the Group’s daily operations which require
substantial human
parties, including construction of project developments and
property management. As a result, the Group is committed
to monitoring the human resources policy of outsourcing
contractors. The Group includes investigations on human
resources management and past violation records of the
outsourced contractors into the contractor evaluation criteria

resources are outsourced to third

as direct considerations for contractor selection.

Health and Safety
Occupational health and safety

The Group provides employees with an ideal and safe
working environment and takes all appropriate measures to
safeguard the health and safety of employees.

During the operation of commercial projects, the project
company regularly organises training on fire safety
knowledge, provides fire prevention knowledge for business
employees, carries out safety inspections on fire safety,
electricity and water use every month and organises fire
drills every year. The project company also reviews the staff
training plan (involving fire safety, staff safety, occupational
health and safety) prepared by the property company at the
beginning of each year and supervises the implementation
of the training plan in the daily process to ensure that the
property personnel are equipped to meet the requirements of
safety knowledge. Furthermore, in order to improve physical
and mental health of our employees, the Group has arranged
health and fitness activities for our employees during the
Reporting Period, including walking events, fun water sports
activities, in order to allow our employees to achieve a
work-life balance.
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B3.

In addition, the Group attaches great importance to the work
safety and health management of outsourced contractors.
In the bidding documents for outsourcing property
management, the Group explicitly requires outsourced
contractors to purchase social insurance for employees
according to government requirements, regularly carry
out occupational safety and health training, and purchase
commercial insurance for projects with major dangers and
hazards. For dangerous outsourced operations, the project
company will review the commercial insurance documents
purchased and organise the safety training and technical
handover before the construction/service of contractors
is commenced. During hot summer weathers, the project
company will require the outsourced contractors to protect
the staff from heatstroke, exchange outdoor staff shifts to
ensure their health in the hot environment.

During the Reporting Period, the Group is not aware of any
violation of applicable laws and regulations on employee
health and safety.

Development and Training
Employee development and training

The Group has complete training regulations and training
system to support on-the-job education and training of
employees in order to improve their knowledge and skills.
Our training mainly includes orientation training, on-the-job
training and external training. Orientation training covers
personnel rules and regulations, professional quality and
corporate management system; on-the-job training covers
job qualification (job theory and practice) and annual training
plan; external training covers the training for special jobs.
All the training expenses are borne by the Group. The
Group also arranges different career development plans and
programmes according to different business characteristics
and personal aspirations, competencies and development
needs of employees.
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Labour Standards
Prevention of child labour or forced labour

In strict accordance with the requirements of the applicable
laws and regulations on human resources, the Group recruits
persons who have attained the age of 18 or above with valid
identification, and inspects the identification of the applicants
upon their entry. The companies under the Group recruit
employees on a fair, open and voluntary principle and signs
legal employment contracts with each employee and does
not use any forced labour.

On the other hand, contracts between the Group and
outsourced contractors include provisions regarding human
resources. Such provisions require the outsourced contractor
to ensure that all personnel are employed in accordance with
the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China and all
applicable relevant laws and regulations, and all child labour
and forced labour are strictly forbidden.

The Group conducts random checks for subsidiaries and
contractors on a regular basis to ensure that there is no
violation of the relevant laws and regulations. During the
Reporting Period, the Group is not aware of any violation of
applicable laws and regulations relating to the prevention of
child labour or forced labour.

Supply Chain Management
Supply chain quality and environmental management

The Group has very high standards for project quality.
Therefore, the Group incorporated a comprehensive selection
process in the selection of suppliers to effectively control
the quality of raw materials and services. The Group has
established a system of procedure documents covering
supplier investigation, bidding, subsequent
supervision and evaluation to ensure that each selection
process is conducted under appropriate conditions and
consistent standards to exclude unqualified suppliers. In
addition to quality, the Group also considers environmental
protection measures of the suppliers and their use of raw
materials to promote a green procurement process.

selection,
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B6.

In the event that the contractor fails to meet the requirements
of the bidding documents or the contract is unable to
guarantee the interests of the employees, the contract will be
terminated in advance as required under contract provisions
and the contractor will be not be engaged by the Group for
a certain period of time.

In addition, the Group will do its best to engage local
suppliers for all of its projects in order to reduce carbon
emissions resulting from the transportation of products and
services. In FY2017, the Group cooperated with a total of 228
suppliers, all of which are based in the PRC.

Product Responsibility
Real estate advertising and labelling

The Group is dedicated to providing high-quality projects
to satisfy customers’ needs and ensure transparency and
accuracy of the information relating to its projects and
services in the course of engineering, procurements, sales
and services, in order to prevent misleading customers or
prejudicing their interests. The Group makes certain that
all sales and promotional documents and information are
prepared in compliance with relevant advertising laws and
regulations and does not contain any exaggerated or false
marketing information.

Health and safety quality of property projects

The Group has also been conducting inspections on the
quality of its contractors and suppliers on a regular basis.
If significant changes occurred in the quality and the
performance of a contractor or a supplier, the Group may
suspend the projects or the deliveries of such contractor or
supplier at any time and remove them from the list of qualified
suppliers in order to ensure the reliability of our projects.
When selecting building materials, the Group also takes their
effects on human health into consideration and comply with
relevant national environmental regulations and requirements
(including the requirements of GB-50325-2001D, Code for
Indoor Environmental Pollution Control of Civil Building
Engineering), ensuring that the materials do not have any
negative effect on residents’ health.
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The Group requires property management companies to
provide suitable types of training for property management
staff to ensure that they have sufficient knowledge and skills
to serve all customers. Property management companies
will provide employees with external training on fire control,
elevator management, electricians and other special jobs,
so that they comply with relevant government regulations.

Customer service

The Group is focused on establishing good and long-term
relationships with its customers and increasing customer
loyalty. Therefore, the Group has established comprehensive
after-sales service and customer feedback channels to
regularly collect all comments and complaints on services
and product quality. Specific personnel is responsible for
follow-ups and improvements to ensure that all customer
comments and complaints are handled satisfactorily.
Inspections are conducted on the facilities and equipment
in public areas of the community and the hygiene of the
environment in the area before the ownership of a property
is delivered. Inspection rules for property projects are also
established and the inspection work of the projects will be
organised by the property engineers so as to ensure quality
and meet customers’ needs.

In order to understand the needs of our customers and
to collect their feedback, the Group conducts satisfaction
surveys for projects and on contracted clients of projects
for sale as well as property owners by way of telephone
or in person to continuously improve the Group’s products
and services. After the investigation is completed, detailed
analyses are carried out on the investigation results and an
action plan would be formulated to improve its performance
for the next year.
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Customer complaints are invaluable for examining the
products and the service quality of the Group. The Group
has established a professional customer team specialising
in handling and tracking customer complaints and collecting
customer feedback through a customer service hotline.
The Group has established customer service guideline and
established appropriate standards on “the time required to
confirm a complaint is received,” “the time required to handle
and address complaints” and “complaint response rate” in
accordance with the characteristics of the projects (such as
their nature, scale and customer base). Customer service
also conducts random checks on the handlings to ensure
that the customer complaints are properly resolved.

Customer privacy

The Group has the responsibility to protect the privacy
of its customers or consumers. In addition to the public
documents prescribed by laws and regulations, the Group
strictly complies with relevant privacy regulations and will not
allow any disclosure of information without the permission of
the owner of the information. In addition, the Group will only
collect personal information necessary for its operations,
which will only be used for the purposes specified when
collecting such information.

During the Reporting Period, the Group is not aware of any
violation of applicable laws and regulations on privacy,
product and service quality.

The Group is committed to providing high quality property
projects together with top-level services to meet the living,
entertainment and business needs of our customers. The
Group is widely recognised for its efforts and contributions
to the property industry, and has achieved various honour
and certifications awarded by different institutions in
2017, including “2017 China’s Excellent Industrial Park
Operator”, “2017 China Property’s Annual Influencing
Listed Enterprises”, “2017 Ranking of China’s 100 Best Real
Estate Enterprises” and “2017 Ranking of China’s TOP100
Commercial Property Enterprises”. Furthermore, the Group
was designated by the China Industrial Park Association
as its “2017 Vice-Directing Unit of China Industrial Park
Association”.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Anti-corruption
Corporate principle of honesty and integrity

The Group has been firmly adhering to the principles of
openness, responsibility, honesty and integrity. All employees
are required to strictly obey individual and professional
ethics. The Group regularly organises anti-corruption
compliance training and requires employees to report any
conflicts of interest on a regular basis. The Group has clear
whistle-blowing mechanisms and channels. Upon receiving
a case of whistle-blowing, the supervisory department will
immediately conduct preliminary verification and evaluation
to form a preliminary assessment and further handle the
case according to the preliminary assessment. In order to
ensure legal rights of the whistle-blower, supervisory staff
adheres to confidentiality principles and keeps investigating
contents and progress strictly confidential. Close attention
will be paid to all aspects and methods of the investigation
progress in order to prevent disclosure of the whistle-blower’s
information.

During the Reporting Period, the Group is not aware of any
violation of applicable laws and regulations relating to the
prevention of bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

Community Investment
Community involvement

As a responsible enterprise, the Group actively contributes
to various stakeholders through the use of our resources.
Over the years, the Group has been actively involved in
community activities, including community-based health and
safety knowledge and community-friendly activities, which
have contributed to the society in many aspects.
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Community activities during the Reporting Period

In order to raise the awareness of community members of
Vision Shenzhen Business Park on fire safety, the project
company cooperated with the local fire-fighting department
of Dachong to promote fire prevention, fire rescue, fire
escape and other fire safety response measures for the
community members. Practical drills are conducted based on
standard examples to guarantee that timely responses can
be made by the community members in case of an incident
to ensure the safety of the whole community.

In respect of illegal fundraising activities commonly seen
during the year, the Group also held events regarding the
prevention and whistleblowing of illegal fundraising together
with local police stations to prevent illegal behaviour from
invading the community and to keep its members from
bearing unnecessary loss.

As the Group’s flagship business park project in the PRC,
Vision Shenzhen Business Park is committed to building top
class energy-saving, low-consumption and green ecological
business spaces through technology and design, nurturing
a lifestyle of arts, vitality and technology experiences.
The project’s contribution to the community has gained
industry-wide recognition and was awarded with “Guangdong
Province’s Property Management Project of Excellence”
and “China’s Unique Industrial Park honours” during the
Reporting Period.
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) present their report
of the Company and the audited consolidated financial statements of
the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company continues to be investment
holding while the principal activities of the Group are property
investment, development and management of residential,
commercial and business park projects. There have been no
significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities
during the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The audited consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2017 and the financial position of the Group at that date
are set out on pages 110 to 265 of this annual report.

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final
dividend of RMBO0.025 per share (2016: RMB0.02) for the year
ended 31 December 2017, subject to shareholders’ approval at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. The proposed
final dividend, if approved, will be paid on or about 15 June 2018 to
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of
the Company on 1 June 2018. The proposed final dividend shall be
declared in RMB and paid in Hong Kong dollars. The final dividend
payable in Hong Kong dollars will be converted from RMB at the
average middle rate of RMB to Hong Kong dollars as announced
by the People’s Bank of China for the period from 10 May 2018 to
16 May 2018.

No interim dividend was paid during the year.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a
discussion on the Group’s future business development are set out
in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 4 to 5 and the Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 6 to 24 of this annual report.
An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using the
financial key performance indicators is set out in the Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 6 to 24 of this annual report. The
Group’s environmental policies and performance are set out in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages 50 to 70
of this annual report.

Major Possible Risks and Uncertainties Facing the Group

The Group’s financial conditions, results of operations, businesses
and prospects may be affected by a number of risks and
uncertainties. The following are the key risks and uncertainties
identified by the Group. There may be other risks and uncertainties
which are not known to the Group or which may not be material now
but could turn out to be material in the future.

Business Risk

A substantial portion of the operating assets of the Group are
located in the PRC and the Group expects that a material portion
of the revenue will continue to be derived from the operations in
the PRC. The results of operations and prospects are subject, to a
significant degree, to economic, political and legal developments
in the PRC. The economy of the PRC differs from the economies of
most developed countries in many respects, including the extent of
government involvement, the level of development, the growth rate,
and government control of foreign exchange. The Group cannot
predict whether changes in the PRC’s political, economic and social
conditions, laws, regulations and policies will have any material
adverse effect on the current or future business, results of operation
or financial condition of the Group.
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Financial Risk

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group
are set out in the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 6
to 24 of this annual report and note 43 to the financial statements.

Management will hold meetings from time to time to discuss the
various industrial and tax policies implemented in the country/
cities/regions and will analyse the impact on the Group’s business.
Therefore,
in policies in an early stage so that management can develop
appropriate strategies to reduce the risk of policy changes. Besides,
management are provided various analysis regularly which covering
business operations and financial information so that management
can have a clear and timely understanding of the Group’s operating
conditions, project progress and capital requirements timely so as
to identify the potential risks.

management can assess the possible changes

Relationship with Key Stakeholders

The Group fully understand that employees, customers, suppliers,
partners and shareholders are the key to our sustainable and
stable development. The Group committed to establishing a close
relationship with our employees, providing high-quality products and
services to our customers, enhancing cooperation with our suppliers
and partners so as to ensure our sustainable development of the
Group for the benefit of the shareholders of the Company.

Our staff is regarded as the most important resource of the Group.
Hence, the Group has been endeavouring to provide our staff with
a fair and harmonious workplace where individuals with diverse
cultural backgrounds are treated equally. The Group offers a
competitive remuneration package and great opportunities for career
advancement based on employees’ performance. The Group also
provides our staff with regular trainings, including internal trainings
and refresher courses offered by professional organisations, so as to
keep them abreast of the latest development in the market, industry
and various businesses.
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In order to achieve the goal of “providing top-quality products
and services to customers”, the Group adheres to the core values
of “be devoted and be sincere; be brave and be a dreamer” in
every aspect of our work. The Group values the feedback from
customers and always try to understand their thoughts through daily
communication, after-sale return visit and customer satisfaction
surveys. In addition, the Group also sets up a customer service
hotline to respond to the feedback and complaints from customers.

The Group firmly believes that our vendors (including contractors)
are equally important in building high-quality development projects.
The Group proactively communicates with our vendors to ensure
they are committed to delivering high-quality and sustainable
products and services. Each contract the Group enters into with
our vendors is annexed to an “Integrity Cooperation Commitment”,
in which clearly state our professional integrity and specify various
requirements including regulatory compliance, anti-corruption and
other business ethics. The Group effectively implements the vendor
assessment process by conducting sampling check, site visit,
evaluation on the performance of contract, third-party certification
and other measures, to ensure the performance of our vendors.

One of the corporate goals of the Group is to enhance corporate
value to its shareholders. The Group is poised to foster business
developments for achieving the sustainability of earnings growth
and rewarding shareholders by stable dividend payouts taking into
account the capital adequacy levels, liquidity positions and future
business expansion needs of the Group.
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Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The principal activities of the Group are property investment,
development and management of residential, commercial and
business park projects. Compliance procedures are in place to
ensure adherence to applicable laws, rules and regulations, in
particular, those that have significant impact on the industry,
including planning, construction, lease and/or sales, and property
management; any changes in the applicable laws, rules and
regulations affecting property management are brought to the
attention of relevant employees and relevant operation teams
from time to time. The Group is also committed to safeguarding
the security of personal data. When collecting and processing
such data, the Group complies with the Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance and the guidelines issued by the Office of the Privacy
Commissioner for Personal Data. The Group is also subject to
various corporate and administrative requirements under other laws
and regulations such as the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”) and the Employment Ordinance. Through various
internal control and approval procedures that are in place, the
Company seeks to ensure the compliance with these requirements.

During the year, as far as the Company is aware, there was no
material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the
business and operations of the Group.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

The Group’s consolidated revenue and operating profit/(loss) for the
year by business segment is as follows:

By business segment (consolidated basis):
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Property

Property investment and
development management Corporate Total
(In RMB’000) (AARBTTREN) MERR DEREREE ©XBR B
Revenue ON 3,995,866 385,202 - 4,381,068
Segment profit/(loss) DEHEF (EE) 2,270,693 806,479 (41,936) 3,035,236
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SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December
2017 are disclosed in note 45 to the financial statements.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group
for the past five financial years is set out on page 14 of this annual
report.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in share capital and share options of the
Company during the year are disclosed in notes 24(a) and 24(b)(i)
to the financial statements, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2017, the Company’s reserves, including the
contributed surplus, available for distribution as dividends amounted
to RMB1,718,542,000 (equivalent to HK$1,877,200,000) (2016:
RMB1,765,755,000 (equivalent to HK$1,924,200,000)).

WARRANTS, OPTIONS OR SIMILAR RIGHTS

Other than the share option schemes of the Company and the
outstanding options granted under such share option schemes as
disclosed in note 24(b) to the financial statements, the Company
had no outstanding warrants, options or similar rights as at 31
December 2017.

DONATIONS

No donation was made by the Group during the year (2016: Nil).
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DIRECTORS 2=

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual FREEEAFHREABHZEZNT ¢
report were:

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Ling Ke ER g

Mr. Huang Juncan (Chairman) \mEREE (F/F)

Mr. Xu Jiajun (Chief Executive Officer) RRE I (TTBAEH)
Mr. Wei Chuanjun (Chief Financial Officer) BEERE (KA
Non-executive Directors (“NEDs”) EHITES

Mr. Loh Lian Huat Loh Lian Huatft4
Ms. Zhang Feiyun REEBELZ T
Independent non-executive Directors (“INEDs”) BYFHTES

Mr. Hui Chiu Chung SRR S A

Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee, Anthony BrELE

Mr. Hu Chunyuan B TTEE

According to bye-law 109(A) and 189(vii) of the Company’'s Z=HEZBEFEESLE « Loh Lian Huat 4 KREE
bye-laws, three Directors, namely, Mr. Wei Chuanjun, Mr. Loh Lian  Z:#&BARRF Z AR 40855 109(A) & 189(vii)fE
Huat and Ms. Zhang Feiyun, will retire by rotation at the forthcoming RARREEBREEAFAE LHRESE  UHFE:
annual general meeting of the Company and, being eligible, will & K&FEE B RET -

offer themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS BEECRBEEN

No Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming #EREREREAFTAS FEREFESHEH
annual general meeting of the Company has a service contract with ARG s EERKIE QRIS AR —FRNEERR
the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable  FIEE CETERERIN) KIEZRBREEL -

by the Company within one year without payment of compensation

(other than statutory compensation).
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PROFILES OF
SECRETARY

DIRECTORS AND COMPANY

Profiles of Directors and Company Secretary of the Company are
set out on pages 25 to 29 of this annual report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

A share option scheme was adopted by the Company on 20 May
2003 (the “Share Option Scheme 2003") which expired on 20 May
2013 and a new share option scheme was adopted by the Company
on 15 May 2013 (the “Share Option Scheme 2013") for the
purpose of continuing to give incentive to, rewarding, remunerating,
compensating and/or providing benefits to the Qualifying Grantees
(as defined in the Share Option Scheme 2013) of the Company. Any
share options which were granted under the Share Option Scheme
2003 prior to its expiry shall continue to be valid and exercisable
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme 2003.

A summary of the Share Option Scheme 2003 and the Share Option
Scheme 2013 (collectively “Share Option Schemes”) is set out as
follows:

Purposes of the Share Option Schemes

The purposes of the Share Option Schemes are to attract and retain
the best quality personnel for the development of the Company’s
businesses, to provide additional incentives to Directors and
employees, etc., and to promote the long term financial success
of the Company by aligning the interests of option holders to
shareholders.

Participants of the Share Option Schemes

Eligible participants of the Share Option Schemes include any
employee or any proposed employee (including an officer or
Director (whether executive or non-executive) or alternate Director
of the Company or any affiliate, etc.)
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Total number of shares available for issue under the Share
Option Schemes and percentage of issued share capital as
at the date of this annual report

As at the date of this report, the total number of shares which may
be issued upon exercise of all share options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Share Option Scheme 2003 and the Share
Option Scheme 2013 amounted to 138,220,000 and 820,666,000
respectively.

Under the Share Option Scheme 2013, the Company may further
grant share options to subscribe for 440,610,103 shares of the
Company, representing approximately 2.78% of the total issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of this report.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the Share
Option Schemes

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the options granted (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) to each participant in any 12-month period must not exceed
1% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the date of grant
unless the same is approved by shareholders in a general meeting.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their respective associates,
are subject to the approval in advance by the INEDs of the
Company, excluding the INED(s) of the Company who is/are the
grantee(s) of the share options. In addition, any share option
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) granted
to a substantial shareholder or an INED of the Company, or to any
of their respective associates, in any 12-month period must not
exceed 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the date
of grant or with an aggregate value (based on the closing price
of the Company’s shares as at the date of grant) must not exceed
HK$5 million unless the same is approved by shareholders in a
general meeting.

The period within which the shares must be taken up under
an option

The exercise period of the share options granted is determined
by the Board, and commences on a specified date and ends on a
date which is not later than 10 years from the date of grant of the
share options.
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The minimum period for which an option must be held before
it can be exercised

1 year

The amount payable on application or acceptance of the
option and the period within which payments or calls must
or may be made or loans for such purposes must be paid

HK$1 is to be paid by each grantee as consideration for the grant
of option within 28 days from the date of offer.

The basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price shall be determined by the Directors, being at
least the highest of:

(a) the closing price of shares as stated in The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of offer, which must be a
business day;

(b) the average closing price of shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of offer; and

(c) the nominal value of a Company’s share.

The remaining life of the Share Option Schemes

The Share Option Schemes shall be valid and effective for a period
of 10 years commencing on the respective dates of their adoption.
The Share Option Scheme 2003 expired on 20 May 2013. The Share
Option Scheme 2013 which was adopted on 15 May 2013 will expire
on 15 May 2023.
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Details of the movements of the share options under the Share IRIEEMETEIZBERERFRANES FBLT;
Option Schemes during the year were as follows:

Number of share options

BREHE
Outstanding Outstanding
Year of as at 1/1/2017 as at 31/12/2017
grant (Note 2) Exercised Lapsed (Note 3)
(Note 1) #2017F151H during the during the #2017%12A31H
Name and category of grantees RHEH 8 R1TEE year year 8 R1TEE
ARAZHERER (Bigt1) (Bgt2) RERTRE RERKH (B53)
Executive Directors
HiTES
Mr. Ling Ke 2013 27,950,000 - - 27,950,000
EREE 2013* 49,500,000 - - 49,500,000
2014 90,000,000 - - 90,000,000
167,450,000 - - 167,450,000
Mr. Huang Juncan 2013 20,960,000 - - 20,960,000
BIEERE 2013* 43,500,000 - - 43,500,000
2014 80,000,000 - - 80,000,000
144,460,000 - - 144,460,000
Mr. Xu Jiajun 2013 15,130,000 - - 15,130,000
RERELE 2013* 39,100,000 - - 39,100,000
2014 72,000,000 - - 72,000,000
126,230,000 - - 126,230,000
Mr. Wei Chuanjun 2013 11,650,000 - - 11,650,000
BEEELE 2013* 32,500,000 - - 32,500,000
2014 60,000,000 (25,000,000) - 35,000,000
104,150,000 (25,000,000) - 79,150,000
INEDs
BYFHTES
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung 2013 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000
TR EAE 2013* 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000
2014 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000
8,000,000 - - 8,000,000
Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee, Anthony 2013 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000
BHELE 2013* 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000
2014 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000
8,000,000 - - 8,000,000
Mr. Hu Chunyuan 2013 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000
HETEE 2013* 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000
2014 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000
8,000,000 - - 8,000,000
SUB-TOTAL
MEF 566,290,000 (25,000,000) - 541,290,000
Others (In aggregate) 2013 67,010,000 (5,820,000) (4,660,000) 56,530,000
Htt (&350 2013* 264,753,000 (536,000) (23,951,000) 240,266,000
2014 159,000,000 (36,900,000) (1,300,000) 120,800,000
SUB-TOTAL
N 490,763,000 (43,256,000) (29,911,000) 417,596,000
TOTAL
By 1,057,053,000 (68,256,000) (29,911,000) 958,886,000
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Notes: Biat -

1.
Year of grant Date of grant Exercise period Exercise price Closing price*
RHFEH R AH 1A TEE W i

HK$ HK$
2013 07/01/2013 07/01/2014 - 06/01/2023 0.550 0.455
2013* 20/05/2013 20/05/2014 - 19/05/2023 0.792 0.780
2014 29/12/2014 29/12/2015 - 28/12/2024 0.440 0.430
# Closing price of the Company’s share quoted on the # AR AR 7 R E IR H BB IE B 38 AT
Stock Exchange immediately before the date of grant Bz KB

2. All share options granted were vested and exercisable in full 2. BT ERMLZEIRECIRIERE B R Z4E AT
in 2017 in accordance with the vesting period set out in their B2 ERBRIR2017F 2B R A] FUATTE -
respective offer letters.

3. No share option was granted or cancelled during the year ended 3. BZE20179F 12H31 H 1 FE IR 1 2 i+ 508

31 December 2017. R o

During the year, the subscription rights attaching to 5,820,000, % A @ 55,820,00013 * 536,00013 %61,900,000%
536,000 and 61,900,000 share options were exercised at an exercise B EF W SN REED D RIRITEE SR EE
price of HK$0.55, HK$0.792 and HK$0.44 per share respectively,  0.555C * /& #0.79270 & /& #50.44 L 1T - Wt
and resulting in the issue of a total of 68,256,000 new shares of It 77 & $£68,256,000/% & f% M & & #¥0.17T 2
the Company at a nominal value of HK$0.1 each for a total cash AR A H - LIRS NRE (FNRFHZ A BB
consideration, before expenses, of HK$30,861,512. The proceeds  30,861,5127T © 17 {# fE AR AE M) AT 15 A BB 1E AN &£
from the exercise of share options would be applied for general EfN—REEES -

working capital of the Group.
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& (£E) KD ER 27 (“Gemdale Corporation”), the ultimate
holding company of the Company, adopted a share option scheme
in February 2010 for the purpose of giving incentive to, rewarding,
remunerating, compensating and/or providing benefits to the
qualifying grantees of that company. Eligible participants of the
share option scheme include executive Directors of the Company.
As at 31 December 2017, no outstanding share option of Gemdale
Corporation was held by the directors of the Company.

Apart from the aforesaid, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors
and chief executive of the Company to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2017, the following Directors and the chief
executive of the Company had the following interests and short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFQ”)) as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
under the Listing Rules:
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Long position in the shares and share options of the (a) REAQRAIARGRBEREZFE
Company
Approximate
percentage
of total
Number of Total number  shareholding
share options of underlying (Note 5)
Number of  outstanding shares (HREABEZ
Name of Director Nature of interest shares WATEZ  Notes HER % BREAL
g B&EME ROEE BREZE Mid By (his)
Mr. Ling Ke Beneficial owner - 27,950,000 1 167,450,000 1.06%
EREE BB A 49,500,000 2
90,000,000 3
Mr. Huang Juncan Beneficial owner - 20,960,000 1 144,460,000 0.91%
BRARE EREA 43500000 2
80,000,000 3
Mr. Xu Jiajun Beneficial owner - 15,130,000 1 126,230,000 0.80%
RRETLE EREA 39,100000 2
72,000,000 3
Mr. Wei Chuanjun Beneficial owner 15,000,000 11,650,000 1 94,150,000 0.59%
EEERL BB A 32500000 2
35,000,000 3
Mr. Loh Lian Huat Through a controlled 1,000,000 - 4 1,000,000 0.01%
Loh Lian Huat%t % corporation
FRXEHEE
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung Beneficial owner - 2,000,000 1 8,000,000 0.05%
SR BB A 3,000,000 2
3,000,000 3
Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee, Anthony  Beneficial owner - 2,000,000 1 8,000,000 0.05%
BrEft BB A 3,000,000 2
3,000,000 3
Mr. Hu Chunyuan Beneficial owner - 2,000,000 1 8,000,000 0.05%
HELEE BB A 3,000,000 2
3,000,000 g}
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Notes:

The share options were granted on 7 January 2013, each
with an exercise price of HK$0.55 per share and a validity
period from 7 January 2013 to 6 January 2023 under the
Share Option Scheme 2003.

The share options were granted on 20 May 2013, each
with an exercise price of HK$0.792 per share and a
validity period from 20 May 2013 to 19 May 2023 under
the Share Option Scheme 2013.

The share options were granted on 29 December 2014,
each with an exercise price of HK$0.44 per share and a
validity period from 29 December 2014 to 28 December
2024 under the Share Option Scheme 2013.

Mr. Loh Lian Huat'’s interest in 1,000,000 shares was held
through Silkrouteasia Capital Partners Pte. Ltd., which
was 50% owned by him.

The percentage shareholding in the Company was
calculated on the basis of 15,861,723,827 shares in
issue as at 31 December 2017.
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Silkrouteasia Capital Partners Pte.
Ltd #55 °
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(b) Long position in the shares and underlying shares of (b) RALQFEE LIESHERZRARIEE
the associated corporation of the Company — Gemdale RGZiFE
Corporation

Approximate

percentage
of total
Number of shareholding
Name of Director Nature of interest shares HREAE
EERSR EEME RHEE BHEIL
Mr. Ling Ke Beneficial owner 3,708,400 0.08%
E BEmEBA
Mr. Huang Juncan Beneficial owner 2,065,600 0.05%
\mERREE BEmEAA
Mr. Xu Jiajun Beneficial owner 1,050,800 0.02%
BREEAE BEmEBA
Mr. Wei Chuanjun Beneficial owner 960,100 0.02%
BEEELE EmEAA
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, none of Br b XX HFEE I 0 R2017F12A31H © K
the Directors and the chief executive of the Company had NAIEERESTBRAEMERANFHHE
any interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares AR EE (TERLFEFRBEKRHIZEXV
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated ) 2t MERO REESS - EER
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as BEES KB E GG FE35215 B8R AR FIA
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company GFEEREMzEMERIAE  HIREFES
under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the NEIE GBI EXVE I ETFRIZASITAE AR
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the NEIREER T2 S SRE ©

SFO or the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN TERRNIBEHEEDR
SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2017, the following persons (other than a #2017 12A31H * LW TAL (ARAEERES
Director or chief executive of the Company) had the following fTHA BFIN) RARARMDSIEER O FPEST
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of  JIRIEFES MG IEHIE3361FL R ARRBFE
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Btz FTAR ¢

Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Long position in the shares of the Company RAERATRDZHR
Approximate
percentage
of total
shareholding
(Note 3)
Number of R ERAE

Name of shareholder Notes Nature of interest/capacity shares BHEIL

BREE itz3 EEME 515 RHBEE (H1:13)

Glassy An Limited 1 Directly beneficially owned 6,565,112,983 41.39%

HEZBRAR BEEEnER

OUE Lippo Limited 2 Directly beneficially owned 4,706,452,795 29.67%

BEERERER

Notes: Hizt -

1. As at 31 December 2017, Glassy An Limited was wholly-owned 1. R2017F12H31H » BLHR L Gl H & E
by Prosper Commercial Limited, which was indirectly controlled BHERRAZEFHE M2 FRId 2 E 5
by Gemdale Corporation. Gemdale Corporation is a company EIEER] o 2t EEERFENRKFE ([H
established in the People’s Republic of China (‘PRC”) with B ]) KTy ERINA] » BARR FEEERS
limited liability and the A-shares of which are listed on the BT L7 e

Shanghai Stock Exchange.
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2. As at 31 December 2017, OUE Lippo Limited was owned as to
50% by OUE Baytown Pte. Ltd. (a wholly-owned subsidiary of
OUE Limited whose shares are listed on the Singapore Stock
Exchange) and 50% by Epoch Thrive Limited. OUE Limited was a
subsidiary of Lippo ASM Asia Property Limited, which was owned
as to 50% by Pacific Landmark Holdings Limited and as to 50%
by Admiralty Station Management Limited. Pacific Landmark
Holdings Limited is a subsidiary of Lippo Capital Limited which
was owned as to 60% by Lippo Capital Holdings Company
Limited and as to 40% by PT Trijaya Utama Mandiri. Lippo
Capital Holdings Company Limited was beneficially owned by
Mr. Stephen Riady and PT Trijaya Utama Mandiri was beneficially
owned by Mr. James Tjahaja Riady. In addition, Admiralty Station
Management Limited was beneficially owned by Mr. Chan Kin
while Epoch Thrive Limited was wholly-owned by Ms. Lian Yi.

3. The percentage shareholding in the Company was calculated on
the basis of 15,861,723,827 shares of the Company in issue as
at 31 December 2017.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, no other person
had any interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares
of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER’S
MATERIAL [INTERESTS |IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Each of Messrs. Ling Ke, Huang Juncan, Xu Jiajun and Wei
Chuanjun, all being the executive Directors, is also a director and/
or top management of Gemdale Corporation which is the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Company and is a connected person
of the Company under the Listing Rules. Therefore, each of Messrs.
Ling Ke, Huang Juncan, Xu Jiajun and Wei Chuanjun is materially
interested in the transactions as disclosed in the section headed
“Connected Transactions” below.

2. R2017F12H31H + OUE Lippo Limiteds

FIfOUE Baytown Pte. Ltd. (J50UE Limited
Z2ENEL A - OUE LimitedZ & (7 7 %1
W iEHE L ZH_FiT) KEpoch Thrive Limited
& B # H50%# z ° OUE LimitedZLippo
ASM Asia Property LimitedZ f1/& & » &
77 FIfPacific Landmark Holdings Limited &
Admiralty Station Management Limited# £
# H50%# 7 ° Pacific Landmark Holdings
Limited4Lippo Capital Limited.Z [f1/& 2 5] -
E 7 BldiLippo Capital Holdings Company
Limited PT Trijaya Utama Mandiri}560% %%
40% ¥z ° Lippo Capital Holdings Company
Limited#iStephen Riadyst £ & 25 A » [
PT Trijaya Utama Mandirifl/#iJames Tjahaja
Riadyst £ EmbEA © U5 - Admiralty Station
Management Limited /R (255 £ B A 1]
Epoch Thrive LimitedRIE# X+ 2 EHE ©

3. RAER G2 RIEE D TI12 2 B]R2017F 12

H31HZ B #7717 15,861,723,827K BEE

M EXXHREEESN - R2017FE12A318 @ A4 A
TRARABRGOFAEEBRDFHEEREEFESRBE
1B 336N AR B AT E 2 B Mz sk

NN
KB o

EERERBRERRS - THAEGHNHZE
KR

ARBHMITERERAE  BEBRE  HERESR
ERBEELESANAGHERCEETR I&
REBRAR - SHEBRADRRE Z REERBR -
R RIEETRUBRESRNRA ZBEANL -
It EREE  BERERE  BRREELEREEE
REZARTX [BERS ] —HARBEZRZHE
BEAKER ©
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Save for the transactions as disclosed in the section headed
“Connected Transactions” below and the material related party
transactions as disclosed in note 40 to the financial statements,
there were no other transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company’s holding company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or its connected
entities had a material interest (whether directly or indirectly)
subsisting at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

OTHER DIRECTORS’ INTEREST

As at the date of this report, the following Directors were also a
director or an employee of the following companies, each of which
had or was deemed to have an interest or short position in the
shares or underlying shares in respect of equity derivatives of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

Name of substantial shareholder

Name of Director of the Company
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Position in substantial shareholder
of the Company

EEEHB FRARETERRER RERATETERRZBAL
Mr. Ling Ke Gemdale Corporation EHEE Director =
EREAE Glassy An Limited HEZBRAF Director 5
Mr. Huang Juncan Gemdale Corporation S EE Director 5%
=ERBERE

Mr. Xu Jiajun Gemdale Corporation EHEE Director 2=
BRRERE

Mr. Wei Chuanjun Gemdale Corporation S EE Director 5=
BEEEEE

Ms. Zhang Feiyun OUE Lippo Limited Director 2=

REELL
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS BERXS
The Group has entered into the following connected transactions — ANEERFERGETZ NFIBER S

during the year:

(a) Continuing Connected Transactions (a)

1. On 29 March 2017, a property development and technical 1.
services agreement was entered into between the Company
and Gemdale Corporation (the “Services Agreement”),
pursuant to which Gemdale Corporation agreed to provide
property development and technical services to the Company
(or its subsidiary(ies)) in relation to certain property projects
of the Company (or its subsidiary(ies)) as set out therein
for the year ending 31 December 2017 at a service fee
calculated based on 0.6% of the contracted sales of the
Group’s properties receiving such services catered by
Gemdale Corporation.

Gemdale Corporation is the ultimate controlling shareholder
of the Company and is therefore a connected person of the
Company under the Listing Rules. The Services Agreement
constituted a continuing connected transaction of the
Company. Accordingly, the Company set the annual cap
for the aggregate amount of services fee payable pursuant
to the Services Agreement at RMB65,000,000 for the year
ending 31 December 2017.

During the year, the aggregate amount of services fee
of approximately RMB64,869,000 was paid to Gemdale
Corporation under the Services Agreement.

2. On 29 March 2017, an entrusted operation agreement was 2.
entered into between the Company, it 5 BIKEBERES
fR 2 8](Beijing Ganglu Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.)
(“Beijing Ganglu”, a subsidiary of the Company, as trustee),
bR & 88 B i E R % A R A 7(Beijing Gemdale Hongyun
Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.) (“Beijing Gemdale”)
and Beijing Gemdale, Chaoyang Branch (together with
Beijing Gemdale, as principal) (the “Entrusted Operation
Agreement”), pursuant to which the Principal agreed to
engage Beijing Ganglu to manage the operations of Jt &
&35 (Beijing Gemdale Plaza) located in Beijing, the PRC for
and on its behalf for the year ending 31 December 2017 at an
entrusted management fee calculated based on a margin of
20% to the existing cost operating the Beijing Gemdale Plaza.
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Beijing Gemdale is a subsidiary of Gemdale Corporation
and is therefore a connected person of the Company under
the Listing Rules. The Entrusted Operation Agreement
constituted a continuing connected transaction of the
Company. Accordingly, the Company set the annual cap for
the entrusted management fee receivable pursuant to the
Entrusted Operation Agreement at RMB26,400,000 for the
year ending 31 December 2017.

During the vyear, an entrusted management fee of
approximately RMB26,400,000 was received from Beijing
Gemdale under the Entrusted Operation Agreement.

On 29 March 2017, a property management service
agreement was entered into between Vision (Shenzhen)
Software Technology Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen Vision”, a
subsidiary of the Company) and FJIm &M EEEBR
A2 A)(Shenzhen Gemdale Property Management Co., Ltd.)
(“Gemdale Property”) (the “Property Management Service
Agreement”), pursuant to which Gemdale Property agreed
to provide property management services to Shenzhen
Vision for Phase 1 and Phase 2 of Vision Shenzhen Business
Park located in Shenzhen, the PRC for the year ending 31
December 2017.

Gemdale Property is a subsidiary of Gemdale Corporation
and is therefore a connected person of the Company
under the Listing Rules. The Property Management Service
Agreement constituted a continuing connected transaction
of the Company. Accordingly, the Company set the annual
cap for the property management fee payable pursuant to the
Property Management Service Agreement at RMB 13,000,000
for the year ending 31 December 2017.

During the year, a property management fee of approximately
RMB12,022,000 was paid to Shenzhen Gemdale under the
Property Management Service Agreement.
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On 29 March 2017, a framework agreement was entered
into between the Company and Gemdale Property (the
“Property Management Framework Agreement”), pursuant
to which Gemdale Property and/or its subsidiaries and/or
its designated affiliated companies under the same control
agreed to provide property management services during the
development stage of the property projects of the Group as
set out therein for the year ending 31 December 2017 at a
management services fee calculated based on 10% margin
on the costs of provision of the relevant services incurred
plus tax.

Accordingly, the Company set the annual cap for the
aggregate amount of management services fee payable
pursuant to the Property Management Framework Agreement
at RMB50,000,000 for the year ending 31 December 2017.

During the year, the aggregate amount of management
services fee of approximately RMB43,441,000 was paid to
Shenzhen Gemdale or its subsidiaries/designated affiliated
companies under the same control under the subsidiary
agreements to the Property Management Framework
Agreement.

On 29 March 2017, a framework system installation agreement
was entered into between the Company and JF#3II/H & HigF
T 2 AR AT (Shenzhen Gemdale Building Project Co., Ltd.)
("Gemdale Building”) (the “Framework System Installation
Agreement”), pursuant to which Gemdale Building agreed
to provide certain intelligent system project services for the
various property projects of the Group for the year ending 31
December 2017 at a project fee calculated based on 1.25%
margin on the actual cost of providing relevant services plus
tax.
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Gemdale Building is a subsidiary of Gemdale Corporation
and is therefore a connected person of the Company
under the Listing Rules. The Framework System Installation
Agreement constituted a continuing connected transaction
of the Company. Accordingly, the Company set the annual
cap for the aggregate amount of project fees payable
pursuant to the Framework System Installation Agreement
at RMB30,000,000 for the year ending 31 December 2017.

During the year, the aggregate amount of project fees of
approximately RMB13,078,000 was paid to Gemdale Building
under the Framework System Installation Agreement.

On 29 March 2017, an entrusted project management
agreement was entered into between FIITHEIR E B R A 7
(Shenzhen Xinwei Investment Company Limited) (“Shenzhen
Xinwei Investment’, a subsidiary of the Company) and& &
T % EREMERZE AR A F(Wuhan Dian Juntai Property
Development Company Limited) (“Wuhan Dian Juntai”) (the
“Entrusted Project Management Agreement”), pursuant to
which Wuhan Dian Juntai agreed to engage Shenzhen Xinwei
Investment to manage the marketing, design and liaison work
with subcontractors in relation to the pre-launch stage of the
project located at Wuhan, the PRC for the year ending 31
December 2017 at an entrusted project management fee
calculated based on 15-20% margin on the projected costs
for operating and managing the project.

Wuhan Dian Juntai is a subsidiary of Gemdale Corporation
and is therefore a connected person of the Company under
the Listing Rules. The Entrusted Project Management
Agreement constituted a continuing connected transaction of
the Company. Accordingly, the Company set the annual cap
for the aggregate amount of entrusted project management
fee receivable pursuant to the Entrusted Project Management
Agreement at RMB17,850,000 for the year ending 31
December 2017.

During the year, the aggregated amount of entrusted
project management fee of approximately RMB595,000 was
received from Wuhan Dian Juntai under the Entrusted Project
Management Agreement.
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On 17 July 2017, a framework agreement was entered into
between RYIFTKEERIFIREBR AT (Shenzhen Xinjia
Living Technology Service Co., Ltd.) (“Shenzhen Xinjia”,
a subsidiary of the Company) and Gemdale Corporation
(the “Decoration Services Framework Agreement’),
pursuant to which Gemdale Corporation agreed to engage
Shenzhen Xinjia to provide decoration services for certain
property projects developed by Gemdale Corporation and
its subsidiaries through tendering, invited tendering or direct
engagement for the year ended 31 December 2017 at a
decoration fee calculated based on 7-15% margin on the
actual costs expected to arise with respect to the provision
of services to such projects.

The Decoration Services Framework Agreement constituted
a continuing connected transaction of the Company.
Accordingly, the Company set the annual cap for the
aggregate amount of decoration fees receivable pursuant
to the Decoration Services Framework Agreement at
RMB70,000,000 for the year ending 31 December 2017.

During the year, the aggregate amount of decoration fees of
approximately RMB7,190,000 was received from Gemdale
Corporation under the Decoration Services Framework
Agreement.

On 15 March 2016, a tenancy agreement was entered into
between Beijing Gemdale (as landlord) and &I AIERF
RIFEEEABR AR (Shenzhen Firework Time Investment
Management Co., Ltd.) (“Shenzhen Firework”, a subsidiary
of the Company) (as tenant) in respect of leasing a premises
in Beijing, the PRC for a term of 36 months commencing from
1 January 2016 to 31 December 2018 (both days inclusive).
The annual rent and property management fee payable by
the tenant to the landlord for each of the three years ending
31 December 2018 were approximately RMB6,726,000 (the
“Beijing Tenancy Agreement”).

Accordingly, the Company set the annual caps for the
aggregate amount of rent and property management
fee payable pursuant to the Beijing Tenancy Agreement
at RMB7,000,000 for each of the three years ending 31
December 2018.
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During the year, the aggregate amount of rent and property
management fee of approximately RMB6,220,000 was paid
to Beijing Gemdale under the Beijing Tenancy Agreement.

On 15 March 2016, a tenancy agreement was entered into
between Shenzhen Vision (as landlord) and J&JI|H 4 % &
EIRHRAF (Shenzhen Gemdale Investment Management
Co., Ltd.) (“Gemdale Investment”, as tenant) in respect of
leasing a premises in Vision Shenzhen Business Park, the
PRC for a term of 36 months commencing from 1 December
2015 to 30 November 2018 (both days inclusive). The
annual rent and property management fee payable by the
tenant to the landlord for each of the three years ending 31
December 2018 were RMB1,214,000, RMB1,304,000 and
RMB1,196,000, respectively. On 26 June 2015, a tenancy
agreement was entered into between Shenzhen Vision (as
landlord) and Gemdale Property (as tenant) in respect
of leasing a premises in Vision Shenzhen Business Park,
the PRC for a term of 34 months commencing from 1 July
2015 to 30 April 2018 (both days inclusive). The annual
rent and property management fee payable by the tenant
to the landlord for each of the three years ending 31
December 2018 were RMB7,346,000, RMB7,346,000 and
RMB2,449,000, respectively (collectively, the “Shenzhen
Tenancy Agreements”).

Each of Gemdale Investment and Gemdale Property is
a subsidiary of Gemdale Corporation and is therefore a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.
The Shenzhen Tenancy Agreements constituted continuing
connected transactions of the Company. Accordingly, the
Company set the annual caps for the aggregate amount of
rent and property management fee receivable pursuant to
the Shenzhen Tenancy Agreements (aggregated under Rules
14A.81 of the Listing Rules) at RMB9,000,000, RMB9,000,000
and RMB4,000,000 for each of the three years ending 31
December 2018, respectively.

During the year, the aggregate amount of rent and property
management fee of approximately RMB8,577,000 was
received from Shenzhen Investment and Gemdale Property
under the Shenzhen Tenancy Agreements.
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10.

(b)

On 13 December 2016, a framework agreement was
entered into between EMETEHERZEEERNHBRAA
(Guangzhou Guangdian Real Estate Development Group Co.,
Ltd.) (“Guangzhou Guangdian”), which is owned as to 74%
by the Company, and Gemdale Corporation (the “Financial
Consulting Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which
Gemdale Corporation agreed to provide financial advisory
and consultation services to Guangzhou Guangdian and/or
its subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated companies
for their property projects for three years at a maximum
rate of 1% per annum over the facility amount obtained by
Guangzhou Guangdian and/or its subsidiaries, joint ventures
and associated companies.

Accordingly, the Company set the annual caps for the
aggregate amount of financial consultancy fee payable
pursuant to the Financial Consulting Framework Agreement
at RMB8.5 million, RMB100 million, RMB100 million and
RMB92 million for each of the four years ending 31 December
2019, respectively.

During the vyear, the aggregate amount of financial
consultancy fee of approximately RMB52,095,000 was paid
to Gemdale Corporation under the Financial Consulting
Framework Agreement.

Connected Transactions

On 2 August 2017, an entrusted loan agreement was
entered into between (i) Shanghai Zhongjun Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Zhongjun”, a subsidiary
of the Company) (as lender), (ii) Chengdu Sino-Singapore
South West Logistics Co., Ltd., (“Chengdu Logistics”, a
subsidiary of a company which is a substantial shareholder of
Shanghai Zhongjun) (as borrower) and (iii) a bank (as lending
agent) (the “Entrusted Loan Agreement”), pursuant to which
the lender agreed, through the bank, to grant an entrusted
loan of RMB400 million to Chengdu Logistics.
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(c)

According to the terms of the Entrusted Loan Agreement, the
repayment of loan was required to be made at the earlier of
(a) 12 months from the date of drawdown; or (b) 1 month
from the date of demand of repayment from the lender and
the interest payable was calculated based on the floating
rate in accordance with the benchmark lending rate in the
People’s Bank of China, the then interest rate was 4.35%
per annum.

Chengdu Logistics is a subsidiary of a company which
is a substantial shareholder of Shanghai Zhongjun and
is therefore a connected person of the Company at the
subsidiary level under the Listing Rules. The Entrusted
Loan Agreement constituted a connected transaction of
the Company. Such transaction was subject to reporting
and announcement but was exempt from circular and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
Rule 14A.101 of the Listing Rules.

Annual review of
transactions

the continuing connected

In accordance with Rule 14A.37 of the Listing Rules, the
INEDs had reviewed the continuing connected transactions
as contemplated under the (i) Services Agreement, (ii)
Entrusted Operation Agreement, (iii) Property Management
Service Agreement, (iv) Property Management Framework
Agreement, (v) Framework System Installation Agreement,
(vi) Entrusted Project Management Agreement, (vii)
Decoration Services Framework Agreement, (viii) Beijing
Tenancy Agreement, (ix) Shenzhen Tenancy Agreements and
(x) Financial Consulting Framework Agreement (collectively,
the “2017 Continuing Connected Transactions”) which
were subsisting during the year and confirmed that the 2017
Continuing Connected Transactions had been entered into:

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms; and

(iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
the 2017 Continuing Connected Transactions on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests
of the Company’s shareholders as a whole.

(c)
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The Company’s auditors were engaged to report on
the Group’s 2017 Continuing Connected Transactions
in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditors have issued an unqualified
letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect
of the 2017 Continuing Connected Transactions disclosed
above by the Group in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of
the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditors’ letter has been
provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, none of the material related party
transactions as disclosed in note 40 to the financial statements
for the year constituted discloseable non-exempted connected
transaction or non-exempted continuing connected transaction
under the Listing Rules.

To the extent of the above material related party transactions
constituted connected transactions as defined in the Listing Rules,
the Company had complied with the relevant requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year and up to the date of this annual report, Mr. Ling
Ke, Mr. Huang Juncan, Mr. Xu Jiajun and Mr. Wei Chuanjun, all
being executive Directors, held shareholding or other interests and/
or directorships in companies/entities within the group of Gemdale
Corporation. Gemdale Corporation mainly focuses on residential
property development and participates in large-scale urban
complex/commercial projects in the top 50 cities (by population/
economic scale) in the PRC.

The Board also includes two NEDs and three INEDs whose views
carry significant weight in the Board’s decisions. Therefore the Board
is independent from the board of directors/governing committees of
Gemdale Corporation and none of the above-mentioned Directors
can personally manage the Board. The audit committee of the
Company, which consists of three INEDs, meets regularly to assist
the Board in reviewing the financial performance, risk management
and internal control, and compliance systems of the Group.
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Further, each of the above-mentioned Directors is fully aware of,
and has been discharging, his/her fiduciary duty to the Company
and has acted and will continue to act in the best interest of the
Company and its shareholders as a whole. Therefore, the Group is
capable of carrying on its businesses independently of, and at arm’s
length from, the businesses of such companies/entities in which
Directors have declared interests.

Save as disclosed above, so far as the Directors are aware, none of
the Directors nor their respective close associates had any interest
in any business, which competes or may compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws, every Director shall be entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all
losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about
the execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation
thereto.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Group throughout the year.

ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option
Schemes” above, at no time during the year was the Company, or
any of its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a
party to any arrangements to enable the Directors of the Company
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for disclosed under the section headed “Share Option
Schemes” above, no equity-linked agreements were entered into
by the Group, or existed during the year.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

UPDATE ON DIRECTORS INFORMATION UNDER RULE
13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, changes in the
information of Directors since the date of the 2017 Interim Report of
the Company required to be disclosed in this report are as follow:

1. The Directors’ fee of each of Mr. Ling Ke, Mr. Huang Juncan,
Mr. Xu Jiajun and Mr. Wei Chuanjun, all being executive
Directors, were increased to HK$1,150,000 per annum with
effect from 1 January 2018.

2. The Directors’ fee of each of Mr. Loh Lian Huat and Ms.
Zhang Feiyun, all being NEDs, were increased to HK$400,000
per annum with effect from 1 January 2018.

3. The Directors’ fee of Mr. Hui Chiu Chung, Mr. Chiang Sheung
Yee, Anthony and Mr. Hu Chunyuan, all being INEDs, were
increased to HK$473,500, HK$415,500 and HK$517,300 per
annum, respectively, with effect from 1 January 2018.

4. The annual salary of Mr. Xu Jiajun, the Chief Executive Officer
and Mr. Wei Chuanjun, the Chief Financial Officer were
increased to HK$801,600 and HK$480,000 respectively, with
effect from 1 January 2018.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year, the five largest suppliers and the largest supplier of the
Group accounted for approximately 23% and 5% of the total value
of the Group’s purchases respectively.

The aggregate revenue attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers and the largest customer accounted for approximately
1% and 0.4%, respectively, of the Group’s revenue.
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At no time during the year did the Directors, their associates or
any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had
any beneficial interests in these suppliers or customers referred
to above.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the Group’s retirement benefits scheme are set out on
page 153 of this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities on the Stock
Exchange during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the
Company was incorporated.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had about 2,400 (2016: 1,613)
employees. Salaries of employees are maintained at competitive
levels while bonuses may be granted on a discretionary basis with
reference to the performance of the Group as well as the individual’s
performance. Other employee benefits include mandatory provident
fund, insurance and medical cover, subsidised educational and
training programmes as well as a share option scheme.

The emoluments of the Directors are determined with reference to
the Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance as well as
the results of the Group.

Directors’ Report
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Directors’ Report

EEEHE

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual
report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float
under the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Details of the Corporate Governance Report are set out on pages
30 to 49 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Details of the Environmental, Social and Governance Report are set
out on pages 50 to 70 of this annual report.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment. A resolution for their re-appointment as auditors of
the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

For and on behalf of the Board of
Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited

Mr. Huang Juncan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 16 March 2018
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Independent Auditor’s Report

e
EY =

To the shareholders of Gemdale Properties and Investment
Corporation Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Gemdale
Properties and Investment Corporation Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
set out on pages 110 to 265, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B2 BET RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results
of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion

BREESEE

BREBTFTEERERMOZEAE  RAEEAH
BAVBRENBETHRAEENEE - ELFER
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ME—FE RMEEFERETEAESTH R
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on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Key Audit Matter
BEEEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN ESNAEERREEE

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

As at 31 December 2017, investment properties (including
completed investment properties and investment properties
under construction) measured at fair value amounted to
approximately RMB6,367 million, with the corresponding
fair value change recognised in the statement of profit or
loss. The valuation process is inherently subjective, and
dependent on a number of estimates. The Group engaged
external valuers to perform valuation of the investment
properties.

R2017F 128318 ' BRAA BN ENKEMEBIERTIRE
MENMERBREME N BARE367ETT BB AAENE

BNBRERAER - HEBREALE LRIEN  YEHURRZIA
st - BEREREBINESGEMEREMFRETMHE -

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3 and 13 to the
financial statements.

HERERRN M HRERMEIRI3 -

BEWELAERME

We evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the valuation experts engaged by the Group. We also
obtained an understanding of the work of the valuation
experts. In addition, we assessed the data used as inputs
for the valuation, and evaluated major assumptions and
methodologies adopted in the valuation. We also involved
our internal valuation experts to assist us in evaluating the
major assumptions and methodologies of the valuation of
investment properties held by the Group.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Key Audit Matter
BEEER

B BN E

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMNESANAEEBRRETSE

Determining whether the acquisition of subsidiaries

EEWEF AR REBREBS G

constituted a business combination

On 6 February 2017, 28 July 2017 and 24 August 2017,
the Group acquired 100% equity interests of Shanghai
Zhitao Motor Components Company Limited (“Zhitao”), Yuxin
Shanghai Electronic Company Limited (“Yuxin”) and Shanghai
Lier Modern Material Company Limited (“Lier”), respectively,
from independent third parties at a total consideration of
RMB194 million, RMB81.9 million and RMB86.6 million.
Zhitao, Yuxin and Lier hold land use rights in Shanghai.

EEER2017F2A68 + 201767 A28H &201748A248 %
FINBIE=FWE LEEEABTHHERAR ([FEE])
wan (B8) BEFERAR ([##F)) REESF@BAIMEERA
7 ([FEB]) BM100%A&#E - BRRESFAARKE194ET - A
R#0.819B T M ARME0.8661ETT - 58 « VT AFIBR LE
BB iR AR -

Management concluded that the above acquisition
constituted an acquisition of assets instead of a business
combination because the acquired entities and assets did
not constitute the carrying on of a business (i.e., there are no
processes applied to the inputs that have the ability to create
outputs). Zhitao, Yuxin and Lier had no operation team and
no construction work was carried out before the acquisition.
Such conclusion depends on significant judgement made
by management.

EEERALWEBEREERBMIIEXHEH  BAMKEBE
BREESREBUER (MBAETFUELEEREIERLL
NEEHL) - B8 A RN BRI EIR B B R EE
TTEERTE - AEERIUAREEENEAHE -

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3 and 34 to the
financial statements.

HERERN M RERMEIR34 -

We assessed management’s judgements in determining
whether the acquisition constituted a business
combination. We also obtained the sales and purchase
agreements and reviewed the terms regarding the
acquisition. Furthermore, we reviewed the financial
statements of Zhitao as at 31 January 2017, and Yuxin
and Lier as at 31 July 2017.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
W RS CE S

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B2 BET RS

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ip Hing Lam.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22nd Floor, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue, Central
Hong Kong

16 March 2018
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
meBEk

Year ended 31 December 2017

HZE2017F12A31ALLFE
2017 2016
20174 20164
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
Mz ARETTT ARBFIT
Revenue WA 5 4,381,068 8,706,669
Cost A (2,777,096)  (4,856,505)
Gross profit ES 1,603,972 3,850,164
Direct operating expenses HELERY (948,062) (634,463)
Other income and gains HAa A R 5 755,943 531,113
Changes in fair values of investment properties BEMEZ AR EEE 13 545,840 259,825
Administrative expenses THAX (82,373) (90,614)
Finance costs B E 6 (316,298) (267,933)
Share of profits and losses of: FE(H & -
Joint ventures AENT 1,189,781 168,521
Associates HY/NE] 2,971 16,152
Profit before tax B A AT ) 7 2,751,774 3,832,765
Tax 18 8 (944,526) (1,828,396)
Profit for the year RNEE 5 F 1,807,248 2,004,369
Attributable to: AT AL
Owners of the Company KAREEA 1,643,529 1,366,512
Non-controlling interests FEVEAR PR R R RS 163,719 637,857
1,807,248 2,004,369
Earnings per share attributable to /NI SYEPN ol
owners of the Company BREN
- Basic (RMB) —E R (AR¥T) 10 0.1039 0.0865
- Diluted (RMB) -8 (ARET) 10 0.1029 0.0864
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

e EEBER

Year ended 31 December 2017

HZE2017F12A31BEFE
2017 2016
20175 20164
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
z3 ARETR ARBFT
Profit for the year RNEE 5 A 1,807,248 2,004,369
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Hirz2mEkE/(BE)
- Other comprehensive income/(loss) - BRARBRERH S
to be reclassified to profit or THE 52 B 2E
loss in subsequent periods Wi,/ (B518)
Exchange differences: [ SR -
Exchange differences on translation BEBINE 2 597,880 (543,624)
of foreign operations BE % =5
Share of exchange differences on [ eE=Y/NE] (99,659) 42,045
translation of foreign operations of BREFINES 2
joint ventures fEHZER
Release upon deregistration of FHEMB AR 5 (6,966) (15,378)
subsidiaries B
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) to be BREBERENDE 491,255 (516,957)
reclassified to profit or loss in Bz EaEmEkes/
subsequent periods (B518) F5E
- Other comprehensive (loss)/income not to be —PHREREBETSE
reclassified to profit or loss in TR HM2E
subsequent periods (B518),/ Mezs
Exchange differences: fE 5 BB R -
Exchange differences on translation MEBINEB (470,724) 424,065
of foreign operations fEXZR
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for REZHEM2E WS (FE) - 20,531 (92,892)
the year, net of tax B BRI
Total comprehensive income for the year AEE2EMEEE 1,827,779 1,911,477
Attributable to: AT AL -
Owners of the Company ZAYNSIES YN 1,682,162 1,266,746
Non-controlling interests FEERBR R 145,617 644,731
1,827,779 1,911,477
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e TR R

31 December 2017
201712 831H

2017 2016
20174 20164
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Mz AR% TR ARET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ¥ - BB MRE 12 63,372 70,165
Investment properties KEYE 13 6,366,809 5,100,679
Intangible assets BV EE 19 48,076 38,950
Prepayments, deposits and BRFIE - Ze Rk 22 2,046,634 1,837,588
other receivables H i FEU R K
Investments in joint ventures REEREIZIRE 17 5,847,493 2,831,381
Investments in associates ECH@‘%%’RTZ&% 18 44,658 1,426,190
Loan to a joint venture ElhEERAER 29(a) 25,000 25,000
Loan to an associate JRE Ui Bt 5 A ‘,%i;k 29(b) 588,078 -
Available-for-sale financial investments AEHESRIEE 20 60,045 8,091
Deferred tax assets EERERE 31 554,852 386,655
Total non-current assets FRBEEAE 15,645,017 11,724,699
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Properties held for sale EreEmE 14 1,395,639 1,778,062
Properties under development BRAME 15 13,562,264 10,209,008
Prepayments for acquisitions of Wi T 2 16 241,765 110,000
land use rights BFIE
Available-for-sale financial investment AHEESRRE 20 - 1,300,000
Trade receivables FEWE 5 BRI 21 17,472 11,500
Prepayments, deposits and BRFHIE - Ze Rk 22 4,139,497 1,388,087
other receivables ,\1113FEH£ZEE?X
Loans to joint ventures FEW/:.\%‘@ = 29(a) 948,397 1,185,892
Loans to related companies EREEATIER 29(c) 370,000 1,150,000
Loans to non-controlling shareholders FE U IE1E Hﬁl&?%?f( 29(d) 41,377 =
Due from the ultimate holding company R LA B R4 P 30 - 27
Due from fellow subsidiaries GG ?Mﬂ%’&j 30 4,958 2,668
Due from joint ventures W& & A RIRIE 30 127,702 15,653
Due from associates JE B i R A SRR 30 = 4,919
Due from non-controlling shareholders JE S 12 AR S SR 0B 30 212,652 48,510
Due from related companies FEUFEE N RIFIA 30 564 1,580
Prepaid tax BRTE 410,128 85,645
Restricted cash XRAHRS 23 1,155,555 258,110
Deposits, bank and cash balances EZ BRI ERe &S 23 5,395,765 2,892,968
Total current assets REBEEAE 28,023,735 20,442,629
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BB R

31 December 2017
201712 A31H

2017 2016
20174 20164
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
K AR¥ TR ARBF T
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Trade payables FEfHE FIRR 26 1,537,372 1,783,744
Advanced receipts, accruals and TEUGRIE - FERTIRARIE 27 14,637,328 4,349,631
other payables R EoAf FE - R R
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings B B IRIT R EME R 28 1,087,557 615,363
Loans from the ultimate holding company [ERT RS ER AR B 29(e) 5,240,113 7,272,123
Loans from a fellow subsidiary ERRRKTBARER 29(f) = 2,108,573
Loans from a non-controlling shareholder JER IR IR R E X 29(g) - 53,010
Loans from joint ventures ENEEARER 29(h) 154,000 60,000
Due to the ultimate holding company JE 1 S AP IR A BRI 30 2,723 73,328
Due to fellow subsidiaries IR R KB A RIFA 30 120,158 57,476
Due to joint ventures AR NGIE L 30 1,856,269 1,181,231
Due to associates FEfTE & R AR 30 10,000 2,242
Due to non-controlling shareholders FE T IR R IR R IR 30 100,030 75,400
Due to a related company FEHBRE R AR 30 2,760 1,046
Tax payable FEF TR 1,849,866 2,056,150
Total current liabilities REBEELAE 26,598,176 19,689,317
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 1,425,559 753,312
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEEAERTEBEE 17,070,576 12,478,011
LIABILITIES
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES *REEE
Interest-bearing other borrowings M EEMER 28 469,199 114,989
Loans from a fellow subsidiary e R RKTB A RER 29(f) 2,593,722 -
Deferred tax liabilities BLERIBEE 31 960,027 725,625
Total non-current liabilities FRBEBERAE 4,022,948 840,614
NET ASSETS EEFE 13,047,628 11,637,397
EQUITY Ex
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ERTHEAEGER
Issued capital B BT 24(a) 1,438,153 1,432,193
Reserves i 25 9,476,672 8,219,426
10,914,825 9,651,619
Non-controlling interests FERBRAER 2,132,803 1,985,778
TOTAL EQUITY A 13,047,628 11,637,397
Mr. Xu Jiajun Mr. Wei Chuanjun
BRREEE EEELE
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer
HITEFFTHAEZ HITEFFYFBEH
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERTRER

Year ended 31 December 2017
HZE2017F12A31BLFE

2017 2016
20175 20164F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Mz AR¥ T ARETT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEBZHRERE
Profit before tax BB A A 2,751,774 3,832,765
Adjustments for: Ty EBEELR AR
Finance costs HisEH 6 316,298 267,933
Bank interest income RITH EMA 5 (32,836) (20,127)
Interest income on loans to related companies EWEEARERZFSWA 5 (24,942) (41,865)
Interest income on loans to joint ventures A E AR ERZFSWA 5 (70,113) (106,545)
Interest income on loans to associates FE U & A BB R B BURA 5 (18,828) (4,904)
Interest income from available-for-sale AHHESRIEEFBRA 5 (55,288) (37,594)
financial investments
Interest income on loans receivable FEW B X 2 R B U A 5] (329,951) (174,914)
Interest income on loans to third parties EWE=FEFRZFBEHRA 5 (8,775) -
Net losses on disposal of items of property, HEDE  BEKREEEZ 7 107 215
plant and equipment BiEFE
Depreciation e 7 17,014 18,739
Amortisation of intangible assets A ES 7 8,227 2,098
Changes in fair values of investment properties REMEZ AREES 7 (545,840) (259,825)
Net gains on disposal/deemed disposal of HE BRHENBARZ 5 (53,458) (411)
subsidiaries Was #58
Gain on bargain purchase from WS A EIMEEZ 5 = (24,457)
acquisition of an associate EEUE R
Release of exchange fluctuation reserves upon FHEMB AR ZERE 5 (6,966) (15,378)
deregistration of subsidiaries {5 B %
Impairment of goodwill arising on acquisition WEEH B R RIFTE £ 2 mERE 7 4,889 19,235
of subsidiaries
Share-based compensation expenses R0 B & B 2 7 - 18,301
Impairment of receivables, net FEW R TR E - F 58 96,520 47 651
Share of profits and losses of joint ventures EHEERREE (1,189,781) (168,521)
Share of profits and losses of associates eI AR R (2,971) (16,152)
Operating profit before working capital changes BEECBE LR 855,080 3,336,244
Decrease/(increase) in properties held for sale FHEME R () 583,871 (507,378)
Increase in properties under development BRPYE 2L (5,303,865) (641,580)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments for Wi e 1+ b 5 R 2 TR BR 3K (131,765) 109,776
acquisitions of land use rights (Em),/ mb
Increase in trade receivables, prepayments, EWE SRR - BRFE (3,105,540) (1,053,391)
deposits and other receivables 2% N H A FE U BR IR 2 38 10
Increase in restricted cash ZBRHIR S 23800 (897,445) (258,049)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables, R E SR - FEWEUE - 12,059,271 (1,287,067)
advanced receipts, accruals and FERTHRARIA K E e 1
other payables R M,/ Chd)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations REEBRHE /() 28e 4,059,607 (301,445)
Overseas taxes paid BN FIE (1,438,974) (734,115)
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities RELKME /(15 cRLFE 2,620,633 (1,035,560)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERTRER

Year ended 31 December 2017

BZE2017F12A318LFE
2017 2016
20175 20164F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Mz AR¥ T ARBTT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXB2RERE
Purchases of items of property, BAYE BELREEBEZ (20,322) (53,150)
plant and equipment A
Additions/improvements to investment properties  REAYEELR hE 6, 13 (714,439) (827,005)
Purchase of available-for-sale BARHLESRIRE (52,671) (1,300,000)
financial investments
Loans to related companies BTBRENTIZER (400,000) (730,000)
Repayment of loans received from related companies Y B EAE QR Z & 1,180,000 =
Loans to joint ventures KTEERAZER (4,204,094) (1,330,183)
Repayment of loans received from joint ventures  WEAZARIZER 4,431,282 1,827,803
Loan from a joint venture REAEDNRIZER 94,000 60,000
Changes in balances with joint ventures HEBNREHZEE 569,542 1,744,285
Loans to associates KT ENRZER (8,415,578) -
Repayment of loans received from associates WEHEREZBR 7,827,500 -
Changes in balances with associates MBS N RSB EE 10,000 2,242
Amount received from a related company B U@ E R ARIE 1,714 590
Net inflow/(outflow) of cash and cash WENBARZREMASEE 33 6,397 (80,314)
equivalents in respect of acquisition of HHZRA/ (R 58
subsidiaries
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents HERRALENBARIZRE R 35 (129,641) (414)
in respect of disposal and deemed ReFEBEZREFEHE
disposal of subsidiaries
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, HEWHE BEREREEEZ 98 261
plant and equipment FTi5 5038
Decrease/(increase) in time deposits with REARRIBEBA=MEAZ 24,000 (59,640)
original maturity of more than three months FHFER 2R /()
when acquired
Bank interest received B ERTTHI S 32,690 20,014
Interest received on loans to related companies BMEEARERFE 25,958 40,959
Interest received on loans to joint ventures BlAERAERF S 132,155 144,480
Interest received on loans to associates B & R R ERF R 38,211 424
Interest received from available-for-sale BRI EESBIRER S 55,288 37,594
financial investments
Interest received on loans receivable EIREMER 2 FIE 327,130 174,326
Interest received on loans to third parties BEME=ZFERZHE 8,775 =
Redemption of available-for-sale financial EOAHEESREE 1,300,200 1,400,000
investments
Capital contributions to joint ventures REEDRZEE (667,222) (1,852,264)
Capital contributions to an associate REE R A ZIRE (191) -
Return of capital from a joint venture AERAIRERAK - 45,000
Dividends from joint ventures EREERRIRE 197,687 240,965
Acquisition of interests in joint ventures WEE SR E#ER (26,718) (303,000)
Proceeds from disposal of investments HEGB AR ZEREZHER 2,427 24,742
in joint ventures
Acquisition of an associate G NG| - (1,329,830)
Loan to non-controlling shareholders BT IEERERER (41,377) -
Net cash from/(used in) investing activities REEBFE /(i) 2B&FH 1,592,801 (2,102,115)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERTRER

Year ended 31 December 2017
HZE2017F12A31BLLFE

2017 2016
2017 201645
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HiaF ARBT R ARETFT
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES MELBKESRE
Issue of shares on exercise of share options TEERERTIRGD 24(a)(ii) 26,947 -
Dividend paid ERRE (315,963) (315,869)
Interest and other bank charges paid SHAMEREMRITER (380,526) (555,720)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests Yo B SR AR R SR 2 (84,399) 29,400
Amounts received from the ultimate holding company B R ER R RIFIE 58,869 13,605,700
Amounts paid to the ultimate holding company B &R A R 508 (129,447)  (14,654,623)
Amounts received from fellow subsidiaries EEAEER =GR 63,198 52,006
Amounts paid to fellow subsidiaries BENRZAMBRRFIA (12,701) -
Partial disposal of subsidiaries o 5 Y B8 /A B R0 AR 357,768 339,914
Capital contributions from non-controlling shareholders — FF#22 %A% 3R A% A% A 39,150 -
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders BRI R S (345,834) (197,484)
Amounts paid to non-controlling shareholders BT IR AR AR R RIA (183,917) (19,580)
Amounts received from non-controlling shareholders B IR AR R 3R 46,128 40,328
New bank and other borrowings FERITREMER 814,375 740,288
Repayment of bank and other borrowings BEBTRHEMER (141,799) (29,773)
Loan proceeds from the ultimate holding company REZERERRAER 21,136,606 10,893,214
Repayment of loans from the ultimate holding company B &AIFR AR ER (23,168,616) (5,672,976)
Loan proceeds from a fellow subsidiary RERZKBRAER 925,024 286,691
Repayment of loans from a fellow subsidiary EBERZHMBARER (301,740) (360,491)
Loan proceeds from a non-controlling shareholder REFERBERER - 53,010
Repayment of loans from a non-controlling shareholder — {8i& FFIER R R E X (53,010) -
Net cash (used in)/from financing activities MEEK (i) ez (1,649,887) 4,234,035
BeFE
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ReRESEEERAZENFE 2,563,547 1,096,360
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year FHz R kBELEMB/ER 2,822,968 1,714,557
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net SVEE RSB 2 & - T (36,750) 12,051
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FRZBRe MRS EEERB 5,349,765 2,822,968
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND ReRRSEEBRLHZ
CASH EQUIVALENTS: P
Cash and bank balances Be RIBITAE R 5,081,594 2,700,282
Non-pledged time deposits mHEEEFR 314,171 192,686
Deposits, bank and cash balances as stated in the REFEHBRRERMINRZ 5,395,765 2,892,968
consolidated statement of financial position T RITRBEEH
Non-pledged time deposits with original maturity of REARRIBHAZR (46,000) (70,000)
more than three months when acquired “ERzEERTHER
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FRzBEERBESEEER 5,349,765 2,822,968
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2.1

Notes to the Financial Statements

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited (the
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda. The registered office of the Company is located at
Canon'’s Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM12, Bermuda.

During the year, the principal activity of the Company was
investment holding while the Group was involved in property
development, investment and management of residential,
commercial and business park projects.

The immediate holding company of the Company is Glassy
An Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands with limited liability. In the opinion of the Directors,
the ultimate holding company of the Company is i

(£@) BHAERLAE (“Gemdale Corporation”), which is
established in the PRC with limited liability and whose shares
are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are
disclosed in note 45.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They
have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for investment properties and certain available-for-
sale financial investments which have been measured at fair
value. These financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

2.1

B 5 ¥R R B o

31 December 2017
201712 A31H

REAREEER

cHEEEEARAR ((ARAF]) IHRAE
REFMAZ2ERAR - M EE
#ik ACanon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street,
Hamilton HM12, Bermuda °

REAR  ARRNREEBRASETERR - M
AEBRINEEE MABKHEREAZ
MEER REREHE -

RRB 2 BEERAR T — RN RBE LR
EEMALZZBR AR —BLERAR - &
ERRARAZERERAB I —RRHE
BRI 2 BRAR — & (£E) ROHBRD
a ([2EE])  EROELBESZXSHA
£

ARABEZEZHE R R FED R 45 B

= o

A

AR BEHRRIREBEEFL GG ([FEE
AEAE]) BMzBEMBREER ([F
BMBEREERD (BEMEETRMBERS
ZR - BEEFEA (FEGFER]) &
28) BELRGHRUREE R REA
ZEBERMER - FRIREMERE TAIH
HESBRERAAREFEI - RNEYBHRE
REELRANEDIRE - AP BHEREUAR
BIARKE]D 2% REEEAEIN - A
BHEGENEREE TR -
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 5 ¥ R B o

31 December 2017
201712 831H

2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2017. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the
date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

2.1
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2.1

Notes to the Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)
Subsidiaries (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control described
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity

transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any investment
retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or
loss. The Group’s share of components previously recognised
in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss
or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities.

Business combination
common control

involving entities under

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the combining entities or businesses
as if they had been combined from the date when the
combining entities or businesses first came under the control
of the controlling parties.

The net assets of the combining entities or businesses are
recognised at the carrying values prior to the common control
combination.
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2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Business combination involving entities under
common control (continued)

The consolidated financial statements include the results of
each of the combining entities or businesses from the earliest
date presented or since the date when combining entities
or businesses first came under the control of the controlling
parties, where this is a shorter period, regardless of the date
of the common control combination.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial
statements are presented as if the entities or businesses had
been combined at the previous reporting date or when they
first came under control of the controlling parties, whichever
is shorter.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the
first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for
Unrealised Losses

Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities:
Clarification of the Scope of HKFRS 12

Amendments to HKFRS 12
included in Annual
Improvements to HKFRSs
2014-2016 Cycle

Other than as explained below regarding the impact of HKAS
7, the adoption of the above revised standards has had no
significant financial effect on these financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 require an entity to provide
disclosures that enable users of financial statements to
evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities,
including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash
changes. Disclosure of the changes in liabilities arising from
financing activities is provided in note 36 to the financial
statements.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG 2.3 CHEMEMNAERZE BT ERE
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS ZE A
The Group has not adopted the following new and revised REBEN ER AR EWMERERATEEME
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in MAER 2T REEBTERVBRE E
these financial statements. ay .
Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share- B R AR HURGBEBZ T E
based Payment Transactions' FEO5E 7 BET BB RE
Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments E B R R AR HHF BB R R E 4
with HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts' FAFE 7 BET BRI A 4T — L EFHH
BB BHEEAEI
REHIA
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments' EEMBRELBFENE 2FHTA
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative EABEREER BEB#EmME B
Compensation? FOR BT el
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between EEMBRELERFEI0 KREFHABLA G4
and HKAS 28 (2011) an Investor and its Associate or Joint S EEeH AR BTz B ELE
Venture! £28%; (20114) LEETE
A |
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers' FH B R AR BEALIRA
F155%
Amendments to HKFRS 15 Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue from AR RE R F BB R B 155
Contracts with Customers' F155E 7B BELAWA ZEE
HKFRS 16 Leases? EAB BB AR HE?
F16%
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts® EAB B AR R & 4P
FATH
Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint EA S ERIFE 285 Vi AT RN P4
Ventures* ZIER] RERE
Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property’ EESHERIFE405% REY 2z
A H|
HK(IFRIC) - Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and &4 (BBRMBHRER IESZRAMAE
Advance Consideration’ BEXEe)-RE
F00%
HK(IFRIC) - Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments? 5 (BB HRBRER FEHEEZ TERTH
BZEg)-%E
F23%%
Annual Improvements Amendments to HKFRS 1 and HKAS 28! 2014EZ2016FFH BAMBEREERE15E
2014-2016 Cycle FEA#E REBGEERFE285
ALK
Annual Improvements Amendments to HKFRSs? D015FEZ2017EFE  BEMBREER 2185]2
2015-2017 Cycle FEFHHE
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after l M2018F1 A1B s & Fih 2 /8 H
1 January 2018 HER
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after g MR2019F1A1R k2. AB 2 FEH
1 January 2019 AR
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 8 20211 A1 S 2 & F a2 F/E H
1 January 2021 A
4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available ‘ WARFTERSIMEERAE - HEAIEK
for adoption A
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is described below. Of those
standards, HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15 will be applicable for the
Group’s financial year ending 31 December 2018 and are
expected to have impacts on the Group’s financial statements
upon adoption. Whilst management has performed a detailed
assessment of the estimated impacts of these standards, that
assessment is based on the information currently available
to the Group, including expectations of the application
of transitional provision options and policy choices. The
actual impacts upon adoption could be different to those
below, depending on additional reasonable and supportable
information being made available to the Group at the time of
applying the standards and the transitional provisions and
policy options finally adopted.

Amendments to HKFRS 2

The HKICPA issued amendments to HKFRS 2 in August
2016 that address three main areas: the effects of vesting
conditions on the measurement of a cash-settled share-
based payment transaction; the classification of a share-
based payment transaction with net settlement features for
withholding a certain amount in order to meet an employee’s
tax obligation associated with the share-based payment;
and accounting where a modification to the terms and
conditions of a share-based payment transaction changes
its classification from cash-settled to equity-settled. The
amendments clarify that the approach used to account for
vesting conditions when measuring equity-settled share-
based payments also applies to cash-settled share-based
payments. The amendments introduce an exception so
that a share-based payment transaction with net share
settlement features for withholding a certain amount in
order to meet the employee’s tax obligation is classified
in its entirety as an equity-settled share-based payment
transaction when certain conditions are met. Furthermore,
the amendments clarify that if the terms and conditions of a
cash-settled share-based payment transaction are modified,
with the result that it becomes an equity-settled share-
based payment transaction, the transaction is accounted
for as an equity-settled transaction from the date of the
modification. On adoption, entities are required to apply the
amendments without restating prior periods, but retrospective
application is permitted if they elect to adopt for all three
amendments and other criteria are met. The Group will adopt
the amendments from 1 January 2018. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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2.3

Notes to the Financial Statements

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 9

In September 2014, the HKICPA issued the final version
of HKFRS 9, bringing together all phases of the financial
instruments project to replace HKAS 39 and all previous
versions of HKFRS 9. The standard
requirements for classification and measurement, impairment
and hedge accounting. The Group will adopt HKFRS 9 from
1 January 2018. The Group will not restate comparative
information and will recognise any transition adjustments
against the opening balance of equity at 1 January 2018.
During 2017, the Group has performed an assessment
of the impact of the adoption of HKFRS 9. The expected
impacts relate to the classification and measurement and
the impairment requirements and are summarised as follows:

introduces new

(a) Classification and measurement

The Group does not expect that the adoption of
HKFRS 9 will have a significant impact on the
classification and measurement of its financial assets.
It expects to continue measuring at fair value all
financial assets currently held at fair value. Equity
investments currently held as available for sale will be
measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income as the investments are intended to be held
for the foreseeable future and the Group expects
to apply the option to present fair value changes
in other comprehensive income. Gains and losses
recorded in other comprehensive income for the
equity investments cannot be recycled to profit or loss
when the investments are derecognised.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 9 (continued)
(b) Impairment

HKFRS 9 requires an impairment on debt instruments
recorded at amortised cost or at fair value through
other comprehensive income, lease receivables, loan
commitments and financial guarantee contracts that
are not accounted for at fair value through profit or
loss under HKFRS 9, to be recorded based on an
expected credit loss model either on a twelve-month
basis or a lifetime basis. The Group will apply the
simplified approach and record lifetime expected
losses that are estimated based on the present values
of all cash shortfalls over the remaining life of all of
its trade receivables. Furthermore, the Group will
apply the general approach and record twelve-month
expected credit losses that are estimated based on
the possible default events on its other receivables
within the next twelve months. The amendments
are not appeared to have significant impact on the
Group’s provision for impairment.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and
in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture.
The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss
when the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture constitutes a business.
For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA
in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective date will
be determined after the completion of a broader review of
accounting for associates and joint ventures. However, the
amendments are available for adoption now.
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2.3

Notes to the Financial Statements

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 15

HKFRS 15, issued in July 2014, establishes a new five-
step model to account for revenue arising from contracts
with customers. Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring
goods or services to a customer. The principles in HKFRS
15 provide a more structured approach for measuring and
recognising revenue. The standard also introduces extensive
qualitative and quantitative disclosure requirements,
including disaggregation of total revenue, information
about performance obligations, changes in contract asset
and liability account balances between periods and key
judgements and estimates. The standard will supersede all
current revenue recognition requirements under HKFRSs.
Either a full retrospective application or a modified
retrospective adoption is required on the initial application of
the standard. In June 2016, the HKICPA issued amendments
to HKFRS 15 to address the implementation issues on
identifying performance obligations, application guidance on
principal versus agent and licences of intellectual property,
and transition. The amendments are also intended to help
ensure a more consistent application when entities adopt
HKFRS 15 and decrease the cost and complexity of applying
the standard. The Group plans to adopt the transitional
provisions in HKFRS 15 to recognise the cumulative effect of
initial adoption as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained earnings at 1 January 2018. In addition, the Group
plans to apply the new requirements only to contracts that
are not completed before 1 January 2018. The Group expects
transitional adjustment to be made on 1 January 2018 upon
initial adoption of HKFRS 15. However, the expected changes
in accounting policies, as further explained below, will have
a material impact on the Group’s financial statements from
2018 onwards. During 2017, the Group has performed an
assessment on the impact of adoption of HKFRS 15.

(a) Sale of properties held for sale

The timing of revenue recognition for the sale
of properties held for sale is currently based on
whether significant risks and rewards of ownership
of properties are transferred, in accordance with
the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
Upon adoption of HKFRS 15, revenue from the sale of
properties held for sale will be recognised at a point
when control of the properties is transferred to the
property buyers.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG 2.3
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 15 (continued)
(a) Sale of properties held for sale (continued)

The Group expects those sales of properties held
for sale with control of the properties that are not
transferred to customers before 1 January 2018 and
the corresponding cost of sales effect will be adjusted
to the opening balance of retained earnings at 1
January 2018. The Group is currently computing the
opening retained earnings impact of the above.

(b) Sales commission

The Group pays commission to the sales agent when
the sale and purchase agreement is signed and the
sales proceed is received from the property buyer.
Following the adoption of HKFRS 15, incremental costs
of obtaining a contract, including sales commission, if
recoverable, are capitalised as an asset and shall be
amortised on a systematic basis that is consistent with
the transfer of the related property to the customer.
Accordingly, the Group expects the recognition of an
asset would result in an increase of opening retained
profits as at 1 January 2018.

(c) Presentation and disclosure

The presentation and disclosure requirements in
HKFRS 15 are more detailed than those under the
current HKAS 18. The presentation requirements
represent a significant change from current
practice and will significantly increase the volume
of disclosures required in the Group’s financial
statements. Many of the disclosure requirements in
HKFRS 15 are new and the Group has assessed that
the impact of some of these disclosure requirements
will be significant. In particular, the Group expects
that the notes to the financial statements will be
expanded because of the disclosure of significant
judgements made on determining the transaction
prices of those contracts that include variable
consideration, how the transaction prices have been
allocated to the performance obligations, and the
assumptions made to estimate the stand-alone selling
price of each performance obligation. In addition, as
required by HKFRS 15, the Group will disaggregate
revenue recognised from contracts with customers
into categories that depict how the nature, amount,
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows are
affected by economic factors. It will also disclose
information about the relationship between the
disclosure of disaggregated revenue and revenue
information disclosed for each reportable segment.
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2.3

Notes to the Financial Statements

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 16

HKFRS 16, issued in May 2016, replaces HKAS 17 Leases,
HK(IFRIC) — Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement
contains a Lease, HK(SIC) — Int 15 Operating Leases —
Incentives and HK(SIC) — Int 27 Evaluating the Substance
of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.
The standard sets out the principles for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and
requires lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for most
leases. The standard includes two recognition exemptions
for lessees — leases of low-value assets and short-term
leases. At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee
will recognise a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the
lease liability) and an asset representing the right to use the
underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use
asset). The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured at
cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses unless the right-of-use asset meets the definition
of investment property in HKAS 40, or relates to a class of
property, plant and equipment to which the revaluation model
is applied. The lease liability is subsequently increased to
reflect the interest on the lease liability and reduced for
the lease payments. Lessees will be required to separately
recognise the interest expense on the lease liability and the
depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset. Lessees
will also be required to remeasure the lease liability upon
the occurrence of certain events, such as change in the
lease term and change in future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate used to determine those
payments. Lessees will generally recognise the amount of
the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment
to the right-of-use asset. Lessor accounting under HKFRS
16 is substantially unchanged from the accounting under
HKAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the
same classification principle as in HKAS 17 and distinguish
between operating leases and finance leases.

HKFRS 16 requires lessees and lessors to make more
extensive disclosures than under HKAS 17. Lessees can
choose to apply the standard using either a full retrospective
or a modified retrospective approach. The Group expects
to adopt HKFRS 16 from 1 January 2019. The Group is
currently assessing the impact of HKFRS 16 upon adoption
and is considering whether it will choose to take advantage
of the practical expedients available and which transition
approach and reliefs will be adopted. As disclosed in note
39(b) to the financial statements, at 31 December 2017,
the Group had future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases in aggregate of approximately
RMB364,961,000. Upon adoption of HKAS 16, certain
amounts included therein may need to be recognised as
new right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. Further analysis,
however, will be needed to determine the amount of new
rights of use assets and lease liabilities to be recognised,
including, but not limited to, any amounts relating to leases
of low-value assets and short term leases, other practical
expedients and reliefs chosen, and new leases entered into
before the date of adoption.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 40

Amendments to HKAS 40, issued in April 2017, clarify
when an entity should transfer property, including property
under construction or development, into or out of investment
property. The amendments state that a change in use occurs
when the property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition
of investment property and there is evidence of the change
in use. A mere change in management’s intentions for the
use of a property does not provide evidence of a change in
use. The amendments should be applied prospectively to the
changes in use that occur on or after the beginning of the
annual reporting period in which the entity first applies the
amendments. An entity should reassess the classification of
property held at the date that it first applies the amendments
and, if applicable, reclassify property to reflect the conditions
that exist at that date. Retrospective application is only
permitted if it is possible without the use of hindsight. The
Group expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from
1 January 2018. The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

HK(IFRIC) - Int 22

HK(IFRIC) — Int 22, issued in June 2017, provides guidance
on how to determine the date of the transaction when
applying HKAS 21 to the situation where an entity receives
or pays advance consideration in a foreign currency
and recognises a non-monetary asset or liability. The
interpretation clarifies that the date of the transaction for the
purpose of determining the exchange rate to use on initial
recognition of the related asset, expense or income (or
part of it) is the date on which an entity initially recognises
the non-monetary asset (such as a prepayment) or non-
monetary liability (such as deferred income) arising from
the payment or receipt of the advance consideration. If
there are multiple payments or receipts in advance of
recognising the related item, the entity must determine the
transaction date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration. Entities may apply the interpretation on a full
retrospective basis or on a prospective basis, either from
the beginning of the reporting period in which the entity
first applies the interpretation or the beginning of the prior
reporting period presented as comparative information in
the financial statements of the reporting period in which the
entity first applies the interpretation. The Group expects to
adopt the interpretation prospectively from 1 January 2018.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3

2.4

Notes to the Financial Statements

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

HK(IFRIC) - Int 23

HK(IFRIC) — Int 23, issued in July 2017, addresses the
accounting for income taxes (current and deferred) when
tax treatments involve uncertainty that affects the application
of HKAS 12 (often referred to as “uncertain tax positions”).
The interpretation does not apply to taxes or levies outside
the scope of HKAS 12, nor does it specifically include
requirements relating to interest and penalties associated
with uncertain tax treatments. The interpretation specifically
addresses (i) whether an entity considers uncertain tax
treatments separately; (ii) the assumptions an entity
makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation
authorities; (iii) how an entity determines taxable profits or
tax losses, tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits
and tax rates; and (iv) how an entity considers changes in
facts and circumstances. The interpretation is to be applied
retrospectively, either fully retrospectively without the use
of hindsight or retrospectively with the cumulative effect
of application as an adjustment to the opening equity at
the date of initial application, without the restatement of
comparative information. The Group expects to adopt the
interpretation from 1 January 2019. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Investments in associates and joint ventures

As associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decision of the investee,
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments in associates and

(continued)

joint ventures

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses.

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar
accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively. In
addition, when there has been a change recognised directly
in the equity of the associate or joint venture, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised
gains and losses resulting from transactions between the
Group and its associates or joint ventures are eliminated
to the extent of the Group’s investments in the associates
or joint ventures, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Goodwill
arising from the acquisition of associates or joint ventures is
included as part of the Group’s investments in associates or
joint ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds
from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.4

Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum
of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued
by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For
each business combination, the Group elects whether to
measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of
liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components
of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss

as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is
not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with
the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount
of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the
disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is
measured based on the relative values of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.
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2.4

Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and certain
available-for-sale financial investments at fair value at the
end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The fair value measurement
is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell
the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the
principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence
of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for
the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly
or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
properties held for sale, properties under development,
deferred tax assets, financial assets and investment
properties), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s
or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less
costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss
is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher
than the carrying amount that would have been determined
(net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset in the prior years. A reversal
of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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2.4

Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family if that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity if any of the following conditions

applies:
(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); and

(viii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for
its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a
major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the
asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property,
plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
to its residual value over its estimated useful life as follows:

Leasehold The lease terms or 5 years,
improvements whichever is shorter
Office equipment, 3-5 years
furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles 4-5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the
net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.
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2.4

Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold interest under an operating lease
for a property which would otherwise meet the definition of
an investment property) held to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or
for sale in the ordinary course of business. Such properties
are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the
end of the reporting period.

Properties under construction or development for further
use as investment properties are classified as investment
properties under construction. If the fair value cannot
be reliably determined, the investment properties under
construction will be measured at cost until such time as fair
value can be determined or construction is completed. The
Group has concluded that the fair value of its investment
properties under construction can be measured reliably,
and therefore, the Group’s investment properties under
construction are measured at fair value.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the statement of profit
or loss in the year in which they arise. Any gains or losses
on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year of the
retirement or disposal.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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31 December 2017
201712 831H

2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least
at each financial year end.

Property management contracts

Property management contracts are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives of 6 to 12 years.

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for
as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets
leased by the Group under operating leases are included
in non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the
operating leases are credited to the statement of profit or
loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the
Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases
net of any incentives received from the lessor are charged
to the statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis
over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are
initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms.
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2.4

Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at cost less any
impairment losses. Cost of properties under development
comprises cost of acquisition, land cost, construction costs,
development costs, capitalised borrowing costs and other
direct costs attributable to the development. The land cost
is recognised on the straight-line basis over the lease term.
Impairment is assessed by the directors based on prevailing
market prices, on an individual property basis.

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined by apportionment
of total development cost, including capitalised borrowing
cost, attributable to the unsold units. Net realisable value
is determined on the basis of anticipated sales proceeds,
or estimated by management based on the prevailing
market conditions, less all estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and selling expenses, on an individual property
basis.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables, held-to-maturity investments and available-for-
sale financial investments, as appropriate. When financial
assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair
value plus transaction costs that are attributable to the
acquisition of the financial assets, except in the case of
financial assets recorded at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for impairment.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in other
income and gains in the statement of profit or loss. The loss
arising from impairment is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in finance costs for loans and in direct operating
expenses for receivables.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative
financial assets in listed and unlisted equity investments.
Equity investments classified as available for sale are
those which are neither classified as held for trading nor
designated as at fair value through profit or loss. Debt
securities in this category are those which are intended to be
held for an indefinite period of time and which may be sold
in response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes
in market conditions.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial
investments are subsequently measured at fair value,
with unrealised gains or losses recognised as other
comprehensive income in the available-for-sale investment
revaluation reserve until the investment is derecognised,
at which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in
the statement of profit or loss in other income and gains, or
until the investment is determined to be impaired, when the
cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from the available-
for-sale investment revaluation reserve to the statement of
profit or loss in other gains or losses. Interest and dividends
earned whilst holding the available-for-sale financial
investments are reported as interest income and dividend
income, respectively and are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss as other income and gains.
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2.4

Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot be
reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range
of reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that
investment or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates
within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and used
in estimating fair value, such investments are stated at cost
less any impairment losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell
its available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are
still appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group
is unable to trade these financial assets due to inactive
markets, the Group may elect to reclassify these financial
assets if management has the ability and intention to hold the
assets for the foreseeable future or until maturity.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-
sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the date of
reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any
previous gain or loss on that asset that has been recognised
in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaining
life of the investment using the effective interest rate. Any
difference between the new amortised cost and the maturity
amount is also amortised over the remaining life of the asset
using the effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently
determined to be impaired, then the amount recorded in
equity is reclassified to the statement of profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment
exists if one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset have an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of
impairment may include indications that a debtor or a group
of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty,
default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is
a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows,
such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that
correlate with defaults.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses whether impairment exists individually for financial
assets that are individually significant, or collectively for
financial assets that are not individually significant. If the
Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment
exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether
significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial
assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss
is, or continues to be, recognised are not included in a
collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future
credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The present
value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at
the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account and the loss is recognised in
the statement of profit or loss. Interest income continues
to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount using the
rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for
the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and
receivables together with any associated allowance are
written off when there is no realistic prospect of future
recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been
transferred to the Group.
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2.4

Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is increased or
reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off
is later recovered, the recovery is credited to the statement
of profit or loss.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is
not carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be
reliably measured, the amount of the loss is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at
the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset.
Impairment losses on these assets are not reversed.

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group
assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there
is objective evidence that an investment or a group of
investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount
comprising the difference between its cost (net of any
principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair
value, less any impairment loss previously recognised
in the statement of profit or loss, is removed from other
comprehensive income and recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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31 December 2017
201712 831H

2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

In the case of equity investments classified as available
for sale, objective evidence would include a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment below
its cost. “Significant” is evaluated against the original cost of
the investment and “prolonged” against the period in which
the fair value has been below its original cost. Where there is
evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss — measured as
the difference between the acquisition cost and the current
fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment
previously recognised in the statement of profit or loss — is
removed from other comprehensive income and recognised
in the statement of profit or loss. Impairment losses on equity
instruments classified as available for sale are not reversed
through the statement of profit or loss. Increases in their
fair value after impairment are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income.

The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged”
requires judgement. In making this judgement, the Group
evaluates, among other factors, the duration or extent to
which the fair value of an investment is less than its cost.

In the case of debt instruments classified as available for
sale, impairment is assessed based on the same criteria
as financial assets carried at amortised cost. However,
the amount recorded for impairment is the cumulative loss
measured as the difference between the amortised cost
and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on
that investment previously recognised in the statement
of profit or loss. Future interest income continues to be
accrued based on the reduced carrying amount of the asset
using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash
flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.
The interest income is recorded as part of other income.
Impairment losses on debt instruments are reversed through
the statement of profit or loss if the subsequent increase in
fair value of the instruments can be objectively related to an
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in
the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4

Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash

flows from the assets or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset,
the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to
the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that
case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured
on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.

2.4

B 5 ¥R R B o

31 December 2017
201712 A31H

ERETHBRBE (&)

RIEBASHEE

TREE (3 (WER) —REMEENK
BUSREEMR 28BN TBETIIER
TR ILHER (ARAKEESE MBI K
hRBRR)

. BZEERBMRSTEZEFER ;
%

. AEEEHEHEAEENDRSRE
BN XBEREREEF] 28
EEERNERZBERNTHEWRZE
ERBEHIXNTFE=TT KA
SEEEERZEEZBANMORER KR
Bl ¥ - 2(o)7AN 5 B 4 85 5 TR R AR
BREEZRAMDAR KL B
EEREE T -

HWAKRBESRHEEMEER S REZHEF
HERUBFLH  AREEFEEESE
REREEZHEE R ZRR LMK EERE
B MAKEMEERTEREZEERK
HMORR LB TEEEZEE IR
o RRARERESEZEEZIZEmE
BRAZCBREE - HUBERT A%E
NeRRAHEARE CEREERERAR
MNASERE 2 HAEN BB RELEG

=
=-°

MARREAMHE2HCOBBEE
EDREREEXAKEAERTEEREZ&
BHRE MEZKEEFE

i&t

WSi

o

Annual Report 2017 &3

147



Notes to the Financial Statements

B 5 ¥ R B o

31 December 2017
201712 831H

2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4

Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash,
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
and have a short maturity of generally within three months
when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can
be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in the statement of profit
or loss.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations
and practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures when the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences can be controlled and it
is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.4

Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of
the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit
nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, deferred tax assets
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed
at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of each reporting period.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to the
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either
the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to
be settled or recovered.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) revenue from the sale of properties is recognised
when the significant risks and rewards of the
properties are passed to the purchasers when (i)
an irrevocable sale and purchase contract has been
entered into by both the buyer and the seller; (ii) the
seller has received or obtained the right to receive all
the consideration of the sale; (iii) the construction has
been completed, and its quality has been inspected
and accepted by the relevant government authorities;
and (iv) the ready-for-delivery conditions under the
sale and purchase contract have been fulfilled;

(b) operating lease rental income is recognised on a time
proportion basis over the lease terms;

(c) property management fee income, entrusted
management fee income, utility income and consulting
services income are recognised when the services
are rendered; and

(d) interest income is recognised on an accrual basis
using the effective interest method by applying
the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to
the net carrying amount of the financial assets.
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2.4

Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits

(a)

Retirement benefit costs

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for all eligible employees.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ salaries, allowances and other benefits
and are charged to the statement of profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme, except for
the Group’s employer voluntary contributions, which
are refunded to the Group when the employee leaves
employment prior to the contributions vesting fully, in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government.
required to contribute 18% to 30% of their payroll
costs to the central pension scheme. These
contributions are charged to the statement of profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the central pension scheme.

These subsidiaries are

Employee leave pay and compensation entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service payment are recognised when they accrue
to employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service payment as
a result of services rendered by employees up to the
end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of taking leave.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4
POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)
(c) Share-based payments

The Company operates share option schemes for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success
of the Group’s operations. Employees (including
Directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees
render services as consideration for equity instruments
(“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
for grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by
reference to the fair value at the date at which they
are granted. The fair value is determined by an
external valuer using a binomial model,

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised
in employee benefit expenses, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period
in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised
for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the
extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that
period.

Service and non-market performance conditions
are not taken into account when determining the
grant date fair value of awards, but the likelihood
of the conditions being met is assessed as part of
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimate vest. Market performance
conditions are reflected within the grant date fair
value. Any other conditions attached to an award,
but without an associated service requirement, are
considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting
conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award
and lead to an immediate expensing of an award
unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.
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2.4

Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)
(c) Share-based payments (continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-
market performance and/or service conditions have
not been met, no expense is recognised. Where
awards include a market or non-vesting condition,
the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or
service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are
modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised
as if the terms had not been modified, if the original
terms of the awards are met. In addition, an expense
is recognised for any modification that increases the
total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at
the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is
treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation,
and any expense not yet recognised for the award
is recognised immediately. This includes any award
where non-vesting conditions within the control of
either the Group or the employees are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the
cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement
award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification
of the original award, as described in the previous
paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected
as additional share dilution in the computation of
earnings per share.

(d) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier
of when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer
of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs involving the payment of
termination benefits.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs
in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.

Foreign currencies

The Company’s functional currency is the Hong Kong dollar
(“HK$"), while these financial statements are presented
in RMB, which is the Company’s presentation currency.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial statements of
each entity are measured using that functional currency.
Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities
in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss with
the exception of monetary items that are designated as
part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment of a foreign
operation. These are recognised in other comprehensive
income until the net investment is disposed of, at which
time the cumulative amount is reclassified to the statement
of profit or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to
exchange differences on those monetary items are also
recorded in other comprehensive income.
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2.4

Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the
item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).
The functional currencies of the Company, certain
subsidiaries and certain joint ventures are currencies other
than RMB. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets
and liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB at
the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting
period and their statements of profit or loss are translated
into RMB at the average exchange rates for the year. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserves. On disposal of an operation with
functional currency other than RMB, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular operation
is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of the Company and certain subsidiaries with
functional currencies other than RMB are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of the Company and those
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated
into RMB at the average exchange rates for the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Impairment of assets

In determining whether an asset is impaired or the event
previously causing the impairment no longer exists, the
Group has to exercise judgement in the area of asset
impairment, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event
has occurred that may affect the asset value or such event
affecting the asset value does not exist; (2) whether the
carrying value of an asset can be supported by the net
present value of future cash flows which are estimated
based upon the continued use of the asset or derecognition;
and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in
preparing cash flow projections including whether these
cash flow projections are discounted using an appropriate
rate. Changing the assumptions selected by management
to determine the level of impairment, including the discount
rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the net present value
used in the impairment test.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)
Impairment of other receivables and loans receivable

The policy for the impairment of other receivables and
loans receivable of the Group is based on the evaluation
of collectability and ageing analysis of accounts and on
management’'s judgement. A considerable amount of
judgement is required in assessing the ultimate realisation of
these receivables including the current creditworthiness and
the past individual collection history. If the financial condition
of the Group’s other receivables and loans receivable was
deteriorated, resulting in an impairment of their abilities to
make payments, additional allowances may be required.

Land appreciation tax

Under the Detailed Rules for the Implementation of
Provisional Regulations on Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT")
of the PRC on 27 January 1995, all gains arising from the
transfer of real estate property in Mainland China effective
from 1 January 1994 are subject to LAT at progressive rates
ranging from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value,
being the proceeds from sales of properties less deductible
expenditures including amortisation of land use rights,
borrowing costs and all property development expenditures.

The subsidiaries of the Group engaging in property
development business in Mainland China are subject to
LAT. However, the implementation and settlement of LAT
vary amongst Mainland China cities and the Group has not
finalised its LAT calculation and payments with various tax
authorities. Accordingly, significant judgement is required
in determining the amount of land appreciation and related
taxes. The ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. The Group recognises these
liabilities based on management’s best estimates. When
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the provisions for LAT in the period in which such
determination is made.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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31 December 2017
201712 831H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)
Operating lease commitments — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on
its investment property portfolio. The Group has determined,
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the
arrangements, that it retains all the significant risks and
rewards of ownership of these properties which are leased
out on operating leases.

Unlisted equity investment

The Group’s unlisted equity investment has been stated at
cost less impairment because the range of reasonable fair
value estimates is so significant that management is of the
opinion that its fair value cannot be measured reliably.

Determining whether the acquisition of subsidiaries
constituted a business combination

Management determines whether the acquisition of
subsidiaries constituted acquisition of assets and liabilities
or business combination by assessing if there is business
acquired. The three elements of business are input, process
and output. Management exercises judgements to determine
if these elements were acquired in each acquisition. If
the acquired subsidiaries did not contain these elements,
management will account for the acquisition of subsidiaries
as acquisition of assets and liabilities.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below:
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows. Further details are given in note 33(a) to the financial
statements.

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

The best evidence of fair value is current prices in an active
market for similar lease terms and other contracts. In the
absence of such information, management has determined
the amounts within a range of reasonable fair value estimates.
In making its estimation, management considers information
from (i) current prices in an active market for properties of
different nature, conditions or locations, adjusted to reflect
those differences; (ii) recent prices of similar properties in
less active markets, with adjustments to reflect any changes
in economic conditions since the date of transactions that
occurred at those prices; and (iii) discounted cash flow
projections based on reliable estimates of future cash flows,
supported by the terms of any existing lease and other
contracts and (when possible) from external evidence such
as current market rents for similar properties in the same
location and condition, and using discount rates that reflect
current market assessments of the uncertainty in the amount
and timing of cash flows.

The Group’s investment properties were revalued on 31
December 2017 by independent, professionally qualified
valuers, Shenzhen Touchstone Evaluation and Consultancy
Co., Ltd. and CBRE Inc., on an open market, existing use
basis.

Further details, including the key assumptions used for fair
value measurement and a sensitivity analysis, are given in
note 13 to the financial statements.
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31 December 2017
201712 831H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Estimation of fair value of investment properties (continued)

Particulars of the investment properties held by the Group
are set out on pages 271 to 273 of the annual report.

Fair value of unlisted available-for-sale financial investments
measured at fair value

The unlisted available-for-sale financial investments have
been valued based on the expected cash flows discounted
at current rates applicable for items with similar terms and
risk characteristics. This valuation requires the Group to
make estimates about expected future cash flows, credit risk,
volatility and discount rates, and hence they are subject to
uncertainty. The fair value of the unlisted available-for-sale
financial investments measured at fair value at 31 December
2017 was nil (2016: RMB1,300,000,000). Further details are
included in note 20 to the financial statements.

Current taxes and deferred taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous
jurisdictions. Significant estimation and judgement were
required in determining the amount of the provision for tax
and the timing of payment of the related taxes. There were
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination was uncertain during the ordinary course of
business.

As detailed in the Company’s accounting policies, deferred
tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
for financial reporting purposes.

Where the final tax outcomes of these matters are different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact on the income tax and deferred tax
provisions in the periods in which such determination is
made.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Provision

A provision is recognised when a present obligation has
arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable that
a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate of the amount of
the obligation can be made. Significant estimation is required
in determining the amount of certain obligations. Where the
final outcomes of these obligations are different from the
amounts that were initially recognised, adjustments will be
made according to the latest information available.

Estimation of total budgeted costs and costs of completion
for properties under development

Total budgeted costs for properties under development
comprise (i) prepaid land lease payments; (ii) building costs;
and (iii) any other direct costs attributable to the development
of the properties. In estimating the total budgeted costs
for properties under development, management makes
reference to information such as (i) current offers from
contractors and suppliers; (ii) recent offers agreed with
contractors and suppliers; and (iii) professional estimation
on construction and material costs.
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31 December 2017
201712 831H

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and has
three reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) the property development segment — development
and sale of residential and commercial properties;

(b) the property investment and management segment —
investment and management of business parks and
commercial properties; and

(c) the corporate segment — the Group’s corporate
management services to the residential, commercial
and business park projects.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit/(loss), which is a measure of adjusted profit/
(loss) before tax. The adjusted profit/(loss) before tax is
measured consistently with the Group’s profit before tax
except that bank interest income and finance costs are
excluded from such measurement.

Segment information is presented by way of the Group’s
primary segment reporting basis, by business segment. No
geographical segment information is presented as over 90%
(2016: over 90%) of the Group’s revenue is derived from
customers based in Mainland China, and over 90% (2016:
over 90%) of the Group’s assets are located in Mainland
China.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, certain
deposits, bank and cash balances, and prepaid tax as these
assets are managed on a group basis. Segment liabilities
exclude certain interest-bearing bank and other borrowings,
tax payable, deferred tax liabilities, amounts due to the
ultimate holding company, non-controlling shareholders,
fellow subsidiaries and a related company, and loans from
a fellow subsidiary as these liabilities are managed on a
group basis.

During the current and prior years, there were no
intersegment transactions.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4.

Year ended 31 December 2017

31 December 2017
201712 A31H

reEsWER (&)

HZE2017F12A831BLLEE

Property
investment
Property and
development management Corporate Total
MERR WERERER t¥EH ok
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARETR ARETR ARETR
Segment revenue: WA
Sales to external customers HETIARP 3,995,866 385,202 - 4,381,068
Segment results: PEEE 2,270,693 806,479 (41,936) 3,035,236
Reconciliation 5%
Bank interest income RITFIEHA 32,836
Finance costs HiEEA (316,298)
Profit before tax W 753 i 2,751,774
Segment assets: PHBEE . 33,877,239 8,545,577 28,322 42,451,138
Reconciliation i
Other unallocated assets HibRkHEEE 1,217,614
Total assets BERS 43,668,752
Segment liabilities: THEE: 23,343,848 542,789 19,599 23,906,236
Reconciliation HE
Other unallocated liabilities HipxkHEaE 6,714,888
Total liabilities BEREE 30,621,124
Other segment information: HibpHER
Share of profits and losses of joint EEEENaRE (996,166) (193,615) - (1,189,781)
ventures
Share of profits and losses of EEBENREE (2,971) - - (2,971)
associates
Gain on disposal/deemed disposal of H& /BRLEMRBAR (53,458) - - (53,458)
subsidiaries pa &
Changes in fair values of investment  REYEZ AL EEE - (545,840) - (545,840)
properties
Depreciation neE 9,459 7,243 312 17,014
Amortisation ey - 8,227 - 8,227
Impairment/(reversal of impairment)  EWERZURE / (RE 96,665 (145) - 96,520
of receivables, net E#)  F8
Impairment of goodwill arising on WERBARMELZ - 4,889 - 4,889
acquisition of a subsidiary HERE
Release of exchange fluctuation EHEMBARIZELE (6,966) - - (6,966)
reserves upon deregistration of EEIEb
subsidiaries
Capital expenditure* BAREY* 12,134 756,910 2 769,046
Investments in joint ventures REERRZRE 5,020,601 826,892 - 5,847,493
Investments in associates REEREZIRE 44,658 - = 44,658
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31 December 2017
201712 831H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. &&oHER (&)
Year ended 31 December 2016 HZE20165F12A31HILFE
Property
investment
Property and
development management Corporate Total
MEERE  NERERER TEEH Ftk
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT AR®ETT ARETT
Segment revenue: 2EBA
Sales to external customers HETINARP 8,447,371 259,298 - 8,706,669
Segment results: PEEE 3,815,183 325,510 (60,122) 4,080,571
Reconciliation Ea)3
Bank interest income SBATHZ A 20,127
Finance costs BB (267,933)
Profit before tax BREL AR A 3,832,765
Segment assets: PHEE 25,430,253 6,223,100 17,860 31,671,213
Reconciliation #iE
Other unallocated assets EAPEEE 496,115
Total assets BESE 32,167,328
Segment liabilities: PHEE: 11,155,540 3,652,496 20,929 14,828,965
Reconciliation 5
Other unallocated liabilities EwAPEARE 5,700,966
Total liabilities BELE 20,529,931
Other segment information: HippHER
Share of profits and losses of joint EEAENRBE (183,423) 14,902 - (168,521)
ventures
Share of profit and loss of FE(LEE SN R BE (16,152) - - (16,152)
an associate
(Gain)/loss on disposal/deemed HE/ BRHEHBAT (453) 42 = (411)
disposal of subsidiaries 2 (ezs) /B8
Changes in fair values of investment ~ R&ME 7 D7 EEH = (259,825) = (259,825)
properties
Depreciation neE 9,436 8,724 579 18,739
Amortisation B - 2,098 - 2,098
Impairment/(reversal of TR ZRIE 47,440 212 (1) 47,651
impairment) of receivables, net (RERR)  F8
Impairment of goodwill EERE - 19,235 - 19,235
Release of exchange fluctuation FHEMBARIZEN (10,592) - (4,786) (15,378)
reserves upon deregistration of B s o
subsidiaries
Capital expenditure® BRRZ 21,933 910,071 17 932,021
Investments in joint ventures REERRZRE 2,672,246 159,135 = 2,831,381
Investment in an associate REERNRIZIRE 1,426,190 - - 1,426,190

plant and equipment,

Capital expenditure consists of additions to property,

investment properties and

- EXFX BIERYE  BERRE K
EWEUREFEENZEN (EFE

intangible assets including assets from the acquisitions
of subsidiaries.
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31 December 2017
201712 A31H

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA~ H AR Y=

WAERFAMEHEE  HEWARLE - X
HEIBXB OWERKMEEEERA
PRAEBERBEEA  ARERFERNE R

Revenue represents sales of properties, gross rental income,
property management fee income received and receivable

from the principal activities, utility income and entrusted
management fee income received from a fellow subsidiary

during the year.

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains recognised

AZBETEBNA -

FRACHERBREA - A REmZ 5T

during the year is as follows: U
2017 2016
20174 20164F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
Revenue WA
Sales of properties ek 3,995,866 8,447,371
Gross rental income from: HESWABRERE
— fellow subsidiaries — AR BT 7,025 6,393
— third parties —F£=5 213,951 154,620
Property management fee income from MEEBERAKRE :
— fellow subsidiaries — RRKB AR 1,133 1,658
— third parties = EI=77 123,754 58,807
Utility income NRAEBEABRA 14,433 13,029
Entrusted management fee income from BRI R B AR Z 24,906 24,791
a fellow subsidiary BEETEBRA
4,381,068 8,706,669
Other income and gains H A & s
Bank interest income RITHBUA 32,836 20,127
Interest income on loans to related companies EWEEQARERZFERA 24,942 41,865
Interest income on loans to joint ventures YA ERRERZFIBUA 70,113 106,545
Interest income on loans to associates FEUEEE N R ERZ B WA 18,828 4,904
Interest income on loans to third parties ERE=FERZFEWA 8,775 =
Interest income from available-for-sale Al E S mRE R WA 55,288 37,594
financial investments
Interest income on loans receivable FEWE Rz FEWA 329,951 174,914
Release of exchange fluctuation reserves AHEMB AR ZERE 6,966 15,378
upon deregistration of subsidiaries fab s o) 48
Consulting services income from: BERRBKARE :
— fellow subsidiaries — AR BAA 2,344 —
— joint ventures =X/ 9,198 3,965
— third parties —F£=H 60,029 62,737
Income of fitting out works from: REEIRKAKRE :
— fellow subsidiaries SCENEPNE 6,913 —
— third parties — %= 21,603 765
Gain on bargain purchase from W E NRIFTEEZ = 24,457
acquisition of an associate AR E
Net gains on disposal/deemed disposal of HeE BRI ERB AT 53,458 411
subsidiaries (Note 35) Wz B 58 (Ma£35)
Others Hit 54,699 37,451
755,943 531,113
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31 December 2017
201712 831H

Notes to the Financial Statements

6. FINANCE COSTS 6. HMKEAR
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: MBEBERZOWHET :
2017 2016
20174 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBT T
Interest on borrowings BERFE
— bank borrowings — RITER 32,330 11,951
— loans from the ultimate holding company — RIRER A B ER 277,628 344,995
— loans from the immediate holding company — BEEIZERARIER = 7,169
— loans from fellow subsidiaries — RRMBARERK 93,409 78,491
— loans from joint ventures — BB NRER 1,680 46
— loans from non-controlling shareholders — IR R B 1,418 1,677
— other borrowings and other payables — HE R B T ERER 27,066 53,756
433,531 498,085
Other finance costs HEmir%E A 2,899 954
Total finance costs incurred EECHBBRBE 436,430 499,039
Less: Interest capitalised in B BEERERE
— investment properties (Note 13) —REWE (Kit13) (16,931) (9,800)
- properties under development (Note 15) —BRERBME (Hi715) (103,201) (221,306)
316,298 267,933
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PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

Notes to the Financial Statements

7.  BRBUADRR
AEBEBRBTAEMNEIME GIA) TH%
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31 December 2017
201712 A31H

(crediting): I8
2017 2016
20178 20165
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBTL
Cost of properties sold MEHENA 2,604,232 4,856,505
Depreciation (Note 12) WE (Hi#12) 23,641 19,024
Less: Amounts capitalised in property development projects W BIEMERRER ZERLEE (6,627) (285)
17,014 18,739
Amortisation of intangible assets* (Note 19) BREESE (WH19) 8,227 2,098
Outgoings (including repairs and maintenance) arising KB ENEMEE 2R 36,038 54,389
on rental-earning investment properties (BEEERRE)
Net losses on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment LENE  BRLREBE EEFE 107 215
Net gains on disposal/deemed disposal of subsidiaries (Note 35) WE/ BRLENBLRZKETE (H235) (53,458) (411)
Changes in fair values of investment properties (Note 13) REMELDAEED (H#13) (545,840) (259,825)
Amortisation of land use rights TR & 154,467 141,826
Less: Amounts capitalised in property development projects W BENEREBEE AR LR (154,467) (141,826)
Impairment of trade receivables, net (Note 21) FEWE SEZNE 58 (WiE21) 315 199
Impairment of other receivables and loans receivable, net (Note 22)  Ettfel ER RIEWETRE - 2E (Hi22) 96,205 47 452
Minimum lease payments under operating leases BERE SERTE 24,906 23,000
Employee benefit expense (including directors’ emoluments (Note 9)):  BEREFIZBX (BRESME (47:79)) :
Wages and salaries TEREH 341,471 175,923
Share-based compensation expenses RiAMEHES - 18,301
Pension schemes contributions RGBT 33,500 16,324
Less: Forfeited contributions B BB R (2) (72)
Net pension schemes contributions RN ERTER 33,498 16,252
Total employee benefit expense EERT A% EE 374,969 210,476
Auditor's remuneration wEae 3,582 2,19
Foreign exchange differences, net MNEZE - 58 10,947 88
Release of exchange fluctuation reserves upon deregistration of FAERBARELEDREDR (Hi25) (6,966) (15,378)
subsidiaries (Note 5)
Gain on bargain purchase from acquisition of an associate™ WEBEDNRMES 2 B RE - (24,457)
(Note 5) (H##5)
Impairment of goodwill arising on acquisition of WENBARMEE BERE™ 4,889 19,235
subsidiaries™* (Note 33(a)) (H7#33(a))
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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31 December 2017
201712 831H

7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued) 7.  BREADER (£)

* The amortisation of intangible assets is included in “Direct * BEEEBHEI ARG Bm &k
operating expenses” in the consolidated statement of [EEAEHS -
profit or loss.

o Gain on bargain purchase from acquisition of an o YRR & ) A T EE 4.2 BB W 7
associate is included in “Other income and gains’ in B ARG S Bm &k [EMRA LK
the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The amount 7 | o U 2058 W FE BN B E S5 EE
arose from the acquisition of a 74% equity interest of & BEERGERAEE]) 74%%
MNEBEHEMEEBROHER AT (“Guangdian”) and WEMESL  TIAEEELYHE ] P&
represented the excess of the Group’s share of fair value EHEEZ A EERREKREARE
of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired over the 1,386,020,0007T,2 Z &8 °
cost of investment of RMB1,386,020,000.

i The impairment of goodwill is included in “Administrative x BERED G ARG E Bmk. 2 [1TH
expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Fs5 ] e

8. TAX 8. bZRE]

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the R AN £ B R F 9 3 (E o] & 75 P8 SR B s

Group had no assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during R HR AR BB NS B 2 B (2016

the year (2016: Nil). Taxation on Mainland China profits was FE) - FRAKEEMNZHEERAFE

calculated on the estimated assessable profits for the year HETERTOR A - RARE BT FTE A

at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdiction in which the ERER BT EETE -

Group operates.

The provision for LAT has been estimated according to T IR E R 2 BE IR A B B AR K

the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC laws and T8 2 MEMEL AT o LB ERIRIEEE

regulations. LAT has been provided at ranges of progressive BERBRE TR EBRE  REEHEZ

rates of the appreciation value, with certain allowable B E Ve LB o

deductions.

The amount of tax charge in the consolidated statement of RirfiBmi e MBAZHNT

profit or loss represents:

2017 2016

20175 2016%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBEFTT

Current — Hong Kong BNER — B/A = =
Current — Mainland China BUER — Ao B KR

Charge for the year REERTH 455,278 929,790

Underprovision in prior years BAFETRREE 488 404

LAT in Mainland China AR BE 2 + IR E T 432,376 1,104,502

Deferred (Note 31) IEAE (f15231) 56,384 (206,300)

944,526 1,828,396

iWd1] Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited £ E & EE SR A 7



Notes to the Financial Statements

TAX (continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before
tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdiction in which the
Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled
to the tax charge at the effective tax rate, and a reconciliation
of the applicable rates (i.e., the statutory tax rates) to the
effective tax rates, are as follows:

B 5 ¥R R B o

31 December 2017
201712 A31H

B (&)

BARA REKE DM B A RMEREER
ERARBRRADERN ZEER R E 2 RIAX
B BIRERBRFEZHIBHZ EEK -
AR ERBE (AEEMRE) BERMEZ
HERHIIMT

2017 2016
20174 20164
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
AR%T ARBETT
Profit before tax B 354 Al A 2,751,774 3,832,765
Tax at the applicable statutory REREEMERAE 2RI 609,605 22.1 726,135 18.9
tax rates
Adjustments in respect of current ARNBE RN 2 AT B 488 0.0 404 0.0
tax of previous periods
Profits and losses attributable to [ElEEE AR AE (323,544) (11.8) (44,134) (1.2)
joint ventures
Profits and losses attributable to i NS (508) 0.0 (4,038) (0.1)
associates
Income not subject to tax BARB WA (17,250) (0.6) (10,051) (0.2)
Expenses not deductible for tax Al 2z 37,719 1.4 30,123 0.8
Utilisation of previously BRBERERZHEER (1,800) (0.1) (1,453) 0.0
unrecognised tax losses
Tax losses for which no deferred RERRELERBEEL 37,729 1.4 26,908 0.7
tax asset was recognised BIEEE
LAT in Mainland China B AR 2 i (AR 432,376 15.7 1,104,502 28.8
Withholding tax in Mainland China  F B AFETEHIFTS 5 169,711 6.2 = =
944,526 34.3 1,828,396 47.7

BIEEER

AIBIE X A R ¥51,045,838,000

The share of tax charge attributable to joint ventures
amounting to RMB1,045,838,000 (2016: RMB98,665,000) and
the share of tax charge attributable to associates amounting
to RMB54,060,000 (2016: tax credit of RMB3,029,000) are
included in “Share of profits and losses of joint ventures” and
“Share of profits and losses of associates”, respectively, in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

70 (2016%F : AR¥98,665,0007T) K fE(HE:
&N El IR A K 54,060,000t (2016
& HIBBEARKS,029,000T) ES RIS
BAZABESXR[BEAEQRAEI R(E
IHEE N R EE]
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31 December 2017
201712 831H

9. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 9.
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

ESNTEBEFMETI ZHME

(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEMS
No remuneration has been paid by the Group to the AREEREFEFERN AEEHBERE
Directors as an inducement to join upon joining the EYMERMESIEAIMANER 48
Group, or as compensation for loss of office during B SKEABERIEE o
the current and prior years.
There was no arrangement under which a Director REERFFERN MEESFHEET
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during A ZHE R ES R EREER#E -
the current and prior years.
Directors’ emoluments for the year ended 31 HE2017FE12A31HILEERES
December 2017, disclosed pursuant to the Listing ZEERE FTHRE - FEDTHED
Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the 5383(1)(a) * (b) * (c)B(M)F + A K&
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the ANE (BEEENEER) A E220
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits WEMT :
of Directors) Regulation, are as follows:
Salaries,
allowances

and benefits

in kind Discretionary
Fees =1l bonuses Total
re RENF = FEEA @
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Name of Directors EENEF AR¥T T AR®T R AR®T AR®T
Executive Directors HiTES
Mr. Ling Ke ERAE 865 - 865 1,730
Mr. Huang Juncan BERRRE 865 - 865 1,730
Mr. Xu Jiajun BRERE 865 628 1,028 2,521
Mr. Wei Chuanjun ZEFELLE 865 377 961 2,203
3,460 1,005 3,719 8,184
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Loh Lian Huat Loh Lian Huat%t 4 314 - - 314
Ms. Zhang Feiyun REEBLT 314 - - 314
628 - - 628
Independent BYKHTES
non-executive Directors
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung FRAEE 372 - - 372
Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee, BRREE 327 - - 327
Anthony
Mr. Hu Chunyuan WETRE 406 - - 406
1,105 - - 1,105
5,193 1,005 3,719 9,917

iW#] Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited £ E & EE SR A 7
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31 December 2017
201712 A31H

9. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 9.
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

ESNTEBESFMETZME (&)

BEEME (&)

HZE2016F12A31BHILLFERES
Z WS RIE ETARR] - BAE R RHED
%383(1)(a) * (b) * (c)R()E A K
naEl (BRESH=ER) A58
WEEWT ¢

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a)

Directors’ emoluments for the year ended 31
December 2016, disclosed pursuant to the Listing
Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits

of Directors) Regulation, are as follows:

Salaries,
allowances
and benefits  Share-based
inkind compensation  Discretionary
Fees He 2 expenses bonuses Total
ik REMAE  RHOMERAX it Fet
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Name of Directors ESHZ ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Executive Directors HiTES
Mr. Ling Ke EREE 762 - 3,416 952 5,130
Mr. Huang Juncan HRBRAE 762 = 3,031 952 4,745
Mr. Xu Jiajun BRRELE 762 571 2,727 1,229 5,289
Mr. Wei Chuanjun FEELL 762 343 2,271 1,117 4,493
3,048 914 11,445 4,250 19,657
Non-executive Directors  F#{TEZ
Mr. Loh Lian Huat Loh Lian Huat%t 4 286 - - - 286
Ms. Zhang Feiyun REELLT 286 - - - 286
572 - - - 572
Independent BYFHTES
non-executive Directors
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung TR LA 338 - 127 - 465
Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee, BHELE 297 - 127 = 424
Anthony
Mr. Hu Chunyuan HETRAE 369 - 127 = 496
1,004 - 381 - 1,385
4,624 914 11,826 4,250 21,614
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31 December 2017
201712 831H

9. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 9.
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b)  Five highest paid employees (b) ETEBRESFMAL

MARER REBAZESHFMAL
BIE=% (2016F : WE) EF - H
& 2 HN EXHHT o RFEEHBTA
(20165 : —R) = F MES (GE
EF) 2B moT

ESNTEBESFMETZME (&)

The five highest paid employees in the Group for
the year included three (2016: four) Directors whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented
above. The emoluments payable to the remaining two
(2016: one) non-director, highest paid employees for
the year are as follows:

2017 2016

20174 20164

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AR®ET T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R REYAE 5,374 5,649
Share-based compensation expenses A a - 311
Discretionary bonuses EVISIEAL 10,366 =
Employer’s contributions to pension schemes iRk &=t 21 > B EH3% 185 48
15,925 6,008

The number of non-director, highest paid employees

= MES GEES) JIA L TH

174

whose emoluments fell within the following bands is SERZ AEL
as follows:
Number of employees
EBEAH
2017 2016
RMB AR 20174 20164

6,000,001 to 6,500,000
6,500,001 to 7,000,000
7,000,001 to 7,500,000
7,500,001 to 8,000,000
8,000,001 to 8,500,000
8,500,001 to 9,000,000

6,000,001%6,500,000
6,500,001%7,000,000
7,000,001%7,500,000
7,500,001%8,000,000
8,000,001%8,500,000
8,500,001%9,000,000

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited €t E BEE AR A 7



9.

10.

DIRECTORS’

Notes to the Financial Statements

AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Five highest paid employees (continued)

In the prior year, share options were granted to a
non-director, highest paid employee in respect of
his service to the Group, further details of which
are included in the disclosures in note 24(b) to the
financial statements. The fair value of such options,
which has been recognised in the statement of profit
or loss over the vesting period, was determined as
at the date of grant and the amount included in the
financial statements for the prior year is included in
the disclosure of the above non-director, highest paid
employee’s emoluments.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

(a)

(b)

Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based
on the profit for the year attributable to owners of
the Company, and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares of 15,813,616,233 (2016:
15,793,467,827) in issue during the year.

Diluted earnings per share

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based
on the profit for the year attributable to owners of
the Company. The weighted average number of
ordinary shares used in the calculation is the number
of ordinary shares in issue during the year, as used
in the basic earnings per share calculation, and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares
assumed to have been issued at no consideration
on the deemed exercise or conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are

(b)

B 5 ¥R R B o

31 December 2017
201712 A31H

EENTEBEFHETI ZME (&)

TEBREHFMAL ()

E—FE  ARBERKDFHMMIFE
FEEBRHEZIRBR THRAE L
— HFHIER I WK M E24(b)H K
BEo2EEREZANERRLAE
o YERBEEBHNEARAE
B LFEARMBRABERZESED
BREELisSFMMIFEEERRZ
MeRER -

10. AQEBEEAELEREF

(a)

(b)

BREFEF

BREXRBANTIRBEARAQRFE AR
HEERH  RFEERDBEITEBR
hn % F $915,813,616,2330% (2016
£ 1 15,793,467,8270% ) {EstE -

SREERR

FREERNIBRBEARRFEAR
HEREMNFE - BIERBEFEZE
BRMNEFHEANEFRNEETE
BEREE (RN EESRELRRN
E)UREBBEESEEBRRIET
e ER A ERRMRRATRESR
TEBRZ IEFHE -

BREARBERN ZFETIER

based on:
2017 2016
20174 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBET T
Earnings BF
Profit attributable to owners of the Company, AREEE ARG 1,643,529 1,366,512

used in the basic earnings per share calculation

(RUFTESERERRRN)
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31 December 2017
201712 831H

10. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 10. ZAAQAREBEAELERER (&)
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY (continued)
Number of shares
B
2017 2016
201745 20164
Shares & 5
Weighted average number of ordinary shares RERBETLBER 2 METHE  15,813,616,233  15,793,467,827
in issue during the year used in the (AU ERERRF)
basic earnings per share calculation
Effect of dilution — weighted average number BBy s - TRRMETHY
of ordinary shares:
Share options BE A 162,372,173 21,818,060
15,975,988,406 15,815,285,887
11. DIVIDENDS 11. KA
2017 2016
20174 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®ET T
Proposed final dividend — RMB0.025 BIRARERE — BREBR 396,543 315,869

(2016: RMBO0.02) per ordinary share

AR#0.0257T
(20164 : AR¥0.027T)

At the Board meeting held on 16 March 2018, the Board MR2018F3A16ARTT v EETGRH L &
resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend of FEeFRABEBMAE2017F12A318 IEF
RMBO0.025 per share for the year ended 31 December 2017. ERZERBRESRARK0.0257T o It ##
The proposed final dividend is not reflected as dividend AR HA IR B0 R R AR & B 715 ¥ 3k A R R /5 8
payable in the consolidated financial statements until it is RE - ZRERARARNKRITZRFE
approved by the shareholders at the forthcoming annual FRD EEREERA AR -

general meeting of the Company.

iWd:] Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited £ B & EE SR A A
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

31 December 2017
201712 A31H

12. Y%  BERRKE

Leasehold Office Furniture Motor
improvements equipment and fixtures vehicles Total
HENZEE RAZRE BHREE e ag
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR®TR AR%TR AR®TT ARBTT
At 31 December 2017: R2017512831A :
At 31 December 2016 and 20165125318
1 January 2017 k#0171 418
Cost KA 77,528 14,362 10,271 13,123 115,284
Accumulated depreciation and impairment ZRNERAE (27,946) (7,990) (4,581) (4,602) (45,119)
Net carrying amount SEYE 49,582 6,372 5,690 8,521 70,165
At 1 January 2017, net of accumulated R2017E1A18  NREE 49,582 6,372 5,690 8,521 70,165
depreciation and impairment HERAE
Additions R 10,225 4,804 1,690 3,603 20,322
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 33) WEHBAR (#:233) - 21 86 40 147
Disposals e S (8) (147) (50) (205)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 35) HEMBAR (735 (2,413) (458) (278) (99) (3,248)
Depreciation (Note 7) e (#i27) (15,217) (2,919) (1,705) (3,740) (23,641)
Exchange realignment A% (62) (21) (1) (44) (168)
At 31 December 2017, net of accumulated R2017%12A318 « NIk 2R 42,055 7,791 5,295 8,231 63,372
depreciation and impairment TEREA
At 31 December 2017 R2017£12A318
Cost KA 84,188 18,664 11,520 16,121 130,493
Accumulated depreciation and impairment ZENMERNE (42,133) (10,873) (6,225) (7,890) (67,121)
Net carrying amount SEYE 42,055 7,791 5,295 8,231 63,372
At 31 December 2016: R2016512531A :
At1 January 2016 201651718
Cost KA 36,855 10,059 6,99 6,949 60,858
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 2RNERAE (13,964) (5,668) (3,340) (2,490) (25,46
Net carrying amount REFE 22,891 4,391 3,655 4,459 35,39
At 1 January 2016, net of accumulated R2016E181R - NIRER 22,891 4391 3,655 4,459 35,396
depreciation and impairment HERAE
Additions R 40,024 4,169 3429 515 53,150
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 33) WENBAR (H:233) - 299 85 4 1018
Disposals e - (149) (259) (68) (476)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 35) HENBAR (Hz3) = (19) = = (19)
Depreciation (Note 7) e (hi7) (13,346) (2,337) (1,247) (2,094) (19,024)
Exchange realignment EHH% 13 18 Pl 62 120
At 31 December 2016, net of accumulated 20165124318 - K25 49,582 6,372 5,690 8,521 70,165
depreciation and impairment RERRE
At 31 December 2016 20165124318
Cost [ 77,528 14,362 027 115,284
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 2RNERAA (27,946) (7,990) (4,581 B (45,119)
Net carrying amount REFE 49,582 6,372 5,690 8,521 70,165
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31 December 2017
201712 831H

13.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. REYE
2017 2016
20175 20165
Investment Investment
Completed properties Completed properties
investment under investment under
properties  construction Total properties construction Total
RIRENE EERENE BE RIREME  TEREDE &%
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT ARETR ARETR AREFT  ARETR
Carrying amount at 1 January MA1RZEREE 2,874,193 2,226,486 5,100,679 2,563,695 1,440,354 4,004,049
Additions/improvements B/ NE 16,223 715,147 731,370 190,382 646,423 836,805
Transfer &Y 591,144 (591,144) - = = =
Changes in fair values (Note 7) DREZES (W7 159,731 386,109 545,840 120,116 139,709 259,825
Exchange realignment ERBE (11,080) - (11,080) - = =
Carrying amount at 31 December M2RA31RZEEfE 3,630,211 2,736,598 6,366,809 2,874,193 2,226,486 5,100,679

Additions to investment properties included interest expense
of RMB16,931,000 (2016: RMB9,800,000) (Note 6) that was
incurred and capitalised during the year.

The Group’s investment properties consist of one (2016:
one) office property, one (2016: one) business park, one
(2016: Nil) shopping center and seven (2016: five) properties
under construction in Mainland China, and one (2016: one)
residential property in the United States (“US”). The Directors
have determined that the investment properties consist
of five classes of assets, i.e., office, residential, shopping
centre, properties under construction — office and properties
under construction — shopping centre, based on the nature,
characteristics and risks of each property. The Group’s
investment properties in the PRC and US were revalued on
31 December 2017 by Shenzhen Touchstone Evaluation
and Consultancy Co., Ltd. and CBRE Inc, independent
professionally qualified valuers, respectively, at an aggregate
amount of RMB6,366,809,000 (2016: RMB5,100,679,000).
Each year, the Group’s chief executive officer decides to
appoint which external valuers to be responsible for the
external valuations of the Group’s properties. Selection
criteria include market knowledge, reputation, independence
and whether professional standards are maintained. The
Group’s property managers have discussions with the
valuers on the valuation assumptions and valuation results
annually when the valuation is performed for annual financial
reporting.

The completed investment properties were leased to third
parties under operating leases, further summary details
of which are included in note 39(b)(ii) to the financial
statements.

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited €t E BEE AR A 7

REYMEZBRABDFEFENEEREENEZ
M 2B ARK16,931,0007T (20164 © A
R #9,800,0007T) (#1:16) -
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(20164 : —1A) MAEME - —1E (2016
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YRN8 (20165 : AIE) EEME
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13.

Notes to the Financial Statements

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

At 31 December 2017, an investment property with a
carrying value of RMB196,745,000 (31 December 2016:
RMB183,969,000) was pledged to secure an other borrowing
granted to the Group.

At 31 December 2017, the Group has obtained certificates
of land use rights for all of its investment properties in
Mainland China (2016: the application for certificates of
land use rights of certain investment properties situated
in Mainland China with an aggregate carrying amount of
RMB1,525,910,000 was still in progress and the amount was
included in investment properties).

Further particulars of the Group’s investment properties are
included on pages 271 to 273 of the annual report.
Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties:

13.
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31 December 2017
201712 A31H

REWME (&)

MR2017%F12A31H A E A A R ¥
196,745,0007T 2 & & ¥ % (2016512 A 31
B : AR#183,969,0007t) B T - AE
WAAREEFR L2 EMER

MW2017F12A831H - AE B KX F B K
Bz IEMEH DS L FEHE (2016
FBETMNRFPRAAREZREME L E
AEDERES  HEAELHAARE
1,525,910,000c ' S MEBRAERE
MER) o

AEBREMECE - THBHNRNERSE
271252738 »

DRESREE

TRENAEFEREMEZ AR EAESTR
5

Fair value measurement using

AEGERA
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
RS EANER EXFAEE
25 HAR HAR Total
(B-8) (B=R) (=) ey
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARET R ARBT R AR®T R
At 31 December 2017 ®2017F12A318
Recurring fair value measurement for: BRELEE
- Office YN - - 2,733,466 2,733,466
- Residential -f% - - 196,745 196,745
- Shopping centre — Bl - - 700,000 700,000
~ Properties under construction - office ~ERNE-BNE - - 1,806,000 1,806,000
- Properties under construction - shopping centre  — &M% — BHHL = - 930,598 930,598
- - 6,366,809 6,366,809
At 31 December 2016 #2016F12A31A
Recurring fair value measurement for: SENLEHTE
- Office N - - 2,690,224 2,690,224
- Residential -fi= - - 183,969 183,969
— Property under construction - office - RN - BoE - - 1,011,600 1,011,600
- Properties under construction - shopping centre -EENE -BYHPL - - 1,214,886 1,214,886
- - 5,100,679 5,100,679
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 13. REWX (&)

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value RERNE-—RRE_B2ELBEARBEFE
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers ZER R BEANERSE =K (2016

into or out of Level 3 (2016: Nil). F|E) e
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within BARE=ZMANBESEREEANZ AR EET

Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: SHER ¢

Properties
Properties under
under  construction
construction - shopping
Shopping - office centre
Office  Residential centre EENE ERNE
Hog ftz Bl - B0E - B

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBT T AR¥TT ARETT AR¥TT

Carrying amount at 1 January 2017 R017E1A1BZBEE 2,690,224 183,969 - 1,011,600 1,214,886
Additions/improvements R/ hE 5,653 10,570 - 463,698 251,449
Transfer 7 : £ 591,144 £ (591,144)
Changes in fair values PMEZEY 37,589 13,286 108,856 330,702 55,407
Exchange realignment 5 A% - (11,080) - - -
Carrying amount at 31 December 2017 R017E12A31B 2 REfE 2,733,466 196,745 700,000 1,806,000 930,598
Carrying amount at 1 January 2016 R2016E1R1A 2 A 2,563,695 = = 961,540 478814
Additions/improvements R /e 6,581 183,801 - 34,299 612,124
Changes in fair values PMEZEY 119,948 168 - 15,761 123,948
Carrying amount at 31 December 2016 R2016512A31AZEEA 2,690,024 183,969 - 1,011,600 1.214,886
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 13. REWE (£)
Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the TR EREMEMER 2T HAERE
key inputs to the valuation of investment properties: ZHABERE
Classes of properties Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs Range or weighted average
ELd Mm% EXTTBREBAE EEIMETHY
2017 2016
0175 20165
Office Income approach Reversionary rental value - Office (per sq.m. and per day) (RMB) 3.8-6.7 0876
g Wiz BMES - HAZ (BYARRER) (AR
Reversionary rental value — Commercial (per sg.m. and per day) (RMB) 5.0 11.0-33.0
BESNES - B (BTAARER) (ARET)
Reversionary rental value - Car park units (per unit and per day) (RMB) 133 20.0
BENES - BB (BREMLRER) (ARET)
Vacancy rate 3.0%:-6.0% 5.0%-10.0%
FEX
Yield rate 6.0%:7.5% 5.0%-7.5%
g
Residential Income approach Reversionary rental value - Residential (per sq.ft. and per month) (US$) 1.9 17
fiz Wik RaMES - £ (BYHREEA) (£7T)
Vacancy rate 5.0% 5.0%
FEX
Yield rate 4.8% 4.8%
Shopping centre Income approach Reversionary rental value — Commercial (per sq.m. and per day) (RMB) 1.8-4.8 -
Bl Wik BHMES - A% (BT HRREAE) (AR¥T)
Vacancy rate 8.0% =
283
Yield rate 7.0% -
Properties under construction ~ Cost method Adjusted unit price (per sq.m.) (RMB) 1,200-1,230 -
- office A AR RAEE (BYAK) (ARET)
fienz - noE Development costs (RMB million) 810 -
REAA (\REEET)
Construction period (years) 1 =
B ()
Deducted sales profit rate 15% -
I HENER
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 13. REY%E (&)
Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and TR EREMEMER 2T HAERE
the key inputs to the valuation of investment properties: ZMABERE : (&)
(continued)
Classes of properties Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs Range or weighted average
NEER By EXTTRRBAE EEIMETHY
2017 2016
017F 20165
Properties under construction  Residual method Reversionary rental value — Office(per sq.m. and per day) (RMB) 12-4.4 35-4.0
- office Hepk BEMES - BAZ (BYAARER) (ARET)
TRz - nog Reversionary rental value — Commercial areas (per sq.m. and per day) (RMB) N/A 65170
BENES - AR (BT ARER) (ARET)
Vacancy rate 5.0%-6.0% 6.0%
FEX
Yield rate 1.0%:-7.5% 6.0%-7.5%
ik
Development costs (RMB million) 209-1,369 889
REAA (\REEET)
Construction period (years) 0.8-2.0 25
B (F)
Deducted sales profit rate 16%-26% 23%
A HENER
Property under construction  Residual method Reversionary rental value (per sg.m. and per day) (RMB) - 2350
- shopping centre it Rgas (BYAARER) (ARET)
ERnE -BYRL Vacancy rate = 5.0%
FEX
Yield rate - 6.0%
s
Development costs (RMB million) - 132
REAA (\REEET)
Construction period (years) - 1.0
BRH (%)
Deducted sales profit rate - 18%
i HETEE
Properties under construction  Market comparison Adjusted unit price (per sq.m.) (RMB) 2,120-13,370 1,400-14,000
- shopping centre approach BEE/EESE (BTAR) (ARER)
i E S LA
N/A: Not applicable N/A: T35
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Notes to the Financial Statements

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Under the income approach, the valuation takes into account
the net rental income of the properties derived from the
existing leases and/or achievable in the existing market with
due allowance for the reversionary income potential of the
leases, which has been then capitalised to determine the
market value at an appropriate capitalisation rate.

The residual method is based on the assumption that
the property is newly completed in accordance with the
development proposal in terms of property uses, respective
saleable areas and construction schedules to establish the
gross development value (“GDV”). The total development
costs including construction costs, professional fees,
infrastructure costs, management costs, financial costs
and developer’s profit are estimated and deducted from
the established GDV. The resultant residual figure is then
adjusted back to the valuation date to arrive at the market
value of the property interest concerned. The income
approach has been used in estimating the GDV.

A significant increase/(decrease) in the reversionary rental
value and GDV would in isolation result in a significant
increase/(decrease) in the fair value of the investment
properties. A significant increase/(decrease) in the vacancy
rate, yield rate, development costs, construction period
and deducted sales profit rate in isolation would result in
a significant (decrease)/increase in the fair value of the
investment properties. Generally, a change in the assumption
made for the reversionary rental value is accomplished by a
directionally similar change in the yield rate and an opposite
change in the vacancy rate.

The market comparison approach is adopted by making
reference to comparable market transactions in the
assessment of the fair value of a property interest. The
approach rests on the wide acceptance of the market
transactions as the best indicator and pre-supposes that
evidence of relevant transactions in the market place can
be extrapolated to similar properties, subject to allowances
for variable factors, including the transaction date, location,
traffic condition, environmental factors, commercial
atmosphere and size of land, etc. Moreover, the incurred
costs are also considered in the valuation.

The cost method is a method to measure the replacement
cost or reconstruction cost and depreciation of a property
at the time of value, and to deduct the depreciation of the
replacement cost or reconstruction cost to obtain the value
or price of the property.

13.
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31 December 2017
2017%12H31H

REME (&)

RBWEE - FHETIZE B ERBEFHLOMEE
ERzMERASBRNFER  IRBRBENS
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o
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D) BEEBUMEHRENEIABRE
g ORd) e 28R Wk REK
A ZRERSFHRZHEENBER 2 BEE
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14.

15.

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 14. FHEWE
The properties held for sale of the Group are situated in REERFE 2 FHEW ST B BIRRE R
Mainland China and US and stated at the lower of cost and EZRWIEKANER]ERFERER 2RE

net realisable value. HIIER ©
At 31 December 2017, properties held for sale with a carrying M2017F12A318 R E E & A R &
value of RMB303,918,000 (2016: Nil) was pledged to secure 303,918,000 2 fF & ¥ 2 (20164 : &)
an other borrowing granted to the Group. ETFUERR  UERRASERLE 2 EME
Ko

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 15. BEREDPYE
2017 2016
20174 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREET T
Land use rights (Note) T FRAE (HEE) 10,882,220 7,830,440
Development costs R 2,680,044 2,378,568
Net carrying amount at the end of RUMRFEEARZ REFE 13,562,264 10,209,008

the financial year

Note: All land is situated in the PRC and US. The Group’s
interests in land use rights represent prepaid operating

lease payments for parcels of land in the PRC.

Additions to properties under development during the
year included interest expense of RMB103,201,000 (2016:
RMB221,306,000) (Note 6) that was incurred and capitalised
during the year.

At 31 December 2017, no properties under development of
the Group were pledged to secure banking facilities granted
to the Group (2016: Nil).

At 31 December 2017, application for certificates of land
use rights of certain properties under development situated
in Mainland China with an aggregate carrying amount of
RMB3,609,938,000 was still in progress (2016: the Group has
obtained certificates of land use rights for all of its properties
under development).

At the end of the reporting period, properties under
development amounting to RMB10,291,302,000 (2016:
RMB8,516,305,000) were not scheduled for completion within
twelve months.

M Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited €t E BEE AR A 7
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AFEERRPYWEZEAIABEFAEERE
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17.

Notes to the Financial Statements

PREPAYMENTS FOR ACQUISITIONS OF LAND 16.

USE RIGHTS

The balances represent the prepayments paid for acquisitions
of land use rights for parcels of land in Mainland China at
public land auctions.

B 5 ¥R R B o

31 December 2017
201712 A31H

WHE £ 3o IR 2 TR RRIR

BHERAHLHPES LBEUNPEAX
PEMb IR 2 T3 BRI 2 FEN & o

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 17. NEELQFZRE
2017 2016
20174 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREETTT
Share of net assets BILEEFE 5,798,727 2,782,615
Goodwill on acquisition WEEEEZHE 48,766 48,766

5,847,493 2,831,381

The Group’s loans to/from and balances with joint ventures
are disclosed in notes 29 and 30 to the financial statements,
respectively.

AEBE Y ENEERRAERRESE
DA Z#EER Y B AN B 75 ¥R 2 MY £ 29 KR 30

5= o
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REEQRTZRE (F)
AEEZEESEARFBMT -

17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 17.

Particulars of the Group’s material joint ventures are as

follows:
Percentage of
ARl
Place of registration Ownership Voting Profit Principal

Name of joint ventures and business Registered share capital interest power sharing activities

RELNRER BRREXHY AMER2EE L i HEIE IEEH

Beijing Jinshui Real Estate Development ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 50 50 50 Property development
Company Limited” (*Jinshui’) /B KR AR 50,000,007 in Mainland China

IReKEHEREARAT ([4K]) RABAENSER

Shenzhen City Longcheng Guangchang PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 33 33 33 Property development
Real Estate Development Company hE /PEAKE AR%10,000,0007 in Mainland China
Limited" (“Longcheng Guangchang”) YN

TR E AR EREERAR
([EE5])

Guangzhou Guangdian Property PRC/Mainland China RMB360,000,000 74 74 74 Property development
Development Group Shares Co., Ltd.* &l /R EAE AR 360,000,000 and investment and
(“Guangdian”) investment holding in

ENEERHEREEERNERAR Mainland China
(EE)) NGNS

R A RREER

* For identification purposes only * EHE5

The above investments are indirectly held by the Company.

Jinshui, Longcheng Guangchang and Guangdian and its
subsidiaries (collectively, “Guangdian Group”), which are
considered material joint ventures of the Group, are engaged
in property development and investment in Mainland China

and are accounted for using the equity method.

E Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited €t E BEE AR A 7
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INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 17. REEQXTZRE (&)

The summarised financial information in respect of Jinshui, &K EBHESREEEBEANEESIK
Longcheng Guangchang and Guangdian Group adjusted for RETHABREZUBENBRE - UREME
any differences in accounting policies, and reconciled to the HRERETmECHENT ¢

carrying amounts in the financial statements, is as follows:

Jinshui
&K
2017 2016
20174 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBT T

Cash and cash equivalents ReRBELEMEIER 770,929 264,670
Other current assets HMRsEE 1,955,758 5,659,544
Current assets MENEE 2,726,687 5,924,214
Non-current assets EmBEE 79 4,475
Financial liabilities, excluding trade and TEEENESERR = (800,409)
other payables HEMEMNRERzEmAaE
Other current liabilities Htrsas (1,581,148)  (4,702,872)
Current liabilities mEAE (1,581,148)  (5,503,281)
Net assets BESFE 1,145,618 425,408

Reconciliation to the Group’s interest

EAREEEEEERQR

in the joint venture: e EER
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REEE 7 7% L5 50% 50%
Group’s share of net assets of the joint venture, Tt ABE 2 REBE(E 572,809 212,704
excluding goodwill BERNRBEFE
Elimination of unrealised profits with the joint venture  ¥i4% 814 & A TR BI85 F (1,292) (2,420)
Carrying amount of the investment KERmE 571,517 210,284
Revenue WA 4,796,826 660,225
Interest income B U A 6,727 8,027
Depreciation e (90) (90)
Tax BIE (928,238) (104,138)
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year REERMNREZEES 1,060,880 116,777
Was4a%E
Dividend received SRR 170,335 105,965
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17.

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 17. REEQXTZRE (&)

Longcheng Guangchang

BEHES
2017 2016
20174 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTT
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBELFMEIER 204,724 401,585
Other current assets HithmEh & E 5,995,159 5,850,765
Current assets TMENEE 6,199,883 6,252,350
Non-current assets ERBEE 692 4,228
Financial liabilities, excluding trade and TEEERNESERERR (203,900) (723,981)
other payables HtENERRZSRAE
Other current liabilities HimBaE (4,514,866)  (4,858,081)
Current liabilities mENaE (4,718,766)  (5,582,062)
Non-current liabilities EREBEE (701,800) (677,200)
Net assets BEFE 780,009 (2,684)
Reconciliation to the Group’s interest EAREEE(EE ERT]
in the joint venture: e EER
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REB 2 7ML 33% 33%
Group's share of net assets of the joint venture, TETABEE 2 AL EEG 257,403 (886)
excluding goodwill AR NFEEFE
Unrecognised share of loss RUERIEIL BB = 886
Carrying amount of the investment REREE 257,403 -
Revenue WA 2,734,352 52
Interest income FLEYA 2,894 4,142
Depreciation e = =
Tax I8 (648,027) 3,415
Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive REERF /(EE) Ra2m| 782,693 (10,245)

income/(loss)for the year

el (B1R) B5
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INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 17. REERQATZRE (&)
Guangdian
Group
EE£E
2017
20174
RMB’000
AR¥ T
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEFMEEE 4,220,873
Other current assets EfthmEh & E 26,785,766
Current assets MENEE 31,006,639
Non-current assets FREBEE 3,179,788
Financial liabilities, excluding trade and TEERNE SRR L (6,848,150)

other payables

HipENRR 2 2@MEBE

Other current liabilities Hihms &’ (17,636,406)
Current liabilities mENERE (24,484,556)
Non-current liabilities FERBARE (7,802,305)
Net assets BEFE 1,899,566
Non-controlling interests VAR AR i 24,968
Net assets attributable to owners of Guangdian Group RENEEEEISBEACEEFE 1,924,534
Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in the joint venture HAEBEELNEGEQARESER

Proportion of the Group’s ownership REE 2 FAx LB 74%
Group’s share of net assets of the joint venture, TErABEBZAEEHELEE 1,424,155

excluding goodwill NRIBEEFRE

Elimination of unrealised profit with the joint venture HiFsa SN AREHEF (19,821)
Carrying amount of the investment HERHEE 1,404,334
Revenue WA 2,849,840
Interest income FLEWA 5,190
Depreciation e (1,741)
Tax 18 (138,014)
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year REE AN REHEGA W@ 67,319
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17.

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

In the prior year, the Group acquired a 74% equity interest
of Guangdian. The acquisition of Guangdian was accounted
for as an investment in an associate because the Group
could not exercise control but only had significant influence
over Guangdian. During the year, the Group and the other
shareholders of Guangdian agreed to exercise joint control
over Guangdian, the investment of the 74% equity interest of
Guangdian was transferred from investment in an associate
to investment in a joint venture accordingly. The shared
results of Guandian of RMB52,796,000 (2016: Nil) and
RMB14,649,000 (2016: RMB16,152,000) for the year are
included in “Share of profits or losses of joint ventures” and
“Share of profits or losses of associates” respectively in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. The summarised
financial information in respect of Guangdian Group adjusted
for any differences in accounting policies, and reconciled to
the carrying amounts in the financial statements in 2016 is
disclosed in note 18.

17.

REERRAZRE (&)

REBRLE—FEREES 274%%E 2 -
HRARNEEAREEYETHETIES - EEHE
FEEAVEN  ERAKBERKBHREQ
RIRE - RAFE  AEEHESTHMEK
F—BRAEARZEFHES B AEEY
BE74%Em I RERRBERRIRESE
AREERRIRE - ANFERLOETEE
AR #52 796,000 (20164 : #£) K AR
14,649,000 (20164 : A R ¥16,152,000
’) DR ARGEERRZ [EEEE

ARBE| R EHEBEEARREE] EEE
iR A S BT REITRAER 22016F M
BERBE  UREGBEHREREDEZ HR
RESFE18HE -

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial TREMAEBGENTIBEREE AT Y
information of the Group’s joint ventures that are not BERBE
individually material:
2017 2016
20174 20164F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBEFIT
Share of the joint ventures’ profits and EREERRANFERE 349,142 (70,178)
losses for the year
Share of the joint ventures’ other comprehensive  JE{EA & A G AEE HAb (99,659) 42,045
(loss)/income for the year 2mE (18) /W
Share of the joint ventures’ total comprehensive ElEEERARAFELA 249,483 (28,133)
income/(loss) for the year Wk (E518) 458
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s AEBREEREIRE 3,614,239 2,460,179

investments in the joint ventures

ZARE{EARR
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18.

Notes to the Financial Statements

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 17.

The Group has discontinued the recognition of its share of
losses of certain joint ventures because of the share of losses
of these joint ventures exceeded the Group’s interests in
these joint ventures and the Group has no obligation to take
up further losses. The amounts of the Group’s unrecognised
share of losses of these joint ventures for the current year
and, cumulatively were RMB49,662,000 and RMB54,346,000
respectively (2016: both RMB4,684,000).

B 5 ¥R R B o

31 December 2017
201712 A31H

REERRAZRE (&)

HRETFAEQARZENBEBEAEER
ZEAERRZEE  MALEINER KA
BE—T BB UL ASBEREHREE
HZERERRIZER - $EIZK¢&;%.:+
AERELZERERAEBEIIBARE
49,662,0007T & A £ #54,346,0007T (2016
& A ARME4,684,0007T) °

* For identification purposes only * ERES
INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 18. REEQARZRE
2017 2016
20174 20164F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®ET T
Share of net assets EREEFE 44,658 1,426,190

The Group did not have any associate that was individually
material at 31 December 2017 (2016: Guangdian).

HR2017F 128318 - AE B W £ @RI E K
ZEZ AT (20164 : EB) o
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18.

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information in respect of Guangdian Group adjusted for any

18. REE

RAZRKRE (&)

TRELEERBERARE S BRFETH
BB Z2016FHBEERBME - AR BB R

differences in accounting policies and reconciled to the FIREE K :
carrying amount in the financial statements in 2016:
2016
20164
RMB’000
ARBTT
Current assets MENEE 26,980,717
Non-current assets FERBEE 2,041,136
Current liabilities mEBAR (15,006,039)
Non-current liabilities ERBBE (11,745,520)
Net assets BAEFE 2,270,294
Non-controlling interests FEIE A AR R 25 (342,418)
Net assets attributable to owners of Guangdian Group FEREEEBEETH 1,927,876
Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in the associate: BAZNER B FE (R B i A R 2R I ER
Proportion of the Group’s ownership RNEE 7 FFAR LB 74%
Group’s share of net assets of attributable to owners Tt ABBZAEHEGRBR 1,426,629
of Guangdian Group, excluding goodwill EBEEEEEFE
Elimination of unrealised profit with Guangdian Group HHRET EEAREIREF (439)
Carrying amount of the investment KEREE 1,426,190
Revenue A 3,022,518
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year NEZBMNREHEELREWEEBRE 69,051

During the year, the Group and the other shareholders of
Guangdian agreed to exercise joint control over Guangdian,
the investment of the 74% equity interest of Guangdian was

transferred from investment in an associate to investment in Hie

a joint venture accordingly.
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INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18. REERRZRE (&)
The Group’s loan to an associate and balances with REE 2 EHEE AR ERRERENE 2
associates are disclosed in notes 29 and 30 to the financial RPN TS R M 5T 29 R 30 B8 ©
statements.
The following table illustrates the aggregate financial TREMASEBGEANNEBEKEE AR 2H
information of the Group’s associates that are not individually BER A
material:
2017 2016
20174 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBEFTTT

Share of the associates’ profits and losses FEMREEE AR AFEERE 2,971 =
for the year

Share of the associates’ total comprehensive JE(REE 2 N RIAEE 2,971 =
income for the year FHEINEBEE
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s REERBERARIREZ 44,658 -
investments in associates BREE LR
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19. EFEE
Property management
contracts
NEBTEEN
2017 2016
20174 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBT T

Cost at 1 January, net of accumulated R1ATBRA - Nk RFEHH 38,950 =
amortisation

Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 33) WM B A R) (K77£33) 17,353 41,048
Amortisation during the year (Note 7) NEESE (HiE7) (8,227) (2,098)
At 31 December MW12A31H 48,076 38,950
At 31 December ®12H31H

Cost 7R 58,402 41,048
Accumulated amortisation R (10,326) (2,098)
Net carrying amount AR FHE 48,076 38,950
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B ISR R MY T

31 December 2017
201712 831H

20. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS 20. A#tHE£ERE

2017 2016

201745 20164

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARBET T

Unlisted equity investments (Note a) I LEMARERE (Hfita) 40,045 8,091
Unlisted debt investment (Note b) LM EEIRE (#iEb) 20,000 =
Unlisted financial product (Note c) SEEMEBYMER (Hitc) - 1,300,000
60,045 1,308,091
Non-current portion FEBNERER 1D (60,045) (8,091)
Current portion BNEAER (D = 1,300,000

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

At 31 December 2017, the Group’s unlisted equity
investments with an aggregate carrying amount of
RMB40,045,000 (2016: RMBS8,091,000) was stated at
cost less impairment.

At 31 December 2017, the Group’s unlisted debt
investment with a carrying value of RMB20,000,000
(2016: Nil) was stated at cost less impairment.

At 31 December 2016, the Group’s unlisted financial
product was a principal non-guaranteed financial product
purchased from a bank in the PRC and was redeemable
on demand before 25 June 2020. The financial product
was stated at fair value.

M Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited €t E BEE AR A 7

wit :

(a)

(b)

(c)

R2017F12H31H + A EE KA EAR
B R #40,0450007T (2016 + AR
8,091,0005t) 2 I L IR ER KT IZ
JK A (BB 6 (8 T F1 AR

R2017F12H31H » X EFHFKEFEA
R #20,000,0007T (2016 : #&) = FF_F
TEERE TSR A B B E AR

RO016%F12H31H + X E[3B.2 3 Fil
AT EAR T8 B — BB AR 7T 2 FERAE
HEA R AN [F ] R20209F6 25 H
BiFERTIEEIZ SRR B - ZE2ME
o 3B ESAR



Notes to the Financial Statements
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31 December 2017
201712 A31H

TRADE RECEIVABLES 21. EWEZERX
2017 2016
201745 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Trade receivables EUE Z IR 18,392 12,105
Impairment VERIE! (920) (605)
17,472 11,500

Trade receivables represent sales proceeds in respect of
sold properties, and rental and property management fee
receivables. Sales proceeds in respect of sold properties are
payable by the purchasers pursuant to the terms of the sale
and purchase agreements. Rental and property management
fee receivables are billed in advance and are payable by
tenants/residents upon receipts of billings within an average
credit term of one month.

Under normal circumstances, the Group does not grant
credit terms to its customers. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its outstanding receivables and to minimise
credit risk. Overdue balances are regularly reviewed by
management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact
that the Group’s trade receivables relate to a large number
of diversified customers, there is no significant concentration
of credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances.
Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing and unsecured.

An aging analysis of the trade receivables as at the reporting
date, based on the invoice date and net of provisions, is as
follows:

FEWE 5 BRI E R EM R Z HEMBZ A
REKEESRNEERE SHEMEZH
ERRREERRZGRAE TN - &
WHERMEEREDBELZELERE M
/M EFPRBIIRERSN  FHEERR
—fEA -

EEFERBAT  AEETERETEFRHE
B8 - AEEE RO Z B RGIRRES B IS
ZHRIREFEREEERR - BHIFIARER
EREEHERRN - ER LARERAE
Bz RKREZERFERRETREP - K
SEYEBEEPZEERR - AEELE
IEBWEZRAERFT B EMERRmIE
EEERTA BUESRABIEMER
BRI Z R

MGEBERZERBESZRR (ABRERHR
) RREABZREDMTIT

2017 2016

20174 20164

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREFIT

Within 1 month —@AZA 15,867 8,503
1 to 3 months —Z2=1@AR 158 282
Over 3 months —@AMNUE 1,447 2,715
17,472 11,500
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR R MY T

31 December 2017
201712 831H

21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 21. BRESERX (&)
The movements in provision for impairment of trade FEURE ZERFURERE 2 EFHMT

receivables are as follows:

2017 2016
20174 20164F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBEFTT

At 1 January M1A1H 605 406
Impairment losses recognised (Note 7) ERERREEE (#:27) 715 201
Impairment losses reversed (Note 7) B BIREEE (fi27) (400) (2)
At 31 December M12A31H 920 605
Included in the above provision for impairment of trade FiiEWE SRR AERE S BEN
receivables is a provision for individually impaired trade 85 [ E A A R #920,0007T (20164 : AR
receivables of RMB920,000 (2016: RMB605,000) with a #605,0007T) ZARE HIRFEZ ERE
carrying amount before provision of RMB920,000 (2016: SERFEL 2 BE R #E AR ¥920,0007T
RMB605,000). (2016% : AR#¥605,0007T) °

The individually impaired trade receivables relate to BRI HIRRFE 2 EWE 582 AN E
customers that were in financial difficulties or were in default RS ERNER A NE R
in interest and/or principal payments and the receivables are B s IR FE BN aE U E o

not expected to be recovered.
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21.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 5 ¥R R B o

31 December 2017
201712 A31H

21. EBRESRX (&)

The aging analysis of the trade receivables that are not ERAEREGERNKEBLRBREZEKE S
individually nor collectively considered to be impaired is as R Z BRI DT -
follows:
2017 2016
20174 20164F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETTT

Neither past due nor impaired A R KRB RVE 15,555 8,387
Less than 1 month past due BELR—EAR 558 398
1 to 3 months past due mE—==@A = 840
More than 3 months past due mEA= AL L 1,359 1,875
17,472 11,500
Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate ROBMEAEGRAEZERERSRERLTME
to a large number of diversified customers for whom there BE SR B EAN SRR S04 o
was no recent history of default.
Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate BEERAEREZEWEZVEAEES R
to a number of independent customers that have a good FAEBRS Y2 LB IRE - BRIEBAK
track record with the Group. Based on past experience, the B EEDA ARNEEEEYESEAE
directors of the Company are of the opinion that no provision MEEBES WG ARk E - hEE
for impairment is necessary in respect of these balances as PR e e R B B o

there has not been a significant change in credit quality and
the balances are still considered fully recoverable.
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31 December 2017
201712 831H

22. PREPAYMENTS,
RECEIVABLES

DEPOSITS AND OTHER 22.

BANRIE - REREERRR

2017 2016

20174 20164

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AR®ET T

Other receivables b e W BR X 1,327,448 280,133

Less: Impairment A (6,678) (4,640)

Other receivables, net HAbEURERIR - JF 8 1,320,770 275,493

Loans receivable (Note a) JEUE R (Hfita) 2,102,363 1,107,928
Less: Impairment B ORE

— Individually assessed — (AR E (124,082) (40,685)

— Collectively assessed — S (20,242) (10,563)

Loans receivable, net ERER - FE 1,958,039 1,056,680

Deposits e 1,343,277 94,243

Prepayments TR FRIE 1,166,558 1,667,230

Prepaid other taxes and surcharges (Note b) TR EMBIRRHME (477b) 372,862 110,735

Others HAit 24,625 21,294

6,186,131 3,225,675

Non-current portion FEBNHAEL (2,046,634) (1,837,588)

Current portion BIEAER (D 4,139,497 1,388,087

Except for certain other receivables which are past due and
impaired and certain loans receivable which are impaired,
none of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The
financial assets included in the above balances relate to
receivables for which there was no recent history of default.

Notes:

(a) The amounts represent loans made to customers of
the Group’s micro-financing business. Included in the
balance were bridging loans of RMB484,680,000 (2016:
RMB203,350,000) which were granted to customers
for buying properties developed by a subsidiary of the
Company, an associate, certain fellow subsidiaries and
certain related companies of the Group (2016: certain
fellow subsidiaries and related companies of the Group).

(b) The amounts mainly represent value-added tax, business
tax, other taxes and surcharges prepaid for the sales
deposits received from the pre-sale of properties in the
PRC.

BRETARRHBEREZEMREERRLE
THHEBEZERERN - L EEYER
HIHBRRE - U LR M EETOH
I AR AC 8% 2 B YRR ©

(a) KR TAER|EREXBZE
B o BBEREIIEAE T AR Al B2 A]
FEFHENA] - HETRZNER AR
EFE#E LA (20169 : £ FAEZH
BREIREBFENA]) BTEEYFEZEX
B E A K #484,680,000T (2016
F : AK#203,350,0007T) °

(b) EHEFTEEEEY  REEENYREK
R HERTHABIEM EREY R’
wHE RITIME
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22.

Notes to the Financial Statements

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Other receivables and loans receivable

Except for the following receivables, other receivables are
unsecured, non-interest-bearing and have no fixed terms of
repayment.

(a) An other receivable amounting to RMB150,000,000
(2016: RMB150,000,000) is secured by the equity
share of a PRC property development company. The
receivable is interest-bearing at 120% of the RMB
lending rate offered by the People’s Bank of China
(“PBOC lending rate”) per annum and repayable
within one year.

(b) Other receivables amounting to RMB852,688,000
(2016: Nil) are unsecured, interest-bearing at 4.35%
and have no fixed terms of repayment.

(c) At 31 December 2016, an other receivable amounting
to US$858,000 (equivalent to RMB5,758,000) was
unsecured, interest-bearing at 11% and repayable
within one year.

All loans receivable are interest-bearing at rates ranging from
4.32% to 28.8% (2016: from 5.352% to 29.2%) per annum
with repayment terms from 4 days to 5 years (2016: from
1 month to 3 years). Certain loans receivable amounting
to RMB781,490,000 (2016: RMB315,260,000) are secured
by the other properties of the borrowers or their affiliates,
or rent receivable of their other properties (2016: by the
other properties of the borrowers or their affiliates, or rent
receivable of their other properties), while the remaining
loans receivable are unsecured.

22.

B 5 ¥R R B o

31 December 2017
201712 A31H

BARE - RERHMERERR (&)

L ftb i W PR K 2 B LK R

B Tl 2 FEMRBR RSN - E s RS AR AR T 4K
B REREEERY -

(a)  H b & Y 3k A R %150,000,0007T
(20164 : AR#150,000,0007T)
BEA—XWERE QR ZBREEE
e ZEMEBBURAFEZFEAR
BITARBEERFE ([ATTERKF
K|) EFo0%itERAR—FAE
;;‘%g °

(o)  H ftb & W 3k A R #852,688,000
(20164 : &) VEEA  FIEAEF
FE4.35% K EmETERL -

(c) M2016%F12A31H @ H b fE W K =
J£858,000 (A M A K #5,758,000
JL) B FIEAFR RNk
AR —FRNERE -

FTERWERF B BT FIER432%E28.8%
(20164 : H15.352%%529.2%) N i&Z Hih4
KES5F (2016%F : H1EAE3F) - BrET
e & T A R #781,490,0007T (20164F : A
R#315,260,0007T) MAERASH BB 2 &
fh ) ¥ s Bt 0 3 2 FEAR A € {EHE R (2016
F - RERANERE 2 Hb K E A Y
¥ZRRASERT) 5 BB T EER
Ao
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31 December 2017
201712 831H

22. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 22.
RECEIVABLES (continued)

ANNE  RERAEEYRR (&)

Hitt B RA R ERER (&)
Hofth e Y R R K FE M B R R B B Eh an

Other receivables and loans receivable (continued)

The movements in provisions for impairment of other

receivables and loans receivable are as follows: T
(a)  Other receivables (a)  HEEUERK
2017 2016
20174 20164F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREET T
At 1 January M®1A1H 4,640 2,641
Impairment losses recognised (Note 7) ERERREEE (#i27) 4,854 2,715
Impairment losses reversed (Note 7) B EREEE (A:E7) (2,145) (785)
Amount written off as uncollectible W E8 S AT U Bl & B8 = (20)
Acquisition of subsidiaries U B 88 A /) 161 106
Disposal of subsidiaries B B A A (793) (23)
Exchange realignment HE 5, 58 B (39) 6
At 31 December M®12H31H 6,678 4,640
(b)  Loans receivable (b) EHERX
2017 2016
20178 20165
Individually Collectively Individually  Collectively
assessed  assessed Total assessed assessed Total
BRI KRG ag {ERIEH SR g
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT ARETRT ARETn ARETR AR%T:
At 1 January W1A18 40,685 10,563 51,248 7,727 - 1,121
Impairment losses recognised ERARESSE 83,817 9,679 93,496 34,959 10,563 45,522
(Note 7) (Hi#7)
Amount written off as uncollectible M AAIKELE (420) - (420) (2,001) - (2,001)
At 31 December 128318 124,082 20,242 144,324 40,685 10,563 51,248
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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31 December 2017
201712 A31H

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 22. FEfNRE - BE&RHEMEWERR (£)
RECEIVABLES (continued)
Other receivables and loans receivable (continued) HtEWRRREWER (&)
Included in the above provision for impairment are a provision TR ERERRERBFEINREEAARE
for individually unsecured impaired other receivables of 6,678,0007T (20164 : A K #4,640,000
RMB6,678,000 (2016: RMB4,640,000) with a carrying amount 70) 2 B R AR A 4 B WAR TR 2
before provision of RMB6,678,000 (2016: RMB4,640,000) BE B B A R #6,678,0007T (20167 :
and a provision for individually impaired loans receivable AR #4,640,0007T) KRB ERN KA EA
of RMB124,082,000 (2016: RMB40,685,000) with a carrying A R ¥464,188,0007T (20164F : A R ¥
amount before provision of RMB464,188,000 (2016: 79,693,0007T) 2 & B FE 42 B Fk P 2
RMB79,693,000). B A R #124,082,0007T (20164 : A
R #40,685,0007T) °
Except as disclosed above, the Group does not hold any Fr DA EBEERAN - RS B0 M B 5% 5 H fh FE UK
collateral or other credit enhancements over the balances IR REWNE RS A W E R Mk
of other receivables and loans receivable. HMEEEATA -
The aging analysis of the other receivables and loans WAR AR B R S 5 B8 K IR R (E 2 H B U
receivable that are not individually nor collectively considered BRRREWERZRRATAT -
to be impaired is as follows:
2017 2016
20178 20165
Other Other
receivables Loans receivables Loans
Hftt  receivable Total Hft  receivable Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBTT ARETR ARETT AR%Tn ARETR
Nelther past due nor impaired KOBRAHAE 1209188 890430 2189618 267378 441510 708,888
Less than 1 month past due nHOR—EA 10,500 - 10,500 2,211 = 2,211
2 t0 3 months past due BHERZE=AR 72 - 72 559 = 559
More than 3 months past due BE=FANE 11,010 - 11,010 5,345 = 5,345
1,320,770 890,430 2,211,200 275,493 441,510 717,003
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B ISR R MY T

31 December 2017
201712 831H

22.

23.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Other receivables and loans receivable (continued)

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate
to a large number of diversified parties for whom there was
no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of independent parties that have a good track record
with the Group. Based on past experience, the Directors are
of the opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary in
respect of these balances as there has not been a significant
change in credit quality and the balances are still considered
fully recoverable.

RESTRICTED CASH, DEPOSITS, BANK AND
CASH BALANCES

22.

23.

ANNE RERAEEYRR (&)

Hitt B RA R ERER (&)

ARBRARREREZEBBREET S RAETR
AL ZFEADIRLEARCE -

BHERAREZREERDERAEEER
HEBERLHEZZEBIAL - REBEL
B EFRA AN EEERYEEAED
mEBBERDEE /R BBKRE - MBA
Shk F SR IE LB E B

TRERE - FR > RITRREER

2017 2016

20174 20164

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBEFTT

Cash and bank balances (Note a) Re RIRTTEEER (Fita) 6,237,149 2,958,392
Time deposits (Note a) TEHER (Hita) 314,171 192,686
6,551,320 3,151,078

Less: Restricted cash (Note b) B XREIRE (Batb) (1,155,555) (258,110)
5,395,765 2,892,968
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23.

Notes to the Financial Statements

RESTRICTED CASH, DEPOSITS, BANK AND
CASH BALANCES (continued)

Notes:

(a) Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based
on daily bank deposit rates. Time deposits are made
for varying periods of between one day and one year
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the
Group, and earn interest at the respective time deposit
rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy
banks with no recent history of default.

(b) The amounts mainly represent guarantee deposits
placed with designated bank accounts amounting to
approximately RMBG61,844,000 (2016: approximately
RMB61,841,000) for construction projects undertaken
by certain property development companies of the
Group and proceeds received from sale of properties
in the PRC amounting to RMB1,093,649,000 (2016:
RMB195,807,000) which are confined to the usage of
construction work.

(c) At the end of the reporting period, deposits, bank and
cash balances of the Group denominated in RMB, HK$,
United States dollars (“US$”) and Euro amounted to
RMB6, 153,498,000, RMB226,906,000, RMB 170,912,000
and RMB4,000, respectively (2016: RMB, HK$ and
US$ amounted to RMB2,932,007,000, RMBZ26,655,000
and RMB192,416,000, respectively). The RMB is not
freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted
to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

23.

B 5 ¥R R B o

31 December 2017
201712 A31H

FREIRES - ER ROTERRESER
(&)

(a)  RITABZIRTE A FAFEZFEF
K8 o FHFEAFHHTE » B —
RE—FTE  BFFEEEZLZFRH
HeFEE - WKIFH 2 ER 7T
K8 o RITHRR 7 R AL I AEAE 4T
FOER A 5B RAFZIRTT »

(b) BELHEFTEELIEFBETYEZE
RAIFEZTRMFEAZREZ LA
K #61,844,0007T (20164 = #) A &
#61,841,0007T) K i = R & A R
BETELFZEAYEL EREFIA
B #1,093,649,000 (20167F : A &R ¥
195,807,000) °

(c) RFEHKL FEBZARE B
2T ([Er)) RE T 75 - RiTRE
= 2B B A A K 6, 153,498,000
T A K #226,906,0005T - A B
#170,912,000r Xk A K #4,000T
(2016F : ARW - BHMRET S
A A K 829320070007 - A K ¥
26,655,0007T K A & #192,416,000
TL) e AR TEEE B E B EME
M R IRIE A B A BESN E BRI
FIAEIE - EER(TEEREM T - KEH
A BB T TTOMNE RS Z R7T - 4
AR 1B BRMEN -
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31 December 2017
201712 831H

24. ISSUED CAPITAL
(a) Authorised and issued capital

Details of the changes in the Company’s authorised

24, BRITRHRE
(a) ZEEREBRITERA
AREEE REBITRA 2 NEE LA

and issued capital between the beginning and the REBHIWT
end of the year are set out below:
Company
NG|
2017 2016
20175 2016%
Equivalent Equivalent
to to
Number of RMB’000 Number of RMB’000
shares  HK$000 RER shares  HK$'000 RER
ROBE #%Tr ARETR ktr&E  AETT ARETR
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each ~ E£EREMER0.107T
Authorised: BE
At 1 January W1A18 40,000,000,000 4,000,000 20,000,000,000 2,000,000
Increase in authorised capital (i) — EALATERA() - - 20,000,000,000 2,000,000
At 31 December #M2A31A 40,000,000,000 4,000,000 40,000,000,000 4,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEARAR:
At 1 January M A1R 15,793,467,827 1,579,347 1,432,193 15,793,467,827 1,579,347 1,432,193
Issue of new shares on exercise  {T{F EIRIEMETT 68,256,000 6,825 5,960 - - -
of share options (ii) AR (i)
At 31 December #M2A31R 15,861,723,827 1,586,172 1,438,153 15793467,827 1,579,347 1,432,193
0 Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed (i) AREIRER2016F2 H29H
by the shareholders of the Company on R —IBTWAESR - BRI
29 February 2016, the authorised share hn & 4~20,000,000,0000%
capital of the Company was increased from Hﬁﬁ1§§%%0.10ﬁ2$@ﬁj$
HK$2,000,000,000 to HK$4,000,000,000 by the BITRRAD - LSRR RERE
creation of additional 20,000,000,000 unissued A& 7 - /B 7% %2,000,000,000
shares of the Company of HK$0.10 each, JT #% % & %4,000,000,000
ranking pari passu in all respects with the JC - FTERGOHEAARRER
existing shares of the Company. MESHHZER S °
(i) During the vyear, the subscription rights (ii) 5,820,000 * 536,00017 &

attaching to 5,820,000, 536,000 and
61,900,000 share options were exercised at
an exercise price of HK$0.55, HK$0.792 and
HK$0.44 per share respectively and resulting
in the issue of a total of 68,256,000 new shares
of the Company at a nominal value of HK$0.10
each for a total cash consideration, before
expenses, of HK$30,861,512 (equivalent to
RMB26,947,000). The proceeds from the
exercise of share options would be applied
for general working capital of the Group.

m Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited €t E BEE AR A 7

61,900,00019 §8 A% & Fir b} %5
ZEBRERFEARNE »RIETT
FEFIBEE0S5T - B
0.7927T & 7 ®0.447T % 17
£ » I Ft 1tk 2% 768,256,000
A% 5 B B 8 80,10 2 A
NEFTRG - BIReNRE (30
BB SR A7E¥30,861,512
7T (FHER AR #26,947,000
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31 December 2017
201712 A31H

24. ISSUED CAPITAL (continued) 24. BEBRITREX (&)
(b)  Share option schemes (b) ERESTE
A summary of the share option schemes of the AARERESEMESNFRPE
Company are set out in the section headed “Share SRS [ERETE] —fR-H
Option Schemes” in the Directors’ Report of the annual REREHERE—FESRB - At
report. No share-based compensation expenses were AR B N S AR 5 B R AR
recognised by the Group arising from options vested FEEZROMEHAT (20164 © A
during the year (2016: RMB18,301,000) as all share K #18,301,0007T) °

options were vested in the prior year.

(i) Movements (i) e
Movements in the number of share options FRBAITEBRECEE &
outstanding and their related weighted #E 2 EEMETHTEEZ
average exercise prices during the year are BET
as follows:
2017 2016
20174 20165
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise exercise
price price
per share per share
SR ME Number of Sk Number of
FATER share THIEE share
HK$ options HK$ options
il BREHR B BREZE
At 1 January M1A18 0.6014 1,057,053,000 0.6000  1,078,574,000
Exercised e 0.4521 (68,256,000) - -
Lapsed E3 0.7390  (29,911,000) 05270 (21,521,000)
At 31 December R12A318 0.6078 958,886,000 0.6014  1,057,053,000
At the end of the reporting period, out of the 958,886,00017 (20164 :
958,886,000 (2016: 1,057,053,000) outstanding 1,057,053,0001%) & & 17 f#
options, 958,886,000 share options (2016: ZHEREFR  RREBARE
1,057,053,000) were exercisable. 958,886,0001) (20164 :

1,057,053,00017) A] 17 {& M
W RATE 2 FEARAE
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31 December 2017
201712 831H

24. ISSUED CAPITAL (continued) 24. BEBITREX (&)
(b)  Share option schemes (continued) (b) EBRERTE (Z)
(i)  Exercise prices and vesting schedules (i)  1TEERRBRMERE
The exercise prices and exercise periods of RERE R R ARITEBREZ
the share options outstanding as at the end of TTEERITEREBT -

the reporting period are as follows:

2017 2016

2017% 20165
Exercise price Number of Exercise price Number of
T8 share 1B share
Date of grant Exercise period (Note) HK$ options HK$ options
RHAH T8 (1) B BREHE B BhREHA
07/01/2013 07/01/2014 - 06/01/2023 0.550 138,220,000 0.550 148,700,000
20/05/2013 20/05/2014 - 19/05/2023 0.792 413,866,000 0.792 438,353,000
29/12/2014 29/12/2015 - 28/12/2024 0.440 406,800,000 0.440 470,000,000
958,886,000 1,057,053,000
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31 December 2017
2017%12H31H

24. ISSUED CAPITAL (continued) 24, BERITREX (&)
(b)  Share option schemes (continued) (b) EBREE (&)
(i)  Exercise prices and vesting schedules (i) (IEEREBREE (&)
(continued)
Note: Bia -
Percentage of
shares over
which a share
option is
exercisable
T RBRE
HHYRE G
Vesting schedule for share options granted in year 2013 ZEAR
R20135RY ZBREZEBIFE#* %
Before the first anniversary of the date of grant RiAHZ —HER 0
On or after the first but before the second R AE.Z —BF22 % EmEFF 40
anniversary of the date of grant
On or after the second but before the third R A WEFRZ #16 =HFFT 30
anniversary of the date of grant
On or after the third anniversary of the date of grant ~ #4 HHZ =HEH 2 1# 30
Percentage of
shares over
which a share
option is
exercisable
T RERE
LY RE G
Vesting schedule for share options granted in year 2014 ZEAHE
R014EREZERBEZEBREZ* %
Before the first anniversary of the date of grant R AHZ —BFA 0
On or after the first but before the second R A2 —BFSZ #EmEFR 50
anniversary of the date of grant
On or after the second anniversary of the date of grant /4 FH.Z FHEEL 2 4 50

In relation to the share options, if the participant,

RIBREME  W2EER L

during any of the periods specified above, has
not exercised his options, or exercises the options
for such number of shares which, in aggregate,
represents less than the number of shares for
which the participant may exercise in respect of
such period, the balance of the options for which
the participant could have exercised (but did not
exercise) in that period shall be carried forward
and added to the number of options which the
participant may exercise in the next succeeding
period or periods as set out in the relevant offer
letter.

(5] 76 7E B fE 1] 7K 77 (2 i AR
B HETRZBRENSR
ZERDEA BRI RBEE
FEZFE AT 77 (2 BB IR P I
ZRDEE  RIZHERZH
AT 77 1€ 7 15 R 7T 18,2 FE AR #E
BRI A PE R AR B E R
1EER H ZR R AT Z T
—(ERE 1% AT 7T (2 AE R #E Z H AT
A e
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25.

26.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 114
to 115 of the annual report.

The merger reserves of the Group represent the differences
between the nominal value of the aggregate share capital
of subsidiaries acquired and the nominal value of the share
capital of the Company issued in exchange therefor pursuant
to the business combination taking place on 29 October
2013.

TRADE PAYABLES

An aging analysis of the trade payables as at the reporting
date, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

25.

26.

e

AEE RESERERAFER FFEY
SHHIINEREIEEESE 2GR
REBE -

RNEBEHHREH DR WENE AR 2 8RR~
HEEANR A R2013F108298 34 2 ¥
BAEMPARBHBARMBETZRAEE
ZEEE o

FEfY B 5 BRK

BNESERXR(LNEREAHR/E) RESH
B2 BRI DT AT -

2017 2016
20174 20164

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T AREFIT

Within 1 month —@AZA 1,237,830 1,433,849
1 to 3 months —Z={@A 76,524 255,809
Over 3 months “EAMULE 223,018 94,086
1,537,372 1,783,744

Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally
settled within an average term of one month.
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ADVANCED RECEIPTS, ACCRUALS AND OTHER 27. FEWFUIE » EitiRIRER HME(SER

PAYABLES A

2017 2016
20174 20164F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETTT
Sales deposits received BENHEERS 13,937,016 3,297,201
Advanced rental receipts TR A € IR 37,771 28,768
Deferred income (Note 40(a)(i)) BIEW A (HT5E40(a)(i) 10,251 12,209
Rental and other deposits received Bl REvIES 103,717 88,791
Accrued expenses fEstiREH 190,651 131,317
Other payables H fth AT BR 3R 357,922 791,345
14,637,328 4,349,631
Other payables are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and HiFEMEEZ EEIT - o RERETIBEH
have no fixed terms of repayment (2016: Except for an B (2016F : B —ZEHMENEZIARK
other payable amounting to RMB513,294,000 which was 513,294,000 =K 30 « F| B & E F &10%
unsecured, interest-bearing at 10% per annum and has no N E TS HI AN - HAth E A BR 2R T 4E IR

fixed terms of repayment, other payables were unsecured, W B RERETIEHE) -

non-interest-bearing and had no fixed terms of repayment).
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28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 28. MERITREMEN
BORROWINGS
2017 2016
20175 2016%
Effective Maturity Effective Maturity
annual  (Financial annual  (Financial
interest year) interest year)
rate (%) E#  RMB’000 rate (%) 2% RMB000
ERERE%) (AHEE) ARETR ERENX%) GIBREFE) ARETR
Current i)
Bank borrowings RITER
- Unsecured (Note a) —BER (fiia) 3.10-4.33 2018 1,085,600 2.51~6.09 2017 613,368
Current portion of long REEMER
term other borrowings ki)
- Secured (Note b) - BEA (HHb) 4.025 2018 1,957 4.025 2017 1,995
1,087,557 615,363
Non-current *r8
Bank borrowings FIER
- Unsecured — iR 3.34 2019 161,395 = = =
Other borrowings EER
- Secured (Note b) - BEM (Hib) 3.37-4.025  2021-2024 307,804 4.005 2001 114,989
469,199 114,989
1,556,756 730,352
Notes: Hiat
(a) A fellow subsidiary of the Company has guaranteed (a)  RERK  ARARIRWBLAIRA
certain of the Group’s bank borrowings up to EEFE FRITEMIEHER  LRBA
RMB326,710,000 as at the end of the reporting period K #:326,710,0007T (20164 : A K& B
(2016: RMB362,220,000). 362,220,0007T) °
(b) The other borrowings are secured by the Group’s (b) EBMEXHLEECREEZKEY

investment property and property held for sale situated
in the US with carrying values of RMB196,745,000 and
RMB303,918,000 respectively at the end of the reporting
period (2016: investment property of RMB183,969,000).

K #183,969,0005T) °

m Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited €t E BEE AR A 7
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INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 28. KMiEf{TREMER (&2)
BORROWINGS (continued)

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings are repayable FEEBHERTREMERMT -
as follows:
2017 2016
20174 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBET T

Within one year or on demand R—F A IZEREEE 1,087,557 615,363

In the second year RE_FR 163,434 2,078

In the third to fifth years, inclusive RE=FZFRFNAN - 115,632 112,911

BEERME

Over five years HFEU E 190,133 =
1,556,756 730,352

The carrying amounts of interest-bearing bank and other RIpEEE - [EETREMERZERE

borrowings at the reporting date were denominated in the AT S8R -

following currencies:

2017 2016
201745 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBT T

RMB AR - 10,000
HK$ B 758,890 464,628
USs$ E7T 797,866 255,724

1,556,756 730,352
100% (2016: 100%) of interest-bearing bank borrowings and 100% (20164 : 100%) M B SR 1ITE R K
65% (2016: Nil) of interest-bearing other borrowings of the 65% (20164 : &) MEHMERIIRED
Group are at floating rate basis. The remaining 35% (2016: =B » 8T735% (20164 : 100%) Ff 8
100%) of interest-bearing other borrowings is at fixed rate of Hin BRI EEFF%4.025% (20165 -
4.025% (2016: 4.025%) per annum. 4.025%) 78 °
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29. LOANS TO/(FROM) RELATED PARTIES 29. W (FER) BEHFER
2017 2016
20174 20164
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETT ARBEFTT
Loans to joint ventures (Note a) & ERRER (Kita) 973,397 1,210,892
Loan to an associate (Note b) FEYLEE & A RIER (Hatb) 588,078 =
Loans to related companies (Note c) e B AR E R (Kitc) 370,000 1,150,000
Loans to non-controlling shareholders (Note d)  FEURIEIEIRIR &3k (Hatd) 41,377 =
1,072,852 2,360,892
Loans from the ultimate holding company (Note e) EfI &R AR E 3 (Kiite) (5,240,113)  (7,272,123)
Loans from a fellow subsidiary (Note f) FERTRI R B A TIEH (H52f) (2,593,722) (2,108,573)
Loans from a non-controlling shareholder (Note g) FES 3EERRIREE X (H17Zg) - (53,010)
Loans from joint ventures (Note h) R A&ERRER (Kith) (154,000) (60,000)
(7,987,835) (9,493,706)

Notes:

(a)

The balances are denominated in RMB and US$
amounting to RMB772,202,000 and RMB201,195,000
(2016: RMB1,033,367,000 and RMB177,5625,000),
respectively. The balances denominated in RMB are
unsecured, interest-bearing at rates ranging from 4.35%
to 12% (2016: 4.9% to 12%) per annum and repayable
within one year (2016: within one year) except for a
loan of RMB25,000,000 (2016: RMB25,000,000) which
is secured by the joint venture partner’s equity interests
in the joint venture, interest-bearing at 4.9% per annum
(2016: PBOC lending rate) and repayable within four
years (2016: within five years). The balance denominated
in US$ is unsecured, interest-bearing at 11% (2016: 11%)
per annum and repayable within one year (2016: within
one year).

m Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited €t E BEE AR A 7

(a)

ZERBIEARBERE T LK

>l B A K #7722020007T K
AE#201,195,0007T (20164F - A RH
1,033,367,0007T & A & #177,525,000
L) e BARKTRZ ikf Hih—%F
B A K #25,000,0007T (20164 -

AR #25,000,000) f& &R a1EES
BRRZE SN HZREERF

T8 B F F F£4.9% (2016F : A 7T
BHFEE) RARAERN (2016
F:AFER) BE RBBERF F
Fll F #14.35%F12% (2016%F : 4.9%
212%) R AR —F A (2016%F - —
FR) (BE - HETRZ 0TI HE
A FIE 3 EFIFE11% (20164 -

11%) R BAR —F X (2016%F - —4F
A) (B3 °



29.

Notes to the Financial Statements

LOANS TO/(FROM) RELATED PARTIES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b) The balance is unsecured, interest-free and not repayable
within one years. The balance is denominated in US$. In
the opinion of the Directors, the balance is considered
as quasi-equity loan to an associate.

(c) The related companies are subsidiaries of a substantial
shareholder of one of the non-wholly-owned subsidiaries
of the Company. The balances are unsecured,
interest-bearing at the PBOC lending rate (2016: PBOC
lending rate) and repayable within one year (2016:
one year). The balances are denominated in RMB. The
carrying amounts of the balances approximate to their
fair values.

(d) The balances are denominated in RMB and US$
amounting to RMBZ20,000,000 and RMB21,377,000
respectively. The balances are unsecured and repayable
within one year. The balance denominated in RMB is
interest-bearing at the RMB deposit rate offered by the
People’s Bank of China (“PBOC deposit rate”) and the
balances denominated in US$ are interest-bearing at
4% per annum. The carrying amounts of the balances
approximate to their fair values.

(e) The balances are unsecured, interest-bearing at the PBOC
lending rate (2016: PBOC lending rate) and repayable
within one year. The balances are denominated in RMB.
The carrying amounts of the balances approximate to
their fair values.

(f) The balances are unsecured, interest-bearing at 4.31%
(2016: 4%) per annum and repayable within two years
(2016: within one year). The balances are denominated
in HK$.

(g) In the prior year, except for loans with an aggregate
amount of RMBZ26,594,000 which were unsecured,
interest-bearing at the PBOC lending rate and repayable
within one year, the balances were unsecured,
interest-bearing at rates ranging from 4.85% to 10% per
annum and repayable within one year. The balances
were denominated in RMB. The carrying amounts of the
balances approximated to their fair values.

(h) The balances are unsecured, interest-bearing at
the PBOC deposit rate (2016: 0.3% per annum) and
have no fixed terms of repayment. The balances are
denominated in RMB. The carrying amounts of the
balances approximate to their fair values.

29.
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31 December 2017
2017%12H31H

W () BESER (&
Mgt : (%)

(b)  BRABRTAELN  BEREAR—FA
B8 ° B IEETER - BEERRA
BRI RBEWH LR ATERREZE

E>
e

(c) EEFERADARAAES —FHLE
WERFZ —ELBRRZMELA -
BRTEBIT  FBRATEAFE
(2016 - ATTRHFE) 7 ERAR
—FRA (2016F - —FA) B - ZF
FAPR RN R MGRR o A5 A RR ET (EH2E 20
AIEEE -

(d) BZERBEANRERETZE 7
Bl B A E #20,000,000T & A R #&
21,377,0007T ° iZ S5 BER AR
BR—FRXEE - A REERZ A8
F B 1 B A RIR7T A K 17 3 Fi| K
(TATTTEHFIE)) 75 - miEETT
BRZ BT E BFFFEA% o ZERARIE
EHEED D ERE -

(e)  EREHBTELRI  FIBEBATER
FIE (2016%F - ATTEHFE) 7 E R
BR—FRNER - ZEEHFEARET
A BEAREEEE L ERE -

(f) BREBBERAF FERFEFE
4.31% (20164 : 4%) [ B R FE A
(2016%F « —F ) (B - ZFLHE
JEMEOER -

(99 RE—FEF BEABEEEARE
26,594,0000)3 FEH IR - F| BIZATTE
AR RS ERAR—FREES)  #
BRI - FEBFFEH485%%F
10%REBR—FRNIIEE - ZELBHE
AR - B REEER D 7 EH

4+

EO

(h)  EZEBEBTEER - FEBEATTESLT
(20165 « BFEFF0.3%) KAELRE
BN - ZERBIEA R B8
AREEEE L 7 EIAE
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31 December 2017
201712 831H

30. DUE FROM/(TO) RELATED PARTIES 30. FEW (ER) BESRE
The amounts due from/(to) related parties are unsecured, fEN (FERD) BB R RETVERR 28R
interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment. The EETERS ZEEHZEAEREQA
carrying amounts of these balances approximate to their BEiRE
fair values.
At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of REERR - BEER 2 ERREERNAT
the balances with related parties were denominated in the BHGEER o

following currencies.

2017 2016
2175 2016F
Denominated in Denominated in
THREBR LHEEER
HKS RMB Us$ Total HK$ RMB US$ Total

BN N xR #E ok ARK e BE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMBO00  RMB000  RMBOO0  RMB'000
ARBTR ARRTR ARWTR ARBTR ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARETR

Due from the ultimate holding &R A BI50E - - - - - 27 - 27
company

Due from fellow subsidiaries JﬂEU&ﬂ?WEQﬂ?A’Iﬁ - 4,807 61 4,958 - 2,668 - 2,668

Due from joint ventures A EDAY 3,659 114,909 9,134 127,702 - 8,508 7,145 15,653

Due from associates B ERANE - - - - = 4,919 = 4919

Due from non-controlling J‘EWFWXHX?EM = 186,371 26,281 212,652 = 9,392 39,118 48510
shareholders

Due from related companies  [EIREE A A58 = 564 = 564 1,580 = 1,580

Due to the ultimate holding R SEERATZE - (2,723) = (2,723) = (73,328) = (73,328)
company

Due to fellow subsidiaries  [ETEZMH B A F7IE (9,905) (71,6000  (38,653)  (120,158) 9 (57,260) (207) (57 476)

Due to joint ventures ENEERTNE - (1,856,269) - (1,856,269) - (1181,231) - (1,181,231)

Due to associates ﬂ‘gﬁﬂ‘#%ﬁa‘]fﬂa - (10,000) - (10,000) - (2,242) - (2 242)

Due to non-controlling TSR RIR R 51 - (30,516)  (69,514)  (100,030) - (1,600)  (73800)  (75,400)
shareholders

Dug to a related company [ BEAAIFIE - (2,760) - (2,760) - (1,046) = (1,046)
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31. DEFERRED TAX 31. EZEBIE
The movements of deferred tax liabilities during the year are BLEBEBERERN 2 ZEHT
as follows:
Fair value

Depreciation  adjustments

allowance  arising from

in excess acquisition of

of related  subsidiaries

Revaluation  depreciation ~WEEMEAT  Withholding

of properties nEEHE E%2Z income taxes Total
EffYX  ARMFEE  AAERE BNAEH 2
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARET ARET T ARET T ARET T

At 1 January 2017 R2017E1R 1A 704,895 42,723 9,737 21,196 778,551
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to the RERRRIG /GEA) 135,606 7,978 (2,057) 88,962 230,489
statement of profit or loss (Note 8) ZBIERIE (F1i28)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 33) WENB AR (#:£33) - - 4,338 - 4,338
Exchange realignment e (2,274) - - - (2,274)
At 31 December 2017 120174128318 838,227 50,701 12,018 110,158 1,011,104
At 1 January 2016 #2016E1A1H 659,429 34,573 - 28,451 722,453
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to the REBERNIG /(GIA) 42,547 8,150 (525) (7,249) 42,923
statement of profit or loss (Note 8) LERRE (F1i28)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 33) WEWRBAR (H:#33) - = 10,262 = 10,262
Exchange realignment 5 HE 2,919 = = (6) 2,913
At 31 December 2016 B2016F128318 704,895 42,723 9,737 21,196 778,551
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31 December 2017
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31. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 31. EEBIE (&)
The movements of deferred tax assets during the year are BEBIEEERFRN 2 #EHT
as follows:
Tax losses Provision Provision
and others  for receivables for LAT
HEEE JE Y B 5% AR Total
Rt AERS THIEER ag
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARBT T ARBT T ARBTT

At 1 January 2017 1201741 A1H 88,938 10,519 340,124 439,581
Deferred tax credited to the statement RERRAFALZ 77,919 20,939 75,247 174,105
of profit or loss (Note 8) ERERIE (H#8)
Acaquisition of subsidiaries (Note 34) WEBH BN Al (#/i234) - 40 - 40
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 35) HERBAR (Hz35) (7,797) = = (7,797)
At 31 December 2017 12017%12A31A 159,060 31,498 415,371 605,929
At 1 January 2016 1201651 A1H 70,937 245 119,390 190,572
Deferred tax credited to the statement RERRNGTAZ 18,215 10,274 220,734 249,223
of profit or loss (Note 8) BRBE (Hi8)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 35) HENBAR (#:735) (214) = = (214)
At 31 December 2016 12016%12A31A 88,938 10,519 340,124 439,581
For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and ETEREBIBEERABRRGEMBRAE
liabilities have been offset in the consolidated statement of ERFEDEMEEE - UTAAREBIELEFRIE
financial position. The following is an analysis of the deferred REBIETBRE2HRA RN 2T

tax balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes:

2017 2016
201745 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBET T

Net deferred tax assets recognised in the RERE T BARNKRIER Z 554,852 386,655
consolidated statement of financial position RIERRIEE EF5

Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the \,ﬁv?/.:\lﬁﬁ%ﬂiixﬂi‘%ﬁﬁwﬂz (960,027) (725,625)
consolidated statement of financial position FEIER BB E S5

(405,175) (338,970)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

DEFERRED TAX (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had tax
losses arising in Hong Kong of RMB426,744,000 (2016:
RMB445,608,000) that are available indefinitely for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which
the losses arose, tax losses arising in Mainland China of
RMB725,318,000 (2016: RMB396,223,000) which will expire
within five years, and tax losses arising in the United States of
RMB115,540,000 (2016: RMB52,990,000) which are allowed to
carry forward for twenty years for offsetting against future taxable
profits of the companies in which the losses arose. Deferred
tax assets in respect of tax losses of RMB426,744,000 (2016:
RMB445,608,000), RMB55,615,000 (2016: RMB40,470,000)
and RMB115,540,000 (2016: RMB52,990,000) arising in Hong
Kong, Mainland China and the United States, respectively, have
not been recognised as they have arisen in subsidiaries that
have been loss-making for some time and it is not considered
probable that taxable profits will be available against which the
tax losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1 January
2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The
Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland
China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 December 2017, no deferred tax has been recognised
for withholding taxes that would be payable on certain of the
unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the
Group’s subsidiaries and joint ventures established in Mainland
China. In the opinion of the Directors, it is not probable that these
subsidiaries and joint ventures will distribute such earnings in
the foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and joint
ventures in Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities have
not been recognised was RMB175,991,000 at 31 December
2017 (2016: RMB205,266,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

31.

B 5 ¥R R B o

31 December 2017
2017%12H31H

ELEHR A (&)

RIBEIR - REERBBEE ZHIEEE
B AN R #426,744,0007C (20165 : A R #&
445,608,0007T) * AIER AR EZ S EES
B2z ARIBRERBE N RPBRABEES
2 BIEEE A REE725,318,0007T (20164 :
AR #396,223,0007T) &R AFRE B RN
EEELA ZHIEEEAR115,540,0007T
(20164 : AR¥52,990,0007T) @ AJ R =+
FRAEEZSEEEBBZ AR BEERTR
e AEBMOFNERS PRAERERE
2 RERMIBEBE R ARE426,744,0007T
(20164F = A R #445,608,0007T) ~ A R#
55,615,000 (20164 : A K #40,470,000
7T) R AE#115,540,0007T (20164F : AR
#52 990,0007T) * WTVHRZEMBARE
BEZK  BWRABTARUESELERMN
wm A A2 EHIEEE - MASERZ
ERIEEBERREZBERBEE -

BIEPECEMBHE - RARBAERTL 2
INEIRECERIEREESTRZBBAR
10% B W FE B o it 3R F 200851 A1H
AR YWERMN2007E12A31R K 2 A
F o R BEARPESEINRIZEE 2 A EERR
FEIEBEF BT - BIREERARK 2 BN/
Lo RAEEME - HAMEAS5%H10% °
Hitt - REBMABEEFAR P BERRER 2 %
LB A RIAR2008F 1 A1 BHEELS 2 BFIFT
DR Z % B TEIR o

R2017F12A318 - ZEB G ERFRE KX
BERZHBARI A E AR ABREN
MeaTRELRNAREBABENTAEH
REHE - ZEERE ZEHBARREE
ERAIRAR RS IREBRELETZ
He T K R2017F12A831H * R E X
BER Y 2B AR REERRZIREMEL
CAERELHEABE 2 R EES
B AR #175,991,0007T (20164 : AR ¥
205,266,0007T) °

AR DRI T HE R R PS5

2248
=
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32. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL 32.

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries, namely Supreme Asia
Investments Limited (“SAl”) and its subsidiary, Shanghai
Zhongjun Real Estate Development Co., Ltd., that have
material non-controlling interests are set out below:

BERFERRREBZHFZEWE
NG
BEEARERERREGZASENEBER
A]Supreme Asia Investments Limited
([SAID) REME DT (L8 EE R it & 5
BEHRNA) FEHFIOT

SAl and its subsidiary
SAIR EHff B2 7

2017 2016

20174 20164

Percentage of equity interest held by EIERBRERIFTE 2 43.26% 43.26%
non-controlling interests Em Ao

2017 2016

20174 20164

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T AR®ET T

Accumulated balances of non-controlling JEE IR R RN RER 2 1,153,386 1,395,063

interests at the reporting date R

Profit for the year allocated to non-controlling S H2 T IR IR R 2> 94,865 628,205

interests NFE )

m Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited €t E BEE AR A 7
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PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL 32. BEAFERBRREDZZIEZEWE

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued) YNCINE=P)
The following tables illustrate the summarised financial LR AR M ERBERINNT - 5
information of the above subsidiaries. The amounts disclosed PR ESEWANGER QR EZ 3 :

are before any inter-company eliminations:

SAl and its subsidiary
SAIR HI B A A

2017 2016
20174 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BT T ARBET T

Current assets MEVEE 7,318,657 6,331,577
Non-current assets ERBEE 295,978 290,615
Current liabilities mEBE (5,003,711) (3,377,947)
Revenue and other income WA R E A YA 1,106,022 4,655,224
Total expenses BRMEE (987,417) (3,257,315)
Profit for the year ANE EF) 118,605 1,397,909
Total comprehensive income for the year AEEEEK=EE 107,412 1,405,523
Net cash from operating activities KEXGBHReREFHE 1,473,674 2,296,601
Net cash from/(used in) investing activities BB EBE /(FT#E) 1,359,983 (741,556)
ReREFHE
Net cash used in financing activities RMEEFFIRER e REFHE (738,456) (375,027)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net  SJMNETERE ) 2 £ - B8 (5,370) (239)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents ReEMRESFHBHEBZ 2,089,831 1,179,779
R
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33.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

The Group acquired one company in Mainland China in
the current year for the expansion of property management
business and three companies in Mainland China in the prior
year for the expansion of property management and leasing
businesses. Details of the acquisitions are as follows:

A wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered into a
sale and purchase agreement and a supplementary sale and
purchase agreement in August 2016 and in December 2016
respectively with two independent third parties to acquire
a 90% interest in the shares of L/BEGMEEIEER AR
(Shanghai Yungi Property Management Limited*) (“Yunqi”)
at an aggregate cash consideration of RMB11,857,000.
The acquisition was completed in January 2017. Yunqi is
engaged in property management in Mainland China.

On 2 August 2016, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement with
six independent third parties to acquire a 100% interest in the
shares of VEMETREMEBTEBREE AT (Wuhan City
Meihao Jiayuan Property Management Limited*) (“Meihao
Jiayuan”) at a consideration of RMB19,000,000. Meihao
Jiayuan is engaged in property management in Mainland
China.

On 4 August 2016, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement
with three independent third parties to acquire a 90%
WRSHYERBER AR
(Shandong Kairui Property Management Limited*) (“Kairui”)
at a consideration of RMB24,750,000. Kairui is engaged in
property management in Mainland China.

interest in the shares of

On 8 August 2016, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement with
an independent third party to acquire a 100% interest in the
shares of Key Dragon Holdings Limited (“Key Dragon”) at
a consideration of RMB110,500,000. The acquisition was
completed in October 2016. Key Dragon is engaged in
investment holding of certain joint ventures whose principal
activity is property leasing in Mainland China.

* For identification purposes only
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LR IRMERBER AR ([813k]) &
7 290%H &= + KB B A R #24,750,000
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33.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued) 33.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
acquired companies as at the dates of acquisitions are as

follows:

Notes to the Financial Statements
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31 December 2017
201712 A31H

EBas (F)

RWER  RUEBLRZARNEERBE
DAEWT

Fair value recognised on acquisition

RUEEIZALE
2017 2016
20174 20164
Meihao Key
Yunqi Jiayuan Kairui Dragon
=4 EHRE G fe-
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETT ARETT ARBTT
Property, plant and machinery ME - BENER 147 144 874 -
Investments in joint ventures REERAIRE - - - 110,500
Property management contracts MEBREHL 17,353 18,068 22,980 =
Trade receivables [EWE 557 1,396 285 4,516 -
Prepayments, deposits and BAFTIE - ke Rk 3,711 1,673 1,446 =
other receivables H fth FEU R R
Due from a shareholder e - = 20,063 -
Bank balances RITHER 7,869 4,659 633 =
Trade payables BB SER (1,437) = (619) =
Other payables HAiERERR (16,959) (10,483) (7,480) =
Interest-bearing bank borrowing fIERITER - - (20,350) =
Deferred tax liabilities ELERIEAE (4,338) (4,517) (5,745) =
Total identifiable net assets at fair value A[SBIFEEY AHE 7,742 9,829 16,318 110,500
Non-controlling interests FEVERR AR R A 2 (774) - (1,632) -
6,968 9,829 14,686 110,500
Goodwill on acquisition (Note (a)) WEEE (5t (a) 4,889 9,171 10,064 -
Total consideration BRE 11,857 19,000 24,750 110,500
Satisfied by: XNAER
Cash Re 1,472 11,376 19,230 55,000
Other payables H fth FE TR R 10,385 7,624 5,520 55,500
11,857 19,000 24,750 110,500
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Notes to the Financial Statements

33. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued) 33. EKEHt (&)
The fair value and gross contractual amount of trade =RZERESEFNKEBR 2 AREBER
receivables of Yunqi as at the date of acquisition amounted Al B AR ¥1,396,0000T c =42 &
to RMB1,396,000. The fair value and gross contractual fth FEUCER AU B R Bl 2 At B R ET K04858
amount of other receivables of Yungi as at the date of 7= A R #3,693,0007T o 1 & FE U AR 51 7R HA
acquisition amounted to RMB3,693,000. No receivables were R e o
expected to be uncollectible.
The fair values and gross contractual amounts of trade EFRE RS In 2 B E 5 8RNI B H
receivables of Meihao Jiayuan and Kairui as at the dates of ZRARERFTABED R A AREE285,000
acquisitions amounted to RMB285,000 and RMB4,516,000, TR AR%4516,0007T - ZFRE &8
respectively. The fair values and gross contractual amounts ZiZeREMEWRERNRKEBR Z AR
of deposits and other receivables of Meihao Jiayuan BERTHBED R R ARE1,470,0007T K&
and Kairui as at the dates of acquisitions amounted to AR ¥1,064,0007T ° 535 2 FE Y% R R IE
RMB1,470,000 and RMB1,064,000, respectively. The fair REBERAH I ARBERITNEERARE
value and gross contractual amount of the amount due 20,063,0007T ° #f & fE U AR 7K 78 B M A I
from a shareholder of Kairui as at the date of acquisition [ o
amounted to RMB20,063,000. No receivables are expected
to be uncollectible.
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisitions WHENB AR ZIRERESTWT ¢
of subsidiaries is as follows:
2017 2016
201745 20164
Meihao Key
Yungqi Jiayuan Kairui Dragon
=4 EHRE slis je
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT
Cash consideration ReNE (1,472) (11,376) (19,230) (55,000)
Bank balances acquired Ui 2 AT 7,869 4,659 633 -
Net inflow/(outflow) of cash and RIREEB RERE 6,397 (6,717) (18,597) (55,000)
cash equivalents included in FRERASFEER

RN/ (R 38

cash flows from investing activities
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

Since the acquisition, Yungi contributed RMB43,117,000 to
the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2017
and loss of RMB7,992,000 to the Group’s consolidated profit
for the year ended 31 December 2017. Had the combination
taken place at the beginning of the year, the revenue and the
consolidated profit of the Group for the year would have been
no material change as the completion of the combination was
close to the beginning of the year.

Since the acquisition, Meihao Jiayuan, Kairui and Key
Dragon contributed RMB6,666,000, RMB18,664,000 and nil,
respectively, to the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31
December 2016 and loss of RMB2,693,000, RMB2,617,000
and RMB6,319,000, respectively, to the Group’s consolidated
profit for the year ended 31 December 2016. Had the
combinations taken place at the beginning of the prior year,
the revenue of the Group and the consolidated profit of the
Group for the prior year would have been RMB8,756,139,000
and RMB1,971,966,000, respectively.

(a) Goodwill on acquisition

None of the goodwill recognised is expected to
be deductible for income tax purposes. Goodwill
acquired through business combination is allocated
to the property and management
cash-generating unit (“CGU”) for impairment testing.
The carrying amount of the CGU included goodwill of
RMB4,889,000 (2016: RMB19,235,000) and intangible
assets of RMB 14,461,000 (2016: RMB38,950,000) as
at 31 December 2017. The recoverable amount of
the CGU of RMB14,745,000 (2016: RMB39,450,000)
has been determined based on a value in use
calculation using cash flow projections based
on financial budgets covering a six-year period
approved by management.
consequently determined to recognise an impairment
loss on goodwill directly related to the property
investment and management business amounting
to RMB4,889,000 (2016: RMB19,235,000). No other
significant write-down of other intangible assets of
the property investment and management business
of the Group is considered necessary.

investment

The Directors have

33.
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XBaot (&)

BUlER  ERAAEEH Z=2017F12A8
31 IEFE 2 WA R AR #43,117,000
T M AL EEHE2017F12A318 L F
Bz #rE = A E £ EEARK7,992,000
TL o FAURIE R F TR © A R A F Vi
11 HAEEARAFEZRARGAZFIESE
AFE o

EHRE - nREEBREZS I ARE
E&E2016F 12831 LLFE 2 WA RA
R #6,666,0007T * A & %18,664,0007T &
M MEAEEEZ2016F12A31HIEFE
2 ERE s Bl Bl E A BB A R 2,693,000
7T~ AR #2,617,0007T & A K #6,319,000

cHEHR EFVET  AKELEFER
)\ RE R D BIA A RS, 756,139,0007T
& AR#1,971,966,0007T °

(a) WERE

BRZEEBHRTAIEMBRHR 2K
MY BEBEHAKE S
WOMEMEREREREZREE
A B ALERE R o R2017612
A31B % BEeELENEEER
1 m 2 A R ¥4,889,0007T (2016
% :19,235,0007T) Kk & & E
A R #14,461,0007C (20164 :
38,950,0007T) » 18 #& i A (B (& &t
o oReELEBMUZAIKOCREET
B AN R #14,745,0007T (20164 :
39,450,0007C) - B E 5 A &
EEEBZRAEZUBEE BERER
i//m%ia/,ﬁﬂ ’ /@%ﬂzﬁﬁﬁ/\ﬂz E
B BEATHERAYMERERE
BEBEERB2EEEREAR
#4.889,0007C (20164 : A R #&
19,235,0007T) - AEEWEKE X
EREBEMBEEETEFHET
H A A o
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33.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

(a)

Goodwill on acquisition (continued)

The discount rate applied to the cash flow projection
is 12.25% (2016: 12.25%). The growth rate used to
extrapolate the cash flows of the property investment
and management business until beyond the six-year
period (2016: six-year period) is 1% (2016: 1%). This
growth rate is based on the relevant industry growth
forecasts and the average long-term growth rate for
the relevant industry.

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation
of the property investment and management CGU for
31 December 2017 and 2016. The following describes
each key assumption on which management has
based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to
determine the value assigned to the budgeted gross
margins is the average gross margins achieved in the
year immediately before the budget year, increased
for expected efficiency improvements, and expected
market development.

Discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax
and reflects specific risks relating to the CGU.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on
market development of the property investment and
management industry and the discount rate are
consistent with external information sources.

33.
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34.

Notes to the Financial Statements

ACQUISITION OF ASSETS
ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

THROUGH

On 6 February 2017, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company acquired a 100% equity interest in /855 /38EZ
E AR 27 (Shanghai Zhitao Motor Components Company
Limited*) (“Zhitao”), from two independent third parties, at an
aggregate cash consideration of RMB194,454,000. Zhitao is

engaged in property development in Mainland China.

On 28 July 2017, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
acquired a 100% equity interest in ##7 (L&) ET AR AT
(Yuxin Shanghai Electronic Company Limited*) (“Yuxin”),
from an independent third party, at a cash consideration of
RMB81,926,000. Yuxin is engaged in property development
in Mainland China.

On 24 August 2017, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company acquired a 100% equity interest in /&%
MR ABMRAE (Shanghai Lier Modern Material Company
Limited*) (“Lier”), from an independent third party, at a cash
consideration of RMB86,575,000. Lier is engaged in property
development in Mainland China.

On 21 January 2016, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company acquired an 85% equity interest in E/E{E8EE
Mz SR ER AR (Shanghai Xinneng Duer Information
Technology Company Limited*) (“Xinneng”),
an independent third party, at a cash consideration of
RMB166,600,000. Xinneng and its subsidiary (together
“Xinneng Group”) are engaged in property development in
Mainland China.

from

The above transactions were accounted for as purchase
of assets and liabilities rather than business combinations
because the acquired subsidiaries have not carried out
any significant business transactions prior to the dates of
acquisitions. The net outflow of cash and cash equivalents
from the acquisitions has been reflected in the consolidated
statement of cash flows as part of the cash flow movement
of the individual assets and liabilities acquired.

*

For identification purposes only
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R2017F7H28H - ARRIZ—HE2EK B
NAIMIBEREARKST,926,000THt—H
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34. ACQUISITION OF ASSETS THROUGH 34. ZBWEBHEBATIWEEE (&£)
ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The net assets acquired in the above acquisitions are as A EWEE 2 R B EFEMT ¢
follows:
2017 2016
20175 20164
Xinneng
Zhitao Yuxin Lier Group
S GE) FFE e
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR AR¥TR AR%Tn AR¥TxR

Property, plant and equipment ¥ BEMEK = - _ 1
Deferred tax assets ERERBEEE = = 40 -
Investment properties KEYE 189,663 82,846 61,518 =
Property under development BRPYE - - - 191,940
Deposits and other receivables e K E bR UER R - - 6,663 745
Due from a shareholder JE U AR R 3R IE = = = 7,000
Bank balances IRITAESR 6,008 = 18,833 2,704
Other payables it B A BR 2K (1,217) (920) (479) (6,390)
Net assets BEFE 194,454 81,926 86,575 196,000
Non-controlling interests ES - - - (29,400)
194,454 81,926 86,575 166,600

Satisfied by: A
Cash Be 194,454 81,926 80,483 166,314
Other payables HnfERBRK - - 6,092 286
194,454 81,926 86,575 166,600
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35.

ACQUISITION OF ASSETS THROUGH 34. ZEBWEHEBATIWBEE (&)
ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisitions WENBARIZRESREDTUT ¢
of subsidiaries is as follows:
2017 2016
20174 20164
Xinneng
Zhitao Yuxin Lier Group
HEE W || i 1]
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET T AR¥T T AR®T T ARBT T
Cash consideration HeRE (194,454) (81,926) (80,483) (166,314)
Bank balances acquired WiiE 7 RTHE B 6,008 - 18,833 2,704
Net outflow of cash and RekBRE&EMEEE (188,446) (81,926) (61,650) (163,610)
cash equivalents inlehz £:5
DISPOSAL AND DEEMED DISPOSAL OF 35 HERGRRLEHENEBLRT

SUBSIDIARIES

During the current year, the Group entered into a co-operative
agreement with two independent third parties, pursuant to which
all parties agreed to participate in capital injection in a subsidiary
of the Company, _E/8&EEHER AR (Shanghai Xinwei
Real Estate Development Co. Ltd.*) (“Xinwei”). The Group holds
60% equity interest in Xinwei and has lost control over Xinwei
in the current year after the completion of the capital injection.
The transaction was accounted for as a deemed disposal of a
subsidiary and the 60% equity interest of Xinwei was accounted
for as an investment in an associate.

The Group disposed of its entire equity interest in a
wholly-owned subsidiary FYNEMREXHERHEBR A F
(Shenzhen Gelin Yuncai Education and Technology Company
Limited*) (“Yuncai”), to a joint venture of the Group and an
independent third party, for an aggregate consideration of
RMB2,000,000 during the year. After the disposal, the joint
venture and the independent third party hold 90% and 10%
equity interests of Yuncai respectively. The 90% equity
interest in Yuncai acquired by the joint venture of the Group
was accounted for as an investment in a joint venture after
the disposal of the equity interest in Yuncai in August 2017.

RERN  AEBEBEMEBIE=T7%]—H
AEHH Bt REARFE—KMBAR —
tEBREEHERZEARAR (8] 2
BERA - EHTRB2EHBHERARR -
AEERARNFARRABATRERFEER
B0% W R EH BH 21T HIHE - XX 5T
ERAHEMB AR - RERZ60%Es R
FIBREEEREIRE o

RAFR AEBHERARARIZ —HE2E
MEAR - RYNEMRELHEREERA
A([E¥]) 2285 TAER—REE
REIR—BBIEZH RELEBARE
2,000,0007T » HE®R - ZAE AR REIL
BB EER 290% M 10%HEE B
2017F8AREKEEETR 2% AL
EE2 R RKEZERO%ERINEERE
BRRIEE -
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35.

DISPOSAL AND DEEMED DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The Group entered into a co-operative agreement with an
independent third party during the year, pursuant to which
the independent third party agreed to participate in capital
injection in a subsidiary of the Company, J&YIZEHR AR B H:E
HERB AR AR (Shenzhen Meiwei Jieersi English Education
and Technology Company Limited*) (“Jieersi”). Both parties
agree to exercise joint control over Jieersi. The transaction was
accounted for as a deemed disposal of a subsidiary and the
Group has lost control over Jieersi after the completion of the
capital injection of Jieersi in August 2017.

Due to the plan to change from property sale to property
investment of the development direction of a PRC property
held by a wholly-owned subsidiary of a subsidiary of the
Company, E/BE8EERESREAMR AR (Shanghai Xinneng
Duer Information Technology Company Limited*) (“Xinneng”),
the Group entered into a co-operative agreement with a
non-controlling shareholder of Xinneng during the year.
Pursuant to the agreement, the Group and the non-controlling
shareholder agreed to exercise joint control over Xinneng. It
was accounted for as a deemed disposal of subsidiaries and
the Group has lost control over Xinneng and its subsidiary
(together “Xinneng Group”) after the completion of registration
of the change with the municipal government in October 2017.

In the prior year, the Group disposed of its entire equity
interest in LEBAZBEREBRAT (Shanghai Xinging
Investment Co. Ltd.*) (“Xinqing”) to an independent third
party, for a consideration of RMB500,000. Xinging holds a
70% equity interest of a project company, which is engaged
in property development in Mainland China. The remaining
30% equity interest of the project company is held by
another wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and it was
accounted for as an investment in a joint venture after the
disposal of the equity interest in Xinging.

The Group also entered into a cooperative agreement with
an independent third party in the prior year, pursuant to
which both parties agreed to exercise joint control over a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, J&3ITH #1E i#3Z %
A AR 7AR (Shenzhen City Xinwei Shangda Investment Co.
Ltd.*) (“Shangda”). The transaction was accounted for as
a deemed disposal of a subsidiary and the Group has lost
control over Shangda in the prior year.

*

For identification purposes only
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Notes to the Financial Statements

DISPOSAL AND DEEMED DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Details of the net assets disposed of are as follows:

B 5 ¥R R B o

31 December 2017
201712 A31H

35. HERGRHEMBLR (&)

FHEBEFREZFABTNT :

2017 2016
0175 2016%
Xinneng
Xinwei Yuncai Jieersi Group Xinging Shangda
£8 ¥ ABR BHEE g2z Wi
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR AREBTR ARETR ARETT  ARETR
Property, plant and equipment NE BERRE - - 2,954 294 19 -
Deferred tax assets EREHEBEAE 1,090 101 1,755 4,851 214 =
Prepayment for acquisition of a land use right Wi T3t E BiE 2 BN FUE - - - - - 1,005,000
Properties under development ERA %% 1,784,511 - - 255,646 891,516 -
Due from the ultimate holding company el R IR A R VR - - - - 400 -
Due from a shareholder R HREE 10,000 - - - 6,000 =
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables  FEJZUE - Eé& 22,980 3,171 1,820 7,650 852 30
A ERER
Prepaid tax RSN 20,292 - - - - -
Restricted cash TRARE - - - - 19,766 -
Bank balances %Eﬂ i 90,972 1,236 833 18,600 860 54
Trade payables EREHER (775) - (309) (358) - -
Advanced receipts, accruals and TEW B EHREER (1,924,722) (2,810) (5,003) (4,709) (497)  (502,500)
other payables WEHEEM
Loans from the ultimate holding company JT&‘HEWE B - - - - (53,704) -
Loans from fellow subsidiaries EEGEY TEM - - - - (852,167) -
Loan from an intermediate holding company ~ JEFi%fk T§§A - - - (101,900) - -
Dueg to the ultimate holding company FERREERA IE - - - - - (502,500
Due to an intermediate holding company R EERA - - (833) (2,305) = =
Due to fellow subsidiaries fef H%WE - - - = (7,404) -
Net assets EESE 4,348 1,698 1,217 177,769 5,855 84
Non-controlling interests FERRRES - - - (26,665) = =
4,348 1,698 1,217 151,104 5,855 84
Fair value of investments retained upon REE/BRLEFRE (56,144) - (2,796)  (171,062) (5,808) (42)
disposal/deemed disposal to investments DR/ BERARER
in an associate/joint ventures FRBZREDARE
Unrealised gain on disposal FERHERS - 177 - - - -
Gain/(loss) on disposal/deemed disposal L&/ BREEHBRR 31,79 125 1,579 19,958 453 (42)
of subsidiaries 2Ws /(68
Capital contribution to the associate/ HRANTZREARA/ (20,000) 2,000 - - 500 -
total consideration BRE
Satisfied by: SGNES
Cash 54 (20,000) 2,000 - - 500 -

Annual Report 2017 &3 @



Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR R MY T

31 December 2017
201712 831H

35. DISPOSAL AND DEEMED DISPOSAL OF 35 HERGERHEEHRBELR (&)
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
An analysis of the net (outflow)/inflow of cash and cash HERGREEWNBAR A KA EEE

equivalents in respect of the disposal and deemed disposal BB Z GRE)RAFEIIT -
of subsidiaries is as follows:

2017 2016
20175 20165
Xinneng
Xinwei Yuncai Jieersi Group Xinging Shangda
&5 % ARE FHEE BE RiE

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTL ARMTR ARWTR ARETR ARKTT ARETR

Capital contribution to the associate/ HBEEARZRA (20,000) 2,000 - - 500 =
cash consideration BA/BERE

Bank balances disposed of W&z HiTER (90,972) (1,236) (833) (18,600) (860) (54)

Net (outflow)/inflow of cash and cash e/ BRLERBAR (110,972) 764 (833) (18,600) (360) (54)
equivalents in respect of disposal/deemed LReRAEEEER
disposal of subsidiaries 2 (Rit)/ wAFE

36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 36. #AGReRE&REBRMTE

CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions (a) FHFREIFEXSH
During the year, the Group entered into a loan REERAFRE-—ReMERER
facility arrangement of US$30,830,000 (equivalent WHEXE-—EYEITIV—B2EAR
to RMB201,449,000) with a financial institution for %7030,830,000 (HERARKE
financing an acquisition of a property in the United 201,449,0007T) 2 B KRB E ZHE
States.
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31 December 2017
201712 A31H

36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 36. S&8B&RERMT (&)
CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) RMETHELEZEEED
activities
Loans from  Loans from Loansfrom  Duetothe  Duetothe
Bankand the ultimate the immediate  Loans from anon- ultimate  immediate Due to non-
other holding holding afellow  controlling holding holding Due tofellow  controlling

borrowings company company  subsidiary  shareholder company company  subsidiaries shareholders
BR  EMRR  ENER  EREZ  EAFER 0 EGBRR BRER  BGEE  EGEER
HpEn BRODER BRAVER MWEAFER  RRER EROSME EROFDME WELRRE  REAR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR  ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARBTR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR

At 31 December 2017 R201712A31A

At 1 January 2017 201751718 730,352 7,212,123 - 2,108,573 53,010 73,328 - 57,476 75,400

Changes from financing cash flow BEB4HE228 67257  (2032010) - el (530100 (70578) - 50497 (137,789)

New bank and other borrowings ~ TE8R{TREMER 201,449 - S = - - - - -
(Note 36(a)) (H:236/2)

Increase n borrowing coss EMERRE (1,301) - - - - - - - -

Interest accrued RRFISER - - - - - - - 9,896 -

Transfer to due from the ultimate  EEERGHER - - - = = (27) - - -
holding company RAFE

Transfer from due from felow ~ ERERRZKE - - - - - - - 2,290 -
subsidiaries NAFE

Transfer from due from ERENHERRR - - - - - - = = 166,705
non-controlling shareholders TR

Exchange realignment EiEE (46,320) - - (138,135) - - - (1) (4,286)

At 31 December 2017 20175127318 1,556,756 5,240,113 - 2,593,722 - 2,723 - 120,158 100,030

At 31 December 2016 20165125318

At 1 January 2016 R2016%1718 - 2,105,589 2,041,843 - - 1,674,527 6,936 7,148 77,993

Changes from financing cash flow EER£HEZE) 710515 5220238 = (73,800) 53010 (1,048,923) = 52,006 20,748

Increase in borrowing costs ENETRA (513) - - - - - - - -

Inferest paid HfISER = = = = - (49,803) - (7.373) -

Acquisition of subsidiaries B AR 20,350 - - - - - - - -

Disposal/deemed disposal of e /BRLE - (53,704) - - - (502,500) - - -
subsidiaries HEAR

Transfer from due from the EERENFIRER - - - - - 27 - - -
ultimate holding company DAFE

Transfer to due from fellow ENEURZNE = = = - = - - (1,687) =
subsidiaries NARE

Transfer to due from EERNEARER - - - - - - = = (28,135)
non-controlling shareholders 4]

Reclassffication iy - - (2041843) 2041843 = = (6,936) 6,036 =

Exchange realignment EiAg = - - 140,530 - - - 446 4794

At 31 December 2016 H2016E12A31H 730,352 7272123 - 2,108,573 53,010 73,328 - 57,476 75,400
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31 December 2017
201712 831H

37.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a)

As at 31 December 2017, the Group provided
guarantees to certain banks in respect of mortgages
granted by banks relating to the mortgage loans
arranged for purchasers of the Group’s properties.
Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, upon default
in mortgage payments by these purchasers, the
Group is responsible for repaying the outstanding
mortgage principals together with the accrued interest
and penalty owed by the defaulting purchasers to
the banks and the Group is entitled but not limited
to take over the legal titles and possession of the
related properties. The Group’s guarantee period
starts from the dates of grant of the relevant mortgage
loans and ends upon issuance of the real estate
ownership certificates. As at 31 December 2017,
the Group’s outstanding guarantees amounted to
RMB3,148,594,000 (2016: RMB639,580,000).

The Directors consider that the fair value of the
guarantees is not significant and in case of defaulting
payments, the net realisable value of the related
properties will be sufficient to cover the outstanding
mortgage principals, the accrued interest and penalty.
Therefore, no provision has been made in the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2017
(2016: Nil) for these guarantees.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group provided
a maximum guarantee of US$70,950,000 (equivalent
to RMB463,601,000) (2016: US$70,950,000
(equivalent to RMB492,180,000)) to a group of
financial institutions for a facility granted to a joint
venture of the Group in the United States of America.
As at 31 December 2017, the facility guaranteed
by the Group to a joint venture was utilised to the
extent of approximately RMB463,601,000 (2016:
RMB414,641,000).

37.
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS 38. EEHEA
At 31 December 2017, an investment property and a MR2017F 128318 » ZEBBREWMERFT
property held for sale of the Group with carrying values HEMEREES B A A K®196,745,000
of RMB196,745,000 (2016: RMB183,969,000) and 7t (20164F : A R #183,969,0007T) & A
RMB303,918,000 (2016: Nil) respectively were pledged to R #303,918,0007T (20164 : 4#&) B F &
secure other borrowings granted to the Group (note 28(b)). o NERmAEER T 2 EMER (47
28(b)) °
COMMITMENTS 39. &IE
(a) Capital commitments (a) EXREE
The Group had commitments for capital expenditure REE R - ANEE 2 & ARG AE
at the end of the reporting period as follows: Ul
2017 2016
20174 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBEFIT
Contracted, but not provided for BEL - EREH
— Properties under development — EREPYE 1,581,542 1,652,350
— Investment properties —REME 282,086 188,115
— Capital contributions payable —REERRIZEREA 188,010 =

to joint ventures

2,051,638 1,840,465

In addition, the Group’s share of the joint ventures’ AN AREEEGEE QBT ARE
own capital commitments, which are not included in A ESIRBIEZERAENAT
the above, is as follows:

2017 2016
20174 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBET T

Contracted, but not provided for BEL - BREH
— Properties under development —BREPYE 8,123,021 2,806,858
— Investment properties —REWE 611,441 9,525

8,734,462 2,816,383
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31 December 2017
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39. COMMITMENTS (continued) 39. &I (&)
(b) Operating lease commitments (b) REHEIEE
(i) As lessee (i) ERMBFR
The Group leases certain properties under REBRBLSEEORHERA
operating lease arrangements. Leases for BT - MERESRLER
properties are negotiated for terms ranging BAEAE+FTE (2016
from 6 months to ten years (2016: one to ten F:—FEF+F) -
years).
At 31 December 2017, the Group had total R2017%F12A31H * A& E
future minimum lease payments under R IR Al RSHAS & 49T AR
non-cancellable operating leases falling due RREZAN 2 BB S 5R4R 5
as follows: mE
2017 2016
20175 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBEFTT
Within one year —FA 58,424 45247
In the second to fifth years, E_ZERFRN 159,492 117,188
inclusive (BEEEME)
Over five years FEhFE 147,038 44,072

364,954 206,507
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39. COMMITMENTS (continued)

(b) Operating lease commitments (continued)

(i)

As lessor

The Group leases its investment properties
(Note 13) and certain leased properties under
operating lease arrangements, with leases
negotiated for terms ranging from one to
twenty years (2016: one to twenty years). The
terms of the leases generally also require the
tenants to pay security deposits and provide
for periodic rent adjustments according to the
then prevailing market conditions.

At 31 December 2017, the Group had total
future minimum lease receivables under
non-cancellable leases with its tenants falling
due as follows:

39. RIE (&)

B 5 ¥R R B o

31 December 2017
201712 A31H

(b) REHENEE (&)

(i)

EREAA

AEERBLERNLHRD
ERZEEME (H:F13) &
ETHEYSE  HEmR—
EZTHE A% (20165 —
BEZTEAAE) o MAGEKTY
—MREKMPABNRES R
REARTERMISREMIE

MW2017F 128318 A& B
RAFEEA ST 2 A HsH
AEZ R REEEWAE S 25
ZEHERET

2017 2016

20174 20164

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARBET T

Within one year —FR 228,989 189,790

In the second to fifth years, FE_EZERFR 346,269 240,012
inclusive (BREEEMRT)

Over five years FaRGEEE] 104,750 4,553

680,008 434,355
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31 December 2017
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 40. BEFRS
At the end of the reporting period, the ultimate holding R|ER  ARRIZEKERRAR A
company of the Company was Gemdale Corporation, a & —KRPEKZZ AT e

company established in the PRC.

(a) Related party transactions (a) BEIXRS
Other than the transactions disclosed elsewhere in these B BRERABER RSN RER
financial statements, the following is a summary of the REBRABEBRETZEREE
significant related party transactions carried out in the ARGZBMEWT :

normal course of the Group’s business during the year:

(Income)/Expenses

CONVE T
2017 2016
20175 20165
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

Mt AR®T T ARETT

Compensation income from a non-controlling W ERSE R AR AR R A (B A () (1,958) (4,233)
shareholder
Entrusted management fee from a fellow subsidiary ~ WEAZMBARELTEE (i) (24,906) (25,404)
Services fee paid to the ultimate holding company S FREIERARIRBE (i) 62,327 29,845
Property management fee paid to a fellow subsidiary X FRZHBAAME (iv) 11,348 9,113
EEE
Management services fee paid to fellow subsidiaries X1 TR XM B A RERE (v) 41,571 32,099
R
Project fees paid to a fellow subsidiary YRHTRENBARIRE (vi) 12,748 16,642
Rent and management fee paid to a fellow subsidiary X FRZHBLFHEE Kk (vii) 5,918 3,869
MEERE
Interest paid on loans from the ultimate holding ERSEERARERZ (viii) 277,628 344,995
company FEZH
Interest paid on loans from the immediate holding ENERERARERZ (ix) - 7,169
company FEZH
Interest paid on loans from fellow subsidiaries ERRZRBARERZ (x) 93,409 78,491
FlEEH
Interest paid on loans from joint ventures EREERRIERZMEZE () 1,680 46
Interest paid on loans from non-controlling JERIEERBRRERER (xii) 1,418 1,677
shareholders FlESZ
Interest income on loans to related companies EAEEARERZFIEMA (i) (24,942) (42,653)
Interest income on loans to joint ventures FEREERRERZFEBA () (97,603) (146,026)
Interest income on loans to associates A E NRERZFBMA () (38,211) (5,233)
Consulting services income from fellow subsidiaries  WWEUR R B2 AR (xvi) (2,344) =
FRAEUA
Consulting services income from joint ventures WA &2 BB R (xvii) (48,042) (11,114)
Rent and property management fee from fellow WmRAZRBARMES R (xviii) (8,158) (8,218)
subsidiaries MEERE
Entrusted project management fee from a fellow WENF M B ARIEE (xix) (561) =
subsidiary EREAE
Income of fitting out works from fellow subsidiaries WBRZRMBAREEIRER () (6,913) =
254,409 281,065
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a) Related party transactions (continued)

Notes :

()

(if)

In 2005, compensation income of RMB37.11
million was received for a property development
project as a result of the breach of warranty
given by the seller of the project to the Group
under the sale and purchase agreement. Such
compensation income was recorded as deferred
income and released to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss based on the lease
period of the land use rights of the project or
sales recognition progress of the project. The
transaction was disclosed as a related party
transaction because the seller was the immediate
holding company of the Company until the
change of control of the Company in September
2012. The then immediate holding company
remained as a shareholder of a subsidiary of the
Company at the end of the reporting period.

During the year, an amount of RMB1,958,000
(2016: RMB4,233,000) was released from
deferred income (Note 27) and recorded as
compensation income in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

During the year, the Company received an
entrusted management fee of RMB24,906,000
(or RMB26,400,000, included value added tax
(“VAT”)) (2016: RMB24,791,000, net of business
tax of RMB613,000) from a fellow subsidiary of
the Company pursuant to an entrusted operation
agreement whereby the fellow subsidiary agreed
to engage the Company (or its subsidiary(ies) to
manage the operations of a property located in
the PRC. The fee was determined based on the
relevant operating costs plus 20% margin.

B 5 ¥R R B o

31 December 2017
201712 A31H

40. BEFREZ (&)
(a) BAEFXRB (&)

R

(1)

(1)

REZFLTRF  XEHH—EFEY
EEREEOAZEERENEY
ERRIE haEHE T A EEF 12
BZIRE MR EE BT K
R E AN R 37,110,000
TT © B B 18 A LB FE A
ABE - WrigZIEE L&A
BHERZEE 2 HE#R
BEREEGREBamZk  ARE
B R2012F9 A A 1 & 1 IR 1
BEE AL N AT HELERA
Al MERZBERBETR
5 o B BEEERAD AR
HEHRABAER ] — KM E
RaElZBRE -

RAEFEA - {EEIE YA #E 5]
WK IERARES B 1878 A
B2 BB AR K1,958000
T (2016%F - A £E #4,233,000
oT) (H1aE27) -

REFER XD a]gtHEE
EBEZBEMNALA—F
A ZE W B R A K BEE T E
B A K #24,906,0007T (3 A
R #26,400,000T @ E € &
WEHE)(2016%F : AR
24,791,0007T + B #1k & X
= A KB #6130007T) » # 1t
ZEENE LR REEFAR
7 (RHBEAE]) BEESHER
RPEYEZ EE - ZEH
IIABGAE S A L/ E20%51E -
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40.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a)

Related party transactions (continued)

Notes : (continued)

40.

BERXS (&)
BELRS (&)
Hist : ()

(a)

(i) During the year, the Group paid a service fee of (i) REFEAR  KRagy%E
RMB62,327,000 (or RMB64,869,000, included R R B AR T 1 & [ AR 2
VAT) (2016: RMB29,845,000) to the ultimate A &R AR 2 A TR B
holding company of the Company pursuant to A R #62327,0007T (3% A
a property development and technical services & #64,869,0007T © E € &
agreement whereby the ultimate holding company EEPE)(2016%F - AR K
agreed to provide property development and 29,845,0007T) * # Ut + A X
technical services to the Company and its B] &= AL R 23 ][] & [l 4K 2 B
subsidiaries in relation to certain property REN BN AIIe Ry ERER
projects of the Group. The fee was determined RTR - X B ALK EBE
based on a rate of 0.6% of the contracted sales FH &R ALPERR 2 A1 42 (116 B AR 7%
of the Group'’s properties receiving such services ZYEZERHEREZ06%5
catered by the ultimate holding company. Z o

(iv)  During the year, two subsidiaries of the (iv) REFERA KRR E
Company paid a property management DAY X E IR 155 A K
fee of RMB11,348,000 (or RMB12,022,000, DA —FK[E RN E LAY
included VAT) (2016: RMB9,113,000) to a XEHEEARK11,348,0007C
fellow subsidiary of the Company pursuant to (AR 12,022,0007T © E &
a property management service agreement SHEEFT)(2016%F : ARK
whereby the subsidiaries agreed to engage the 9,113,000T) » #& Ut + ZFHI
fellow subsidiary to provide certain property BRAEREZTZEARNE L
management services relating to their investment A E [ R B 1% & W) F 1
properties in the PRC. The property management ETYOEELZRE - WEEE
fee was determined based on the actual and BIZZIREZ BERRAIG5 A
anticipated costs for such services. BEE o

(v) During the year, certain subsidiaries of the (v) REFERA  XRalETFHE

Company paid an aggregate amount of property
management services fee of RMB41,571,000
(or RMB43,441,000, included VAT) (2016:
RMB32,099,000) to certain fellow subsidiaries of
the Company pursuant to property management
services agreements under a framework
agreement whereby the subsidiaries agreed
to engage the fellow subsidiaries to provide
certain property management services to the
subsidiaries during the development stage of
the subsidiaries’ property projects. The property
management services fee was determined based
on the relevant costs incurred for providing the
services plus a management fee equivalent to
10% margin on the relevant costs plus tax.
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a) Related party transactions (continued)

Notes : (continued)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

During the year, certain subsidiaries of the
Company paid project fees of RMB12,748,000
(or RMB13,078,000, included VAT) (2016:
RMB16,642,000) to a fellow subsidiary of the
Company pursuant to several system installation
agreements under a framework agreement
whereby certain subsidiaries agreed to engage
the fellow subsidiary to provide certain intelligent
system project services for those subsidiaries.
The project fees were determined based on the
relevant costs incurred by the fellow subsidiary
for providing the services plus a service fee
equivalent to 1.25% margin on the relevant costs
plus tax.

During the year, a subsidiary of the Company (as
tenant) paid rent and property management fee of
RMB5,918,000 (or RMB6,220,000, included VAT)
(2016: RMB3,869,000) to a fellow subsidiary of
the Company (as landlord) pursuant to a tenancy
agreement in respect of the leasing of certain
premises in Beijing, the PRC for a term of 36
months. The rent and property management fee
payable by the tenant to the landlord under the
tenancy agreement was aligned with the market
rental rate.

During the year, certain subsidiaries of the
Company paid loan interest of RMB277,628,000
(2016: RMB344,995,000) to the ultimate holding
company of the Company pursuant to framework
loan agreements with the ultimate holding
company whereby the ultimate holding company
agreed to grant RMB loan facilities to those
subsidiaries for their project development at
interest rates ranging from 4.46% to 4.563% (2016:
4.48% to 10%) per annum. Further details of the
loans are set out in note 29(e) to the financial
Sstatements.
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40. BEEAFRB (&)
(a) BEFIXRS ()
Bigt : ()

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

REFEREA AR FETHE
REAREERG# T80
ERL R # A AL A — K
RN BRI ILIEER
B A FE 112,748,000 (B A
R #13078000T - E € &
EEK2)(2016F : AR K
16,642,0007T) ~ #&ut - & THY
B2 A F EEZ R R E R
AR ERAE TEEILESR
TRERE  TIEERZFEZH
B R AR R IR AT E L Z 1
B AR £ )71.25%2 IR 7% B R
HINHEFE

RAEERR » AR EHE R A]
(TERAMA) 5L BRIS61EHZ
T & 1% 81 7 22 7] [B] R 1 & 22
A (IERHEAN) X2 RY
FEHRE AR K59180007T
(2 A K #6,220,000T * E
EEEHE) (2016F - ARK
3,869,0007T) A HE R
Bt RZETYR REHBE
Wk THABABHBEAX T
ZEREERYEEEET B
TS ELE -

REEFEERAN  KREETFHE
R EJ B A MEZ 175 7 K 2 &)
RARIER N a] T 11EFFLEA
R #277,628,0007T (20164 :

A K #344,995,0007T) @ 1R #
BEAXIEEHE  RAKERAD A
EERZENB R AR FAL
B E BB BN E L A
ZIEE R FFEH446%
F4.53% (20164 : 4.48% =
10%) - BB 28— 257
HRE FEREZ N 229(e) °
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 40. BERZRB (&)
(a) Related party transactions (continued) (a) BAEFXRB (&)
Notes : (continued) Kzt - (&)
(ix)  In the prior year, the Company paid loan interest (ix) REFEEA XLEZENE
of HK$8,476,000 (equivalent to RMB7,169,000) to B LD A EERERNAZ AT
the immediate holding company of the Company B F B B 88,476,000 (15
pursuant to loan agreements with the immediate EFR A K %7,169,0007T) °
holding company whereby the immediate holding REBEEAX i - BEEERADA]
company agreed to grant HK$ loan facilities to [EZ K2 F R T BT E A
the Company at an interest rate of 4% per annum. & FFEL% o
(x) During the year, the Company paid loan interest (x) RAEFRERA - KD EJ B
of HK106,949,000 and US$130,000 (equivalent to A A R El 5 (20164 @ —
RMB93,409,000 in total) (2016: HK$90,473,000 EINGES - INGIEER-¢ %
(equivalent to RMB78,491,000)) to two fellow BB #106,949,000T K %= T
subsidiaries (2016: a fellow subsidiary) of the 130,0007T (B ZERA BB
Company pursuant to loan agreements with 93,409,000T) (20164 : &
the fellow subsidiaries whereby the fellow 90,473,0007T (1 EF R A B ¥
subsidiaries agreed to grant HK$ and US$ (2016: 78,491,0007T)) » 1R 1% B # 1%
HK$) loan facilities to the Company at interest 0 ZERENE L AR E A
rates ranging from 3% to 4.31% (2016: 4%) per nEEFETRET (2016: &
annum. Further details of the loans are set out in ) BEABE  FHEH3%ZE
note 29(f) to the financial statements. 4.31% (2016%F : 4%) > H B
B —2H BRI R
KHTaE29(1) °
(xi)  During the year, a wholly-owned subsidiary of xi) REFERA  LLa]—KEEH
the Company paid loan interest of RMB1,680,000 BRANAEFE TS EERFES
(2016: RMB46,000) to certain joint ventures of 11 B # FLE A K #1,680,000T
Group at an interest rate of 0.35% (2016: 0.3%) (20164 = A K #46,0005T) -
per annum. Further details of the loans are set out FFIF0.35% (20164 « 0.3%) °
in note 29(h) to the financial statements. BB E—2FFIEERYE
HRENTE29(h) °
(xii)  During the year, certain subsidiaries of the (xii) REAFER  KRa]ETFH

Company paid loan interest of RMB1,418,000
(2016: RMB1,677,000) to their non-controlling
shareholders pursuant to loan agreements with
the non-controlling shareholders whereby the
non-controlling shareholders agreed to grant
RMB loan facilities to the subsidiaries for their
project development at interest rates ranging
from 4.46% to 10% (2016: 4.75% to 10%) per
annum. Further details of the loans are set out in
note 29(g) to the financial statements.

m Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited €t E BEE AR A 7

BREIEE M iy A B
BREZTEZFEARE
1,418,0007T (20164 + A BB
1,677,0007T) ° IRIEE K I35 -
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HAHERE FFHEH146%2
10% (20164F : 4.75%F10%) °
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Notes to the Financial Statements

40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a) Related party transactions (continued)

Notes : (continued)

(xiii)

(xiv)

(xv)

During the year, a non-wholly-owned subsidiaries
of the Company received loan interest of
RMB24,942,000 (2016: RMB41,865,000, net of
business tax of RMB788,000) from two (2016:
two) subsidiaries of its substantial shareholder as
a result of entrusted loans with principal amounts
ranging from RMB50 million to RMB480 million
(2016: RMB50 million to RMB480 million) granted
to the subsidiaries of the substantial shareholder
through a bank pursuant to the entrusted loan
agreements. The entrusted loans were arranged
for a term from 1 to 2 years (2016: 1 to 2 years)
from the date of drawdown at interest rates
ranging from 4.35% to 4.75% (2016: 4.35% to
4.75%) per annum. Further details of the loans are
set out in note 29(c) to the financial statements.

During the year, certain subsidiaries of the
Company received interest of RMB76,176,000 and
US$3,181,000 (equivalent to RMB97,603,000 in
total) (2016: RMB122,674,000 and US$3,017,000
(equivalent to RMB142,925,000 in total), net
of business tax of RMB3,101,000) on loans to
certain joint ventures of the Group for their project
development at interest rates ranging from 4.9%
to 12% (2016: 4.35% to 12%) per annum. Further
details of the loans are disclosed in note 29(a) to
the financial statements.

During the year, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company received interest of RMB38,211,000
(2016: RMB5,233,000) on loans to certain
associates of the Group for their project
development at interest rates ranging from 4.35%
to 10% (2016: 10%) per annum Further details
of the loans are disclosed in note 29(b) to the
financial statements.

B 5 ¥R R B o

31 December 2017
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40. BAEAFRZ (&)
(a) BAEFXRB (&)
Hist - (&)

(xiii)

(xiv)

(xv)

BEERA AR a]—FKIHE2EN
BRARBEZZE A hik 5B
RITEELZREZFHZ (2016
F:Hx) FBARAGRFAE
I F A K #50,000,000T 2 A
£ #480,000,0007 (20164 :
A #50,000,0007T F A FE #
480,000,0007T) = ZFEE X
Bt - ZHEENE R EIRAF
EBERAKRZEEZRRZNE L
7] B 3 FI.E A K #24,942,000
JT (20164 : AR #41,865,000
T BHIREXEHLARE
788,0007T) ° % E ZFE B A
RABREZ G2 Areq—FE
MF (2016F : —FEZMF) -
F F E D F4.35%%E4.75%
(20164 : 4.35%24.75%) - B
BE 2T IEH R B
FHaE29(c)

REFERA XEBETHE
RAERGE TFAEFAEE LAl H
S R TE B 5 R FE
A R #76,176,0007T % % T
3,181,000 (8 BEHH F R A K
#97,603,000C) (20167 -
A F #122,674,0007T % % 7T
3,017,000 (A8 IHZERA B 1
142,925,0007T) + 2 #1k & %
B2 A K #3,101,0005T) 4
Fl B 7> F4.9%212% (2016
F4.35%212%) - BB
L — AT ER R R RN
i£29(a)

REFEA XEF-—FKE2E
W E R E] G4 A E B E L
A E A RRIEE EE K
B F 8 A K #38211,0005C
(2016%F : AR#5,233,0007T)
FFIRINF4.35%210% (2016
F:10%) BEHEHZi#E—2
FIEBRIFEIRZ N E29(b)
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40.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a)

Related party transactions (continued)

Notes : (continued)

(xvi)

(xvii)

(xviii)

(xix)

During the year, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company received consulting service fees
of RMB2,344,000 (2016: Nil) from two fellow
subsidiaries of the Group for providing consulting
services on their project development. The terms
concluded were no less favourable than those
offered to third parties.

During the year, six (2016: four) subsidiaries of
the Company received consulting service fees
of RMB3,107,000 and US$6,671,000 (equivalent
to RMB48,042,000 in total) (2016: US$1,656,000
(equivalent to RMB11,114,000)) from seven (2016:
five) joint ventures of the Group for providing
consulting services on their project development.
The terms concluded were no less favourable
than those offered to third parties.

During the year, a subsidiary of the Company (as
landlord) received rent and property management
fee of RMBS8, 158,000 (or RMB8,577,000, included
VAT) (2016: RMB8,051,000, net of business tax
of RMB167,000) from two fellow subsidiaries
(2016: two fellow subsidiaries) of the Company
(as tenants) pursuant to tenancy agreements
in respect of the leasing of certain premises
for terms ranging from 34 to 36 months. The
rent and property management fees payable by
the tenants to the landlord under the tenancy
agreements were aligned with the market rate.

During the year, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company (as trustee) received an entrusted
project management fee of RMB561,000 (or
RMB595,000, included VAT) (2016: Nil) from a
fellow subsidiary of the Company (as principal)
pursuant to an entrusted property management
agreement whereby the fellow subsidiary agreed
to engage the wholly-owned subsidiary to provide
certain project management services to the
pre-launch stage of its project in Wuhan, the
PRC. The entrusted project management fee
was determined based on the projected costs
for operating and managing the project plus
equivalent to 15-20% margin on the relevant costs.

40.
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BELSRS (&)
BEARS ()
Wizt (#)

(a)

(xvi)

(xvii)

(xviii)

(xix)

RAEEER ARG —KRE2E
K18 2 Al 5t 46 T A R B 8
2 AJFE IR B R F AR T
W R 75 BN R #2,344,000T
(20164 : #E) - X 519U
TERBHREETE=ZH 2K

RAKFER KEEBNX
(20164 - P9Z) B8 1 Al gt48
FEX (2016%F - AZF) BER
FIFE (B B % & i 4 AR 75 T
BREEA K3 107,000 %
JL6,671,000 (1HEREEAR
#48,042,0007T) (20169 : %
JT 1,656,000 (B BEIHERAR
#11,114,0007T)) - EEX 5
BUTEZRIERE BT E =T
ZIRATTET °

RAFERAN  AXRE]—FHE
28] (TEBHAN) 7255t 55
34F361E A 2 B 5% [ A AR
Bl 5 (20164 © &) [A] X
W E R A (fERAA) 5t
HEETYXEKRRHEE RYZE
EHEE A K8 1580007 (2
A K #8,677,000T © E # &
HEH2) (2016 : A B
8,051,000 ' EHIf EXFH =
AR ®167,0007T)  RIEHE
Wi T AHABA BHEA BN
CHERYEEEEBE TS
1B7 o

REFEERA  ARA—FKRE2H
WEBR A (1EBZFEA) SEEH
EHZ L& AR R E]— KA
AW B AR A (tEAZFEA) W
HE EEZ T EARE61,000
7T (A B #6595 0007T £
SWEFKE) (20164  #)

B ZEENELFRAEZ
HZE2ENERFGATRE
B R > R IH B #H BT AT E
M E B E R - ZHE
EELZABLZEAEERE
BB FIE15-20%51E -



Notes to the Financial Statements

40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Related party transactions (continued)

Notes : (continued)

(xx)

During the year, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company (as trustee) received an entrusted
fee of fitting out works of RMB6,913,000 (or
RMB?7,190,000, included VAT) (2016: Nil) from
two fellow subsidiaries of the Company (as
principal) pursuant to engagement agreements
under a framework agreement whereby the fellow
subsidiaries agreed to engage the subsidiaries
to provide certain fitting out works to certain
property projects developed by the fellow
subsidiaries. The entrusted fee of fitting out
works was determined based on the actual costs
expected to arise with respect to the provision of
services of such projects plus equivalent to 7%
to 15% margin on the relevant costs.

Except for items (xi) to (xv) and item (xvii) all the
above transactions are connected transactions as
defined under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Other transactions with related parties

(i)

(i)

During the year, the Group disposed of its
partial equity interests in six non-wholly-owned
subsidiaries (2016: six wholly-owned
subsidiaries) to three (2016: three) wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the ultimate holding company of
the Company for an aggregate consideration of
US$5,016,000 (equivalent to RMB33,531,000)
(2016: US$30,461,000 (equivalent to
RMB203,669,000)) in cash. After the disposals,
the Group continued to have control over those
six subsidiaries.

A fellow subsidiary of the Company provided
guarantees to certain bank loans of the
Group of an amount up to RMB326,710,000
at the end of the reporting period (2016:
RMB362,220,000). Further details of the
guarantees are set out in note 28(a) to the
financial statements.

B 5 ¥R R B o
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40. BEEAFRB (&)

(a)

(b)

BEAXRS (&)
Hret - (%)

xx) REFERAN ARA—FKR=2
BEWE LA (ERZTA) R
BIEZR HE T2 Z 5
AT E N )P
BEFTA) WREETEHA
K #6,913,000T (8 A R %
7,190,0007C * B €& 5 #EHH
2)(20164F - #E) o IE Ut - Z
EREZNBAAREZZSD
BB L AmEEEESET
Y FETEE IR EIEIRTE - 7%
BEIEXIZIEREHELTEmNE
FELEZ B A LIERI 7% 2
15%& & °

B 55 (xi) 2 (xv) T8 &2 5 (xvil) B IASN - A
ERSHAEETRAUETNAZMERE
ZRER S -

ERELCHMARS

(i) RAFERN - REENRS A
R {8 3£ 785,016,000 (HHE R
A K #33,531,0005T) (2016
£ : ¥7830,461,000 (FHER
AR#203,669,0007T)) HE
ANKRIEZEH B R F (2016
FAREENBAR) 25
L8 i NN -4 S 23 N
ZZR (2016%F : =ZR) & &
MEBAR - HEE  AEED
BEH KB AR ZS
¥ o

(ii) RARERR - AR R
BARBRAEEETRITE
HREER ERAARKE
326,710,000t (20164F : A
R 362,220,0007T * %5
RZE—THBERNY B RE
MfzE28(a)
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40.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c)

Commitments with related parties

(i)

(i)

At the end of the reporting period, there
subsisted two lease agreements between
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
(as landlord) and two fellow subsidiaries of
the Company (as tenants) for terms of 36
months and 34 months, respectively. The
amount of rent and property management
fee received from the fellow subsidiaries for
the current year was included in note 40(a) to
the financial statements. The Group expects
the total rent and property management fee
to be received from the fellow subsidiaries
in the year ending 31 December 2018 to
be approximately RMB3,578,000 (2016:
years ending 31 December 2017 and 2018
to be approximately RMB8,577,000 and
RMB3,578,000 respectively).

At the end of the reporting period, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (as
tenant) entered into a lease agreement with a
fellow subsidiary of the Company (as landlord)
for a term of 36 months. The amount of rent and
property management fee paid to the fellow
subsidiary for the current year was included
in note 40(a) to the financial statements. The
Group expects the total rent and property
management fee to be paid to the fellow
subsidiary in the year ending 31 December
2018 to be approximately RMB5,918,000
(2016: years ending 31 December 2017 and
2018 to be approximately RMB5,866,000 and
RMB5,866,000 respectively).

40.
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SEES 2 AR

(c)

(i)

(if)

RAFREHR ZAAREE
MEar (fEAELMAA) BAR
REZMRERMBRE (F
BEBAN) TEMMD DR A
HA361E A R348 A 2 & #
# o ANFEEMBZERRWE
RAzHESRYMEERED
5 A B 7% 3 2R MY 5E40(a) ©
A& EIEHEH =2018F12A
31B L FEREKZER R
BRrrlzHekmEEES
AH#H B AR #3,578,0005T
(20164 : EZE2017F 2018
F12A31BELFE SR A A
R #8,577,000Tt & A R #
3,578,0007T °

RAHRERR - ARB2EN
BAgE (fEAEMBAA) BEARQ
Al —RKRARMBATR (1A
HHA) BT — 17 AH36EA
ZHEWRE AFEXNTZ
BEKBLARZHERWE
ERBEHYINMISHREN T
40(a) ° NEBETEHIE £2018
F12A31B L FEEMNZE
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BEHAH A ARES5918,000
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 40. BAEFXRB (&)
(d) Outstanding balances with related parties (d) HEERELzHRERER

() Details of the Group’s loans to/(from) related (i) REBRBERRZEYR
parties at the end of the reporting period are (B ERBERFBER
included in note 29 to the financial statements. W R M 29 -

(ii) Details of the Group's amounts due from/(to) (ii) AEBERBERR 2 EY
related parties at the end of the reporting (FER) BERFEFBERR
period are included in note 30 to the financial B 5 FR MIFES0 ©
statements.

(¢) Remuneration of key management personnel of (e) TEBXTEEBABZHMH

the Group

2017 2016

20174 20164

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBT T

Short term employee benefits EHEERER 15,925 15,485

Share-based compensation expenses A& 15 Bl & 2 = 12,137

15,925 27,622

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included
in note 9 to the financial statements.

EHEEME 2E—THBERYH
KM
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41.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 41. REHEszEe@MIA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial EHF e ITARREMRZREEDT :
instruments at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
Financial assets TREE
2017 2016
2017% 20165
Available- Available-
Loans for-sale Loans for-sale
and financial and financial
receivables investments receivables  investments
-E054 AHHE Total Bk AHHE Total
YRR SRRE a5 FEWIER SRERE B
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTn ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETR
Available-for-sale financial ~ E{tHES BRE - 60,045 60,045 - 1308091 1,308,091
investments
Trade receivables R B 5 8RN 17,472 - 17,472 11,500 - 11,500
Financial assets included in ~ JIAFEMNZUE - %% 4,646,712 - 4,646,712 1,447,710 = 1,447,710
prepayments, deposits and R E M EUEER
other receivables JEREE
Loans to joint ventures EHAEARER 973,397 - 973,397 1,210,892 = 1,210,892
Loans to related companies  EWEIENEIER 370,000 - 370,000 1,150,000 = 1,150,000
Loans to non-controlling FEMSEER R R B 41,377 - 41,377 = = =
shareholders
Due from the ultimate holding  FEUR AR AR A 715078 - - - 27 = 27
company
Due from fellow subsidiaries  FEI A Z Mt B2 A)FIE 4,958 - 4,958 2,668 = 2,668
Due from joint ventures [ElAENRIFIE 127,702 - 127,702 15,653 = 15,653
Due from associates AN - - - 4,919 = 4,919
Due from non-controlling ESEER R R FIR 212,652 - 212,652 48,510 = 48,510
shareholders
Due from related companies  EKEE AR FUE 564 - 564 1,580 = 1,580
Restricted cash XREHE 1,155,555 - 1,155,555 258,110 - 258,110
Deposits, bank and cash B RORBLES 5,395,765 - 5,395,765 2,892,968 = 2,892,968
balances
12,946,154 60,045 13,006,199 7,044,537 1,308,091 8,352,628
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 41. ®EigEoszE€mI A (&2)

(continued)

Financial liabilities

sEas
2017 2016
20175 20164
Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at

amortised cost amortised cost
REBHRATTE REHKATE
ZeMmEE ZeMmaE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T ARBETTT

Trade payables JERTE 5 AR 1,537,372 1,783,744
Financial liabilities included in advanced PIATEUGRIE - FEFHRIRIB R 561,891 950,356
receipts, accruals and other payables HEMEMNERcEREE

Loans from the ultimate holding company FEN&EER AT ER 5,240,113 7,272,123
Loans from a fellow subsidiary ENRRMBARER 2,593,722 2,108,573
Loans from a non-controlling shareholder FERTIEZERR AR R B 3K = 53,010
Loans from joint ventures EEERRIER 154,000 60,000
Due to the ultimate holding company JEAS S 4RI AR A R FRIA 2,723 73,328
Due to fellow subsidiaries FEAS R 2 B B A RIZRIA 120,158 57,476
Due to joint ventures JEfS & &R RIFKIA 1,856,269 1,181,231
Due to associates JE < Hs & A RIFRIB 10,000 2,242
Due to non-controlling shareholders JEST IR AR AR 3R 70 IR 100,030 75,400
Due to a related company FESRAE R RIFIA 2,760 1,046
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings M EERTT R E M E K 1,556,756 730,352

13,735,794 14,348,881
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42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 42.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that

FRERE(E B A

RAERER

Tzz@MTHE

S REBEHEMEMTAZEREMARE

reasonably approximate to their fair values, are as follows: Bt
2017 2016
20175 20164
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amounts values amounts values
IREE ARE REE N
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®BTx ARBTT AR%®T
Financial assets TREE
Non-current portion of loans WA ZERFER 25,000 25,000 25,000 20,560
to joint ventures FERNHEAER 1
Non-current portion of financial FIATERFIE - ek 1,097,964 1,087,460 195,377 147,526
assets included in prepayments, HiEWRTR &Rt
deposits and other receivables BEIEBIEIER R
Available-for-sale financial AR AR EFEZ AT - - 1,300,000 1,300,000
investment measured at fair value  HELFIRE
1,122,964 1,112,460 1,520,377 1,468,086
Financial liabilities SREE
Interest-bearing bank and other B BERTT R E M E R 1,556,756 1,493,243 730,352 710,620
borrowings
Non-current portion of loans froma ERRRZHEBRATER 2,593,722 2,397,116 - =
fellow subsidiary FEBNERER 17
4,150,478 3,890,359 730,352 710,620
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FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Management has assessed that the fair values of deposits,
bank and cash balances, restricted cash, the current portion
of loans to joint ventures, loans to related companies, loans to
non-controlling shareholders, trade receivables, the current
portion of financial assets included in prepayments, deposits
and other receivables, trade payables, financial liabilities
included in advanced receipts, accruals and other payables,
non-current portion of loans from a fellow subsidiary, loans
from ultimate holding company, a non-controlling shareholder
and joint ventures, balances with group companies,
non-controlling shareholders, joint ventures, associates and
related companies approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The Group's finance department headed by the finance manager
is responsible for determining the policies and procedures for
the fair value measurement of financial instruments. The finance
manager reports directly to the chief financial officer. At each
reporting date, the finance department analyses the movements
in the values of financial instruments and determines the major
inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and
approved by the chief financial officer. The valuation process
and results are discussed with the audit committee twice a year
for interim and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to
estimate the fair values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of financial assets
included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables,
the non-current portion of loans to joint ventures, an unlisted
available-for-sale financial investment measured at fair value,
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and non-current
portion of loans from a fellow subsidiary have been calculated
by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates
currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk
and remaining maturities. The Group’s non-performance risk for
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings as at 31 December
2017 was assessed to be insignificant.

42.
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BEEREED - BRAE AR ERIERNH
B mAnBEECFELMAEHEESR
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42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 42.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The fair values of unlisted available-for-sale financial
investments measured at cost were not disclosed because
they cannot be reliably measured as the probabilities of the
various estimates within the range cannot be reasonably
assessed and used in estimating fair values.

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the
valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative
analysis as at 31 December 2016:

Significant
unobservable
Valuation inputs
techniques EXFRTHE Rangelvalue

TRMIAARERDIAE
(&)

BERAGFEZFLTAHEESRREARN
HEHSEEAS RO MR TS BTG
ERARGEARE - 5IBUREER SEibRT & 3F
EHRAIEHESREEZARE - FAALE
WEERAARE -

48

e

R2016%F12A31H @R T AFTFHZE KX
TR ABRZERTESTHOT :

Sensitivity of fair value to the input

AREHBANECRBE

A BWAE gEHE
Unlisted available-for-sale  Discounted  Maturity 5 months
financial investments cash flow EIHiH 5@ A
measured at fair value method
PAREREZELD REemRE

AN ESREE

Discount rate  3.3%
AR % 3.3%

@ Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited €t E BEE AR A 7

1 month increase (decrease) in maturity would
result in increase (decrease) in fair value by
RMB5,000 (RMB15,000)

BB Od) 1EABEBARERZM ORL)
ARES5,0007T (AR%15,0007T)

1% increase (decrease) in discount rate would
result in decrease (increase) in fair value by
RMB5,172,000 (RMB5,243,000)

BRI (R D) 1% ERARERD (Em) A
R#5,172,0007T (AR #5,243,0007T)
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FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 42. @ IAAABRAABEERERS
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) (%)
Fair value hierarchy AREZERER
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TREFINAEBEHITAZARBETESR
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: 3RiE -
Fair value measurement using
DRETTERA
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
R M EATER EATTER
ZHfE WAR HAR Total
(E-4) (E=#) (E=4) A
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBTR ARBT T NS

At 31 December 2017 ®2017512A31A
Assets for which fair values are disclosed: BALEREZEE -
Non-current portion of loans to joint ventures WA ERTEFFNRT = = 25,000 25,000
Non-current portion of financial assets included in FIATEBREIE - e REMER - - 1,087,460 1,087,460
prepayments, deposits and other receivables Rz emEEFIRHN

- - 1,112,460 1,112,460
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: BAREREZBE -
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings BRI REMER - - 1,493,243 1,493,243

Non-current portion of loans from a fellow subsidiary T RIZN B2 FE FEERN LA -

2,397,116 2,397,116

3,890,359 3,890,359

At 31 December 2016 20165124318
Assets measured at fair values: KA EHEZEE -
Available-for-sale financial investment measured BAREHEZARLESRRE - - 1,300,000 1,300,000
at fair value
Assets for which fair values are disclosed: BAREREZEE -
Non-current portion of loans to joint ventures NG eIk ) = = 20,560 20,560
Non-current portion of financial assets included in FIATERZE e REMER - - 147,526 147,526
prepayments, deposits and other receivables Bz omgENnHY
- - 168,086 168,086
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: AR EREZBE -
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings MERTREMER - - 710,620 710,620
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42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 42.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The Group did not have any financial assets measured at fair
value as at 31 December 2017.

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at
fair value as at 31 December 2017 (2016: Nil).

The movements in fair value measurement of assets
measured at fair value within Level 3 during the year are
as follows:

48

ERMIEAABERAAEZERERS
(#&)

DNAESEREE (&)

M2017512A318 » XEB W EEF[IZA
REFEZERMEE -

R2017F 128318 » KN & B W E T AR
hEFEZESBASE (2016%F « &) -

fo

BAREN B2 AERE= M2 AR lEM
WAERZ BT

2017 2016
20174 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETT

Unlisted available-for-sale financial investments ~ 3E EH At HE S RIEE

At 1 January ®w1A1H 1,300,000 1,400,000
Purchases e - 1,300,000
Disposal k= (1,300,000)  (1,400,000)
At 31 December W12A31H - 1,300,000

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial
liabilities (2016: Nil).

@ Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited €t E BEE AR A 7
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43.

Notes to the Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, loans to/(from)
related parties and cash and short term deposits. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for
the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial
assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade
payables, which arise directly from its operations. It is, and
has been throughout the year under review, the Group’s policy
that no trading in financial instruments shall be undertaken.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The Group’s policies for managing each of
these risks are summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

The Group mainly operates in Mainland China and most of
the transactions, assets and liabilities are denominated in
RMB. The Group had certain deposits and bank balances,
advanced receipts, accruals and other payables, and
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency to which they
relate.

On 31 December 2017, assuming that RMB depreciated by
7% (2016: 6%) against HK$ and US$, respectively, and all
other factors remained unchanged, then the profit after tax
of the Group would have increased by RMB3,876,000 and
RMB3,661,000 (2016: RMB9,872,000 and RMB4,796,000),
respectively.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank and
other borrowings, loans from the ultimate holding company,
a non-controlling shareholder and joint ventures, and loans
to joint ventures, non-controlling shareholders and related
companies with floating interest rates. The interest rates
and terms of repayment of the Group’s borrowings are
disclosed in notes 28 and 29 to the financial statements. The
Group’s policy is to obtain the most favourable interest rates
available for its borrowings. Management monitors interest
rate exposure and will consider hedging significant interest
rate exposure should the need arise.

43.

B 5 ¥R R B o

31 December 2017
2017%12H31H

MBEREEBRERBER

AEBZTESRMTABERSRTREM
B BB BMEFESARRS R
RHER - ZEeRMIAZEZENTIAR
SEXBEEES -AKEAZEAMESR
BENBE WERREBEXBZERAES
ERRENE SRR - AEBERE RRAE
BEEANZHRI —BETETENERITA

%5 -

REAEEER T AT ZARRIMER
% MERR - FERBRIABDESER o
AEBEREESEBRAR BERBURIT

SINEE LB

AEBTZNPEREALEERE - KE D
X5 BEENRAEBERARKRLER AKEEF
ETHERRRITES - BUFA - BHERR
BAREMEMER  AEHMERTREME
IR EE E W AN 2 B LR -

R2017F 128318 BRARBHE BB
ETHAIEZET% (20164 : 6%) © M H4th
EED@EFTE  AIASEEZBRFERF
15 2 Bl 1 A0 A R #3,876,0007T & A R ¥
3,661,0007T (20164F : A FR#9,872,0007C
M AR¥4,796,0007T) °

=R

REEBEFMHME TSN EREH R EZHMAE
EZE 2 RITREMER  BASRKRIZERA
Al EAEERBRRENAERRER
AR EWREE AR - BUIEER R R K FE
HEANRERER AEEERZAERE
BHAN B SRR E28 R2ON IR EE - AEE
CHERDNABEBERFNRERMNE - E1EE
AEERNERAR  WEREEHEEEETE
A2 FERK

H

Ve
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 43. HXEMEEEEREE (&)
AND POLICIES (continued)

MEmEkE ()

TRINNEMBEEMEHRAZEZBERT - K
SEBRBREREN CBBRTREMER - &
N&EZERAR - BNFERBRRRENA
BRAEFR  WREREEAT - YT
BERREERBERARNERAE 2T B
B)URAEERGHSEARENEEEH 2
BURE DT

Interest rate risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit after tax
(through the impact of floating rate on bank and other
borrowings, loans from the ultimate holding company, a
non-controlling shareholder and joint ventures, and loans
to joint ventures, non-controlling shareholders and related
companies) and the Group’s equity.

Increase/
Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in profit
in basis after tax
points and equity*
R 1228 T
HE KRRz
EFA CTEE) BB OED) *
RMB’000
AR®ET T
31 December 2017 20175%12A31H
Hong Kong dollar ok 200 (12,195)
Renminbi AR 200 (5,710)
United States dollar ESI 200 (6,355)
Hong Kong dollar okt (200) 3,898
Renminbi AR (200) 4,292
United States dollar EViH (200) 7,432
31 December 2016 2016%12H31H
Hong Kong dollar i 200 (5,695)
Renminbi AR 200 (39,694)
United States dollar e 200 (1,904)
Hong Kong dollar ok (200) -
Renminbi AR (200) 39,694
United States dollar ET (200) -
* Excluding retained profits * T EFER B
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43.

Notes to the Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
and related parties. Except for the sales of properties, for
which no credit is given to the customers, it is the Group’s
policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms
are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and
the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which
comprise deposits and other receivables, available-for-sale
financial investments, loans to joint ventures, loans to related
companies, loans to non-controlling shareholders, an amount
due from the ultimate holding company, amounts due from
fellow subsidiaries, amounts due from joint ventures, amounts
due from associates, amounts due from non-controlling
shareholders, amounts due from related companies,
restricted cash, and deposits, bank and cash balances,
arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum
exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third and related parties, there is no requirement for
collateral. There are no significant concentrations of credit
risk within the Group as the Group’s trade receivables are
widely dispersed in different sectors.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure
to credit risk arising from trade receivables, deposits and
other receivables are disclosed in notes 21 and 22 to the
financial statements.

43.
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B EREEBBERBE (&)

FERR

AEBERNZEREERIFZE=TT R
BHETES ARERRRTERHEEER
RTHEHERP  MYMARREEGRK
BEEZRP HABBEEXRERA - 1t
S MR BRI IR B R R E - B
AEEEY 2 FRRARLTERX ©

AEEZEMEREE (BRERERAME
WERH - AIMEHESRIRE  BEaE QA
B BREEDRER - BUSEERRR
B BURERAER A RRIA - YR ZH
BRBE - BREERRFR - BUREE
REFE - RUCHERRRFOA - BURE
REFE  ZREBSARER - RITRR
SHER) ARZHTREMEL 2 EERR
ZESRERERZETAZERNE -

HAAEEERNEREERFZE=TTR
METETRS  WEFHRERR - AR
AEBEZREEZEREZS BN TRE
Al MAEEY|EAEPEERR

EEAEERERKE R e hEM
JEWERZ EERRE —FSEE R
MK E21 22 W FR ©
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43.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial assets
(e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows from
operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of loans
from related parties and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings. The Group will consistently maintain a prudent
financing policy and ensure that it maintains sufficient cash
and credit lines to meet its liquidity requirements. Through
maintaining a reasonable proportion in its asset and liability
structure, the Group is able to meet its ongoing financial
needs. At 31 December 2017, 68% (2016: 99%) of the
Group’s debts, which comprise loans from related parties,
and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings (2016: loans
from related parties,and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings), would mature in less than one year from the
reporting date based on the carrying values of borrowings
reflected in the financial statements.

43.
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REBE @R

AEBEEBBRABDESE TR  EEE
THERER FRIAZEESRTARS
BMEE (PIMEKREZRF) 2BHMA UK
REXRB 2B RERE °

AEBZEEZASRERBEFER UK
MERITREMER  #RHFESNFEENA
BEE B TE - REBEBFEHFIEE
ZRERE  WHRREABEVRZESRE
BHREE BURERDEST R - BBRMER
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EREEE N2017F12A8318 ° A& E
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 43. U¥ERMEEBEREBEE (&)
AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued) REBELRAR (&)
The maturity profiles of the Group’s financial liabilities as at R|EIR - HRREFTHORBEIBEIRDHT -
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual AEBSmBEZIBHABRAOT

undiscounted payments, are as follows:

3 to less than
Less than 12 months

On demand 3 months =fAZ 1to5years Over5 years Total
BEX  OW=EA SRt=fEA -B1f BENE ag

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR  ARMTR  ARMTn  ARBTn  ARETR  ARETR

At 31 December 2017 #2017%12531R
Trade payables ERESER 1,537,372 - - - - 1,537,372
Financial liabilities included in advanced ~ JIATBYZUE « [E:HiE 402,599 63,872 59,601 33,241 2,578 561,891
receipts, accruals and other payables  BEREHERER
JERERE
Loans from the ultimate holding company B AR “""Jﬁ - 59,344 5,402,620 - - 5,461,964
Loans from a fellow subsidiary EES - 27,947 74,526 2,694,763 - 2,797,236
Loans from joint ventures WEMQ%M‘%% - 138,080 16,010 - - 154,090
Due to the ultimate holding company ENRRERARITE 2,123 = = = - 2,123
Due to fellow subsidiaries ERRZNBARZA 120,158 - - - - 120,158
Due to joint ventures ERRERT wﬁ 1,856,269 - - - - 1,856,269
Due to an associate ERBERTN 10,000 = = = = 10,000
Due to non-controlling shareholders WEH)H?W@ 100,030 - - - = 100,030
Due to a related company ENBERAY 2,760 - - - - 2,760
Interest-bearing bank and other MMEH&EM%A 208,771 12,236 897,262 320,900 204,302 1,643,471
borrowings
Guarantee given to banks in respect of  BETREEMENFHE 3,148,594 - - - - 3,148,594
mortgage loan facilities granted to THREENE ERR
purchasers of the Group's properties MR ER
Guarantee given to a group of financial ~ H—BS BEERLE 463,601 - - - - 463,601
institutions in connection with a facility ~ AFELRATHRZA
granted to a joint venture SREBRECER

7,852,877 301,479 6,450,019 3,048,904 206,880 17,860,159
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 43. Hi¥EREEAZEREE (&)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REBELRAR (&)

3 1o less than
Less than 12 months

On demand 3 months =[AZ  1to5years  Over5years Total
BEX  ONZER  ORTZER —ERE REHNE &8

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARBTT  ARETR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARET:R

At 31 December 2016 20165125318
Trade payables ERBHER 1,783,744 - - = = 1783744
Financial liabilities included in advanced  JIATEYZUE - Bt 804,592 93,899 24,864 27,001 - 950,356

receipts, accruals and other payables  BEREMERERC

SHAR

Loans from the ultimate holding company  JE RAIZRA A EFR = 1,007,471 6,507,509 - - 7,514,980
Loans from a fellow subsidiary ERRZMBARER = 20,426 2,161,877 = = 2,182,303
Loans from a non-controlling shareholder Wéﬁjﬂ%ﬁﬁ%m - 943 54,573 - - 55,516
Loan from a joint venture J%ﬁé.\%ﬂﬂ 60,000 - - - - 60,000
Due to the ultimate holding company JER AR A BIZUE 73,328 - - - - 73,328
Due to fellow subsidiaries ERRZHEL 7 B 57 476 = = - - 57,476
Due to joint ventures ENREARANE 1,181,231 - = = = 1,181,231
Due to an associate ERNBEARNE 2,242 - = - - 2,242
Due to non-controlling shareholders e R T 75,400 = = = = 75,400
Due to a related company ENBEAANE 1,046 - - = = 1,046
Interest-bearing bank and other AT REME - 230,340 397,551 132,728 - 760,619

borrowings
Guarantee given to banks in respectof  BBIRLEREHRE 639,580 - - - - 639,580

mortgage loan facilities granted to FTAEENZCERR

purchasers of the Group's properties RITRE 2 ER
Guarantee given to a group of financial B4 REERAE 414,641 = = = - 414,641

institutions in connection with a facility ~ AFBHFBETRZE

granted to a joint venture SRERRE ER

5,093,280 1,353,079 9,146,374 159,729 - 15,752,462
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to run operations on a
going concern basis and to maintain healthy capital ratios
in order to support its business and maximise shareholders’
value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the years ended 31 December 2017 and 31
December 2016.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
the total of loans from related parties and interest-bearing
bank borrowings divided by total equity. The Group’s policy

43.
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31 December 2017
201712 A31H

B EREEBBERBE (&)

ErER

AEEEAER 2 TR BRERNREARE
FECEBEPZENEERBRZERL
Ko AFEEBRBERFMEAEE -

AEEEEEAEBARBBREER LB E

EREEZRABRFREELAE - NEEA
NEBRHBEERRIREZRE - ARREE

BN EEITH M{%Tvﬁkaﬂ?&ﬁzﬁﬁ

#H £2017F 128318 &2016F12A31H 1t
FE EHEACZER BRIBEALEE
@j °

AEBERBEBELX (MBAERER - KU
EMBRTERZABRUERAR) &
BREAX- $E.ZBZ%EQ@HFE1ftEI‘1EE

is to maintain the gearing ratio at less than 150% and comply MN150% * LA REFIRITER B 2 B8R
with the relevant requirements of bank loan agreements. The JE ° E’\\\iﬁ%,ﬁ\ﬂEEZE1ﬁtt$§DT :
gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods are as
follows:
2017 2016
20174 20164F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBEFIT
Loans from the ultimate holding company EAREERARTER 5,240,113 7,272,123
Loans from a fellow subsidiary P ’%Bﬁ%&ﬁé‘m 2,593,722 2,108,573
Loans from a non-controlling shareholder FENTIEIZERR % 8% - 53,010
Loan from joint ventures EREEQARER 154,000 60,000
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings Bt = fETT&E1 8% 1,556,756 730,352
Total debts BB 9,544,591 10,224,058
Total equity HmiBEE 13,047,628 11,637,397
Gearing ratio BB = 73% 88%
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44.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 44.

COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

R QBB T

ARBRBERRZABEIRARERAT

2017 2016
20174 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FEREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RB AR ZI%E 1,050,040 1,123,652
Deposits Ee 7,318 7,830
Total non-current assets ERBEEHAR 1,057,358 1,131,482
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Due from subsidiaries JEUR B BB 1A R TR IE 8,716,053 8,840,471
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TERFRIE ~ 1R& K H e AR R 12,236 1,407
Deposits, bank and cash balances TR RITRBeER 252,010 22,701
Total current assets RENEEHT 8,980,299 8,864,579
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Accruals and other payables FERTRBRTE & E A FE ST AR X 12,628 14,531
Interest-bearing bank borrowings Bt BRITE R 1,085,600 603,368
Due to subsidiaries BB A RFRIE 30,799 32,489
Due to a fellow subsidiary e R 2K B A RFIA 7,205 9
Loans from a fellow subsidiary ENBERMBARER - 2,060,712
Total current liabilities FBEEAE 1,136,232 2,711,109
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 7,844,067 6,153,470
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES ¥E#Z£HEABHER 8,901,425 7,284,952
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Loans from a fellow subsidiary ENRRMEBARER 2,112,904 -
Total non-current liabilities kERBABEHARE 2,112,904 -
NET ASSETS EETE 6,788,521 7,284,952
EQUITY =
Issued capital BETIRA 1,438,153 1,432,193
Reserves (Note) s (hiE) 5,350,368 5,852,759
TOTAL EQUITY RSB 6,788,521 7,284,952
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements
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31 December 2017
201712 A31H

44, EATHBERRE (&)

Note: Htat -
A summary of the Company'’s reserves is as follows: KR EIEERMZELT -
Share Capital Exchange  Share-hased
premium  Contributed ~ redemption fluctuation compensation Retained
account surplus reserves reserves reserves profits Total
R EER BABH EARERE EXZERE ROWERR REER k]
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
At 1 January 2017 R2017£1 A1 3,607,769 398,059 207 316,326 162,702 1,367,696 5,852,759
Profit for the year AEEEF - - - - - 263,309 263,309
Otter comprahensive 0ss for the year FEER M2 EER
Exchange differences related fo BEB R ELEE - - - (470,724) - - (470,724)
foreign aperations
Total comprehensive (loss)fincome KEERE (BR)/ = = - (470,724) - 263309 (207,415)
for the year et
Final 2016 dividend declared ER016ERERE - - - - - (315983) (315,963
Issue of new shares on exercise FEBRETIRA 44,061 - - - (23,074) - 20,987
of share options
Lapse of share options FRERM - - - - (5,441) 5,441 -
At 31 December 2017 R2017%12A31A8 3,651,830 398,059 207 (154,398) 134,187 1,320,483 5,350,368
At 1 January 2016 R201651 A1 3,607,769 664,643 207 (107,739) 146,065 33,035 4,343,980
Profit for the year FEEET - - - = - 1382282 1382282
Otter comprehensive income for the year — AEERMEMNE
Exchange differences related fo BEB)ERELEE = = = 424,085 = = 424,085
foreign operations
Total comprehensive income for the year — REE2AMEEE - - - 424,065 - 1382282 1,806,347
Final 2015 dividend declared SR015F KBRS - (266,584) - - - (49.285)  (315,869)
Lapse of share options BIREEN = - = = (1,664) 1,664 =
Share-based compensation expenses Bl RT - - - - 18,301 = 18,301
At 31 December 2016 201651274310 3,607,769 398,059 207 316,326 162,702 1,367,6% 5,852,759

Contributed surplus represents the excess of the fair value of the
shares over the accumulated losses of the Company pursuant to the
announcement dated 15 November 2005. Under the amendments
to the bye-laws, the Company may make distributions to its
members out of the contributed surplus in certain circumstances

when the Directors consider it appropriate to do so.

R#&E AR B2005F 1151502 2\t - BAZE

ERG AR MERE ARG RBEIRZ 28 - IR
BRBIMAIZIEE  EEFRAREBZET
BT - I K2 B] A {4 A B BR R P 7 1 30
HSRFERE
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR R MY T

31 December 2017
201712 831H

45. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 45. FENREAF
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as RRAREEMBRABIZFEAT :
follows:
Place of Issued and fully Percentage of
incorporation/ paid-up ordinary equity interest
registration and capital/registered indirectly attributable
business share capital to the Company
Name of subsidiaries HMAL &R BRTRAR NG Principal activities
WEL R £ REXY EERE/ ZRER RERSL TEEH
2017 2016
20175 20165

Shanghai Zhongjun Real Estate Development PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000,000 54.85 54.85 Property development
Co., Ltd. (i) (iv) HE/REAE  ARE1,000,000,0007 in Mainland China
DRSEHEREERAR) (v) RABAENERR
Vision Century Real Estate Development PRC/Mainland China US$10,000,000 100 100 Property development
(Dalian) Co., Ltd. (i) (ii) HE /REAR 10,000,000%7C in Mainland China
BAEHERE (K&) BRAF() (i) RPERENEER
Vision Huaging (Beijing) Development PRC/Mainland China RMB130,000,000 60 60 Business park
Co., Ltd. (i) (iii) HE / REAE AE#130,000,0007T development and
BHEE (tR) EXERRERAAI) (i) investment
in Mainland China
NG NGRS
BRLRE
Vision Property (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (i) (ii) PRC/Mainland China RMB328,782,444 100 100 Property development
aATE CRI1) ARAE (i) B/ TEARE  ARE3287824447T in Mainland China
i BN E
Vision (Shenzhen) Software Technology PRC/Mainland China RMB309,415,440 100 100 Business park
Co., Ltd. " (i) (ii) HE / REAE AE#309,415,4407T development and
FIFFEERHLBB AR (i) investment
in Mainland China
NG NGRS
BRRRE
Dalian Huiquan Real Estate Development PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100 100 Property development
Company Limited" (i) HE /REARE AK#10,000,0007 in Mainland China
RBEFFEHEREERAR) REERENEER
Shenyang Gemdale Huacheng Property PRC/Mainland China RMB795,060,000 100 100 Property development
Company Limited" (i) HE/REARE AR#795,060,0007 in Mainland China

EHEHEREFERAF)
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45.

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 5 ¥R R B o

31 December 2017

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

45.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

TEMBAR (&)
AAREBMBARZFHEMT : ()

2017512 H31H

Place of Issued and fully Percentage of
incorporation/ paid-up ordinary equity interest
registration and capital/registered indirectly attributable
business share capital to the Company
Name of subsidiaries HMAL BT BRTRAR NG Principal activities
WELR £ REXY EERE/ ZRER RERSL TEEH
2017 2016
20175 20165
Shenyang Gemdale Yuefeng Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100 100 Property development
Development Company Limited* (i) HE/ REAE AK#10,000,0007T in Mainland China
BE2HERnEREERAR () RPEAENEER
Xi'an Zhutai Real Estate Development PRC/Mainland China US$150,000,000 100 100 Property development
Company Limited* (i) HE / E A 150,000,000% 7T in Mainland China
BRERFHEREARARA () RPEAENEER
Xi'an Zhutian Property Company Limited* PRC/Mainland China US$90,000,000 100 100 Property development
(i) (i) HE /REARE 90,000,000 T in Mainland China
AREREXFERAF () (i) NGB NG ER
Hangzhou Vision Real Estate Development PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100 94.98 Property development
Company Limited* (i) HE/HREAE  (2016: RMB10,528,000) in Mainland China
MMNBE R HERE AR () AR #10,000,0007C RPEAENEER
(2016%F :
AR#10,528,0007T)
Ningbo Wanlin Xincheng Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB80,600,000 80 76.80 Property development
Company Limited* (i) HE /R E AR AK%80,600,0007T in Mainland China
ERBWTHESERRAT () RPERENEER
Nanjing Vision Real Estate Development PRC/Mainland China RMB1,116,170,000 96.12 96.12 Property development
Company Limited" (i) ii) RE/REAE  AE1,116,170,0007 in Mainland China
FAREREREREARAT () (ii) REERENEER
Huaian Weixin Real Estate Co., Ltd.” (i) (iii) PRC/Mainland China RMB431,509,225 98.43 100 Property development
EZHAEEBRAE] (i) (i) &/ REAE  (2016: RMB391,066,725) in Mainland China

ARK431,500,2257
(20164 :
AR391,066,7257T)

Annual Report 2017 &3 @
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR R MY T

31 December 2017
201712 831H

TENEQR (F)
ARAEBMBARZHENT : (&)

45. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 45.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows: (continued)

Place of Issued and fully Percentage of
incorporation/ paid-up ordinary equity interest
registration and capital/registered indirectly attributable
business share capital to the Company
Name of subsidiaries SR ED BRTRAR NG 35 Principal activities
WEL R £ REXY EERE/ ZRER RERSL TEEH
2017 2016
20175 20165

Hangzhou Jinhang Real Estate Development PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000,000 92 92 Property development
Co., Ltd. (i) HE /REAR AK#5200,000,0007 in Mainland China
MM eMEREREERAR () RPEAENEER
Shenzhen Xinwei Jinyuan Investment PRC/Mainland China RMB30,000,000 92 92 Property investment
Co., Ltd.* (i) T/ RE AR AK#30,000,0007T in Mainland China
AR RREFRAT () RPERENERE
Ningbo Jinfeng Real Estate Development PRC/Mainland China RMB627,225,000 62.3 96 Property development
Co., Ltd.* (i) FE/REAE (2016 RMB390,625,000) in Mainland China
ERSERMETRERRAT (i) AR 627,225,007 RPERENEER

(2016%F :

AE#390,625,0007T)
Shenzhen Jinchengxin Micro-financing PRC/Mainland China RMB300,000,000 100 100 Provision of loans
Co, Ltd.* (i) HE /REAR AK#300,000,0007 in Mainland China
AT N EEFEREARA () R EREREEH
Shenzhen Zhi Mei Investment Ltd* (i) (v) PRC/Mainland China RMB300,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
RNEFREBRAF () (v) HE / RE AR AK#300,000,0007 RARR
Vision Real Estate Development, Inc. (i) (vi) Delaware, US US$20,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
ZESAE 20,000,000% 7t REER
Vision 45 Broad Corporation (i) Delaware, US US$30,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
ZERNE (2016: US$500,000) REAR

30,000,000% T

(20164 : 500,000 7T)
Vision 122 East 22nd Street Corporation (i) Delaware, US US$106,355,012 100 100 Investment holding
ZEBNE (2016: US$500,000) REAR

106,355,012 T

(2016 : 500,000 7T)

* For identification purposes only * EHE5
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45.

46.

Notes to the Financial Statements

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
Notes:

(i) Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another
member firm of the Ernst & Young global network

(i) Wholly-foreign-owned enterprise
(iii) Sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprise
(iv) Foreign equity joint venture enterprise

(v) Shenzhen Zhi Mei Investment Ltd. is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Vision (Shenzhen) Software Technology Co.,
Ltd.

(vi) Vision Real Estate Development, Inc. is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Shenzhen Zhi Mei Investment Ltd.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. Details of other subsidiaries had not been
included as, in the opinion of the Directors, they did not have
any material impact on these financial statements.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the Board of directors on 16 March 2018.

45.

46.

B 5 ¥R R B o

31 December 2017
201712 A31H

TENEQR (F)
fitaE -

(i) FEh BB LK B ATV FIE TR A 2K
B AT BN E T2 BATHE K B T F

(i) SNEHE B3
(iii) A E A ELE
(iv)  SNEEELE

(v)  RINEEREFRLATIRYNEFTE N
R BRL Az 2 ENE L E]

(vi) Vision Real Estate Development, Inc.
TRNEZEREFRI AL 2 EHE L
=

EERA LRIRTHAKERAFER
BAERYEIRBRAREEEFELER
MZARFRMBERR - EFRE - HEHT
HHBARZFE  TARKRENBERA
HEMBHRALBEMNERTLE

HEM B HRE

BRI N2018E3 16 EEE e &
TR -
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

31 December 2017
RZE—+tF+=ZA=+—H

1. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 1. BEPYX
Estimated
gross floor
area (m?)
Properties Uses Shareholding FEFFEZSEEE
L/ES A BRARR (FF3K)
Mainland China
B K BE
Beijing Daxing Project Residential/ 100% 155,900
Huangcun Town, Da Xing District, Beijing Commercial/Office
bR EIE B T BEE P
bR AREENE
Shanshui Four Seasons (Jindi Zizaicheng) Residential/ 54.9% 237,000
No.2 Sichen Road and No.1 Gu Lang Road, Commercial
Sijing Town, Songjiang District, Shanghai F= /B
WK P28 (3 5 7E3)
VR T AT [0 SR R O B 255 M BRUR B 1958
Nanjing Hexi Project (Fenghua Yaju) Residential/ 96.1% 287,900
North to Jiangdong South Road Commercial/Office/
East to Huaihe Road Apartment
Jianye District, Nanjing F=/wE/
FEANEEE (RERE) VYN /N
ERTELSRE
VLR B LALL ~ VAT EE DA
Jiangsu Huai’an Project Residential/ 98.4% 165,100
No. 168 Xiangyuzhong Road Commercial/Office/
Qinghe District, Huai’an Apartment
TLER IR B T=E /xS
R TE A @ AT 8 1685% mne /1B
Ningbo Jinfeng Residential 62.3% 81,100
Tongpanzha Village, Zhonggongmiao Street F=
Yinzhou District, Ningbo
Eked

ERTEIN R BN BB R AR A
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT (continued)

31 December 2017
RZBE—+F+=-A=+—8H

1. BEDWE (&)

Estimated
gross floor
area (m?)
Properties Uses Shareholding FEFTEEEE
L/E S Ag FRAR R (FHK)
Mainland China
GEE PN
Hangzhou Jinhang (Dayunchenfu) Residential 92% 75,200
The intersection of Tongyi Road and F=
Huayuangang Street
Gongxu District, Hangzhou
mMEi (RERM)
UM T HESE [ 3 50 B BT ol B 22 SRR
Hangzhou Jinjiang Project Office 100% 33,500
The intersection of Jinjiang Road and EEYN
Qianjiang Road,
Shangcheng District, Hangzhou
FUMTIE B
UM T B30 @ 3T B BT B X R
Phases 1 to 2A, Yi Hua Nian (Tanghua Garden) Residential/ 100% 77,000
East to Xinkaimen South Road, Commercial
Qujiang New District, Xi'an FE /¥
HEFE-—HEFE A (FERLER)
FZ T BT & 57 5 PR B AR
Phases 2B to 3, Yi Hua Nian Residential/ 100% 360,000
North to Jinyang Road, Commercial
South to Tanghua Road and F= /BE

East to Xinkaimen South Road
Quijiang New District, Xi'an
BEFE_HBEE = i

PR T T E S F AL
FEEE B DA R R FAPT FE BE AR
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

31 December 2017
RZE—+tF+=ZA=+—H

1.  PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT (continued) 1. ERHY¥ (&)

Estimated

gross floor

area (m?)

Properties Uses Shareholding FEsHEEEE
L/E S Ag FRARR (SFFK)

Mainland China
o B A B

Xi’an Peijiakong Project Residential/ 98.2% 215,000
South to Peijiangkong Road, Commercial

North to Hangtian Avenue, F= /B

East to Xinkaimen Road South,

West to Xikang Expressway Xifu Road

Quijiang New District, Xi'an

AZEKRIEER

[iiggs: Al

ERIEFELAR - fARARELAE

HFPFIFERIAR - AR REHE LA

Shenyang Yijing Residential/ 100% 219,000
No. 300 Wangjiawan, Commercial

Dongling District, Shenyang (ECPiE

EBSEIE

&S IR E R E RIZ300%5%

Shenyang Yuefeng Residential/ 100% 31,000
West to Yalujiang, Commercial

Huanggu District, Shenyang F= /B

&R ™ 24 &R IS AR T A IR
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

31 December 2017
RZBE—+F+=-A=+—8H

Approximate

gross floor
area (m?)

Properties Uses Shareholding #XEEEE
L/ES AR FRARR (FF3K)
Mainland China
B K BE
Shanshui Four Seasons (Jindi Zizaicheng) Residential/ 54.9% 25,000
No.2 Sichen Road and No.1 Gu Lang Road, Commercial
Sijing Town, Songjiang District, Shanghai (ERC i
7K PO 28 (23 8 723
VR T AT [T SET R A B 255 M BUR B 158
Hangzhou Jindu North Road (Dalehui Center) Apartment 100% 8,500
The intersection of Gu Dun Road NG
and Jin Du North Road
Yu Hang District, Hangzhou
MM EEILE (REEEH L)
MMTARTER S EE RS EIL R AR
Dalian Huiquan Residential/ 100% 23,600
Next to Huiquan Road East, Commercial/
Ganjingzi District, Dalian Apartment
RIEE R SV SE /N
R F [ B R B R
Phases 1 to 2A, Yi Hua Nian (Tanghua Garden) Residential/ 100% 10,000
East to Xinkaimen South Road, Commercial
Quijiang New District, Xi'an T=E/EE

REFE—HEE _HA (FETE)
PO % BT 3 [ 3 R PT R B AR

Annual Report 2017 &3 @



Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

31 December 2017
RZE—+tF+=ZA=+—H

2. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE (continued) 2. HHEWE (£)
Approximate
gross floor
area (m?)
Properties Uses Shareholding HIHEREE
LIES A% RS (FF5K)
Mainland China
B K BE
Shenyang Yijing Residential/ 100% 34,000
No. 300 Wangjiawan, Commercial
Dongling District, Shenyang T=E
B
B 5T R PR T RIE3005%
Shenyang Yuefeng Residential/ 100% 10,000
West to Yalujiang, Commercial
Huanggu District, Shenyang T=E/EE
ST 2R ISAOT IR
United States
xH
Madison Town Center Apartment 100% 13,400
24555 Town Center Dr, Valencia NG

California, United States
Madison Town Center
EB M, Valencia,
24555 Town Center Dr.

yud1)] Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited &g B &£ EE R A &



Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Completed investment properties

Properties

nE

Uses

ks

3.

31 December 2017
RZBE—+F+=-A=+—8H

REME

(a)

Term of
lease

BREH

BRIREME

Approximate
gross floor
area (m?)
BOREER
(FHK)

Shareholding  Status
FRMAR  HRR

Mainland China

HE KB

Phases 1, 2A, 2B(1) and 2B(2)
Vision Shenzhen Business Park
High-tech Industrial Park
Nanshan District, Shenzhen
BERREE 8 £2HA
EZHB()REZEB(2)
MTELESTRTEER

B2 to L6, Sohu.com Internet Plaza
Tsinghua Science Park
Zhongguancun East Road
Haidian District, Beijing
BIB®REB2ZELE
R AN B EERKE

Hangzhou Jindu North Road (Dalehui Center)
The intersection of Gu Dun Road

and Jin Du North Road

Yu Hang District, Hangzhou

MINEEILEE (REESL)

T RNE LR E IR IRE

United States

£8

South Hills Apartment

2900 East Virginia Avenue, West Covina,
California, United States

HLAE

ZBH0M, West Covina,

2900 East Virginia Avenue

Commercial

BE

Commercial

G

Commercial

GRS

Apartment
N

Medium

T4

Medium

R

Medium

hH

Permanent

KA

100%  Rental

HE

143,000

60%  Rental
HE

14,900

100%  Rental

HE

53,800

91.6% Rental

HE

9,600
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

31 December 2017
RZE—+tF+=ZA=+—H

3. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 3. REWME(E)
(b) Investment properties under construction (b) HEEREWME
Estimated
gross floor
Term of area (m?)
Properties Uses lease Shareholding FEFTEE@EE
LES A b B 5 R IRAR R (FEFHK)
Mainland China
Fh B K pE
Phase 3, Commercial ~ Medium 100% 208,800
Vision Shenzhen Business Park [SES R HA
High-tech Industrial Park
Nanshan District, Shenzhen
BT R [E 58 = AP
RYITTE L& & TR E # E
Shanghai Zhitao Office Medium 100% 116,000
No. 3255 Shengang Road, WAE A
Songjiang District, Shanghai
EEEE
BT R R B 325555
Shanghai Lier Office Medium 100% 55,400
East to Guihua Road, West to Panjinghe, /N = AR
North to Jiangjiatang
Baoshan District, Shanghai
EEF®
EEmE LR
RERBFE  AEFL - L ERKE
Shanghai Yuxin Office Medium 100% 56,100
West to Panjinghe, South to Jinshi Road, LN rh HA
Baoshan District, Shanghai
Babicz b
FEmE LR

AEELST - BES AR

y¥#)  Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited &b B &£ E G R A



Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

31 December 2017
RZBE—+F+=-A=+—8H

3. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 3. REWME(E)
(b) Investment properties under construction (b) HEEREWE (&)
(continued)
Estimated
gross floor
Term of area (m?)
Properties Uses lease Shareholding FEFTEEEE
L/ES Ag b B2 5 Hf R (FFHXK)
Mainland China
Fh B K BE
Nanjing Hexi (Fenghua Yaju) Commercial ~ Medium 96.1% 47,900
North to Jiangdong South Road [SES A H
East to Huaihe Road
Jianye District, Nanjing
AU EEE (RERE)
R ERRE
IR EIRE PAAL ~ MBS AR
Suzhou Jinsu Commercial ~ Medium 100% 110,900
Renmin Road West, Xinshi Road South [HES R HA
Gusu District, Suzhou
BN
BN AR R AR - FThEE
Jiangsu Huai'an Project Commercial  Medium 98.4% 40,300
No. 168 Xiangyuzhong Road [GES A HR
Qinghe District, Huai’an
LEEZIER

R R AT 8 1685%
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

31 December 2017
RZE—+tF+=ZA=+—H

RS KB CRAKEH D)
EEMIEE ECAE

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited €t E BEE AR A 7

4. PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES 4. RERRNFEZYE
(a) Properties under development (a) BRDPYEHE
Estimated
gross floor
area (m?)
Properties Uses Shareholding T EREER
LUES Az FRAMR (FHK)
Mainland China
K BE
Guangzhou World Style Residential/ 58.4% 291,600
Dongpu Town Commercial
Tianhe District, Guangzhou FE/BE
BINE=EE
BN R R R EE
Shenzhen Longcheng Square Apartment/Office/ 33% 184,400
Next to Longgang District Government Building Commercial
Longgang District, Shenzhen IN-YE UN: Pl ES
YR ES
R R RERERBUTAESE
Beijing Xishan Yijing Residential/ 50% 44,800
Gao Jia Yuan, Longguan Town, Apartment/
Mentougou District, Beijing Commercial
JERAG L EE FE/ 2B/
ERTPEERERERKE
Beijing Jinshui Yongye (Huachen Yayuan) Residential 45.1% 101,300
Yongding Town =
Mentougou District, Beijing
LR RKE (ERHELL)
LR MPISEEE K E
Beijing Jinlong Yonghui (Weilaihui Center) Apartment/ 13.4% 21,000
Renhe Town Commercial
Shunyi District, Beijing YN F



Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

31 December 2017
RZBE—+F+=-A=+—8H

4. PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES 4. &A% QREBE2ZYE (&)
(continued)

(a) Properties under development (continued) (a) BERDYEF)
Estimated
gross floor
area (m?)
Properties Uses Shareholding T EEEE
ES A& FRA R (FHK)
Mainland China
PE AR
Tianjin Nongken (Beirun Huating) Residential/ 20% 263,000
West to Huaidong Road (Planned), Commercial
North to Huaihe Avenue, FE/HE
Beichen District, Tianjin
RERR (LBHERE)
REbREERRE (R3] BEl
yiSCEERIAL
Tianjin Huituo Residential 23% 167,000
Southeast side to the intersection of F=
Tongyan Road and Yaxing Road
Hehai Education Park District, Tianjin
REER
REMEIHERER
IR % B BE 22 O SR g
Western District of Royall Lake Residential/ 74% 239,000
No. 161 Jinci Road Commercial
Jinyuan District, Taiyuan FE/ A%
B AR
RRTEREREME _R1615%
Eastern District of Royall Lake Residential 74% 70,600
No. 161 Jinci Road T=E
Jinyuan District, Taiyuan
BEBRERR
ARMEREERAE _&1615
Shanghai Jiuting Shidai Center Office/Commercial 29.9% 173,900
Huting Road North, Jiuting Town mneHE
Songjiang District, Shanghai
FBAFEHREPL

LBMTRAZEEFILHE
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

31 December 2017
RZE—+tF+=ZA=+—H

4. PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES 4. A%DREE2W¥ (&)

(continued)
(a) Properties under development (continued) (a) BERDYEF)
Estimated
gross floor
area (m?)
Properties Uses Shareholding T EEEE
ES A& FRA R (FHK)
Mainland China
al=iPN 3
Shanghai Xihonggiao Project Commercial/Office 12.5% 38,500
Guanglian Village, Xujing Town EEYE N
Qingpu District, Shanghai
LEmIEIER
RS S HERT
HEERR
Nanjing Weirun Apartment/ Office/ 48.6% 173,400
Yaojia Road, Cuilin Road Commercial
Yaohuamen, Nangjing DB/ MRE
B AL
BREPIZER - B
Nanjing Jintuo Residential 51% 142,000
South to Jiangpu Street Ring Road North, T=E
North to Jiangmiao Road
Pukou District, Nanjing
AReh
BARMBAR
DEAERILEE A IR A
Suzhou Jinxin Gongchuang (Mingyue Yayuan) Residential 49% 173,000
North to Suzhan West Road, F=
East to Suzhan Bieyuan,
Gusu District, Suzhou
aNEEIE (RTER)
BN EE
BuLFEEIL - BRI R
Suzhou Jinanze Residential 46.9% 30,800

350-1 He Shan Road F=E
Gaoxin District, Suzhou

Bile2

BN T = 3R AT L L B 350-15%

y¥d:] Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited &g B &£ EE R A &



Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

31 December 2017
RZBE—+F+=-A=+—8H

4. PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES 4. &A% QREBE2ZYE (&)
(continued)

(a) Properties under development (continued) (a) BRBYE(E)

Estimated

gross floor

area (m?)

Properties Uses Shareholding  FEFEEER
JES A& BFRAR (FHK)

Mainland China

B AR

Kunshan Lanting Yuyuan Residential 74% 284,900
The intersection of Linyin Road and Duke Road T=E

Gaoxin District, Kunshan

ELR=ME

BT aiEmREE kitw RERXRE

Kunshan Lanting Tianyue Residential/ 74% 108,300
Western side of Jiangpu Road, Commercial/Office

Northern side of Qianjin West Road FE/m%/ Bog

Gaoxin District, Kunshan

BILE=RM

Elm =@ TERAA - ATERRK LA

Hangzhou Wanzhao (Weilaicheng) Residential 30.4% 103,000
West side to the junction of Wener Road West =

and Gaojiao Road

Yuhang District, Hangzhou

NER (RIRE)

N R IR

X_BEBESHE O A

Hangzhou Wanning (Weilaicheng Phase 3) Residential 22.5% 179,800
The intersection of 104 State Road F=E

and Shugang Road, Yuhang District, Hangzhou

NBE (RAWME=H)

N RIE

104038 BB B R R

Hangzhou Jinhu Residential/ 24.5% 135,000
Next to Xianghu Subway Station, Fengging Road Apartment/

Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou Commercial

A i FE/ 2B/ EE

N ERILE

BNy b
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

31 December 2017
RZE—+tF+=ZA=+—H

4. PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES 4. &A% QREBE2ZYE (&)
(continued)

(a) Properties under development (continued) (a) BRBYE(E)
Estimated
gross floor
area (m?)
Properties Uses Shareholding  FEFEZEER
JES A& BFRAR (FHK)
Mainland China
al=iPN 3
Hangzhou Zhongxu Residential 22.1% 115,000
Southeast side to the intersection of T=
Xiaoran Road West and Panshui Road
Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou
MR R
TN RRIL R B AT R R KRR E R R A
Qingdao Shenggang Residential 35% 73,000
East to Jiangshan Road South and =
North to Guihua Road
Huangdao District, Qingdao
FREE
EBMEBRITIIEEKIAR - REKAL
Qingdao Zhihai Residential 35% 57,000
Huanle Binhai Cheng T=E
Shibei District, Qingdao
58E8
FEMMItEBREEEH
Jinan Wanke Zhongxiang Residential/ 20% 266,000
Tangye Xinqu, Licheng District, Jinan Apartment/
EmERRE Commercial
EEERRE LR FE/ 2B/ HEE
Wuhan Jinyue Xinhanhe Residential/ 28% 247,600
Huangshihai Old Town Apartment/
Dangxihu District, Wuhan Commercial/Office
REDHBEM Fx/ D8/
RETRESEEMEEN EEVE N

pug:] Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited &R B &£ EE R A



Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

31 December 2017
RZBE—+F+=-A=+—8H

4. PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES 4. &A% QREBE2ZYE (&)
(continued)

(a) Properties under development (continued) (a) BRBYE(E)
Estimated
gross floor
area (m?)
Properties Uses Shareholding  FFEEEE
LES A% FRAR R (FFK)
Mainland China
R KR
Wuhan Lanting Jiangpan (Laoguan Village) Residential/ 74% 718,400
East to Changjiang Road, Apartment/
North to Loaguan Middle Road Commercial/Office
Hanyang District, Wuhan FE/ 28/
RERSIN (ZEN) [GEVE VN
REMEBERTRAR - ZEPEUIL
Wuhan Xinjucheng Residential/ 55.2% 610,000
Gutian Er Road Apartment/
Qiaokou District, Wuhan Commercial/Office
HOEFEM FE/ 28/
REMROELH R GEVEYN -
Wuhan World Style Residential/ 74% 155,200
Phases B5 and B8 Commercial
Taishan Village, Jiangti Middle Road F=E/HE
Hanyang District, Wuhan
RERZRE
£B51B8H
FUETERR R T IRP AL
Wuhan World Style Residential/ 74% 312,600
Phases B4, B6, B7 and B9 Commercial/Office
Taishan Village, Jiangti Middle Road EXVA-EVE N
Hanyang District, Wuhan
RERSRE

B4, B6, B7 2B
REMERRTRPEAILR
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

31 December 2017
RZE—+tF+=ZA=+—H

4. PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES 4. &A% QREBE2ZYE (&)
(continued)

(a) Properties under development (continued) (a) BRBYE(E)
Estimated
gross floor
area (m?)
Properties Uses Shareholding  FFEEEE
LUES iz BRMRR (FHK)
Mainland China
R KR
Wuhan Jiangxia Longyuan Residential/ 30% 164,000
Canglongdao, Limiao Road Commercial
Jiangxia District, Wuhan FE/mE
HEIERER
RETLIEEBHESRBE
Wuhan Lanting Ronghui Residential 74% 96,100
Jianrong Village, Gutian Road, =
Qiaokou District, Wuhan
RENZRE
FUETR AR & EEEEN
Wuhan Lanting Shidai Residential/ 74% 110,000
Junction of Jiangcheng Avenue Commercial
and Xinnan Si Road FE/HE
Hanyang District, Wuhan
RER=RR
REMERR
RPN CEEEE Tl
Changsha River City Residential/ 74% 164,000
Jinjiang Village Commercial/Office
Yuelu District, Changsha EEY - EYE N
RAOW=EH
EOMEBRINTH
Colourful Garden Residential/ 40.7% 23,000
No. 169 Laodong East Road Commercial
Yuhua District, Changsha xE/E%

BYB=

EAMRERSEHRIE1695
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

31 December 2017
RZBE—+F+=-A=+—8H

4. PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES 4. &A% QREBE2ZYE (&)
(continued)

(a) Properties under development (continued) (a) BRBYE(E)
Estimated
gross floor
area (m?)
Properties Uses Shareholding  FEFEEEE
LES A% FRAR R (FFK)
Mainland China
R KR
Orchid Pavilion City Garden Residential/ 74% 105,200
Dingshan Road, Shifeng District, Zhuzhou Commercial
Hhm= =/
ROMHRMEEBRET L
Shenyang Huiyu Residential/ 50% 196,500
South side to Shenyang Vocational and Commercial
Technical Institute =/
Laodong Road,
Dadong District, Shenyang
EGET
BETARRSDEREGRBERM SR A
Kunming Qianhui Residential/ 74% 482,200
Lot 52D, Xishan District, Kunming Commercial
Bz IE = /mE%
EBTAELES25 ; [EDi R
Kungming Xusheng Residential/ 74% 242,000
Lot 52A, Xishan District, Kunming Apartment/
EHBR Commercial
EBAMA LRSS RAM R FE/ 2B/ B¥
Kunming Landuhui Apartment/ 74% 71,600
The intersection of Chunyu Road Commercial/Office
and Renmin West Road IN-Y -4 UN:
Xishan District, Kunming
ERmEE

EARLBEREIARAKRZAE
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

31 December 2017
RZE—+tF+=ZA=+—H

4. PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES 4. &A% QREBE2ZYE (&)
(continued)

(a) Properties under development (continued) (a) BRBYE(E)

Estimated

gross floor

area (m?)

Properties Uses Shareholding  FEFEEEE
L/E S R R R (EFHK)

United States

£H

Hollywood Project Apartment 43.1% 17,300
1350-1360 N Western Avenue, NG
5433-5499 W Fernwood Avenue,

and 1377 N Serrano Avenue,

Hollywood, Los Angeles,

California

HREER

MR AZHER RS

1350-1360 N Western Avenue,

5433-5499 W Fernwood Avenue,

1377 N Serrano Avenue

Silver Lake Project Residential 43.3% 20,600
235 North Hoover Street, Los Angeles *=E

California

HRMEE

N BAZTE

235 North Hoover Street

45 Broad Street Project Apartment 91.9% 43,100
45 Broad Street, New York NG

Broad Street 455818 B

414) 45 Broad Street

22nd Street Project Residential 79.1% 26,000
121 East 22nd Street T=E

Manhattan, New York

F225IE R

iE o=t

121 East 22nd Street
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

31 December 2017
RZBE—+F+=-A=+—8H

4. PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES 4. &%AQATEBE2Y%¥ (£&)
(continued)
Properties held for sale (b) HFHEWE

Approximate

gross floor
area (m?)

Properties Uses Shareholding HINEEHEE
ES R# BFRA R (FHK)
Mainland China
R KB
Guangzhou World Style Residential/ 58.4% 8,900
Dongpu Town Apartment/
Tianhe District, Guangzhou Commercial
BME=&E Fx/ N8/ @%
BN TR [ R R
Beijing Xishan Yijing Residential/ 50% 61,900
Gao Jia Yuan, Longquan Town, Apartment/
Mentougou District, Beijing Commercial
IERELEE Fx/ N8/ A%
ItRMPEERERESKE
Beijing Jinlong Yonghui (Weilaihui Center) Apartment/ 13.4% 8,800
Renhe Town NG
Shunyi District, Beijing
b REBEKE CRARER L)
bR MBS RCFIE
Eastern District of Royall Lake Residential 74% 67,500
No. 161 Jinci Road T=
Jinyuan District, Taiyuan
B R E
RRTEREEME —R1615%
Wuhan World Style Residential 74% 69,900
Phases B5 and B8 T=

Taishan Village, Jiangti Middle Road
Hanyang District, Wuhan
NEM=ZE

£B51B8H
RETERE TR P AL
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

31 December 2017
RZE—+tF+=ZA=+—H

RATIRMAERT WEK

4. PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES 4. A&%AQTABEzZY%E (£)
(continued)
(b)  Properties held for sale (continued) (b) FHEWE (&)
Approximate
gross floor
area (m?)
Properties Uses Shareholding  HIXEEER
LES A% BRI (FFK)
Mainland China
al=7PN 3
Wuhan Lanting Ronghui Residential/ 74% 52,000
Jianrong Village, Gutian Road, Commercial/Office
Qiaokou District, Wuhan Fx/BE/ BAg
HEM=&E
REMROE S ARERN
Changsha River City Residential/ 74% 19,000
Jinjiang Village Apartment/
Yuelu District, Changsha Commercial
RYOH=EH FE/ 2B/ HEE
RO EBR LN
Colourful Garden Residential/ 40.7% 19,000
No. 169 Laodong East Road Apartment/
Yuhua District, Changsha Commercial/Office
BYRT FE/ 28/
DT % BRI 1695% [GEVE VN
No. 1 Project Commercial/Office 74% 21,000
No 399-10 Bayi Road EEVYE N
Furong District, Changsha
S5 m
RO WEEE N\ —38399-105%
Orchid Pavilion City Garden Residential/ 74% 13,800
Dingshan Road, Shifeng District, Zhuzhou Commercial
HHE= FE/BE

@ Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited €t E BEE AR A 7



Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

FTEYERRFS

31 December 2017
RZBE—+F+=-A=+—8H

4. PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES 4. A%DREE2W¥ (&)

(continued)
(¢) Investment Properties (c) FHEYE
i) Completed investment properties i) BRIREYE
Approximate
gross floor
Term of area (m?)
Properties Uses lease Shareholding  Status  BIAEEER
IES Bz HRFH BRARE AR (F5XK)
Mainland China
HE AR
Guangzhou Tianhe Dushi Square Commercial Medium 74%  Rental 13,000
No. 2 Lanting Street [GES ] e
Yuancun Erheng Road
Tianhe District, Guangzhou
BRI #THES
BMHRAE
BN ZBEREFE2R
Guangyuehui Business Complex Commercial Medium 74%  Rental 52,000
Shangcheng Road, Datang Town, Zhuiji [GES ] HE
HEREEHERAR
FETAE ERHE
No. 1 Project Commercial/ Medium 74%  Rental 12,000
No 399-10 Bayi Road Office i HE
Furong District, Changsha CEVE N
B M
RPHEEERN—H399-10%
Changsha River City Commercial Medium 74%  Rental 35,000

Jinjiang Village [HES i HE
Yuelu District, Changsha

ROERER

Y mEBRIITH
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

31 December 2017
RZE—+tF+=ZA=+—H

4. PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES 4. &%2QREEZWE (&)
(continued)
(c) Investment Properties (continued) (c) #HEYEE)
i) Investment properties under construction i) EEREWE
Gross floor
Term of area (m?)

Properties Uses lease Shareholding FEFEEEE
ES =} 1 3R 5 5 BRMRR (F7HK)

Mainland China

FEIARE

Shanghai Jiuting Shidai Centre Apartment/Office/ Medium 29.9% 60,700
Huting Road North, Jiuting Town Commercial R

Songjiang District, Shanghai DB/ Brg/

EFAEERFAL S

EEMIENAFRETILE

Shanghai Hengdong Office Medium 85% 151,800
East to Jiasong Road North, /N )i

South to Hengyu Road,

West to Yinlong Road,

North to Hengyong Road,

Waigang Town, Jiading District, Shanghai

LBES

HaETRINGE

REBMILE  BEERE

AERER - LEEKE

Shanghai Minhang Huanxin Office Medium 50% 96,300
No. 1288 Zhongchun Road, VN H

Minhang District, Shanghai

LERTTAZ

LETRTES &K 12885

Shanghai Xihonggiao Project Office/ Medium 12.5% 46,000
Guanglian Village, Xujing Town Commercial i Ef

Qingpu District, Shanghai YN S

ESARITEBE

RS E A

HEEEE
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

31 December 2017
RZBE—+F+=-A=+—8H

4. PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES 4. A%DREE2W¥ (&)

(continued)
(c) Investment Properties (continued) (c) #HEYEE)
i) Investment properties under construction i) ERRENE (&)
(continued)
Gross floor
Term of area (m?)
Properties Uses lease Shareholding FEFTEEEE
IES A% WEEH BRMR (F5K)
Mainland China
B KR
Shanghai Jinming Office/ Medium 50% 57,700
8 Jiefang, Changshou Road Commercial 7 HA
Putuo District, Shanghai YN
ik
FiEEiEREREE Y
Nanjing Weirun Commercial Medium 48.6% 81,600
Yaojia Road, Cuilin Road, [GES g
Yaohuamen, Nangjing
HREE
BREFIRER - MK
Jinan Wanke Zhongxiang Apartment/ Medium 20% 115,000
Tangye Xinqu, Licheng District, Jinan Commercial and Long
BEERRE B/ HE REIR R
BHEEREREAE
Kunming Landuhui Commercial Medium 74% 27,500
The intersection of Chunyu Road [SES i E
and Renmin Road West
Xishan District, Kunming
BERBHE
EARALEENRRARARIARL
United States
%H
Silicon Valley Project Office Permanent 50.1% 38,600
4500 North 1st Street YN KA
Silicon Valley, San Jose
California
WAER

MNEREY R
4500 North 1st Street
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

31 December 2017
RZE—+tF+=ZA=+—H

288

555H
FEMmitE
FIREBEAR - BRI

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited €t E BEE AR A 7

5. PROPERTIES HELD BY ASSOCIATES 5. WMERRFHZIYUHE
(a) Properties under development (a) BRDPYEHE
Estimated
gross floor
area (m?)
Properties Uses Shareholding FEIREEE
LES Ag IR (FHK)
Mainland China
Fh B K pE
Shanghai Xinwei (Jindi Shiguang Yayuan) Residential 55.2% 92,800
No. 18 Ming Xing Road, Xingiao Town, =
Songjiang District, Shanghai
EEER (SR HL)
BT R #E AR R 1855
Qingdao Changming Commercial/ 22.5% 502,000
East to Qingyin Expressway, North to Zaoshan Road Residential
Shibei District, Qingdao BE S EE
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